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IZIEONGO ZIKAMEUY AZI 

UM6ulazi weTheku ! 
UJoj' ovel' emaMpondweni. 
UMahamb' engasayi kugoduka. 
UMalamb' ad!' icele6a lomfula. 
(UJojo kathekeli, anjeng' amakhafula) 
UMqaqambana ongazulu lidumayo. 
I nkonyana yenduna, esisu si6anzi. 
UKsi6a ziyahluma, ziyavuthuluka. 
Umkhathazi wendlovu enohlanya. 
Owamith' amazinyana a6amaningi, 
Anda ngemilambolambo, 
A6uy' a6ayizinja, amkhonkotha. 
UMashingila ongasho6a lenyamazana. 
Umwancula owasila lubelo, 
Ngoku6aleka kwaZulu , waju6alaza. 
Mhlan' unameva nj engemamba, 
U 6uhle 6angizindlazi zaseManteku, 
Zona zimpofazana ngamaphiko. 
Ul\Ihlophe wakithi, ondle6e zikhany' ilanga. 

THE PRAISES OF MBUYAZI* 

Prince of the Bay ! 
Finch that came from Pondoland. 
Traveller who will never go home. 
Ahungered, he eats the spinach of the river. 
(Finch who does not beg like the Kafirs) 
Throbbing as if it were the heavens thundering. 
Bull calf with the broad body. 
Feathers, now growing, now falling out. 
Tamer of the evil-tempered elephant. 
\\'ho was pregnant with many young ones, 
\\"ho increased river by river, 
And then became clogs, and barked at him. 
Suddenly turning like the tail of an antelope. 
Loosely hung and with tail bobbing, 
R etreating from Zululand, he sprinted ahead. 
Back which has thorns like the black snake, 
Beautiful as the mouse-birds of the Bay, 
Which are yellowish on the wings. 
Our \\'hiteman, through whose ears the sun shines. 

*Fynn's Zulu name. 
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PREFACE BY SECOND EDITOR lX 

PREFACE 

To ADD YET ANOTHER PREFACE to the two already written 
seems almost unpardonable, but a few words of explanation 
are necessary. Capt. James Stuart, who began the work of 
editing the Fynn papers, was after all not able to finish his 
task, and I was prevailed upon by his relatives to complete it. 
The bulk of the work had already been accomplished, and every 
effort has been made to keep intact, as far as possible, Capt. 
Stuart's work. It seemed, however, that a rearrangement of 
the chapters was required, and also the inclusion of additional 
material from the original papers, which I am sure Capt. 
Stuart would have incorporated had he reached finality. There 
are also deletions and alterations which I felt compelled to 
make and for which I accept full responsibility. 

The book falls into four parts. Firstly, a short history of 
events leading up to the period covered by the Diary; secondly, 
and most important of all, the Diary itself, the most of which 
was written shortly after the events described therein had 
taken place; thirdly, an Epilogue, being a brief resume of 
events which carries on the account of Natal history up to 
the arrival of the Voortrekkers; and fourthly, additional notes 
on the customs and social life of the Zulus as observed by the 
author during his sojourn amongst them, and written down 
by him some time later. This latter portion will be of great 
interest to ethnologists for purposes of comparison with the 
situation today. 

Zulu names have been given in the spelling accepted by 
present authority, except where the name itself could not be 
traced, in which case the author's version has been retained. 

An extract from a letter written by Mrs. J ames Stuart, 
wife of the first editor, is of interest :-

"The following are some of the reasons for the long delay in 
preparing the Fynn Diary for publication: the fragmentary 
nature of the Diary; the need for extensive and difficult 
research work to fill up large gaps in the narrative; the Diary's 
very poor legibility; Mr. Stuart's occupation with other 
essential matters and studies, including service in three wars, 
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and then his death on March 8, 1942, followed by the risk of 
t ransport to South Africa in war time. 

"Very valuable help has been given by.the late Col. Denys 
Reitz, Mrs. Reitz, Mr. Justin C. Stuart, MaJor R. G. Robertson 
and Senator the Hon. W. Heaton icholls ; also the Governor­
General the Rt. Hon. G. Brand van Zyl, who brought the 
manuscripts safely to South Africa in his private aeroplane 
at the close of 1945. To these and many others the Executors 
acknowledge a deep debt of gratitude and express very sincere 
thanks." 

I wish to record my deep gratitude t o Miss Killie Campbell, 
who provided for all the necessary typing, gave mu~h en­
couragement and valuable suggestion, and placed her mcom­
parable library of Africana at my disposal. 

Durban, Natal. 

] 1tly, 1948. 

D . McK. MALCOLM. 

PREFACE BY FIRST EDITOR xi 

PREFACE 

THE AUTHOR OF THIS BOOK, before and after writing his 
accompanying preface, passed his life under exceptionally 
strenuous and precarious conditions, especially during the two 
decades that followed his arrival in South Africa in 1818, that 
being the period to which most of his writings refer. 

Although many of his experiences are unquestionably of 
unique interest, although he repeatedly enjoyed unrivalled 
opportunities of acquiring authentic information, much of it 
unobtainable by the other Europeans then in the country, 
difficulty in expressing himself on paper, added to living in 
abnormal and unsettled times, resulted in such records as he 
was able to make being for the most part compressed and 
disconnected. Feeling unable to put together the type of 
book his travels and adventures obviously called for, he, on 
various occasions in later years, invited and received the 
literary assistance of others, notably in the years 1832- 34 and 
1859- 61. But although four or five hands, apart from his 
own, are observable in his record and although, probably in 

. 1834, a few chapters were composed under his immediate super­
vision, and others sketched in part, a great part of the material 
accumulated, especially in later years, was not worked into the 
single continuous narrative he had it in mind to put forth. 

The whole of the extant papers of Henry Francis Fynn 
were entrusted to me by his late son Henry Francis Fynn, 
Junior, of Natal, himself an acknowledged authority on native 
affairs and able to draw on outstanding experiences of his own 
in the public services of Natal and Zululand. I had, moreover, 
the benefit of many intimate conversations with the latter 
about the papers. In addition, he took exceptional pains in 
affording all the information he could about his father, especially 
in regard to the later years of his life; of this the fullest use has 
been made. Moreover, he concurred with me in thinking that 
every effort , within reason, should be made to piece together 
all that is of value in the MSS. on the foundation laid down 
by his father. 

Almost everything relating to Natal and Zululand in the 
years 1824-1836, when all was fresh and beginning slowly to 



XU THE DIARY OF HE N RY FRANCIS FYNN 

assume its destined shape, is worth preserving, especially when 
recorded by a man like Fynn-a man who, whilst being a close 
and competent observer, had rapidly acquired a perfect 
knowledge of Zulu and cognate dialects, had travelled and lived 
among natives more than any of his companions, and was by 
far the best informed as to the conditions of the country and its 
inhabitan ts. That this pre-eminence is not being conferred by 
me alone is plain from such facts as: (a) in his well-known and 
authorita tive compilation Bird has accorded Fynn's testimony 
precedence over that of all other persons who lived in or through 
the period in question; (b) before the first Natal Native Affairs 
Commission of 1852-3, our author's evidence was adduced at 
much great er length, and more meticulously recorded than in 
regard to any other witnesses; (c) in Natal Papers (pub. 1834)­
an authoritative work-its compiler, J. C. Chase, says of one of 
his (Fynn's) papers, " the history of the tribes found by 
Farewell and his party in possession of the country of and 
around Natal, derived from Mr. H. Fynn ... can be depended 
on"; (d) Fynn's friend, N. Isaacs, author of the well-known 
work, Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, in a letter to 
Fynn of December, 1832, says: "I am most anxious, my dear 
fellow, to see your work out. When do you intend to publish ? " 

The fact is that Fynn stood and still stands in a category of 
his own, and it is this freely and unanimously accorded 
precedence which straightway invests almost everything from 
him about the earliest days of Natal and Zululand with a 
distinction and quality of its own. 

On his arrival in Natal in 1824 Fynn commenced taking 
notes, and continued doing so until 1834, for a future history 
of Natal (evidence, Native Affairs Commission 1852- 3, Part 
V, 44). The earliest notes I find are but few, also scanty and 
disconnected. In or about 1830, however, he set about record­
ing his experiences in the form of a continuous, closely w~itten 
narrative in a note-book of upwards of 144 pages, the size of 
the pages being 9i90 x Sh inches. But, as I ascertained from 
the late William Bazley of Umzimkhulu, who was an intimate 
friend of the author, the above note book is not the original 
narrative, for that was buried in Fynn's younger brother 
Frank's grave ! Only natives were present when Frank died, 
hence, acting strictly in accordance with their national custom, 
they placed deceased as well as all his personal effects, including 
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Henry's precious MS. (believing it to belong to Frank) in the 
same grave. On hearing what had happened Henry felt there 
was nothing to be done but t o re-write the whole of the contents 
from memory as well as he could. To have opened his brother 's 
grave to recover the MS. would have been a most heinous 
and unpardonable offence, the act of a sorcerer or murderer, in 
the eyes of the natives of those days ; an unthinkable proceeding. 
Fynn, as Bazley and Fynn's own son informed me, used to 
wrap his manuscripts in the ear of an elephant he had himself 
shot, place the parcel in a sack and on occasion carry it on the 
heads of natives or pack oxen. It is therefore not to be surprised 
at that the later note-book, as well as some of the existing 
papers, should have become damaged and, in places, wellnigh 
indecipherable- the faintness of the writing here and there may 
also (apart from its age) be due to the fact that , according to 
Bazley, when Fynn ran short of ink he was obliged to " use a 
certain white flower which, when bruised, turned black." 

With the idea of publication always in mind, Fynn, in later 
years, especially in later years after he returned to live in Natal 
(1859-1861), continued to amplify his material as well as try 
to make good what he had lost . What in his earlier writings 
has been but briefly noted he now expanded into full and 
detailed descriptions. For instance, he dealt in this way with 
his visit to and experiences in and about Delagoa Bay in 1823; 
with what occurred when he landed at Port Natal, notably 
when he journeyed north-eastwards to open up communications 
with Shaka, i. e. prior to Farewell's joining him with the rest 
of the party; with what took place at the Royal kraal when 
Shaka's mother, Nandi, died. All this and other matter which 
falls within Shaka's reign and that of Dingane was evidently 
intended to be incorporated and worked into the book he 
contemplated bringing out , not a series of separate and largely 
redundant fragments. His experience has been exceptionally 
widespread, full and privileged, hence called for an extensive, 
continuous and authentic work. The opportunity for finally 
arranging and composing that book never arrived, for death 
carried him off suddenly at a comparatively early age. 

If it so be that, after the lapse of a century and more, any 
new light is thrown by this publication on the early days of 
Natal, particularly on her admittedly " dark period" (June, 
1832-June, 1834), I shall feel the part I have been privileged 
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t o perform has not been altogether in vain. The torch was 
kindled and borne by Fynn; all I have done was to receive it 
from him, through his son, and bring it to the homes of those 
for whom it was originally intended. I have even attempted 
to do more, viz. t o " bring back his spirit, " as the Zulus would 
say, to his own kith and kin, he of whom the natives of Zulu­
land, Natal, Pondoland and Kaffraria were proud t o apos­
trophize as: 

J ojo , wokhalo, owavel' emaMpondweni 
W ahamba angathi kasayi kU,goduka. 

J AMES STUART. 
216 Anerley Road, 
Anerley, London, S.E.20. 

' 
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PREFACE 

[Written about 1833.-Editor.J 

IN SUBMITTING this work to the public the author has been 
actuated solely by a wish to afford information respecting a 
very highly favoured portion of the globe, which has hitherto 
been unknown or neglected. What little has been published 
respecting Natal is confused or contradictory because hastily 
written; moreover, it was afforded by visitors whose stay was 
short, their time occupied by commercial pursuits, whilst 
ignorance of the language precluded them from obtaining 
accurate information. However imperfect the present work 
may be considered to be, the author has none of these excuses 
to plead in his defence. A ceaseless intercourse with the 
natives for nine years, possessing the esteem of their king 
Shaka, the acquirement of their language shortly after his 
arrival and that matured by subsequent study, combined with 
his method of committing to paper events at the time they 
occurred, enable him to hope that his labour will not prove 
unacceptable to the enquiring public. 

Unlike the works of some travellers, it is not heightened by 
perilous escapes from " flood and field "; it is not interspersed 
with occasional rencontres with wild beasts or venomous 
reptiles, but it has been the writer's wish to convey to his 
readers a faithful, circumstantial and unvarnished detail of 
incidents as they met his eyes. 

A long residence, the author is not ashamed to confess, has 
endeared the people to him, but he has adhered strictly to 
plain matter of fact in describing their persons, manners and 
customs and feels conscious every particular will be fully 
corroborated by those whose publications may follow his. He 
sincerely deplores the horrid despotism by which they are 
governed, to this he imputes the majority of their vices, and 
ventures to predict when such despotism yields, as it will 
soon do, to the progress of opinion and civilization, and 
benefited by an intercourse with Europeans, they will ascend 
to the rank of a high spirited, brave, ingenious, and civilized 
people. 
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The author laments, as sincerely as his readers will con­
ceivably do, his inability to take adva_ntage of the im:~umerable 
specimens of mineralogical and botamcal research which every­
where present themselves, but trusts the period is not :ar 
distant when the productions of Port Natal and th~ su~roundmg 
country will be presented to their view by a scientific hand. 

HISTORICAL INTRODUCTION 

HISTORICAL INTRODUCTION 

[When Fynn began to get his writings into order 
with a view to publication, he felt the need for a 
brief account of the events in Zulu history im­
mediately preceding and leading up to those in 
which he was personally concerned, and which are 
recorded in the Diary itself. He did so in the words 
of the following pages.-Editor.] 

Chapter I 

1 

IN the year 1824, on my arrival at Port Natal, Shaka was chief 
of the Zulu country. From his statements, corroborated from 
other sources, I received the information in reference to 

events which appear to refer to the year 1750 or thereabouts. 
It may be necessary to remark that a custom prevails among 
the tribes which enables the year in which any remarkable 
event occurred to be traced with some probability of correct­
ness. An annual feast is observed, when the chief eats of the 
first fruits of the season, prior to which ceremony not even a 
fallen grain may be eaten under penalty of death. 

The country between Delagoa Bay and the Thukela had 
for many years been a scene of commotion. At the time here 
referred to it was occupied by various tribes, the two most 
important being the Ngwane and the Mthet.hwa, the latter 
having Jo6e for its chief. The first account given of this 
chief in any way connected with subsequent occurrences 
is that, before he had selected from his wives the one who was 
to be the mother of his successor, he had several sons, of whom 
it is only necessary to mention two, · Godongwana, the eldest, 
and Mawewe, whose mothers were of different tribes. The 
friends of Mawewe, with the view of establishing him as the 
~uccessor to his father, circulated a rumour that Godongwana 
mtended to assassinate his father Jo6e, then an old man. 
The chief, on being informed of this by the mother of Mawewe, 

B 
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believing the rumour, ordered a party to destroy Godongwana 
and his adherents. In the attack made on Godongwana's 
kraal the latter escaped to a neighbouring forest, though 
severely wounded with an assegai, in the side. He was closely 
pursued, but one of his pursuers, seeing him concealed beneath 
a fallen tree, pointed him out to a man close by who, probably 
wishing him well, request ed the other not to speak of it , and 
immediately called out to those in the rear that further pursuit 
was useless as no trace could be seen of the fugitive. These 
then relinquished the search and returned to the chief to 
report, adding, however, that his son must certainly die of the 
dangerous wound he had received. 

Godongwana, however, lived. H e made his way to a distant 
tribe where his mother 's relatives resided. These cured him 
of his wounds and supplied his wants. Jo6e, having heard of 
his recovery, sent presents of cattle and quantities of brass t o 
the chief of the t ribe, requesting him t o put the lad to death. 
Godongwana got to hear of this from his relations and at once 
made off t o the Qwa6e tribe. To that tribe again similar 
presents were sent by Jo6e, which resulted in Godongwana 
again effecting his escape, this time to the Langeni tribe. He, 
however, remained there only a short time, for the vengeance 
of his father still pursued him. Jo6e, as on the previous 
occasion, presented the chief of that tribe with oxen, begging 
that his son might be put to death. 

The chief refused to kill him, fearing it might be made a 
pretext for a war at some future dat e, though he consented to 
allow the Mthethewa tribe itself t o surround the hut in which 
Godongwana was wont t o sleep , and to despatch him them­
selves. Having obtained information as to the hut he usually 
occupied, a day was appointed for his destruction. 

On the evening preceding the appointed day there was a 
dance. At this Godongwana was present. He was dressed in a 
fine black kaross, whilst his attendant had on an inferior red 
one. While at the dance, he was secretly informed of the plot. 
He replied, " I 'll run away no more; I am tired of being hunted 
like a wild animal. " He retired to his hut at the usual sleeping 
time, and desired his servant to sleep where his, Godongwana's, 
mat was ordinarily spread, as he himself wanted to ramble 
with some girls. As it was cold he proposed an exchange of 
karosses. 
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When this had been done, he seated himself at a distance 
and awaited the arrival of the party ordained to kill him. 
These soon made their appearance and promptly killed, not 
him, but his unfortunate servant. Being now satisfied that his 
death was seriously contemplated, which it would seem he 
had before somewhat doubted, he fled once more ; this time to 
the Mlotha tribe. From there again he went on to that of the 
Mthimkhulu. Among these latter people he was " picked up " 
or sheltered by an old woman, who, however, gave him so 
much work to do in the way of collecting firewood and other 
domestic duties that he, not again trusting to his good fortune, 
ran off to ·a tribe living under the chief Bungane. 1 

It so happened that several head of cattle belonging to a 
member of the tribe had just been struck by lightning, in 
consequence of which the herd they belonged to was kraaled 
at some distance from the owner's residence. 2 Godongwana 
was employed by the owner, who had naturally small regard 
for the life of a stranger, to milk those cattle, which he did. 

When returning with the milk he was met by the chief 
Bungane himself, who, after asking and being told from 
whence he had come, and seeing he was in no dread of 
lightning, decided to take him under his personal protection 
as well as into his own service. Godongwana's general smart­
ness, activity and courage, induced Bungane to inquire more 
particularly into his origin, being convinced he must be 
superior to the other wanderers they had from time to time 
come by and sheltered in these parts. After some hesitation he 
stated who he was. After hearing the story of his various hair­
breadth escapes, Bungane, suspecting that he was the son of a 
chief, consoled him with sincere promises to protect him 
in the future. 

He had not been here long before an opportunity presented 
itself of his meriting the admiration of all around him. One 
day he went out with the tribe headed by Bungane and 
mustered for the destruction of a lioness that had recently 
made some havoc among their cattle. They were following 
its spoor with the intention of attacking it. Godongwana asked 
to be allowed to engage single handed with the animal. The 

1MS. has P angane. 
. 

1The segregation of cattle under such circumstances no d oubt t ook place 
m accordance with native cust om .- Editor. 
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offer was at first rejected but his frequent entreaties overcame 
the objections. The chief promised that if successful he would 
be rewarded with a kraal full of people and cattle. 

On his arrival at the den of the lioness he found two cubs, 
but she herself was absent, evidently in search of food. Follow­
ing the track of the mother, he soon met her returning. At 
this moment he was still well within view of Bungane and his 
men. He forthwith resolutely attacked and slew the lioness, 
and afterwards returned with her two cubs. 

His ast onishing bravery convinced Bungane he was fitted 
for the management of greater things, and, in consequence of 
what he had done, he prophesied that he would one day 
become a great king. When he got back to the kraal at which 
he had been staying he was given a large present of cattle and 
made chief of a portion of the tribe. 

After a time it was reported that J o6e was dead, and that 
Mawewe had succeeded him. While this was no more than a 
doubtful rumour, the attention of the various tribes was 
excited by the appearance of an umlungu, or white man, 
said to have come from the west and to be endeavouring to 
reach the sea. This st range phenomenon was represented by 
those who had seen it as having a human aspect; equipped as 
Europeans generally are, it was regarded as a marvel; his 
garment, though so small as to be held in the grasp of his hand, 
when slipped over his head, covered his body ; his hat, which he 
removed at pleasure, was conceived to be part of his head; his 
shoes made it appear that he was devoid of toes, and his 
footprints showing no traces of them confirmed this idea ; his 
heel was so long as to penetrate the ground; he was mounted 
on an animal of great speed, and carried a pole in his hands 
which spat fire and thunder, and killed all wild animals he 
looked at ; he was represented as the chief of the diviners, from 
whom they all derived their powers. 

At his presence the natives fled, after killing an ox to be 
consumed by him, and whenever he entered a kraal beads and 
brass and other trinkets were left behind where he had been 
sitting, and found by the natives on their return, he then being 
at a distance. 

Others supposed him to be some superior kind of doctor, 
possessed of all the magic powers requisite for causing or 
presenting rain and thunder, lightning and other celestial 

HISTORICAL INTROD U CTION 5 

disturbances. Bungane, ;more daring than his neighbours, 
awaited his arrival. During his stay with the chief, the white 
man actually performed a surgical operation on Bungane's 
knee, which had for some years been affected in some painful 
way, but whether he was cupped, lanced or otherwise I could 
not discover. Whatever the reason may have been for the 
operation, Bungane appears to have submitted thereto for the 
purpose of fortifying his army, it being the custom for chiefs 
to have incisions made in whatever parts of the body that had 
been recommended by his doctors. 

The European of whom this description is given was 
probably Dr. Cowan, who travelled from Cape Town in a north­
easterly direction in the year 1806. This traveller endeavoured 
for some t ime, in vain, to procure guides t o direct him to the 
sea coast, then distant nearly 300 miles ; and at length was 
accompanied by Godongwana, who with his followers proceeded 
to his country with the object of dethroning Mawewe and 
establishing himself in his stead. Godongwana went in company 
with the European till they arrived in sight of the sea near the 
Thukela or Fisher's River. 

Arriving in the neighbourhood of the coast , the stranger 
separated from Godongwana, the latter having his own affairs 
to attend to, and proceeded towards the sea. He entered a t ract 
under the rule of Phakathwayo, chief of the Qwa 6e tribe, 
who had him seized and put t o death , conceiving him t o be 
some unnatural animal. 

A belief was prevalent among the tribes on the coast that 
white men were not human beings but a production of the sea, 
which they t raversed in large shells, coming near the shores in 
stormy weather, their food being the tusks of elephants, which 
they would take from the beach if laid there for them, and 
placing beads in their room, which they obtained from the 
bottom of the sea. 

Godongwana temporarily took up his abode near his own 
district, when t idings of his arrival began to be rumoured about. 
It was reported he had brought a large force and was riding on 
an injomane, i.e. the name which had now been given t o horses. 
A song was later on sung by the Qwa6es relative to the 
European who had come on horseback. News of this presently 
reached the Mthethwa people, causing them to believe it 
alluded to Godongwana himself, for , of course, they had not 

B 1 
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at that time heard of the European traveller. The song, with 
its literal translation, runs as follows: 

!the catha, catha, wemuka, 
Wemuka naye ; 

Wemuka nenjomane. 

Clatter, clatter, away he goes, 
He goes with him; 

He is going off with a horse. 

The idea of Godongwana riding on a strange animal like a 
horse, as well as being in possession of a weapon of thunder (a 
gun), both of which were said to have been brought by him from 
some distant country, caused a feeling in the minds of the 
Mthethwa people similar to that which had pervaded the 
different tribes through which the European had passed. They 
imagined that Godongwana had, by some magic power, gained 
an ascendancy over the guardian spirit of his brother Mawewe, 
and only their assistance was wanting for its complete estab­
lishment. Several chiefs visited Godongwana, with Mawewe's 
consent, to ascertain the truth. They were favourably inclined 
to Godongwana and, during their visit, formed a scheme for 
ousting his brother. Mawewe accordingly sent an army, but the 
chiefs who were acting in the interests of Godongwana pur­
posely kept their forces in the rear of those that were friends of 
Mawewe. The latter, on coming up to Godongwana and such 
men as were with him, were at once attacked front and rear, 
i.e. in front by his own immediate following, and in the rear 
by many of Mawewe's tribe who had espoused Godongwana's 
cause. On these two bodies falling on Mawewe's men they 
simultaneously shouted out Godongwana's war cry. Thus 
surprised they were soon utterly routed. 

On the news reaching Mawewe, he fled forthwith, whereupon 
Godongwana, without further opposition, became chief of the 
tribe. His first act was to forbid the name of Godongwana 
being any longer applied to him, saying that although his 
father had driven him to undergo the various hardships he had 
experienced, when he, Jo6e, had become a spirit he favoured 
his cause. His name would therefore have no reference to the 
distress to which his father had subjected him. And so he ever 
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afterwards went by the name of Dingiswayo-" one in distress," 
in allusion to having been an outcast. 

Mawewe found protection among the Qwa6e tribe. Dingis­
wayo demanded that he should be giv~n up but, although 
frequent applications were made, the chief refused to do so. 
Dingiswayo now collected several Delagonians who were in t~e 
habit of bringing small quantities of beads and barter among his 
and neighbouring tribes. Such bartering he now claimed as a 
personal privilege. He rewarded them.well for their beads and 
sent chiefs with presents of oxen and ivory to the Portuguese 
and to a native chief in their neighbourhood called Makhasane, 
requesting the former to let him have a company of soldiers to 
assist him in attacking his neighbour Phakathwayo. He 
promised Makhasane that, having become the sole merchant, 
he would trade only with him. He accordingly ordered those 
of his own subjects who dared to engage in barter to be put 
to death. 

This prospect of opening up a trade with the Zulus, by means 
of which the Portuguese would be enabled to procure supplies 
of ivory, became a sufficient inducement to the latter to 
furnish the military assistance asked for. 

Previous to the arrival of these troops, several skirmishes of 
a trifling nature had taken place between the Mthethwas and 
Qwa6es, the latter being resolute in refusing to give up 
Mawewe. The arrival of the soldiers, however, induced 
Dingiswayo to use them in making a combined attack, when 
the Qwa6es were defeated and driven to the Entumeni forest 
on the Mhlathuze River. The using of musketry caused wide­
spread terror, as his friends believed that these were the guns 
Dingiswayo was reported to have brought with him from the 
west, and which he had only kept back because of having no 
need for them in his contest with Mawewe. After successive 
attacks, they were driven to the Thukela River, which, owing 
to recent rains, was not fordable. Many were drowned in 
attempting to cross. Phakathwayo himself drove some oxen 
into the river, and, holding on to the tail of one of them, 
managed to reach the opposite bank in safety. The chiefs 
left in command, seeing the danger in which they stood, and 
being close pressed, condemned Phakathwayo's folly in losing 
so many lives merely to protect Mawewe. They determined 
on giving him up to the Mthethwa tribe and did so. 



8 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

Mawewe was then taken by the Mthethwas into Dingis­
wayo's presence, who no sooner set eyes upon him than he 
ordered him to be put to death. Several chiefs who were 
Dingiswayo's relations pleaded hard for his life, requesting that 
the chief should treat him in the future as his dog, but Dingis­
wayo was obdurate and, turning his face to one side, ordered his 
brother to be taken off and killed. 

Dingiswayo began his reign about 1795, being then about 
25 years of age. The hardships he had undergone afforded 
much of that experience by which he endeavoured to profit 
during the remainder of his life. By means of the strong 
natural capabilities of which he was possessed, he succeeded 
in raising himself and his people above all other tribes along 
the coast, while his ingenuity as a mechanic and the mildness 
of his rule, although a despotic chief, the ability displayed in 
the military system he introduced, as well as his universal 
kindness, so endeared him with the people, that he will be 
revered by them as long as the Zulu nation exists. 

The surprising strides he made in improving the form of 
government, in war, and in the encouragement of ingenuity led 
to the supposition that he must have derived knowledge from 
some other source than intercourse with native tribes; and there 
is a probability that during the time he was with Dr. Cowan he 
acquired much information from him, and that on this he 
founded his plans for the future. 

Previous to his reign it had been the custom among all 
tribes east of Natal, extending as far as Delagoa, to attack and 
defeat their enemies at night by surprise. They adopted the 
tactics of closing the doors of the huts, which are very small, 
burning all the inmates and looting their cattle. When 
quitting a kraal they would take a child belonging to the party 
attacked and, thrusting it on a pointed stake set up at the gate 
of the kraal, leave it as a sad and conspicuous memorial 
of their victory. 

Dingiswayo had not long exercised supreme authority 
before he suppressed this cruel system, substituting one of his 
own, which after his decease was acted on by Shaka. This, 
combined with the latter 's vigorous despotism and total 
disregard for the lives of his fellow creatures, had led to the 
destruction of thousands and the present desolate state of the 
surrounding country. 
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The first act of Dingiswayo was to form his people into 
regiments and to subdivide these into companies. The regi­
ments were each distinguished by a name, and by the colour of 
the shields carried by the men. Over regiments and companies 
he placed captains, the principals being called captains of 
regiments, the inferior ones captains of companies. He had 
other regulations which will be mentioned when describing the 
Zulu forces. He introduced war-dresses of a most imposing 
appearance to be worn by the chief men and warriors as if he 
would claim for them rather the respect of their enemies than 
to terrify them by that appearance of fury which would be 
supposed to be the vice of the savage. H e had no sooner 
organised this system than he began attacking all the surround­
ing tribes. 

The wars which Dingiswayo began with this neighbours 
were not at first on a great scale. But they were successful, and 
spurred him on to more important movements. He assumed a 
despotic power hitherto unknown. In declaring war, being the 
first of the native chiefs in that part of South Africa that 
entered upon hostilities with other tribes in a regular warlike 
manner, he assigned as his reason that he wished to do away 
with the incessant quarrels that occurred amongst the tribes, 
because no supreme head was over them to say who was right 
and who was wrong; a state of things that could not have been 
the design of Mveli, the first of the human race. 

Dingiswayo's proceedings sufficiently t estify that these 
were really the views that actuated him. The first tribe he 
conquered were the Qadi. He directed their cattle to be 
brought to his place of residence and there to be assorted. 
The oxen were distributed among his warriors, but he restored 
the cows to the defeated tribe, from whom he exacted sub­
mission to his authority. On this principle he continued his 
conquests. The most important of the conquered tribes were 
the Qwa6e, Langeni, Qadi, Zulu, Ntshali, Buthelezi, Kuyiwane, 
Thembu, Swazi and the Xhosa. The only chief he had not 
subdued, i.e. up to the coming of Shaka, was Zwide, chief 
of the Ndwandwe tribe. 

He gave his commanders strict orders not to allow the 
whole of the tribe's property to be plundered, and to destroy 
n? i:nore people than was absolutely necessary. His superior 
discipline, to which neighbouring tribes were unaccustomed, 
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insured his success. After the whole of any tribe's cattle had 
been taken, the oxen only were retained by Dingiswayo, whilst 
the cows were returned with an assurance of the victor's desire 
being to live on amicable terms. H e, moreover, requested his 
people to promote intermarriages with the vanquished and so 
bring about a general union. H e went on to express the opinion 
that it was not the intention of those who first came into the 
world that there should be several kings equal in power, but 
that there should be one great king to exercise control over 
the little ones. In one instance, they had attacked a tribe 
which was not prepared to submit without stubborn resistance. 
During the contest, the Mthethwas destroyed their cooking 
utensils and broke the stones used for grinding corn. This so 
exasperated Dingiswayo that, on their return, his warriors 
were refused admission into his presence, and he went crying 
about his kraal : " Why have my people broken the pots of the 
Khondlo ? " By such mild means he conciliated his enemies, 
upon which several tribes voluntarily became tributary to him 
and assisted him in his battles. Before long he so enlarged 
and improved his army as to make himself respected by his 
friends and feared by his foes. 

In the first year of his chieftainship he opened a trade with 
Delagoa Bay, by sending 100 oxen and a quantity of elephants' 
tusks to exchange for beads and blankets. Prior to this a small 
supply of these articles had been brought to that country from 
Delagoa Bay by the natives. The traae thus opened by 
Dingiswayo was afterwards carried on, on an extensive scale, 
though the Portuguese never in person entered his country. 
The encouragement held out to ingenuity brought numb rs 
around him, liberal rewards being given to any of his followers 
who devised things new and ornamental. His mechanical 
ingenuity was displayed in the carving of wood. H e taught 
this art to several of his people. 

Milk dishes, pillows, ladles of cane or wood, and snuff spoons 
were also produced. (Many curious specimens of excessively 
neat workmanship are still made in the Zulu country.) A 
kaross manufactory was also established, a hundred men being 
generally employed in that work. From the presents received 
from Delagoa Bay he selected some for imitation; and a 
handsome reward was offered for the production of a chair, 
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a table and milk tureens. All these were made for him and 
highly ornamented. 

The chair was cut from a solid block of wood, and was by 
no means disgraced by the presence of its model of European 
workmanship. The chiefs of the Zulus still have chairs made 
for their use by their own subj ects. An umbrella could not be 
imitated, but the idea of its use was supplied and a shield was 
substituted for it, and continues to be used by the Zulu chiefs. 
It is held over them by their servants, and is more suitable and 
characteristic than an umbrella could be, which must be held 
by the person using it. 

But like other celebrated chieftains, Dingiswayo, after 
reigning a few years, was destined to experience a sad reverse of 
fortune. After he had made a series of successful attacks on the 
tribes surrounding him, there remained the Ndwandwes, a 
powerful people living to the north-west of him, whom he had 
not been able t o defeat. With the object of vanquishing this 
tribe, he concentrated the whole of his forces and marched in 
person at their head. The Ndwandwes, headed by their chief, 
Zwide, were prepared for the attack. After a very severe 
engagement, Dingiswayo was taken prisoner and brought 
before Zwide, who showed every desire to save his life , on 
condition of his becoming a tributary chief. Such a proposal 
Dingiswayo rejected with indignation and used such insulting 
language that Zwide saw no other hope of obtaining a ce·ssation • 
of hostilities than by putting him to death. He was im­
mediat ely killed. His bowels were opened, his gall was taken 
and drunk by the N dwandwe chieftain-a custom which is 
always adhered t o when the bodies of those called kings fall into 
the hands of their enemies; the idea being that such an ob­
servance confers on the successful chief all the virtues and 
courage of his less fortunate rival. The body was then boiled 
down and the fat preserved, in conformity with a custom which 
is said t o exist among the chiefs north of Delagoa. 
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Chapter II 

BEFORE proceeding further with the acts of Dingiswayo, 
it becomes necessary to take some notice of the Zulu tribe 
under Senzangakhona, one of those subdued by Dingis­

wayo. At that time the tribe numbered only 2,000 men. Before 
the date of Dingiswayo's conquests, the custom of circumcision 
had been general among all Kaffir natives: but he ordered the rite 
to be deferred until he should have brought under his dominion 
all within his reach. Owing to this circumstance, circumcision 
fell into disuse among all the eastern tribes, and the omission 
of the ceremony extended to all who acknowledged his 
authority. Among these was Senzangakhona: the rite was 
postponed in his case. But by long usage it was unlawful 
that, though a chief might set aside a number of women for a 
seraglio, he should, until after circumcision, have any inter­
course with them for the propagation of his race. Among the 
females thus set apart by Senzangakhona was N andi, of whose 
d eath an account is given later. She was of the Langeni 
tribe. She had not been more than six months in the seraglio 
before she appeared to be enceinte. This caused so much 
:speculation and conversation among the other women that 
they publicly charged her with having illicit intercourse. 
'On this reaching the ears of Senzangakhona, his conscience told 
bim it was brought about by his favours. To avoid the dis­
:grace attendant on such a proceeding, from his not having been 
-circumcised- which would have disgraced him in the estimation 
of his neighbours- he assured the other women that Nandi 
was not pregnant, but suffered from a complaint called itshaka 
or looseness of the intestines, which was the cause of the swelling. 
This set the matter at rest and seemed to the women to be 
conclusive. Senzangakhona was now circumcised and Nandi 
in time produced a son, who, owing to the circumstance just 
mentioned, was called Shaka, in imitation of the word itshaka. 
Nandi was of a violent, passionate disposition and during her 
residence with Senzangakhona she frequently got into fits of 
outrageous violence. In consequence of this, she was on the 
point of being killed, but escaped with severe threats. This, 
however, seems to have produced little or no effect, as, one 
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day, in the presence of Senzangakhona, she struck one of his 
leading men a severe blow over the head with a knobstick, 
when Senzangakhona, still disposed to save her, ordered her 
from his presence, never to return. He shortly afterwards 
married several other wives, some from the seraglio, others 
from his neighbours. He appointed Bibi 1 his queen, who bore 
him a son, Sigujana. 2 By the other wives he had numbers of 
sons and daughters, among them Mhlangane, Dingane and 
Mpande. 

On leaving Senzangakhona, Nandi went to her father, 
Makedama. 3 She was not there long before she married a 
commoner of the Langeni 4 tribe named Gendeyana (sometimes 
called Ngendeyana), by whom she had a son called Ngwadi. 

When Dingiswayo heard of Shaka he invited him to come 
under his protection, saying that, as he had been driven from 
his father, and had become an outcast wherever he went, 
Shaka should be under his especial care. Shaka accordingly 
went, when he was put under the care of Ngomane, 5 com­
mander-in-chief of Dingiswayo's army. 

He distinguished himself at an early age, by his courage 
and self-command, being always the first in attack, and court­
ing every danger. He was known by the name of Sikiti, also 
by that of Sidlodlo sekhanda (the honour of the heads of 
regiments). Various were the acts by which he signalized 
himself in action, much against the express wish of Dingiswayo, 
who objected to his taking an active part in battle, considering 
it unnecessary for a prince to expose himself to that extent. 
On such occasions, in consequence of his keenness to fight, 
Dingiswayo would order his shield to be taken from him. 
Shaka, however, always managed to steal another from one of 
his companions. He soon became known among the neigh­
bouring tribes as "Dingiswayo's hero." With Dingiswayo he 
remained until the year 1816, when his father Senzangakhona 
died. Sigujana, the rightful heir, 6 was now about to become 

1Bibi, daughter of Nko6e (alias Sompisi) , chief of the Ntuli tribe (section of 
the Bele tribe).-Editor. 

2MS. has Isecogaan. 
'A mistake-should be Mbengi ; Makedama was son of Mgabi, Nandi's 

eldest brother.-Editor. 
'Gendeyana was of the Qwa6e tribe.-Editor. 
•son of Mqomboli. 
6Another MS . gives Mfokazi as the name of the heir. 
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the chief of the Zulu tribe. However, Shaka besought Dingis­
wayo to establish him in the Zulu chieftainship. This Dingi~­
wayo refused to do, stating that the Zulu tribe was under ~ s 
authority, and that Sigujana, as heir apparent, had a_ pnor 
right. As, however, there appeared to Dingiswayo no~hmg to 
prevent Shaka assuming that position, he advised and mduced 
him, by promises of assistance, to put Sigujana to death 
himself and, if necessary, to take the Zulu chieftainship by 
force. But before Dingiswayo could, with any propriety, 
interfere on his protege's behalf Sigujana must be got out of 
the way. Shaka thereupon employed his half-brother Ngwadi 
to dispatch his rival. In this Ngwadi was successful, killing 
not only Sigujana, when bathing in the river, but a brother ~f 
his who happened to be with him at that time. It was at this 
stage that Dingiswayo assisted Shaka with a military force. 
Placing himself at the head thereof Shaka now entered the Zulu 
territory and proceeded at once to his father's kraal. As he 
entered the kraal, dressed in war attire, his men sang the 
following song, composed by him for the occasion: 

Ohah ! 0-o-hah ! 
Who is it that opposes us ? 

When we stab we proceed forward, 
While there are some who retreat, 

The aged must be separated and placed in the rear. 
Do you not see they impede the King's army? 

They were men formerly, 
But now our mother's mothers. 

We must find petticoats to wear. 1 

See, they go out of three roads: 
As it comes they are seen 

Painful is it to be said I am a commoner. 
I am at a loss for a pit to run away 

In front and rear there are all enemies. 

The force which accompanied Shaka, and the proffered 
assistance of uMacingwane, a powerful neighbouring tribe, 
caused the Zulus to make up their minds in favour of Shaka 
and forthwith cordially to receive him as their chief. 

1Shaka compelled all the old men to wear petticoats of m onkey skins for 
war-dresses, shaped like those of women .-Editor. 
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During the first year of his chieftainship, Shaka continued 
tributary to Dingiswayo, which prevented him from displaying 
his abilities or following his own inclinations. The experience 
he had gained during his attendance on Dingiswayo, and his 
own ambitious views, could not find scope for action so long as 
his protector was alive. Shaka took the earliest opportunity 
of ridding himself of such an obstacle. About 12 months 
after Shaka succeeded his father, Dingiswayo went out to 
attack the chief Zwide. Shaka accompanied Dingiswayo, 
commanding one division of the force. Knowing the spot 
where Dingiswayo would post himself to observe the battle, 
Shaka secretly communicated this knowledge to the enemy, 
who sent a force and took him prisoner. He was kept bound 
for three days and then put to death. The Mthethwa tribe, 
their chief being a prisoner, was defeated. Some joined the 
ranks of the victors, while the remainder returned to their 
country, acknowledging as their chief, Mondisa, Dingiswayo's 
brother. The various tribes who had been conquered and 
formed part of the Mthethwa tribe refused to acknowledge 
Mondisa, and took the opportunity of claiming their inde­
pendence. Shaka was now at liberty to exercise his full power 
and indulge his leading passion. 

He soon found a pretext for attacking Mondisa and that 
part of the Mthethwa tribe that had remained with him. The 
tribe was still in confusion from the loss of its chieftain, and in 
fear of retaliation from the tribes which, having been con­
quered by Dingiswayo, were now left at liberty. With only a 
comparatively small force, Shaka succeeded in conquering 
them, killing half of those left and inducing the remainder to 
place themselves under his authority. They had no sooner 
done this than he put to death their chief, Mondisa, brother of 
Dingiswayo, appointing one of his own choice in his place. 

With this additional strength he meditated greater con­
quests, and fought over again Dingiswayo's battles, but now 
they were attended with greater slaughter. 

To give an adequate idea of Shaka's proceedings from the 
death of Dingiswayo to the time when he, Shaka, was 
assassinated by his brother Dingane would require an ex­
tensive work, while the object of what is here recorded 
regarding him is chiefly to give an insight into the revolutions 
the various tribes have undergone and the rise and progress 
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of the Zulu nation, to elucidate which it has ?een necessary 
to give a more minute account respecting Dingiswa~o a:id the 
tribes antecedent to their being under the dommation . of 
Shaka. Hence the little mentioned regarding Sh~ka can give 
but an indifferent idea of the character of that chief. 

It was pointed out above that Shaka's conquests were 
attended with greater slaughter than those of Dingiswayo's. 
The main reason for this was that he disapproved of the old 
custom of carrying many assegais and throwing them at the 
enemy. To substitute a different mode of attack Shaka 
assembled two of his regiments. The men were then ordered to 
supply themselves with a reed each from. the river bank, that 
he might be convinced of the effect which only one ~eapon 
would produce when used at close quarters. The two regiments 
thus weaponed were ordered to oppose each other, .the on.e 
throwing the weapon, the other rushing on and stabbmg their 
opponents at close quarters. The ; esult .of this. colli~ion was 
momentous and met with Shaka s entire satisfaction, few 
having escaped being wounded and several being killed. . . 

Shaka then ordered six oxen to be slaughtered _m his 
presence, and collecting the assegais of his followers with the 
exception of one left to each, he ordered the shaft~ to be bro~en 
and used as firewood in cooking the meat, of which the pnme 
parts, after being soaked in cold water, were gi~en ~o _those who 
had been seen to shrink in the combat. This ongmated the 
use of the single assegai by eastern tribes. He also took the 
opportunity of commanding the word itshaka never more to be 
used · tshuda was to be substituted therefor. 

Dingane was at this time in disgrace in ~onse~uence of an 
amour with a girl. He was on the point of bemg killed when he 
effected his escape to the Qwa6e tribe. It was at about ~he 
same time that Shaka prohibited his soldiers from marrymg 
wives or engaging in amours of any kind. 

Having received a quantity of beads from Delagoa Bay, 
a market he kept open after the death of Dingiswayo, he sent 
a present of some of them to Phakathwayo, chief of the Qwa6e 
tribe. Phakathwayo, however, immediately returned them, 
saying they had been bewitc~ed by Shaka, who wanted to ?ut 
him to death. This accusation Shaka made a ?retext ~or im­
mediate hostilities. He attacked Phakathwayo m two different 
directions. Phakathwayo, on being closely pursued, fell dead 
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from fright, whilst his tribe, after a short conflict, fled to the 
Entumeni forest near by. On the news of Phakathwayo's 
death being reported to Shaka, he pretended to be very sorry 
at what had happened. H e sent two oxen as an offering to his 
(Phakathwayo's) family spirits, with prayers to bring about 
his resurrection. He, moreover, assured the Qwa6e tribe of his 
regret, adding that his intention in coming at all was merely 
to demand an apology for the way in which Phakathwayo had 
insulted him. As, however, their king was dead, for the 
spirits did not seem inclined to raise him up, they would now 
stand in need of a protector; and seeing that Phakathwayo 
had no heir, and his brother Nqetho was too young, they had 
better pu~ themse~ves und~r his protection. This they agreed 
to d?, w?ich ~onsider~bly mcreased the size of Shaka's army, 
maku~g _it qmte formidable. Dingane, by making an abject 
submiss10n, was allowed to return to the Zulu tribe. 

Shaka next attacked Mahlungwana, 1 the chief that had 
promised to assist him on the death of his father. He defeated 
him, upon which many of the tribe gave their allegiance to 
Shaka. 

T~e ne~t to join him were the Langeni tribe. These freely 
submitted m the expectation of receiving favourable treatment. 
Shaka's mother, Nandi, was a member of this tribe. It was at 
this time that she took charge of Shaka's household, all the 
small tribes in the neighbourhood having by then joined him. 

Another chief he attacked was Matiwane, chief of the 
amaNgwane tribe. After a slight contest, this tribe retreated 
to the northward. 

Zwide, chief of the Ndwandwe tribe, witnessing Shaka's 
daily increase of power, the inevitable result of which he had 
anticipated, suddenly and unexpectedly invaded the Zulu 
country. Shaka, who was unprepared, hastily collected his 
forces and pretended to retreat from the attacking army. He 
kept on retiring more and more into the heart of his country 
for two days, taking the precaution of everywhere burying all 
the corn along his route. This so harassed and distressed 
the invaders that, exhausted by hunger and fatigue, they were 
compelled to retrace their steps, during which they were 

1MS. has Amaclungwani. 
C 



18 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

constantly attacked by Shaka. He followed them to their 
own country, destroying great numbers. 

Shaka continued his attacks on the surrounding tribes, 
always observing the strictest discipline among his troops and 
dealing out cattle with a liberal hand, until his army increased 
to such a size as realized his wishes. 

He now started a desolating and destructive war on all 
around, and directed that no quarter was to be given. H e 
ravaged and depopulated the country to a distance of 300 
miles to the westward, 200 miles to the northward and 500 
miles to the southward. In this vast area only two tribes, the 
Ngwane under Matiwane, and the Nhlungwini under Madikane, 
escaped his destructive powers, and that only by their becoming 

roving marauders. 
His next attack was on his old foe, the Ndwandwe tribe, 

then under Sikhunyana. These people he completely defeated. 
Previously to this expedition he had behaved with a degree of 
humanity and mildness as compared with his subsequent 

conduct. 
His inclinations, until the defeat of the Ndwandwes, had 

been restrained by fear lest his subjects should detach them­
selves from him. Having, at length, defeated the only remain­
ing formidable enemy, with nothing to fear from any other 
quarter, and when he imagined that his ext ensive power 
placed him in a state of perfect security, his real character 
began to develop itself. Up to this time he had, in great 
measure, acted in accordance with the system of his late 
protector, Dingiswayo, but, owing to his increase~ sense of 
security, his former tactics began to be blended with a more 
rigid despotism. H e kept his subjects in perpetual awe and 
continual astonishment from the variety of his exploits and 
brilliancy of his achievements. But after the annihilation of 
the N dwandwe people a reign of t error commenced, when his 
excessive cruelties overleaped all bounds. Unfortunately for 
his subjects, he must have imbibed the idea that the minds of 
such a het erogeneous mass of people, made up of many varying 
tribes, ought to be continually agitated, and that daily examples 
of his might and ferocity were necessary to keep them in a state 
of awe. Notwithstanding such a policy the people, throughout 
the whole country, gave themselves up to constantly reciting 
his eulogies and extolling his heroic deeds. Thus it was that 
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his name was everywhere dreaded and seldom made use of 
except in the taking of oaths, when what was said and so 
sealed might strictly be relied as being the truth. 

S~aka ~avin?' after much opposition, overcome the neigh­
bouring tnbes, 1:1 order to prevent a repetition of revolt, put 
to de~th the chiefs and principal families of the conquered, 
selectmg, however, the younger men, whom he attached to his 
regiments, forming together a body of 50,000 effective followers: 
these he governed with despotic severity. Having, with the 
excepti~n of ~~tiwane, ~ho fled to the north-west, brought 
under hi~ domm10n all chief~ and tribes between Delagoa Bay 
and uMz1mvu6u, he det ermmed to continue his wars, so long 
as any body of people could be found to stand in opposition to 
his force. To fight or die was his maxim, and certain was the 
death of any man or body of men who retreated before the 
enemy. The countries to the north-east, as also the coast 
so.uthward, ~ere separately invaded. Those who attempted to 
w1thst~nd him w~re overpowered by numbers, and ultimately 
extermmated, neither sex nor age being spared. Many were 
burned to death, their huts being fired at night; while the 
barbarous cruelt~es he practised struck terror into many who 
had never seen his force and fled at his name. 

The. r~cital ?f his cruelties, though horrid, is necessary, for 
the omission ~ight leav_e him entitled to be regarded only as a 
savage.. One mstance 1s related by his followers and partici­
pators m the deed as having occurred in the commencement of 
~ battle with Zwide. Some aged women having been taken 
m the, outskirts of their country were seized and brought into 
Shaka s. presence. After eliciting from them the information 
he reqmred, he ordered them to be bound with straw and 
m~tting, which being set on fire, the tortured victims were 
dnven towards the enemy amidst the acclamations of Shaka 
and of the furious demons attending him. Whilst those 
opposed to him were subj ected to such cruelties his own 
foll_owers were not exempt. The instances are nu~erous in 
~hich, though not a semblance of crime was imputed to them 

e has had men seized and their eyes taken out of their sockets'. 
~nd then they were allowed to move about and be ridiculed r ~11 who met them. It is needless to dwell on the enormity 
0 ds c~uelty. It required some offset to gloss over this his 
pre ommant f t H ' ea ure. e seemed to possess qualities that 
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might do so, and these, though only assume~, were s1:1fficient 
for the ends he had in view. When the feelings of his heart 
were appealed to, he was by no means deficient in kind ex­
pression, and tears appeared to b e_ always ready at his commai:id. 
Excessive liberality gained for him that ascendancy for which 
he was esteemed above all before him. His despotism made the 
lives and property of all his followers exclusively his own. 
Hence his treasury, though exhausted by liberal gifts, required 
but the death of two or three wealthy owners of cattle to 
replenish it. The successes that had always attended him in 
his numerous wars, and his own pret ensions to superiority, led 
his followers to believe that he was more than human: and in 
this light he was ever adored by his subj ects. He succeeded in 
overrunning the whole country from Delagoa Bay to the St. 
John's River; and if death had not put a stop to his ambitious 
career, or had he not been deterred by the probability of a 
collision with the Cape Colonists, he would assuredly, ere this, 1 

have exterminated every tribe of Kaffirs up to the Colonial 
border. The numbers whose death he occasioned have been 
left to conjecture, but exceed a million. Of the tribes yet 
extant who escaped subjection by Dingiswayo the first was 
that of the chief Zikode, who occupied the tract from St. Lucia 
to Delagoa Bay. He fled beyond that port inland, and his is 
now the only tribe north of Delagoa speaking the Kaffir language. 
At the death of this chief he was succeeded by his son Soshan­
gana, who was three times attacke~ by S~a~a. On the last 
occasion Shaka's army, before makmg their mtended attack, 
was surprised in the night by Soshangana and his followers, 
who were led to make this movement by a deserter, one of 
Shaka's chiefs. Little is known of Soshangana or his people, 
though they cannot be much less numerous than Shaka's 
adherents. 

The next tribe of importance, in point of numbers, is that 
under the chief Mzilikazi, misnamed by the colonists Motsili­
katzi an error arising from the adoption by the tribe of the 
nam: of their head, and so calling themselves Amaziligazi. 

Previous reference has been made to Zwide's invasion of 
Zulu territories. It remains to be noted that when Zwide was 

· forced to retire three of his petty chiefs were left behind, two 

IAbout 1842.-Editor. 
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of whom, Beje and Mlotshwa, joined Shaka, by whom they were 
afterwards put to death. 

The third, Mzilikazi, with 300 followers, became a free­
booter. He began his aggressions by setting fire to the huts of 
petty tribes by night. His ~ en, sc~ttered abroa~. for . the 
purpose, gained advantage without difficulty,. receivm~ _ mt~ 
their ranks such as escaped the flames. The tnbe of Mzihkazi 
rose into notice, but was never considered important until 
the year 1830, when he was attacked by Dingane. The ex­
tensive increase of the adherents of Mzilikazi was caused by the 
accession to their number of the refugees driven out by Shaka, 
especially when Zwide was defeated in 1826. 

The mode of government to which the eastern tribes have 
been accustomed has been despotic, though it was not till after 
the chieftainship of Shaka that it can be said to have attained 
a very arbitrary character. The advantages resulting from 
that mode of government and the success of the new mode of 
warfare induced the natives to imitate the example of Dingis­
wayo and Shaka; but the different degrees of power assumed 
by the rulers admit of a softer designation than despotism; for 
such tyranny as Shaka's could not be adopted by them with 
any probability of success, for their retainers would certainly, 
in such case, have attached themselves to Shaka, whose con­
tinued fortune offered a strong inducement. By his tyranny 
and barbarous acts, Shaka secured the most abject submission 
to his will, and restrained his subjects from the most trivial 
offences. If we keep out of sight Shaka's barbarities, the Zulus 
were a superior people, distinguished for good order and 
discipline. The region devastated by the marauding chiefs 
exceeds the Cape Colony in extent. It is, for the greater part 
quite void of inhabitants. Many of the inhabitants who 
escaped from the spear were left to perish by starvation. 
Their cattle having been taken and their grain destroyed, 
thousands were left for years to linger on the slender sustenance 
of roots-some even of a poisonous kind. One species could 
not be safely eaten until it had been boiled repeatedly for 
24 hours ; and, if the cravings of starvation led to a dis­
regard of caution, they knew the fate that awaited them. 
Insanity was the invariable consequence. In this state they 
cast themselves down from mountain cliffs or became helplessly 
CI 
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the prey of wolves or tigers. 1 In my first journey from Natal 
to the Mtata in 1824, I witnessed very awful scenes. Six 
thousand unhappy beings, having scarcely a human appearance, 
were scattered over this country, feeding on every description 
of animal, and driven by their hungry craving in many instances 
to devour their fellows. The excessive liberality of Shaka in his 
gifts of cattle to the European party enabled them to do much 
in alleviating the distress which they witnessed around them; 
the first attempt, however, in affording relief was attended 
with obstacles. The safety of the party would be endangered 
by Shaka's displeasure, and, moreover, as Europeans had never 
before been seen in the country, the motives of their offers of 
help were misconstrued by these victims of misery, who fled 
from them as from destruction. The treatment experienced by 
the first of the natives who accepted relief soon brought the 
remainder to Port Natal-above 4,000 of both sexes were 
saved in this way-and Shaka, hitherto implacable in their 
regard, became softened and, feeling a deep interest in for­
warding the views of the Europeans, he encouraged rather than 
discountenanced the protection afforded to the distressed, and 
he spared the lives of those of his subjects who, having been sen­
tenced to death, had made their escape and fled to Port Natal. 
Their arrival among the Europeans being reported to Shaka, he 
replied: " They have gone to my friends and not to my enemies: 
take care of them as of your own." To these circumstances it 
is due that a body of natives under the control of the European 
party was collected at the port. The fate of the natives became 
identified with our own, and could scarcely be separated. 
While their recent destruction in the attack on the Zulu nation 
is much to be deplored, they have proved themselves deserving 
of the protection that has been afforded them by dying in the 
cause of their protectors, and in the same field. Their general 
good conduct has led to the belief that under an established 
government the natives would prove to be good subjects and 
exemplary soldiers. 

This body of people was small in proportion to the numbers 
who had fled from the country in fear of Shaka and took 
refuge among the western tribes of Kaffraria. From these they 
received the name of Mfengu, from the word f enguza, which is 

lLeopards.-Editor. 
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expressive of want. The first of these refugees expressed their 
need of sustenance by saying fenguza, "we want." Hence all 
who followed them at different periods, though belonging to 
various classes, were called Mfengu. The position of these 
peoples in their state of servitude under their Kaffir masters 
was one of restlessness. Being generally industrious, they 
aimed at the acquisition of cattle. Once in possession of such 
property, they evinced a disposition to be free from bondage. 
A custom prevails in all Kaffir races in regard to cattle acquired 
by a dependant. They are considered to be his property only 
so long as he remains in his subordinate condition, or by 
permission of his master builds a separate kraal, in which case 
he is still looked on as an adherent; but if he join another chief 
or withdraw from the authority of his master his property 
is subject to seizure. In their anxiety to be no longer menial 
servants, the Fengus have taken every opportunity to escape 
with their property. The first that occurred was when an 
attack was made by Ncaphayi on the Tambookies. Some of 
the Fengus joined Ncaphayi, and the Tambookies, in a spirit 
of revenge, persecuted those who had not joined the ranks of 
the invaders, and had remained with their masters. The 
rumours as to the conduct of the Fengus who had escaped 
reaching the other tribes, the persecution became general. 
The next instance occurred in 1834, in the last Kaffir war, 
when they embraced the opportunity, and became British 
subjects. In the confusion caused by the war some had lost 
their cattle, while others had brought away those of their 
late masters, with which they had no sooner escaped than they 
extensively increased their stock by plundering the cattle taken 
by the Colonial forces from the Kaffir tribes. The Fengus, like 
the natives at Port Natal, belonged to fragments of every tribe 
defeated by Shaka; those at Natal, however, had advantages 
t?at materially influenced their character-for they lived in a 
nc~ and extensive country and being supplied with cattle and 
gra~, had no inducement to roam. Under the government of 
their own chiefs and laws, they had always been under sufficient 
restraint and were an orderly people. The Fengus, on the 
-c~n~rary, have for years been without any settled abode, 
divided from their chiefs, having nothing but the name of 
Fengus to connect them with their fellows, and roving from 
place to place. They have fallen materially in character, and 
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bear little resemblance to those of their countrymen who have 
not been exposed to the hardships endured by the Fengus. 

The Kafnr tribes may be considered to be almost exclusively 
a pastoral people, and wholly so as regards the tribes near the 
Cape Colony, since the quantity of grain produced among any 
portion of them wi"l barely suffice for their consumption for 
three months in the year. The amaMpondo, before their 
defeat by Shaka, in 1824, were a pastoral people. Having then 
lost much of their stock, they became agricultural and pastoral. 
The Natal refugees also became agriculturalists, loss of cattle 
having in most cases been the only stimulus to tillage. To this 
rule the Zulus are an exception, being at once agricultural and 
pastoral. An excessive fondness for cattle is exemplified in 
all the Kaffir tribes. Those of the eastern tribes who have 
been restricted by the penalty of death from committing theft 
have substituted in its room open war on all who possess them. 
This predominant feature has been the foundation of the 
numerous wars and commotions which have ever kept the 
country in constant agitation. During the life of Dingiswayo 
thefts of cattle from one another were not infrequent. Under 
Shaka no penalty less than death was inflicted for the offence, 
and this at once put a stop to that description of plunder. 
During the 12 years of my residence in the Zulu country 
not a single instance occurred of cattle stealing. 

Chapter III 

B
UT Shaka's innovations were not confined to the expansion, 
organization, discipline and efficiency of his army, vast, 
complex and mobile as it was, nor was his time and attent­

ion wholly occupied by the campaigns or deeds of his warriors 
and the numerous direct and indirect consequences thereof. He 
was shrewd enough to see that the success of his system, as a 
whole, and the many far-flung and exacting operations he was 
always engaged in depended, to no small degree, on the way in 
which the relations between the sexes were controlled. Among 
his extraordinary developments in this connection were the 
royal izigodlo or seraglios, and, once organized and developed 
by Shaka, they were maintained by later kings, very much on 
similar lines, though not on so large a scale. 

I. 
I 
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The seraglio of the Zulu king 1 consists of the upper part of 
the royal kraal, and measures about 300 yards in length by 
200 in breadth. It is separated from the main or lower portion 
of the kraal by a neat fence of closely plaited brushwood, five 
feet in height. The area cut off by the fence is subdivided by 
similar fences into compartments for the different divisions of 
the household, and these subdivisions are such as to give the 
whole appearance of being an intricate labyrinth. In each 
compartment there are neatly finished huts, the insides being 
of the neatest workmanship. The sticks are worked so closely 
together as to be of themselves nearly watertight. The spaces 
between the huts are levelled and kept constantly clean. 
Each compartment is named according to its use, or the division 
of the household who occupy it. 

The seraglios of Shaka contained not less than 5,000 girls. 
When he wished to add to their numbers, the girls throughout 
the country would be assembled and made to dance before him. 
He would then select those he admired and allocate them 
according to age or beauty to such divisions as seemed to him 
fitting. The whole of these girls were divided into regiments, 
one of these being attached to the isigodlo (seraglio) of each 
regiment of soldiers. The soldiers were prohibited, under 
penalty of death, from entering a seraglio. These establish­
ments are regulated and controlled by adopted mothers or 
queens. It has been no uncommon occurrence for a regiment 
of soldiers and another of girls to be surrounded and slain on 
the slightest suspicion of intercourse; in which case sometimes 
not less than 3,000 people would suffer, whereas, in fact, only 
a very few, and possibly none at all, were guilty. As Shaka 
seldom visited a regiment to whose barracks a regiment of 
girls was attached, such being only inferior regiments, many of 
the girls saw him only once in three years, whilst numbers did 
so only when he originally selected them. Those who resided 
with him at the principal royal kraal, not being more than 
three or four hundred, exclusive of his real and adopted 
relations, were not allowed to marry and were, with the others, 
kept in a state of most abject submission. They were supplied 
with provisions by cattle being killed solely for their use. The 

1There were 10, 15 or more such establishments, being attached to each 
royal kraal, the largest, of course, at the principal royal residence.-Editor. 
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cattle slaughtered for them were called umlomo cattle, i.e 
cattle of the mouth, or mouth cattle. Such cattle were not 
allowed to be touched by the other people. As soon as the meat 
had been cooked, it was taken to the King, and, after being 
assorted by him, it was carried in baskets to the various 
establishments. Shaka sometimes sent cattle for the use of 
those residing at a distance. At the conclusion of every meal, 
thanks were returned, being chanted in set phrases, of which 
the following are illustrations: 

"Wen' ongangeZulu ! " "Wen' ongangezwe ! " "Wen' 
ongangezinta6a ! " "Wen' omnyama ! " "Wen' onga­
ngolwandle ! " " Wen' owakhula sili6ele ! " 

Of which the following is a literal translation: 

" Thou that art as great as the sky! Thou that art as 
great as the earth ! Thou that art as great as the mountains ! 
Thou that art black ! Thou that art as vast as the sea ! 
Thou who growest while others are otherwise occupied! " 

The whole time of the inmates of the main seraglio is taken 
up in decorating themselves according to the King's fanciful 
taste and attending on him. There were generally 400 or 500 
who attended on him, though this number was often augmented 
iby 600-700 by drafts from several of the other seraglios. 

haka usually passed his evenings with these girls, often by 
joining in the dances and himself dancing in the centre of those 
performing. They dressed in accordance with the modes in 
vogue at the respective seraglios they had come from. Such 
costumes were superb and far beyond anything the reader 
would imagine after taking into consideration the apparent 
absence of articles which would seem to be necessary for 
creating grand effects. New songs were composed in sets, 
year by year, and sung in rotation. The music and dancing 
that accompanied each song was varied in such a way that 
one half of the circle would sing the men's part, whilst the rest 
of the circle would sing the women's. In all these performances 
the greatest order and precision was invariably observed. 

It frequently happens that they fall into disgrace with the 
King. In such cases, the male relatives of the girl are obliged 
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to forfeit cattle, whereas the only return derived by a father or 
relative is the honour of his daughter, sister, etc., having been 
selected by the King for admission into the seraglio. As a 
matter of fact, in no palace in Europe is greater decorum, 
order and etiquette observed than in these seraglios and their 
various compartments. 

Shaka had various huts reserved for his own private use. 
There was one in which he had his meals, another to dress in, 
another to sleep in, and another for giving audiences. Other 
huts again were used for storing his provisions. Only one or 
two of his old chiefs were admitted into his apartments, and 
then only by invitation. A free admittance, however, was 
allowed to Europeans, in whose company he was always happy. 
He regarded them as his real friends, and made them partakers 
of his meals-this being considered by him to be a high honour. 
His meals generally consisted of stewed beef or mutton, 
amazambane (potatoes), beans, a pudding made of Guinea corn 
flour, mixed with rich soup, beer, plantains, and sugar cane, 
when in season. All the food was cleanly cooked by his female 
attendants, and served up in wooden dishes of curious work­
manship. 

The mode of life was extremely regular. Rising early, he 
would leave his hut and sit at the upper end of the cattle kraal 
under a euphorbia tree. He sat either on a mat or a chair­
carved out of a solid block of wood in imitation of a chair 
which had been brought by the Portuguese from Delagoa Bay. 
There would be a servant at his side holding a shield over him 
by a long handle to protect him from the rays of the sun. 
His hairdresser would stand to shave him or dress his ring, and 
whilst so engaged would keep as respectful a distance as the 
nature of the profession would allow. While undergoing this 
?Pe:ation, Shaka kept on talking in a careless way, apparently 
md1fferent to the operation, and yet a single incision on the 
head of majesty would have been fatal to the surgeon-barber, 
who was, in consequence, obliged to watch for his opportunities 
and when they occurred hastily spring forward and detach 
the hair required, or give the ring a polishing touch. 

The chiefs and regiments belonging to the kraal, as well as 
t?~se coming on and going off duty, no sooner heard of his 
nsmg _th~n they collected and approached him. When they 
got \\-1thm 30 yards of him they would salute with respectful 
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fear by saying : " Bayede ! " a salutation due only to kings . 
They would then seat themselves on the ground before him in 
silence and proceed t o listen with great attention and anxiety. 
They caught with great eagerness every word that escaped 
him in course of conversation and answered him only with 
acclamations of praise or by expressing astonishment at his 
talents. They quitted his presence on his rising to bathe in an 
apartment he used for that purpose. He would be attended 
by two servants carrying water and a decanter of oil, also his 
doctors. The latter were employed on such occasions to 
strengthen him with magical arts, and decoctions of various 
vegetables prepared for the purpose. Whilst being doctored 
in this way, all persons who had lost their relatives by death 
·were obliged t o purify themselves before they could be admitted 
into his presence. Purification took place in this way. The 
mourner would have to take the gall from the side of a living 
calf, then sprinkle it at the entrance of the bathing enclosure. 
In the case of poor people, a brass ball would be thrown on to 
a few beads, all of which thereafter became perquisites of the 
servants waiting on the King. 

After bathing he breakfasted and frequently slept for an 
hour or two, when he would again appear before his people, 
who had eagerly awaited his return. If a regiment was called, 
the little boys were always on the alert to make the hindermost 
hurry up by striking them severe blows on the head which they 
dare not resent. The -same was done by the men to the boys 
on the latter being summoned. 

Cattle and war formed the whole subject of his conversations; 
and during his sitting, while in the act of taking a pinch of 
snuff, or when engaged in the deepest conversation, he would 
by a movement of his finger, perceivable only by his attendants, 
point out one of the gathering sitting round him, upon which, 
to the surprise of strangers, the man would be carried off and 
killed . This was a daily occurrence. On one occasion I 
witnessed 60 boys under 12 years of age dispatched before 
he had breakfasted. No sooner is the signal given, and the 
object pointed out , than those sitting round him scramble 
to kill him, although they have good reason to expect the next 
moment the same fate themselves, but such apprehensions are 
far from their thoughts ; the will of the King being uppermost. 
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I have seen instances where they have had opportunities of 
speaking while being carried off, but which they always em­
ployed in enthusiastically praising the heroic deeds of their 
King. No sooner is the signal given, and the condemned 
individual taken hold of, than one, while the others are dragging 
him away, seizes the head and by a sudden jerk and twist , 
dislocates the neck joint , the others in the meantime beating 
him with knobsticks. As soon as they arrive at the Golgotha, 
about a mile from the kraal, where all these executed are placed, 
then they thrust a stake through the body. There the vultures 
sit in flocks waiting for their daily prey, whilst the surrounding 
bush abounds with wolves which, by their cries at intervals 
during the day, proclaim their anxiety for the approach 
of night. 

The following instances will enable the reader to form some 
idea of his atrocities. His obj ection t o being imagined a father 
will be evident from the following fact. Nandi, his mother, 
governed his concubines. She produced an infant with its 
mother to Shaka, observing that, from the likeness she could 
trace in the child, it was his. The mother had resided in her, 
Nandi's, kraal before and since becoming enceinte, and could 
only have been visited by him. He immediately seized the little 
innocent, and, throwing it up into the air, it was killed by the 
fall ; the mother was instantly ordered to be put to death, 
whilst Shaka so severely beat his mother, Nandi, with a stick, 
for presuming to accuse him of being the father that she was 
lame for three months. When she recovered, she had the ten 
concubines put to death who had agreed with her proposal 
to show Shaka the infant. 

A man named Mpisana, 1 who had been accused by the 
d~ctors (iziny anga) of witchcraft, was ordered to be dragged 
alive by a cord fastened to his ankles down a steep hill leading 
to the Mhlathuze river. H e was then suspended to a mimosa 
tree by his heels and burned to death, by a fire made under 
him. 

Mantshongwe 2 and Msoka, two chiefs charged with a similar 
crime, had their eyes taken out. They were then allowed to 
live if they could while being tormented by people sent for that 

'MS. has Impesan 
'MS. has Machoni va. 
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purpose. As both assistance and food were refused them, 
they soon died. 

Shaka's servant, Ngozingozi, 1 i.e. wound and wound, a 
name acquired from the numerous wounds that had been 
inflicted on him by Shaka, was on one occasion, obliged to go 
on reciting the King's eulogies and declaring, upon oath, that 
he was never hurt by Shaka, during the whole time that the 
latter was in the act of burning him on the neck with a fire­
brand. 

The principal residence of Shaka, before he defeated the 
Ndwandwes, was called Gi6ixhegu 2-turn out the old men. 
The Ndwandwes were no sooner defeated than he collected all 
the aged men in the country and had them killed. A special 
song was composed on that occasion, the words of which were: 
Produce the cowards, etc. Each regiment produced its own, 
when they were at once carried off and killed. The name of 
the royal kraal was changed to Eulawayo 3 and by that it was 
thenceforth known. 

During his midday council persons under different de­
nominations were constantly proclaiming his achievements and 
innumerable titles. Some of these were decorated with horns 
on their heads; others in leopard skins; some made themselves 
resemble dogs, others dressed like women. Others again, by 
their foolish antics and attitudes, did everything in their 
power to keep the King amused. 

Among the peculiarities, shortly after our arrival in the 
country he formed a regiment of women, attaching to each 
division thereof female officers, the whole being called after us, 
uNkisimana-Englishman. These were employed more for his 
amusement than for any other purpose. 

Another singularity was that Dingiswayo and, after him, 
Shaka each pretended to be afflicted with certain evacuations 
in the way that women are, though not at regular periods. 
On these occasions numerous cattle were slaughtered and 
many people killed. 

As an instance of Shaka's vanity and desire to be thought 
wonderful the following may be mentioned. While crossing 
the Mhlathuze River with his army, he placed his soldiers in 

1MS. has Gose um Gose. 
1MS. has Gebecaigu. 
SMS. has Umbulawio. 
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various positions to try if he could dam up the river. Whether 
he succeeded in raising the water any height I don't know, but 
he has the credit of having stopped it entirely. 

In the afternoons cattle were issued by the King for 
slaughter to the regiments on duty and should a European 
or a visitor from any other tribe arrive, though only a single 
individual, an ox or cow is given him, with beer, etc. Anyone 
daring to offer the King provisions for sale would have been 
killed. 

Shaka was given to dreams and necromancy. Moreover, he 
uttered prophecies, one at least of these being remarkable 
and very well known by the natives of Zululand and Natal, 
no doubt because it came true within but ten years of his death. 
[As the author does not give details of it we venture to give 
it here. When Shaka was assassinated, a comparatively young 
man, he was still at the height of his power. Not 50 Europeans 
had up to that time visited the country (we mean of course 
during his own reign) and not ten of those had lived there for 
a year and upwards. There was therefore every probability, 
from the ordinary native's point of view, not only that Shaka 
would continue to reign for at least another dozen years but 
that after him the wonderful Zulu power and autonomy would 
be maintained unimpaired for a much longer period. Shaka, 
however, was not an ordinary Zulu. He could see far ahead. 
He saw clearly that as soon as he died the country would be 
overrun, i.e. conquered by the white man-the makers of 
muskets, gunpowder and ships. This then was the substance 
of his prophecy: "As soon as I go, this country of ours will be 
overrun in every direction by the white man. Mark my words." 
He spoke in metaphorical terms, but the above is the sense of the 
prophecy, being completely verified on the 16th December, 
1~8, when the Boers utterly defeated Dingane at Blood 
River, forcing him to vacate and set fire to his own capit al. 
-Editor.] 
. ~s to necromancy, the two following anecdotes may serve to 
indicate something of Shaka's attitude and relation thereto: 

When he was living in the Mthethwa tribe under Dingis­
wayo he made the acquaintance of a certain Zulu chief called 
Mmbiya. The two soon became so intimate that later on 
when Shaka ruled over the Zulus in conjunction with that of 
the Mthethwa, Mmbiya was taken into great favour. He died 
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in 1826, much to Shaka's regret. A few months afterwards 
a report was current that the spirit of Mmbiya, in the form of 
a homeless snake, known as idlozi, had appeared at his own 
kraal, and intended to visit Shaka. In consequence of this, 
Shaka sent chiefs and sent them repeat edly to see it. On each 
occasion they took oxen which were duly sacrificed to the spirit. 
That this spirit was really that of Mmbiya was confirmed by all 
who went to the place. With such persons Mmbiya is supposed 
to have entered into conversation and this on topics of a 
political nature. On every occasion it extolled Shaka, referring 
to him as a superior power, and at the same time assured those 
present that he, Shaka, was in very great favour with the spirits. 
Finally it declared that it had come by direction of the spirits to 
make this announcement. The chiefs did not neglect to ask 
for snuff, upon which the spirit directed them to proceed to a 
particular spot where the snuff box would be found. So 
satisfied were they that the spirit was indeed that of Mmbiya 
that they induced Shaka to believe it too. The latter now 
appointed a day on which the spirit was to appear before him. 
In the meantime he caused a handsome kaross with which the 
spirit was to be clad to be sent to it. 

On the day appointed Shaka and his chiefs were in readi-
ness to receive the much revered visitant, when, to the astonish­
ment of all, an old woman, pret ending to be the spirit in 
question, began delivering her message. Shaka soon put a stop 
to this by declaring her to be an impostor and ordering her to 
go away. At the same time he expressed the opinion that she 
had undoubtedly been directed by Mmbiya to do as she had 
done, owing to his not wishing, for some reason or other, to 

appear himself. 
The other anecdote is as follows : During the latter part of 

Shaka's reign there was a man called I3andla, ~ member of the 
Cele tribe, who was attacked by illness in the same way as 
neophytes are, and was thus supposed by his friends to be called 
by the spirits previous to his becoming a necromancer. One 
day, when he was extremely ill, and apparently at death's 
door, he suddenly disappeared. Whilst there was no doubt 
but that he was dead, his disappearance remained a mystery. 
The usual ceremonies of mourning were observed and after a 
time he was forgotten. But greatly to the surprise of both 
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relations and friends he reappeared in th t of . 
a goat into his hut. e ac carrymg 

His friends immediately flocked round to k f 
he came and how he had d" now rom whence f h . b isappeared. He thereupon accounted 
or is a sence and reappearance in the foll . As he l · th l owmg manner· 

entered th ayh m e ast ~goni~s of death, a lion, he said, had 
put him diwnu~na;tl~arned/im gen~ly away. It frequently 
his whole frame Wh w o:. im: This appeared to invigorate 
carried by the r. th en is pams ~ad. been relieved, he was 
f d ion rough an opemng m the earth which led 
f::i::~:!:~u~d to a world of spirits_. The spirits' asked him 

. e came, at the same time telling him in order 
that ~e might convince his countrymen on the earth he had 
c?me r?m,. that death was only a sleep from which they . 
nse to hve m happ· Th . agam 
collected round h_mess. ~ immens: numbers that had now 

im procee ed to smg the following song: 

Eih, eih, eih, 
0 ! waduka 

W ashon' ezizweni, eah. 

Oh he went astray 
He made his way into strange countries. 

. He was shown all the former kin s livin . . 
his relations and their children E f d" -~ m amity, also all 
the ~ame position which he fill~d b:~o:e\::~hualMwas occupyhing 
retamed the . · oreover, t ey 
plenty of same ;ge and vigour as before death having 
dancing anJ~~;;. cattle, and amusing themsel;es with 

f 
Hde was taken to those of his wives that had died h h 

oun they had b k , w en e 
of the husband. een ept as they were in all cases till the death 

Having remained several d . hi one of his r 
1 

t· ays m t s world of happiness 
making a :a:k10n~ sc~tched the pupil of his eye by way of 
vinced of the tw th erfeh"! people of the world would be con-

ru o is story Th th . 
to the world till he shoul .. ey_ en ?rdered him back 
they would tell hi d obtam an heir to his property, when 
They, moreover sa: t~at::: to the~ by the way of death. 
to a certain b 'h h pproachmg his kraal he was to go 

o us w ere he would find a goat entangled; this 
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he was then to carry home, kill as an offering to them (the 
spirits) and sprinkle its gall over his body. He was now con­
ducted back to earth, where he found the very g~a~ th~t was 
now before them. As for the mark in his eye he exhib:ted it t?o. 

This account soon reached the ears of the neighbouring 
tribes, his repeated declarations as to its being true and t~e 
evidence of his neighbours, as far as t~ey c_ould confirm it, 
being proved, made him a favourite of his chief, Magaye, and 

afterwards of Shaka. . 
This man was later on accidentally killed by some Zu~us 

when chasing stolen cattle in 1828. His manners we~e peculiar 
as was his dress. His character being un?oubted, his account 
of the world below is still believed by his countrymen as an 

undoubted truth. 
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Chapter I 

I 
LEFT England and arrived at the Cape of Good Hope in 
the year 1818. In December of the same year I left Cape 
Town in H.M. brig Leveret, for Algoa Bay, en route for the 

"Somerset Farm." 1 

Owing to recent inroads by the Kaffirs on the Colony, prior 
to their attack on Grahamstown, it was necessary for all 
Government waggons to be accompanied by military escorts 
when travelling through the country. Such escorts were not 
discontinued until after the arrival of the Albany settlers in 
1820. In 1822 I left the Somerset Farm and walked from 
Grahamstown to Cape Town. One of the first persons I met 
at Cape Town was Mr. Henry Nourse, whom I had known 

1As Fynn spent three years at this place, it will be well to append some 
account thereof. 

The farm was started by Lord Charles Somerset, Governor of the Cape 
Colony in 1814. It proved a success, especially after one Robert Hart took 
over the management in January , 1817. 

"The Somerset Farm," says G. Thompson, who visited it in 1823, 
i.e. the year after Fynn left there, " lay at the foot of the Boschberg ridge 
of mountains ... about fifteen miles from the course of the Giant Fish 
River. It is watered by the stream called the Little Fish River. 

Somerset Farm . . . [in 1823] was an extensive Government establish­
ment under the superintendence of Mr. Hart, formerly adjutant of the old 
Cape Corps. The agricultural part of the concern was by no means the 
principal department. The supply of rations to the British settlers for two 
years after their arrival, and the provisioning of the troops on the Frontier 
for several years past, was committed to this establishment. It was, in 
fact, rather a commissariat depot than a farm ; and the purchasing of 
cattle, sheep and corn from the Boers, and forwarding them as required to 
the various military posts, constantly occupied a great number of Hottentot 
herdsmen and waggon drivers. Five or six English plough~n and three 
or four mechanics, with a clerk or storekeeper, were the whole of the British 
population of the place, exclusive of the three superintendents and their 
families. The greatest activity and bustle appeared to pervade every part 
of the establishment ; and even the languid Hottentots seemed here to 
emuI-:i-te the ardour of Englishmen, as if they had caught a portion of the 
actiyity and enterprise for which the indefatigable Mr. Hart has long been 
d1stmguished." 

It -T~ompso_n, G., Travels and Adventures in Southern Africa, vol. I, 54-57. 
was m April, 1824, that the establishment was broken up and the now 

well-known town of Somerset East laid off on the land.-Editor. 
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slightly on the Frontier. I informed him I was in search of 
occupation, upon which he promised to keep a look out for me. 

At that time my brother William was in the employ of John 
Murray, a ship chandler in Cape Town. I went to stay with 
him. After three weeks I began to despair of obtaining a 
position, not for want of openings, but because I was too 
diffident to ask. Under this feeling of despair, I decided to 
return to England, but was without the means of doing so. 

On going one day to the office of Messrs. H. Nourse and Co., 
merchants, I found that two vessels, the brig Mary, and the 
sloop Jane, were about to be sent to Delagoa Bay on a trading 
expedition. Henry Maynard, a nephew of H. Nourse, was 
appointed supercargo of the former, whilst I was offered, and 
accepted, a like post on the Jane. I joined my ship at Simon's 
Bay. Ten days were spent there in getting ready for the 
voyage. Commodore Nourse, 1 brother of the merchant and 
uncle of Maynard, was, at that time, in command of that 
naval station. 

Whilst Nourse and Co.'s preparations were in progress, 
Lieutenant George Francis Farewell, R.N., who will frequently 
be referred to later, was, in conjunction with Lieutenant James 
Saunders King, R.N., making arrangements for a voyage, also 
of a commercial venture, to St. Lucia Bay. 2 

TheJane3 left Simon's Bay before the Mary. Authority had 
been given me, should the conduct of the captain require it, to 
remove him from his position, a precaution deemed necessary 
owing to his constantly becoming intoxicated. One William 
Collins, coxswain to the Commodore, and from whose vessel 
he had just been discharged, was appointed mate, on the 
understanding that, if the captain were suspended, he must act 
as substitute. To what extent the owners were justified in 
delegating this authority, or what would have been the result 
had any case of suspension been referred to a court of law, 
was fortunately not put to the test. 

Our voyage to Delagoa took 12 days. With the exception 
of a little severe weather and the captain being frequently 
intoxicated, nothing unusual occurred, except the finding 

'Joseph Nourse. cf . Thea!, Beginning of South African H istory, 439.. . 
•This venture and the important outcome thereof will be dealt with m 

a subsequent chapter.-Editor. . 
3She left about the middle of June, 1823.-Editor. 
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ourselves surrounded, when off St. Lucia, by five water spouts. 
Two of these approached us so fast that we expected to be 
engulfed. A small cannon we had on board was heavily charged 
and fired at the two spouts, whereupon they disappeared. 

On entering Delagoa Bay the captain was again so intoxi­
cated as actually to endanger the safety of the vessel; in 
defiance of the mate's opinion as to the course it should follow, 
he ran her stern on to the bank of Elephant Island, whereupon 
she went over on her beam ends. This led me to desire Collins, 
the mate, at once to take command. The captain, Fothering­
ham, willingly relinquished his command. In a few days he 
transhipped to a whaler, the Saucy Jack, a type of vessel 
well known to British men-of-war. She had formerly been an 
American privateer. Owing to her splendid sailing qualities 
she had invariably escaped when chased, even over long 
distances, by our vessels. She was ultimately captured by a 
man-of-war boat, though only when lying at anchor. 

On our vessel being thrown on her beam ends, the cargo 
got shifted and several of the crew fell overboard. As the 
tide was then receding, the water was shallow, hence those who 
had fallen overboard, as well as the rest of the crew, took up a 
sitting position on the keel until the return of the tide, when, 
with the assistance of the boats of the Saucy Jack, she righted 
on being got off shore. Next day we anchored on the right 
bank of the St. George's River, 1 opposite the Portuguese fort. 
The Portuguese settlement is on the left bank of the St. 
George's River and falls within country known as Mattoll. 
The country on the right bank is called Tembe, and at the 
time was under chief Mayetha. The Maphutha River forms 
the south-eastern boundary of this district, beyond which is 
the amaThonga tribe, under chief Makhasana. 

On landing, the manifest of our cargo was submitted to 
the Governor. A strong desire was shown to purchase the 
cargo wholesale. To dispose of the goods in that way, however, 
was not the intention of the owners. I accordingly awaited 
the arrival of Mr. Maynard, by whom the manner of traffic 
to be carried upon would be decided. The Mary arrived a few 
days later, when the Leven, a sloop of war, with her consort, the 
Barracouta, anchored in the mouth of the St. George's River 

1Known to the natives as Imbuluze ; also called English River in early 
publications.-Editor. 

Dl 
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and soon began surveying the rivers and coast round Delagoa 

Bay. 1 

The Leven and the Barracouta formed part of the south-
east surveying squadron, which consisted of the Leven, 
Barracouta (Captain Vidal), and Cockburn (Lieutenant R. 
Owen), with Captain W. F. W. Owen, R.N., in supre~e 
command. I had already seen the Captain at Simons 
Bay, also many other naval commanders, but, from the fir~t 
time I met him to the last, I was constantly struck by his 
appearance and general character as resembling what I had 
read of the great Admiral Drake. From what I saw of the terror 
in which he kept the Portuguese at Delagoa Bay, and (as I 
afterwards heard) at Sofala and Quilimane as well, I felt 
convinced that if a European war broke out in those days, a 
second Drake would easily have been found. 

As I was supercargo on a merchantman, it was not likely 
I should become acquainted with the precise services on which 
Captain Owen was employed by the British _ Gove~n.ment. 
I have, however, much reason to believe that, rn addition to 
his more prominent duty of surveying the south-east coast of 
Africa, he was authorized, in the course of his voyages, to take 
formal possession of such countries as might be taken over with 
advantage by the British Crown. 

I cannot pass over a trifling incident at which I was present; 
which occurred prior to the squadron proceeding to Delagoa. 
The principal frigate at the Cape station, the Andromache, was 
commanded by Commodore Nourse, whose vessel and crew were 
the perfection of cleanliness or, as the sailor terms it , " fit as a 
fiddle." The Leven and her crew were precisely the reverse, 
resembling a whaler more than a British man-of-war; in all 
other respects there was perfect order among the officers _and 
crew. Their general appearance, however, was most unsailor­
like. Officers and men were decorated with immense beards, 
in the growing of which they were encourage_d by the~r 
Commodore, the object being to save that portion of _their 
faces from those terrible foes in tropical climates, mosquitoes, 
which, though they may not be the cause o_f f_evers in swampy 
countries, are, by disturbing rest and sleep, irntators of persons 
suffering from fever. 

1a was in September, 1822, that the Leven and Barracouta first arrived 
at Delagoa Bay to undertake the survey.-Editor. 
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I was standing with twQ officers of the Andromache on the 
beach of Simon's Bay when Commodore Nourse came to 
where we were just as Lieutenant Owen arrived with a message 
for the former. At the time considerable ill-will existed 
between the two commanders. On Commodore Nourse 
replying to Captain Owen's message, he added an invitation 
to Lieutenant Owen to dine with him that evening, on con­
dition that he first shaved off his beard and moustache. 
Lieutenant Owen replied that he would report the invitation 
to his commanding officer. His chair at the Commodore's 
table that evening was vacant. 

The fort already alluded to as being at Delagoa had walls 
that were made of mud. The eight or ten pieces of cannon 
within it were so rusty that Collins said if they were fired off 
he would rather be in front than at the back. Within the fort, 
we were shown the chapel, viz., a room about 12 feet square. 
The padre, who had just closed the service, accompanied 
us to the cells, where we saw about 80 slaves in irons. They had 
been captured in fights between neighbouring tribes, and had 
recently been purchased. 

The fort and settlement of Delagoa were as contemptible as 
can well be imagined, though they had been occupied for a 
period of perhaps 60 years. The inhabitants consisted of the 
Governor, four or five sub-officers, a priest, five or six licensed 
traders, who, with the exception of a couple of sergeants, were 
Portuguese from Europe. The soldiers were all dark coloured 
natives; they had been collected on the spot and drilled on 
military lines. The officers, especially the Governor, wore 
dashing uniforms on gala days; the clothing of the native 
~oldiers, however, was incomplete, many of them being without 
Jackets or shoes, while a number of their muskets were fastened 
with rope yam to their stocks; and other makeshifts were 
resorted to so as to bring them under the name of " guns." 

The principal provisions of the settlement consisted of 
fowls, pigs, eggs and rice, all of which were abundant; the rice 
was grown locally in large quantities by the natives. For the 
m~st part the soldiers reared their own provisions. Each 
pnvate received, as pay, two yards of blue calico per month, 
and about a quarter of a pound of beads. Fish, too, was 
abundant, caught by the natives by means of reed fences 
fastened to poles and placed in the river so as to serve as a 
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standing net; from such enclosures the fish was collected at 
low tide. The articles procurable by barter at the settlement 
were sea-cow and elephant ivory, also ostrich feathers. The 
principal objects for sale, however, were slaves. 

The rule for trade at Delagoa, which I believe is followed 
also at Sofala and Quilimane, is that all produce for shipment 
is weighed under the superintendence of an officer appointed for 
that duty. All articles, for instance elephant tusks, above 
50 pounds in weight, may be purchased only in the name of the 
Governor on behalf of the Government of Brazil. The Governor 
may purchase for himself tusks above 40 and below 50 pounds 
in weight, whilst each sub-officer and the licensed traders were 
allotted other weight limits within which they might purchase. 
This principal applies, at the Portuguese settlement of Sofala, 
t o the purchase of gold dust , where, instead of weights, sieves 
are used. All grains that do not pass through the largest sieve 
are purchased for the Government. Sieves of a smaller scale 
are allotted to the different ranks of officers and licensed 
traders, while in the case of slaves choice is regulated in 
accordance with the rank of the purchaser. 

Several days passed in attempting to dispose of our cargoes 
to the Governor. Although really desirous of obtaining 
hippopotamus ivory, we depreciated its value by professing a 
wish to purchase elephant tusks. We did not, however, 
succeed to any considerable extent in our speculation with the 
Government, and, indeed, had little desire to have much to do 
with it , as we preferred to deal with natives at a distance, as 
far as we could manage t o get in among them. With that 
object in view therefore it was arranged I should proceed in 
the Mary up the Maphutha River. . . 

Among those who accompanied me was the Rev. Wilham 
Threlfall. I As we were crossing the bay a hippopotamus rose 
out of the water near us. It was no sooner seen by men of the 
L even than several of them took boat and harpoons and went 
in pursuit. The animal eluded them for a considerable time. 
Then, while they were looking out on one side of the boat , it 

lQn a. previous v isit t o D elagoa. Bay Capt. Owen con templa ted the 
cession of t he T embe count ry t o Great _Britain.. H e ~ccordingly_ brou_ght the 
R ev . W illia m Threlfall, of the Cape, with the mtention of settlmg him as a 
missiona r y in tha t country. T his expedition referred t o seems t o have sta rted 
on or a bout 1st September, 1823 . cf. Cheeseman, Story of William Threlfall, 
Cape Town, 1910.-Editor. 
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came up on the other and, gripping the gunwale with its jaws, 
tore out one side of the boat. The sailors then had to swim 
for it. As we were nearest them, we picked them up, put them 
on board their own ship, and again set sail for the Maphutha. 

Our entrance into this fine river was considerably delayed 
by taking soundings. We amused ourselves by firing our small 
cannon into the midst of hundreds of sea-cows, basking at 
midday on the open sandbanks, but we were not successful in 
hitting any of them. 

It took us three days to go 40 miles up the river. The 
banks were densely covered with beautiful forest timber. We 
continually met natives sailing in boats closely resembling 
those known in India as massuly boats. At intervals we saw 
native kraals in the background ; near these we landed, when 
we found we could not proceed further up the river. The kraal 
on the right bank of the Maphutha belonged to one M6ongi, 
a counsellor of chief Makhasana, whose territory we were 
then in. We at once informed him that the object of our visit 
was to trade, and at the same time sent a present to his chief, 
as is customary in transactions with tribes on this coast . After 
waiting two days, Makhasana himself arrived on board with a 
present in return, viz., two elephant tusks. The trade having 
been thus opened by the chief, his followers came with elephant 
and sea-cow tusks. Our trade then went on pretty briskly , but 
this was not allowed to last long. Two Portuguese boats, with 
two sergeants and armed soldiers, came and located themselves 
close beside us, with their Portuguese flag hoist ed in defiance. 
This led us to hoist our piece of bunting, and we soon found 
ourselves contending t o ruin each other 's prospects, or, to take 
another view of the case, giving the highest market able price 
to the natives for their ivory. They must have had many 
transactions with whalers or other ships from the depth of 
cunning they showed in all their transactions, and they turned 
the rivalry between us to their advantage. The chief said to 
me that if I would make them a large present of blankets, 
brass and beads he would not only .give us the preference over 
the Portuguese but send me ten tusks of his best ivory. This 
I was simple enough to accede t o, and, after several days 
delay, obtained nothing but excuses and a certainty of getting 
nothing in return for our present. I at once decided on what 
action t o take. When M6ongi and the chief's son came on 



42 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

board we made them prisoners, though allowing their followers 
to inform their chief that we would detain them until he ful­
filled what he had undertaken to do. Numbers of natives 
collected on the bank and the Portuguese showed every 
disposition to join them in frightening and compelling us to 
give up the prisoners. We, however, stood firm. We kept 
watch day and night for two days, when their chief sent the 
ivory he had promised to give. I could not but think I had 
acted rashly or at least very simply in having brought matters 
to such a pass. To amend the past I sent the chief another 
present to conciliate him. 

An accident that occurred to one of the Portuguese boats 
caused them to return to their settlement. Trade then went 
on again satisfactorily, especially in sea-cow tusks, which, as I 
said, we were the more desirous of obtaining. 

Wishing to see as much of the country as possible and to see 
more of certain other strange natives, locally known as Oron­
tonts, who, as I had observed, differed considerably from those 
of Delagoa and lived to the south thereof, I made friends with 
and accompanied them to their kraals, a distance of about 
50 miles along the coast southwards. 

I had already noticed that the natives of Delagoa appeared 
to be in great dread of the Orontonts. I found out that these 
people, the Orontonts or Hottentots, belonged to the Zulu tribe, 
under Shaka, and were a very powerful nation. Among the 
natives of Delagoa there were many who could speak English. 
A party of these, accompanying me to a Zulu kraal, enabled 
me to hold a conversation. I discovered that their chief, 
Shaka, resided at too great a distance from there for me to 
reach him. Apart from this I became considerably indisposed, 
hence went back to where our vessel was, upon which I was 
immediately laid up with a severe attack of fever. 

During my absence, Maynard had sent for the schooner, 
hence I found myself left with only the sailor who had been 
with me the whole time. I obtained possession of a hut like 
those at Delagoa and there I lay for several days. I must have 
become delirious, for the first thing I remember was being 
taken from the hut by a native doctor and several women. On 
coming to an open space, they lifted me up and placed me in 
a pit they had dug and in which they had been making a large 
fire; grass and weeds had been placed therein to prevent my 
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feet from being burnt. They put me in a standing position, 
then filled the pit with earth up to my neck. The women held a 
mat round my head. In this position they might have kept me 
for about half an hour. They then carried me back to the hut 
and gave me native medicine. I felt I was recovering. On 
the third day, I was able to communicate with the vessel. 

Prior to receiving an answer, the Rev. Threlfall, who had 
made an excursion along the left bank of the river, with the 
object of selecting, within the Tembe country, a station at 
which he could carry on mission work, was also attacked by 
fever. He was brought to the hut where I was. I got native 
women to adopt the same procedure towards him as I had 
myself gone through, which had the desired effect, though he 
did not recover his strength. We then proceeded down the 
Maphutha to the shipping, where, to the disgrace of those who 
had it in their power to help, he was refused admittance and 
left to be humanely received by the Portuguese , who were not 
his countrymen. 

When I arrived at the shipping I was still weak. On being 
invited to do so by the Portuguese Governor, I stayed with 
him on shore for several days. From him I learnt that a 
tradition exist ed as to a white man called John having reached 
Delagoa with a coloured woman many years previously. They 
had come across country from the Cape of Good Hope, their 
companions having died or been killed on the journey. The 
Governor, however, could not say what had become of John 
and the woman. 

The various tribes in the vicinity of Delagoa, like all other 
native tribes of Africa, are constantly engaged in petty warfare. 
and, wherever there is a Portuguese settlement, these contests 
are encouraged, and, not infrequently, one or other of the rival 
parties is aided by Portuguese soldiers. The prisoners taken by 
each tribe are purchased by the Portuguese to become slaves. 
Mayetha, chief of the Tembe country at the time of my visit, 
had recently been defeated and many of his subjects sold into 
slavery. It was, therefore, natural that Mayetha, from seeing 
the terror of the Portuguese in the presence of a British man-of­
war, s~~uld rejoice .at the opportunity of ceding his country to 
the Bntish Crown, m prospect of protection for himself and the 
rem~ants of his tribe. A treaty of amity, protection, and 
cess10n was therefore drawn up, without the knowledge of the 
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Portuguese authorities, and the country of Tembe ceded to the 
British Crown. The British flag was hoisted in the presence of 
the officers and all British subj ects then at Delagoa Bay and 
the country officially taken possession of on the authority that 
had previously been delegated t o Captain Owen . 

To afford encouragement and some shadow of protection 
while the cession of the country was being submitted t o 
England for approval, it was necessary that an agent be pointed 
out to Mayetha, as one to whom he might refer for advice when 
in difficulty. A ready agent was soon found in the person of 
Lieutenant Decher, second in command at the Delagoa settle­
ment. This man was disgusted with the Governor and proffered 
his services to Owen, whereupon he was appointed British 
Consul for the country of Tembe. The proceedings, up to the 
date of Owen's departure, were supposed to be known to but 
few people. 

A few days after the appointment came the birthday of the 
Empress of Brazil. A grand fete was arranged for the occasion. 
The Governor and his suite paraded in much gold and tinsel, 
whilst the infantry did likewise in their best uniforms. About 
40 men drawn up in two lines of which those in front wore 
two shoes and stockings apiece, while those in the rear one shoe 
:and stocking apiece, just as I had seen done when Portuguese 
t roops paraded in St. Jago.I Next came a dinner at the 
•Governor's house t o which were invited the captains of the 
three vessels then at Delagoa ; I too came as supercargo. I sat 
to the right of the Governor. All went satisfactorily until 
Lieutenant Decher, who was sitting on my right, requested the 
pleasure of taking wine with His E xcellency. The glasses had 
been filled and brought t o the salute, when the Governor threw 
the contents of his glass in Decher's face, addressing him as he 
did so as British Consul. Decher was immediately put under 
arrest and our dinner came t o an end. 

Later on a salute was fired from the fort as well as by the 
shipping. Whilst re-loading a cannon one William Kelly, mate 
on our ship, had his arm blown off, owing to the vent not having 
been stopped up. 

I may state here that Mr. Threlfall obtained a passage to 
the Cape in the Saucy Jack, though he was a considerable time 

1santiago ? No v isit to Santiago or St. J ago is elsewhere referred t o in 
t he a u th or's MSS. 
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there before he recovered his strength. He gave up all idea of 
returning to Delagoa and, instead, contemplated establishing 
a mission among the Hottentot-Bushman tribe in Namaqua­
land. He travelled thither on foot , accompanied by a Bushman 
as guide. This man, however, murdered him on the journey 
for the sake of the beads and trinkets he had with him for 
purchasing food. 

The distance from St. Lucia t o Delagoa may be about 
250 miles. Marshy country extends along the coast; it is the 
malaria from this which produces the fever so prevalent at 
Delagoa Bay and in that part of the Zulu country nearest 
these extensive swamps. This is proved by the fact of the fever 
prevailing in both these localities owing to the south-west 
and north-east winds which pass over them. 

Captain Owen completed his survey of the south­
eastern Africa coast, and I have heard it said by nautical men 
that it was a very correct one. That he allowed no difficulties 
to stand in the way of his executing his commission was pretty 
clearly proved by the exertions he made t o survey every river 
and inlet . In the course of this work he lost two, if not three 
crews, and I have heard it stated, though do not know if it 
be a fact, that this neglect of his men's lives met with much 
displeasure from the Home authorities, so that he felt obliged 
t o absent himself from home shortly after his return. During 
his absence on the survey changes had taken place in the 
Ministry, hence those who had confided in him and entrJ.sted 
him with his duties were no longer in power. 

I was at Delagoa Bay for six months.I During this time I 
visited the inland chiefs and their people, 2 and had various 
interviews with the Portuguese of that settlement. Two 
officers of the Leven had already preceded me by a few months 
in going up the Maphutha, but both of them contracted fever 
and died.a 

1From about June t o December , 1823.-Editor. 
2In August and September.-Editor. 

. "This evidently refers t o the party under Lieut. R. Owen who h ad been 
d irected " t o complete the survey of the great bay (Delagoa) a nd of the river 
Maputa." T his expedition, extend ing over three weeks, t ook place in J anua ry, 
1823 . H oad and T udor, with several other s, when som e miles up the 
Maphutha, went off on an embassy t o Makhasane. After seeing the chief 
they continued t o follow the course of the r iver, b ut as some of the pa rty wer; 
simulta neously striken with feve r, one or two of them dying , Owen hurriedly 
returned to his base on the 28th of the same month. cf. Owen, Narratives of 

2
Voyages to Explore Shores of Africa, Arabia and M adagascar, 1833, v ol. I, 
12-225.-Editor. 
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Chapter II 

AS I had gone to Delagoa as supercargo of a merchantman, 
I . felt no interest_ in ~ aking myself acquainted with the 
history of the tnbes m those parts; hence it is only by 

comparing what I have since acquired about Kaffir tribes in 
other parts of South Africa that I can form any opinion as to 
the past or present state of those round about Delagoa. 

There seemed to be several tribes between Delagoa Bay 
and Sofala, the next Portuguese settlement to the north-east. 
They are distinct in language, manners and customs from the 
Kaffirs and Zulus, though differing little in colour. Their mode 
of government is somewhat similar to that of the Kaffirs. 
Evidently for at least a hundred years they have been oppressed 
by their neighbours the Zulus, and similar large tribes occupying 
country inland of them. Such tribes never allowed them to 
possess cattle in sufficient numbers for their own support. 
They are far more industrious than the Kaffirs, far more 
ingenious and have a better kind of dwelling house; they make 
their own boats and are expert huntsmen and swimmers. These 
are the people I should recommend as being at once procurable 
and adaptable to the labour requirements of Natal sugar 
planters. Their country is within a few days sailing of this port, 
and the same conditions could be carried out as in regard to the 
Coolies, 1 whilst they would be found fully as serviceable in 
every particular. 

The natives of Delagoa and the surrounding country are 
called Amanhlwenga by the Zulus, and differ from the latter 
in manners and language, and are generally similar to those 
inhabiting the country between Delagoa and Sofala. The 
principal chief is Makhasane, who lives in the country west of 
the Maphutha River. 

The country of the Tembes, east of the Maphutha and 
,divided from the Portuguese fort by the English River, was 
occupied by chief Myetha, who had been in a state of constant 
warfare with Makhasane. The advantages derivable from these 

1These words prove that this paragraph was written in Durban in or 
.about 1860, since the Coolies (Indians) did not begin to a rrive in atal 
until 1859.-Editor. 
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conflic~s were beneficial to the Portuguese, for they purchased 
the pnsoners captured by the rival parties and made slaves 
of them. 

Those who were made prisoners were sold, whilst those who 
escaped were caught in the woods in a famished state, owing to 
their corn having been destroyed. Hence nearly the whole of 
t~e tribe_ was s~ld into slavery, the country west of English 
River bemg subJect to Makhasane. The land near the coast is 
low and swampy. It is generally of a sandy nature, but in 
some places there is rich and very fertile mould. 

During the " healthy season " the climate is salubrious. The 
sickly or " unhealthy season " 1 begins in the latter part of 
October, including November and December, when fevers and 
a~ue ~revail _owing to the humidity of the air, the wind bringing 
with it nox10us vapours rising from the ext ensive swamps. 
During the unhealthy season, the Portuguese encourage ulcers 
as. much as possible; these they keep open to prevent their 
bemg attacked by other complaints. 

The natives are generally industrious in the field, and 
always have enough for their own consumption as well as some 
for sale. Th_ey gr~w Indian corn, millet. (luphoko), Guinea corn, 
beans of vanous kmds and red rice. Quantities of the latter are 
sold to the factory 2 as also to vessels visiting the Bay. It is 
~enerally sold in paddy, that being the state in which they keep 
it for use. Poultry is plentiful. 

The situation of the tribes for trade purposes is very 
advantageous, for they have the Zulus on one side and the 
Portuguese on the other, and formerly the Ndwandwes to the 
north. 

_During the chieftainship of Jo5e, father of Dingiswayo 
[ chief _of the. Mthethwa tribe], the natives of Delagoa trafficked 
very little with them, but Dingiswayo monopolised the whole 
m~rket until he was killed by Zwide [ chief of the Ndwandwe 
tnbe], which induced the Delagonians to open up a 
trade with the latter. They continued [ after Dingiswayo's 
death] to trade with Shaka, by whom they were looked 
on as being the only people who possessed beads and brass 
[ copper]. The former article gave rise to many conjectures. 

ove;T
1
he unhealthy season in recent years has been regarded as extendin" 

'A anuary, February and March as well .-Editor. " 
t the fort. 
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Some supposed them to be found on the sea coast of Delagoa at 
low water ; others, that they grew in bunches on trees, which 
ideas still exist here and there among the Zulus. As these 
people were looked on as being the sole merchants, they were 
left unmolested by both the powerful chiefs referred to, to both 
of whose markets they carried monkey and genet skins 
procured by hunting and catching them in traps. For the 
beads, brass and blue cloth (dungaree) that were brought they 
received in return elephant and sea-cow ivory, iron and tobacco. 

Trade with the Portuguese factory, on the east side of the 
English River, was equally beneficial. The ivory procured 
from the Zulus and Ndwandwes together with the prisoners 
taken in their wars (which they sold as slaves) they bartered 
with the Portuguese for beads and brass. Ambergris is also 
sometimes found on the coast, and used to barter with. The 
death of Myetha, however, has set aside all the competition 
which formerly existed between the two chiefs, the trade being 
now monopolised by the factory which prohibits the ships of 
other Powers from trafficking with the natives. 

From a long intercourse with Europeans, which has intro­
duced many necessaries of life of which they formerly were 
ignorant, one would expect the natives of Delagoa to be more 
civilized than the Zulus, subject to a despotic form of govern­
ment. This, however, is not the case, for the Zulus are a mildly 
disposed people and of clear intellect, whereas the Delagonians 
are dependent solely on intercourse with Europeans for im­
provement in their productions. Compared with the Zulus, 
they are a stupid, ignorant people, filthy in their persons and 
disgusting in their manners, although cleanly in regard to their 
food, always washing their hands when engaged in cooking it. 
The walls of their round huts are built of reeds with slanting 
roofs projecting beyond the walls. The reed walls are neatly 
built, and the houses kept very clean. Generally, each hut 
contains four or five large baskets, four or five feet in height; 
in these they keep their corn. The doors, as a rule made of 
wood, are generally four or five feet in height and each with a 
lock and key on lines similar t o those of the poor Cape Boer. 
Sometimes they are neatly carved. They have also baskets 
and mats of neat workmanship. Many possess boats which at 
least show that much patience has been exercised in their 
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construction especially when account is taken of the difficulties 
under which the work had to be done. 

Trees that can readily be split are cut down and split into 
planks, even though they are as much as 18 inches thick. One 
tree therefore will seldom yield more than three planks, these 
are dubbed down and fitted to a keel. Holes are bored on both 
edges, and dry rushes placed over the seam. It is then sewn 
together with rope made from the bark of trees. Sometimes 
mats are used as sails, at other times paddles. These boats are 
12 to 18 feet in length, with a carved head at the bow, so 
roughly executed, however, as scarcely to be known as such. 

The chiefs and principal people wear a profusion of beads, 
with heavy brass bangles from the wrist to the elbow ; some­
times a covering of blue cloth is worn. 

The head is shaved, leaving part of the hair on top in a 
conical shape, four inches in length and three in breadth. It 
rises from a point in front to about three inches on the crown, 
where it is combed and plaited with a thorn. 

On a certain part of their persons, they wear a tube of finely 
plaited sennit of neat workmanship, sometimes exceeding two 
feet in length. 

Married women wear a blue linen petticoat; their hair is 
kept short. The girls might be said to be naked, as they only 
wear a cloth but a few inches square in front; round the waist 
is a leather thong, from which hangs, behind the person, a 
double string of brass balls, weighing in all from five to seven 
pounds; in addition they are decorated with beads and brass 
bangles, the latter being worn round the arms. Their musical 
instruments are of two kinds. One is a bow forming half a 
square, having two holes within four inches of each end. A 
thin piece of wood, two inches broad, is wedged in the holes, 
and extends from one hole to the other. This has in it 14 holes 
~f one inch in diameter, to which are attached gourds of the 
indondondo plant; these are attached to the poles. The 
l~rger gourds are placed at the end and decrease regularly in 
size towards the other end. The skin of a bullock's heart is 
laid on each gourd and fastened down with wax. Above each 
of these is a thin piece of wood eight inches long; this is strung 
b! a leather thong from one end of the bow to the other. These 
pieces of wood are beaten with two sticks headed with fungus . 
The instrument is musical, and any tune may be played on it. 

E 
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The other kind of instrument consists of a piece of wood 
a. foot square and two inches thick, hollowed from one end to 
the other. A number of thin iron prongs of various lengths, 
without any regularity in arrangement, are fastened at one end 
by a small iron bar, the other end being bent up. The music is 
produced by these prongs being pressed down with the fingers. 

Dancing is their principal amusement; during it they make 
the most indecent gestures; the songs, too, which accompany 
the dancing are of the most indecent kind. 

Of fruits they have the pineapple, cocoanut, and banana, 
each in great quantities. Saffron grows wild; it is used in their 
food. Fungus is procured by the natives, who, in order to 
obtain it , bleed the trees, when a thick white substance runs 
down into baskets and pots, placed under the incisions to 
receive it. 

A Lieutenant-Colonel of the Sofala Militia, a coloured man, 
who had been wrecked at Natal, informed us of a powerful 
chief living to the northward of Sofala, who governs with 
despotic sway . It is the custom there for the chief, after reigning 
a short time, to select a woman from the many in his seraglio. 
H e appoints her queen, but co-habits with her only on the 
first night after marriage. She then goes off to the eastern 
portion of his t erritory which she governs in accordance with his 
commands, conveyed to her by emissaries. He never sees her 
again after the marriage. At his death she resigns the govern­
ment. The chief' s body is placed on a bier. His sons or 
brothers, if there be more than one of them, fight among them­
selves for the bones or seize them by some stratagem; he who 
obtains the greatest share succeeds to the command of the 
nation. 

In this t erritory are extensive gold mines which have been 
worked for ages back, as far as can be remembered. The 
natives, however , are unacquainted with the proper method of 
mining. They have dug without any precautions for safety, 
with the result that many, while mining, h ave been buried in 
the earth. Of late years, the mines have again been opened, 
when the bones of those entombed were found filled with gold. 
The mining law is that all nugget s of the size of a pea and over 
a1•e the property of the king, but all smaller sizes belong to 
partners in the undertaking. The gold collected for the king 
is converted into bangles for the use of the nation, but much 
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of what goes to the others is bartered at the Portuguese factory. 
No Europeans are allowed to enter the t erritory. 

What amount of truth there is in this account I must leave 
to Mr. C. 1 to det ermine. 

Chapter III 

THE writer of inci~e~ts in the early history of Nat al has not 
the ~ eans, even if it_ were necessary, to give the biography 
of Lieutenant Francis George Farewell, who first proj ected 

a British settlement at Port Natal. He was the son of the Rev. 
G. Farewell, of Clifton, Bristol. He became a midshipman in 
the Navy at an early age, and subsequently served with Captain 
Hoste, under the command of Admiral Hood, in the Mediter­
ranean. He ~istinguished himself in several actions. 2 But, 
although ment10ned for gallant conduct in the Naval Chronicle 
and promote~ to the rank of Lieutenant, he was obliged, on a~ 
early conclus10n of peace, to retire on half pay. 

Having private means, and being of a venturesome dis­
pos~tion, he .purchased the Princess Charlotte, of 400 tons, and 
~ecided to engage in mercantile "speculations," by carrying, 
m ~ho_le or part, cargoes of merchandise to sundry ports. On 
fre1g~tmg his vessel he sailed first to Calcutta, then to Rio 
Janeiro [Buenos Aires] and the Isle of France [Mauritius]. At 
the last named place, he obtained a fresh cargo, which he 
conveyed t o the Cape, and then returned to Rio. His vessel 
was wrecked, when he lost nearly all he possessed . 

He returned from Janeiro to Cape Town and t ook up his 
abode for several months in the house of a Mr. Petersen 
proprietor of a boarding house. This led to his marrying that 
gentleman's daughter. With what had remained of his capital 
he chartered the brig Salisbitry , commanded by Lieutenant 
lames S~unders King, who, shortly before, had, like Farewell, 
we_en o?hged t o le_ave the Navy; King then became part owner 

1th his mother m several ships engaged at that time in the 

of ~~~:z r~;rence here is probably to J .. C. Chase, t he well-known compiler 
Natal Ed ' Pers, to whom Fynn occas10nally afforded information about 

.- itor. 
2 "Whil . . 

early a e wst servmg m t he NaV)'., he received several wounds, and a t a very 
Lipa af th ~s ~ntrusted by S1r W 1l11am H oste with the charge of t he I sla nd of 
t o L; rd Cha tme a place of ,_mportance in the Adriatic."-Farewell, in a Jetter 

ares Somerset, Bird's Annals of Natal, I, 191. 
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West Indian trade. The Salisbury proceeded to Rio Janeiro, 
Isle of France and St. Helena. On these voyages Farewell, 
who was accompanied by his wife, got to know King so well 
that a close intimacy sprang up between them. 

In the meantime, the brig Orange Grove, belonging to 
H. Nourse and Co., also of Cape Town, which had been sent up 
the south-east coast, had returned with a cargo of ivory, wax 
[ambergris], etc., part of it obtained at Delagoa Bay. This led 
to Farewell and King, during their voyage to St. Helena, 
considering the advantages of a mercantile trip to St. Lucia 
Bay, near which a large part of the Zulu nation lived under 
their great chief Shaka. Farewell's view was that the whole 
of the ivory and the gold dust obtained by the Portuguese at 
Delagoa Bay was derived from this powerful chief's territory. 

On his return to Cape Town, Farewell succeeded in persuad­
ing several merchants to join him in a speculation to St. Lucia, 
on the coast of Zululand. He once more chartered the Salisbury, 
also a smaller vessel, the sloop Julia, freighting both with a 
cargo designed for native traffic. In this venture he was 
associated with King as well as with A. Thompson and Co. 

When Farewell put in at Algoa Bay, about the end of 
June, 1823, he found there Captain W. F. W. Owen, R.N., who 
had just arrived from Delagoa Bay, where he had been engaged 
in surveying that port on behalf of the Admiralty. Farewell 
went on board Owen's vessel, the Leven, and obtained such 
information as he required in regard to the coast, also two 
native interpreters, Fire and Jacob. Of the latter, who sub­
sequently played an important part in connection with the 
British settlement at Port Natal, a somewhat extended account 
will be given later. 

On reaching St. Lucia, Farewell and King made several 
attempts to land the cargo and open a communication with 
Shaka, who resided about 50 miles inland of that bay. 

[In regard to this minor though notable exploratory voyage, 
King wrote two accounts, 1 one in a letter to Earl Bathurst, 2 

dated at London, 10th July, 1824; the other, July, 1826. In 
his second account, King says: " In the latter part of 1823, 

1Theal, Records of Cape Colony, 58, 122. 
2Henry, third Earl Bathurst. He was Secretary for War and the Colonies 

under the Earl of Liverpool, continuing in such capacity until Liverpool 
resigned in April, 1827.-Editor. 
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Lieutenant Farewell and Mr. Alex. Thompson accompanied me 
in the Salisbury, on a voyage to the East Coast of Africa. 
Having arrived in the neighbourhood, where we intended to 
commence trading, we attempted at several ports, but it 
appeared impossible to land. The boats were then sent on 
shore at St. Lucia, on the coast of Fumos. Mr. Farewell's 
upset, but, although considerably bruised, he providentially 
escaped being drowned. Several days after, Mr. Thompson met 
with a similar accident, his boat being overwhelmed when 
nearly a mile from the beach; they all gained the shore by 
swimming, except three poor fellows, who perished in the 
attempt. We now determined on abandoning the spot, our 
views being chiefly directed to another quarter. Several weeks 
elapsed, when we ran into Port Natal, but the voyage proving 
unsuccessful, altogether, we returned to the Cape of Good Hope. 
The Salisbury, and the Julia, our t ender, were the first vessels 
that had entered that port during the lifetime of the oldest 
inhabitants." 1 J 

[The following comments, by Fynn, are in connection with 
the same occasion. ] : The vessel (Salisbury) was frequently 
driven from the outer anchorage, and the attempts to land 
resulted in loss of boats and cargo. In the last attempt, when 
the three sailors were drowned, the Kaffir interpreter Jacob, 
who was also in the boat, managed to swim ashore along with 
several white men including Thompson. When the Salisbury 
and the Julia put out to sea, on account of boisterous weather, 
Farewell was obliged to leave the sailors and Jacob on shore. 
Five weeks elapsed before the sailors could be recovered ... but 
during that time they were well treated by the natives. The 
Salisbury then put back to Algoa Bay for supplies, after which 
she once more proceeded up the coast. 

Farewell and King now attempted to enter the Port of 
Natal and open up a communication with the chief Shaka by an 
overland, north-eastern route of 150 miles. The Julia, com­
manded by Armstrong, entered the port, the M ary 2 remaining 
at the outer anchorage. 

1
Th<?mpson, G,, Travels and Adventures in Southern Africa, II, 406. 

~fo~e it appeared, in a somewhat abbreviated form, in Thompson's work, 

1 t: s account had been published in the S .A. Commercial Advertiser, July 
, 1826.-Editor 

c 'A slip of the p~n ; it was the Salisbury, It was in 1825 that the Mary 
ame to Port Natal and was wrecked 30th September.-Editor . 

E I 
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Armstrong, though a heavy and most unfitted man for 
such an enterprise, was selected t o open up a communication 
with the natives. He walked north-east to the Umngeni 
River in search of natives and, meeting none on that side of 
the port,1 he passed over t o the south of the Bay, where a few 
had been seen. These, however, fled at his approach. All 
prospects of establishing communication were now abandoned 
and the two vessels returned to the Cape. 

[The following further extract from King's letter to Earl 
Bathurst in connection with his and Farewell's first visit to 
and entrance of Port Natal, made public only in comparatively 
recent years, is of exceptional interest: 2 

" Having been so 
unsuccessful in not gaining a port [i .e. at St. Lucia Bay], we 
proceeded to the southward and passed several rivers, apparently 
very spacious inward. But the bars having little wat er on 
them were not capable of admitting a boat going over. H aving 
an idea that gold might be procured about these rivers, and 
having experienced many privations, we det ermined on re­
turning t o Port Elizabeth to replenish and prepare accordingly, 
at which time several of the settlers volunteered to go with us. 
After being some considerable time on the coast, it came to 
blow very hard. Being then on a lee shore, and very near the 
entrance of a river, I det ermined on attempting the bar, 
consequently we cut our cable and ran in, where we fortunately 
arrived safe. This, my Lord, is the spot which I think would 
prove of the utmost advantage to Government. 3 The par­
ticulars and benefits to be derived I will endeavour to point out. 

The harbour, though small (being the only one on this 
extensive coast) is very easy of access for vessels of a certain 
draft. It abounds with hippopotamus and fish of various sorts 
and the soil in its vicinity, in my opinion, is particularly 
productive. At present, Indian com is the only produce 
grown, which is large and in great abundance. The plains are 
very extensive, and the pasture for their cattle rich. Near the 
anchorage is excellent timber for ship building. It resembles 

' Also because: "deterred from proceed ing further by the interpreter who 
assu red them the natives were contemplating t heir dest ruct ion."-Author's 
MS . 

•Moreover it is fuller and more instructive t han the letter from Farewell to 
L ord Charles Som erset written about the same time.-Bird, Annals of Natal, 
I, 71 . . 

3The reference h ere is, of course, t o Port Natal.-Editor . 
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the cedar. Also at the head of the harbour are fine tall spars, 
fit for masts, etc. This country, as far as I can venture to 
speak of, say a distance of about 40 miles, is beautiful and 
blest with a salubrious air, and a productive soil. Likewise, 
within that short distance, are several extensive, winding 
rivers, which adds greatly to its importance. Our first inter­
view with the natives at this place appeared rather hostile 
on their part, they being armed with their assagai and shield. 
But when we became better acquainted, they were extremely 
well disposed and expressed a particular desire for us to remain 
among them. I should not, my Lord, have ventured to offer 
an opinion of the capability of the soil of this country, but 
having several very clever men who appeared perfectly 
acquainted with agricultural pursuits, and who were unanimous 
in declaring that, if Government were acquainted with its 
advantages, they would not hesitate to remove the unfortunate 
settlers thither. 1 Here they would in all probability succeed in 
their crops, and have a harbour which would enable them to 
export their produce to other countries. In addition t o this 
is a very spacious bay, which would afford shelter for such 
vessels as could not venture over the bar, with north and 
westerly winds. A chart of which, and several sketches, 
t ogether with a few of their weapons, I am in possession of ; 
and will, if your Lordship pleases, forward for your Lordship's 
inspection. . . . I trust your Lordship will not think me 
presumptive to state that I have served as a midshipman in 
His Majesty's navy upwards of ten years and can produce the 
most satisfactory t estimonials of my character from the 
different captains I have had the honour to serve under, one 
of which, Lord James Townshend- who has examined the 
different surveys of the East Coast , and has ascertained that 
the Admiralty are not in possession of any plans of this 
harbour. . . . "] 

The Salisbury and the J ulia reached Cape Town on the 
3rd December. 

Although, owing to Natal being a'.most without inhabitants, 
there were no better opportunities of trading there than at 
St. Lucia, Farewell was of opinion that if a settlement were 
established at Port Natal, and the Zulu nation, upon which 

'Thea!, History of South Africa, 1834- 54, 117. 
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the Delagoa Bay market seemed to depend, were induced to 
trade at the port, the project might yet prove a success. As 
this view was shared by King, the two agreed to enter into 
partnership and endeavour to carry out the idea. To this end, 
King was to proceed to England to make the necessary arrange­
ments, whilst Farewell was to do likewise in Cape Town. 

The Mary and the Jane (on which I was employed as 
supercargo) returned to Cape Town within a day of each other. 
We found that the Salisbury and the Julia with Farewell and 
King had arrived a few days before us from St. Lucia. We 
had made a satisfactory trip, while they had sustained nothing 
but losses . This, however, in no way damped Farewell's hopes, 
for he was already contemplating another trial at Port Natal.1 

Before he had been a month in Cape Town, he had so 
represented the great advantages to be derived from a trade in 
ivory by way of the port, obtainable from the chief Shaka, that 
he induced his father-in-law, Mr. Petersen, and another Dutch 
gentleman of the name of Hoffman to join him in partnership. 
H e convinced them that all the ivory procured at Delagoa Bay 
by the Portuguese was obtained from Shaka, the Zulu chief, 
whose cattle kraals were entirely made of elephant tusks. I 
cannot allow myself to make a statement against the veracity 
of this gentleman without expressing the opinion that he was 
either told or given to understand this by some native who 
intended merely to imply that the elephant tusks were placed 
around the cattle kraal. 

Farewell at this time made proposals to me about joining 
his party, representing, as he had done to his partners, the 
immense profits which would be derived from the speculation. 
He proposed that I should have the entire management of the 
trading transactions. Instead of allowing me salary, I should 
receive a handsome percentage to be decided upon after being 
one month in port. I at once consented, as it was understood 
the speculation would be completed within six months. 
Travelling and new scenes were to me a greater object than 
any pecuniary advantage. It then fell to my lot, during the 

'When Farewell learnt (in Capetown) that our voyage to Delagoa Bay 
had been successful he formed the opinion that the Delagomans procured thell' 
ivory from a people more powerful than themselves and concluded, from what 
he had seen and heard a t Port Natal, it must be the Zooloes. H e inferred 
from this that a settlement founded at Port Natal would succeed in drawing 
t he ivory intended for the Delagoa market.-Author 's MS. 
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period of preparation, to make purchases of the articles required 
for native trade. Farewell, from the opinion he had formed of 
Shaka's greatness, purchased a far greater variety than I 
should have done, in consequence of my experience of the petty 
chiefs at Delagoa Bay. 

I found the party was to consist of from 30 to 40 individuals, 
and such a variety of material was provided that if I had been 
capable of bestowing a second thought on the matter I would at 
once have become convinced it was never intended that six 
months should terminate the speculation. But a few days in 
connection with Farewell, Petersen and Hoffman were enough 
to convince me that the necessary confidence which should 
exist in such an undertaking did not prevail. 

In beating up for volunteers, Farewell used all his diligence 
to induce as many Englishmen as he could to join the party, 
while Petersen and Hoffman used their efforts to enrol Dutch­
men. This created daily soreness, and I began to doubt if the 
expedition would ever leave the Cape. I also observed that 
Hoffman was obtaining from some of the junior clerks in the 
Colonial Office information from the records in reference to a 
party of the Dutch East India Company who had occupied the 
Port of Natal when the Company was in possession of the Cape 
of Good Hope. 1 

obt~t;r. Farew~ll- engaged the brig Antelope and the sloop Julia, a nd he 
Port Ned perm1ss1on of the Colonial Government to form a settlement at 
stav a~l, although the people (engaged by him) were led t o believe that the 

wou d be only from three t o six months.-Author 's MS. 
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Chapter IV 

W
HILE matters appeared to be in a very unsatisfactory 
state between the co-partners, it was arranged that I 
should proceed in advance, and endeavour to effect a 

communication with the chief, Shaka. I accordingly sailed 
in the Julia, a small sloop of between 20 and 30 tons, 
having with me stores and three mechanics, Ogle, an 
Englishman, a Prussian, and a Frenchman, also Michael, a 
Hottentot servant, and Frederick, a Kaf'fir interpreter, 
from the Cape frontier. 1 Nothing worthy of notice occurred 
on the voyage, except that it was t edious and unpleasant 
owing to the smallness of the vessel and its crowded state, 
with 26 persons, besides cargo on board. Our little_ craft 
crossed the bar at half tide and we anchored early m the 
morning of the 10th March, 1824, 2 opposite to where the 
present Custom House stands, that is, about a quarter of a 
mile within the northern point of the port. The bay appeared 
to be surrounded by bush in every direction; the only spot that 
was somewhat open was the locality now known as Khangela. 

About three o'clock I proceeded to this spot in a boat, 
:accompanied by three mechanics. On landing there with 
provisions and bedding, I sent the boat back to the vessel and 
strolled about the Khangela flat on the chance of finding 
some natives. W e strolled both to the right and left of 
Khangela to select a spot for building, until sunset, but met 
with no trace of any inhabitant s being in the country. Traces 
of sea-cows everywhere abounded. We selected a hollow or dip 
under rising ground to protect us from the winds, and then 
began to prepare for the night, cooking food and arranging beds. 

lThe p lan was that the mechanics should get on with the buildings, etc., 
pending the arrival of Farewell, Petersen, Hoffman and the rest of the party. 

- E ditor. h · · 1·k B" d 2This is evidently a mistake and one which has led aut onbes 1 e !r 
and even the Native Affairs Commission of 1852-3 astray. ';(he_ MS._ m which 
the above occurs appears to have been written at the authors d1ctat10n ab_out 
1854. In a more deliberate one of about 1834, howeve~, the date of his arrival 
in the Julia is given as May, 1824 . Other cons1derat1ons_. too len~thy to go 
into here, seem to us clearly to pomt to May as correct, fo~ mstance . (a) Fare­
well who is known to have arrived at Port atal about six weeks after Fynn, 
got there in the Antelope in July ; (b} Thea! (Hist. o{ 5. Africa, 1824- 54, 118} 
proves by the Cape Gazette t hat the J ulia reached _1able Bay from Saldanha 
Bay with a cargo of grain on the 27th March.-Editor. 
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Moderately tired after our walk, we soon went to sleep. We 
had, however , not been long in that condition when, about 
midnight, a st orm broke over us. Not only we, but our bedding, 
became thoroughly drenched, and a stream of water which 
rushed through the hollow forced us to move to higher ground. 
Fortunately, we had collected a large quantity of fuel, and 
having some large logs on fire we removed them and the fuel to 
higher ground. Sleep was impossible. We employed ourselves in 
making a blazing fire and wrapping ourselves in our wet 
blankets. While thus occupied we were surprised by the howl­
ing of troops of wolves, which were coming from different 
directions, to where we had located ourselves. We increased 
our fire as far as the rain would permit us, in the hope that the 
wolves would be kept at a distance, but, in defiance of the fire 
and our yells, they approached and stood before us. To see 
them was impossible. We had not brought firearms with us, 
and as the wolves approached nearer and nearer, we had no 
better mode of defence than by standing back-to-back with 
firebrands in our hands. Several came so close as to snap at 
us, and we were able to strike them with firebrands. 

In rushing to our standing position, we had separated from 
our bedding. One of the wolves seized therefrom the leather 
trousers belonging to Ogle, in which he had a Dutch 60-dollar 
note. This he was determined t o defend. H e rushed forward, 
caught hold of the band of the trousers as the wolf was dragging 
them, and succeeded in recovering them with the loss of only 
one of the legs. Although all of us had rushed to his assistance 
in the dark we succeeded only in beating the wind with our 
firebrands, though that had the effect of scaring the wolves 
away. 

The Prussian, anxious t o secure his bedding, was on all 
fours rolling it up when a wolf came and caught him by the 
foot. H e screamed out most vociferously : "My toag ! my 
toag ! "meaning his toe. This caused a roar of laughter, as we 
were now less fearful, finding we were not likely to be rushed 
upon en masse. A firebrand thrown at the wolves released 
h~ from his predicament. The troops of wolves had regularly 
besieged our position, and we momentarily expected to be torn 
to pieces. We then all stooped down together to extend the 
fire_ round our position. In this we only partially succeeded, 
owmg to the scarcity of the fuel, while the smoke almost 
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blinded us. To obviate this, still back-to-back, we took up a 
sitting posture ; we talked to one another and Ogle sang songs 
at intervals. We continued in this way, momentarily expecting 
the wolves would rush upon us, until day had fully dawned, 
when we put up a signal for the boat. On its arrival we re­
turned t o the vessel. After having breakfasted and recounted 
our night 's disaster, we proceeded to what is now known as 
Cato's Creek, another open space larger than that at Khangela. 
The Town Hall of Durban now stands on that spot. 

I now, however, selected a spot opposite the present church 
of St. Paul's in Durban, where the present railway station 
stands. To guard ourselves from another and similar dis­
turbance by the wolves, we had taken with us a mainsail. 
Of this we formed a tent . We chopped down bushes and forti­
fied ourselves with a strong fence. We heard the wolves 
during the night , but, conscious of our security, slept at intervals, 
though disturbed every now and then by the howling. 

On the following morning the mechanics, assisted by the 
crew of the vessel, were set to work to cut timber and build a 
12 foot square house of wattle and daub. 

Taking my Kaffir interpreter, Frederick, with me, I walked 
round to the head of the bay in search of inhabitants; we came 
across none, though we found several footprints. On the 
following day, two or three natives were seen from the vessel 
running about in the water at low tide, on the Bluff beach. 
I immediately proceeded thither with Griffith in the boat, in 
the hope of communicating with them . But as we approached 
they fled to their dense fastnesses on the Bluff. 1 We, however, 
ran down one of them and having shown him we were well 
disposed towards him, by holding up a few beads, he accom­
panied us in the boat to our vessel, then on to our camp. His 
name was Mahamba. He and my interpreter understood very 
little of each other's dialect, though speaking in the same 
language. My enquiries as to where Shaka resided were 
unsatisfactorily replied to. All I could learn was that their 
nation had been destroyed by Shaka and that he was a powerful 
chief living to the northward, and that I would have to travel 
30 days before I reached him. I was sure this was incorrect 

1we found at Natal about 60 persons, remnant of a tribe recently destroyed 
by Sbaka, living on the westerly point of the bay in a most distressful and 
famished condition .-Author's note. 
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as I had seen kraals only 30 miles north of the port, when our 
vessel had been driven past it. But such was their fear of him 
that they durst not accompany us or leave the bush at low tide 
to get fish, their only sustenance. 

I i~mediately decided on commencing my journey and 
travelling along the coast north-eastwards, in search of Shaka's 
residence. Prior to leaving, I marked out the house that was 
to be begun in my absence on a spot which is now within the 
market place of Durban and about 200 yards in front of the 
door of St. Paul's Church. After seeing the house commenced 
and, through the assistance of Mahamba, brought about a 
friendly feeling with the few natives who with him occupied the 
fastnesses of the Bluff, also after opening up a trade with them 
to supply t~e workmen with fish, the only food these people 
had to subsist on, I started on my journey to the northward. 
I expected to be away for two or three days, imagining I should 
reach Shaka's tribe within a distance of ten or 12 miles. I left 
on the 15th with the object of visiting Shaka. I took with me 
Frederick, my Kaffir interpreter, Jantyi Michael, my Hottentot 
servant and Mahamba. 

. After travelling about three miles we crossed the Umngeni 
River. Mahamba showed great fear of the crocodiles and sea­
cows which were in great numbers. We, however, passed by 
without harm. As there were no footpaths or human foot­
pr~ts, only elephant and sea-cow tracks being observable, I 
decided on keeping to the beach. When about 12 miles from 
the port I found myself so completely tired out that I sat down 
and ordered coffee. Mahamba produced fire from the friction 
of two sticks. While the kettle was being brought to the boil , 
I sat _on the beach and as I was looking across the sea, then at 
low tide, I _saw _on my right a dense mass of people coming fast 
fr~m the direction I had come. My view extended over several 
miles of the beach, but I could not see the rear of this immense 
black and continuous mass of natives, all armed and in their 
war-dresses. Our surprise was great and had I known the 
character of these people and the danger I was in, as I now 
know it, it is a question if I would have stood my ground 
thoug~ an attempt to run away would not have saved me. ' 

I immediately concluded they had come in pursuit of me 
~~er having already destroyed the party I had left building. 

e bush along the beach was dense and, as I was sure they 
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had seen me, flight appeared inadvisable, though strongly 
urged by Jantyi and Frederick. Mahamba at once disappear~d. 
On the approach of the head of the column I w~s struck ~1th 
astonishment at their appearance, for it was sufficient to t ernfy. 
Evidently they were equally surprised at mine'. and l?oked at 
me with a kind of horror. I stood up on their commg close 
towards me in the hope of communicating with their com­
manders through my interpreter and t elling the object of my 
being in their country. When I was telling the interpret: r what 
to say, viz: that I had come across the sea and .was des1rou~ of 
seeing Shaka, one of the foremost men mad~ a. sign by spannmg 
his hand round the front of his neck and pomtmg to some beads 
round the neck of another native, evidently asking for beads. 
This sign was no sooner observed than Jantyi fled p~ecipitately 
into the bush and Frederick immediately followed his example, 
leaving me aione to my dumb show efforts at c?mmunicat~on, 
and, no doubt, with misunderstanding on both sides. The signs 
consist ed in pointing in the direction from whence I had come, 
and in that in which I wished to go ; moreover I frequently 
repeated the name of Shaka. The leaders talked much among 
themselves, but at length passed on along the beach. This 
dense mass of natives continued to pass by me until sunset, all 
staring at me with amazement, none interfering with me. 

I have since been of the opinion that my coolness, for I 
certainly felt no fear, saved me from instant destruction. In 
the passing of this force I could not but. remark t~at they 
moved in divisions, the leader of each showmg me the immense 
control they had over their followers ; they frequently struck 
at them at the slightest appearance of disorder. 

My bodyguard, Frederick and J antyi now appeared wit~ 
Mahamba. They were surprised to find me not dead. J anty1 
exculpated himself by declaring. th~t the sig1:s the man made 
by spanning round his neck s1grufied nothmg less than an 
intention to hang us, whereas all the man meant to conv~y ':"as 
a request for beads to put round his own neck. That this view 
is correct was shown by what we afterwards heard had occurred 
at the port, namely, that one of the native fisher~en had beads, 
which he had procured from us, t aken from hrm by one of 
these men. 

I had not the slightest fear in the presence of this dense 
mass of armed natives, not less than 20,000 strong. That my 
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life was in imminent danger I can now be in no doubt, for, if 
the leading chiefs had felt a disposition to take my life, they 
would have met with approval from Shaka on reporting that 
they had killed a white animal out of the sea. My life evidently 
was saved on this occasion by that wonderful talisman of this 
country, the name of Shaka. 

We remained at this spot for the night, during which 
Mahamba deserted and went back to the Bluff. On the follow­
ing morning we proceeded along the well-beaten track of the 
army until we reached the Thongati River, some 25 miles from 
the port, where we found a native kraal of seven huts. The 
surprise of men and women at seeing a white man created a 
general fear. The children screamed as the mothers took them 
up, while the men could only with difficulty be persuaded to 
come near us. At length by throwing bunches of beads to them 
they were led into converse with us and afterwards to com­
municate freely with us and bring their women back from the 
bushes t o which they had fled. Siyingila, the owner of the 
kraal, presented me with a cow for slaughter. H e had but two. 
We learned that the army, which had passed the day before, 
had proceeded northwards. 

Whilst my communication with these people was going on, 
another dense column of the same kind of armed warriors 
came from the direction of the port. I at once became con­
vinced that Shaka 's nation was a powerful one. 

On their reaching the kraal where I was, the women again 
fled with their children and great dread was perceptible in 
Siyingila and his men at the presence of this force. The cow, 
which had by this time been skinned, was soon surrounded, its 
slaughterers, Frederick and Jantyi having fled. The chief 
commanding this force held an excited conversation with 
Siyingila, Shaka and myself evidently being the subject 
thereof. The former then sent some of his followers to drive 
away the men who had surrounded the cow. I then requested 
the chief to help himself to a portion of the meat, upon which he 
~ppointed several men t o cut it up. When this had been done, 
mstead of helping himself as desired t o do, he insisted on my 
giving him what I thought fit. I gave him half, and one quarter 
to Siyingila. They expressed their thanks, then moved 
quietly on. However, there still appeared to be no end to those 
following them. By this time I had learned they were Shaka's 
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army returning after having attacked chief Faku, who was said 
to live a great distance to the southward. 

I had taken possession of a hut which had been given me to 
sleep in when the screams of the women and children became 
violent. They fled from the kraal in fear of the Zulu forces 
which still continued to pass, while Siyingila and his men, 
who remained in the kraal, communicated near the hut in 
which I was with each party that passed about Shaka and 
myself. None of the armed forces attempted to approach, but 
every other hut was pillaged. 1 The women saved only what 
they were able to carry away with their children. We slept 
undisturbed until the dawn of the following day when we were 
awakened by the cries of the women and including those of the 
surrounding kraals, who, having all fled at the approach of 
Shaka's force, had, towards daylight, been scattered by packs 
of wolves; five of the children had been snatched from their 
mothers' arms and devoured. 2 

I was requested by Siyingila not to proceed further until 
Shaka had sent to express his wishes, seeing that he (Siyingila) 
had sent messengers to report my arrival. To this I assented. 
After waiting three days, a party of about 30 natives, accom­
panying their chief, Mbikwana, arrived from his kraal about 
t en miles to the north. 3 On approaching me, with four large 
oxen being driven before him, Mbikwana made a long speech 

1"A great number of the Zulu army lingered on their march in this locality, 
having travelled from the seat of war a distance of 225 miles through a country 
having no inhabitants. This localit y was the first where they could procure 
grain and it being on the outskirts of their own country, the inhabitants being 
tributaries, they pillaged their fields and cellars and most of the inhabitants 
fled from fear. Numbers of the Zulu stragglers came to the kraal, where I 
was, demanding grain. But the headman placed himself at the gate using my 
presence as a shield , t elling them no one must enter the kraal where the King's 
white man was resting. This saved him from being molested, while it a ided, 
without any intention on my part to do so, to dignify my position. "-From 
another MS. by the author. 

2 " I returned to the port, where I found all our people exerting themselves 
for our future comfort. After remaining five days at Natal, I again attempted 
a journey to the King. I passed the first river, the Umngeni, at 8 o'clock, 
where I found the calf of a hippopota mus lying dead. This the Kaffirs who 
were with me quickly devoured. There were only eight of them and the animal 
weighed at least 200 lbs. This enormous breakfast incapacitated them from 
travellin g. I arrived at Siyingila's kraal, whom we found nearly famished 
from the depredations which had been committed by the Zulu warriors."-
Author's MS. 

3It seems, from another MS., that immediately before Mbikwana's visit 
six messengers came from him " to enquire the object of my v isit, presenting 
me with two oxen. I informed them we had come to purchase ivory and were 
desirous of seeing the King with that object." 
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i~ hon~ur of Shaka, his nephew; he related his greatness and 
· his.valiant deeds as a warrior, and added that he, Mbikwana, 
~ch~g on behalf of Shaka, who had not yet heard of mv arrival 
m his ~ountry, presented me with four oxen that I n{ight not 
starve m the country of so great a king.1 That I must at once 
re!11ove fr?m the_ kraal of so insignificant a people I was then 
with to his, Mbikwana's, kraal, nearer and in the direction 
of Shaka's country. 

_Mbikwa~a a~peared to be about 60 years of age. H e was 
a~hve ~nd ~ntelhgent. His followers and all who approached 
hrm p~1d him ~~e most servile attention. He made the most 
extensive enqumes as to the object of my visit . He not only 
assented to my sending three of the oxen to my party at the 
port, but provided people to take them there. The fourth was 
slaugh_tered o~ the spot, the meat being freely distributed to all 
the neighbounng kraals. I accompanied him to his own kraal 
where we met two messen~ers with two more oxen as a present 
to me fr~r:1 Shaka; he wish~d, moreover, to know the object 
of my visit. On the followmg day Mbikwana pointed out 
t o m~ a petty chief named Mhlophe whom he appointed to be 
my induna (captain); he had five followers. Their duty was 
to ~e constantly about my person and to supply my wants. 
Mbi~wana ~aid it would be necessary for me to remain in the 
locaht~ until Shaka communicated to me his further wishes. 2 

I remamed in this locality 14 days, on each of which I was 
presented with an ox. I distributed the meat to the immense 
numbers that came to see me. The idea of selling the cattle was 
not entertained by me. 

M~ pack, at first carried by Mahamba, and afterwards by 
J anty1, consisted of two blankets, a feather pillow, a coffee-
kettle so b . · · , me sea iscmts, n ee, and a box of scales belonging to a 

nes:1n the course_ of his speech, Mbikwana "complimented m e on m re 
poss~s:~ ~ .... ~~~~o! ~~ossing /he seas to visit his_ king, and all the ~o~nfr~ 
than I had . ence a my command. This was a far higher position 
Words as so e, er contemplated h_old_ing in any country a nd I looked on his 
mission and rr;:uch tfrf th. The _d1gmty. of carriage of this old chief, the sub­
me at once spec s 1own to him _by his followers, much su rprised me givin 
could be in an idea that the frontier Kaffir tribes, also the tribes of Delaooag 
Author's MSno way compared to the superior standing of the Zulu nation:·_'. 

'I ascert~ined " · · , . uncle Mb·k it was the Kmg s wish that I should remain with 11 · 
l 

1 ·wana until his a rm · t t d is co lected, so ti t h . Y, ]US . re urne from the war, had been 
F ia e could receive me with proper dignity." 
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d f w small packets of 
medicine chest containing a lancet an a e 

medicine.1 . Mb'kwana's I found out that one of 
On the third day at 1 . M interpreter 

f the kraal was in a v10lent fever. y . 
the women o f the kraal were talking of removmg 
told me that the women~ . ted Mbikwana to 
her to die in the field. I 1mme:1atel~::~~e~nly ridiculed this, 
permit me to attempt 1~ ~u;e 1 er. hands with a dog like her. 
but asked w~y I shou \ 

0
~n:;1Y her husband favouring it, 

I persisted m D:Y reques ' d I observed that my 
Mbikwana permitted m: to /{~;~~n~ue was much ridiculed. 
feeling her pulse and lookmg \ had evidently much recovered, 
On the third day, however, ass e d I six days the woman had 
great astonishment was exprhesse . 1: ed to learn that rumour 

. 1 ed I wast en surpns l'f 
entire y recover . f h . raised this woman to 1 e 
had given me the credi1 o d a~mgWhen I took her in hand, 
after having be~n alrea y ~: .re uest me to cure them of 
crowds of applicants came th q eared to be in perfect 
diseases, although manly 0 \d e~ :JpPply continued from day 
health. Those whom cou n~ . 

d h · licahons 2 

to day to put forwar t30eir af p es in charge of a chief, now 
A party of about na iv ' . h of 
. This man's speech, as m t e case 

arnved from Sh_aka. f Sh ka his greatness, his deeds as 
Mb'kwana was m honour o a , k 

i . ~ t This chief had brought to me from Sha a a 
a warnor, e c. ·1 h that my 

nt of 40 head of cattle, oxen and m1 c cows, . 
~::s;le might not starve, also seven large elephant tu~ks, t:~~ 

that Shaka was much pleased at my commg 
the assurance 

iled to find this. Editor. ] I have shown 
1" In my biography [I have fa . ' H ·tal (London) when I obtained 

' I 11 boy ' at Chnst s ospi . in how I became lob o y f edicine. From my experience 
the smallest particle of knotle~ge ~ D:aaoa (in 1823) I had resolved, on 
connection with fever when ·t~as a a small medicine chest, hence had one 
coming to Natal, to carry wi ,,meAuthor's MS 
with me on the present occasi_on: - t is . The m·ost exaggerated reports were 

•Another account of_ this mc~doe~or .The woman was said to be positively 
circulated as to my ability t5 ff This rumour soon reached Shaka. _Durmg 
dead when restored by_me o i ~bikwana's numerous were the applic-:1-tions 
the time that I remamed at messen ers from minor chiefs who did not 
made to me for med1cme, some by 1 . d ;f pains in the loins, shoulders, etc., 
appear. The greater number com6b~:r!ed that all the applicants had been 

vidently from rheumatism. . I who had scarified the parts and 
~nder the hand of their nativ;. tot\~r~arks darker than the natural colour 

:s~~t=~ir:e f~~:d~~ta~;~i~;i~~~fel~~e~~:eri:.s ii;~~!~i~f ~~l~;t::~ 
remedy was not, in all case~d t~attle I had received, t o the port, ~o ~~ait 
followers, I sent the ivory_ t1 from the Cape, or my return.-Author s . 
the arrival of Lieut. Farewe 
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country, but that he would not be prepared to see me until 
after his army had rested after their return from their recent 
war with Faku, and that I might not, in the meantime, want for 
anything he had sent me an induna with ten followers to be my 
guard and attend to all my wants. His name was Msika. 
There was something so frightfully forbidding in this man's 
countenance that, in addition to the conviction that one of his 
duties was to spy and report on my every action, I felt he 
looked as much like a murderer as it was possible to infer from 
his countenance. After expressing my thanks for Shaka's 
liberality, I said that in appointing this man he had done more 
than I required, for I already had Mhlophe, with whom I was 
satisfied, whereas this man showed in his countenance and 
manner a disposition for murder though I had no doubt, from 
the convincing proofs of Shaka's feeling towards me, that I was 
mi~taken. Several hundred natives were present during this 
harangue. During the whole of that day my observation as to 
the murderous disposition of this man afforded a very great 
deal of amusement. 1 

Two of the native fishermen from the port now brought a 
letter from the captain of the sloop informing me of the arrival 
of Lieutenant Farewell and his party. I thereupon returned to 
the port with my cattle and ivory, after telling Mbikwana that 
I would await at the port Shaka's further communication. 2 

1Another description of this incident runs thus : Another messenger with 
twenty attendants came from Shaka. He informed me he too had been sent 
to be my attendant and was superior in rank to the former captain Mhlophe. 
A more villainous and murderer-like face I had never seen. I hesitated some 
time as to how I should reply. At length, in the presence of 100 natives who 
were _Present with Mbikwana, the King's uncle, I pla inly told him that I did 
not like his looks and that murder was imprinted on his face . My candour 
might have proved to be anything but wisdom. It however, produced a 
simultaneous roar of laughter, and, though Mbikwana enjoyed it as much 
as the rest, many ran away roaring with laughter. Believing that I had at 
least acted unwisely, I soon got into familiar conversation with my new friend, 
telling him was fond of a joke and that no wise king would kill his subjects :or ~heir l_ooks. I found this captain, Msigali, too glad of being on a friendly 
ooting with me to take offence at my indiscretion.-Author's MS. 

'The messengers I had sent to the port with the cattle and ivory now 
r~tumed with a lett er from Lieut. Farewell informing me of the safe arrival 
0 

· himself_ and pa rty in the Ellen r A slip-it was the Antelope according to a 
:uch earlier MS.-Editor .J a nd wishing my early return. The Ellen [A ntelope] 
('emg ~ chartered vessel, had to sail again for the Cape, whereas the Julia 
I'm which Fynn had previously arrived) had been purchased by Farewell to 
•e at Natal for future communication with the Cape. I communicated that 

!r~".al of the party by messengers to Shaka and at once returned to the port 

0 
n JOmed the party there. They were highly gratified at my success in having 

ni~ned up communication with Shaka and a lso procured cattle for the im­
de~c~ate. needs of the party. Moreover they were much interested in the 

iption I gave them of my trip.-Author's MS. 
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Chapter V 

L
IEUTENANT Farewell and his party consisted of 30 

persons. We were thus 35 in number with those who 
came with me. Most of them were Dutch, three Germans, 

two Frenchmen and one Dane. Farewell, Ogle and I were 
the only Englishmen; strange to relate there was no Scotsman 
in the party. 

Farewell, Petersen and Hoffman shared in superintending 
the men employed on the t emporary buildings and in securing 
the cattle and the 11 horses which had arrived in the Antelope 
from the wolves that prowled about night after night. They 
had already taken three calves. Leopard spoors were also 
found daily in the neighbourhood, hence night watches were 
appointed for the security of the place. 

A day was now set apart as a holiday, when the British 
ensign was hoisted. Two cannon which we had brought with us 
were fired, also small arms. Formal possession was taken of 
the Port of Natal with its surrounding unoccupied country. 
Though we did not then know its ext ent, we soon learned that 
it reached from north-east to the port, to St. John's River on 
the south, and from the sea to the Drakensberg on the west. 

Shaka's uncle, Mbikwana, with about 100 followers, came 
to the port by Shaka's direction to say the King was now 
prepared to receive us. We accordingly made arrangements 
that Hoffman should remain at the port to superintend the 
buildings, while Farewell, Petersen and I, Frederick, the 
interpreter, and three H ottentots were to proceed t o Shaka. 
We went off accompanied by Mbikwana and his followers, all 
the latter being employed in carrying the presents intended for 
Shaka, also our bedding, clothing, etc.1 

We took the route I had previously travelled. On arriving 
at the Umngeni, much time was lost by Farewell persisting in 
our searching for gold in the river. What were deemed to be 
indications of gold proved to be nothing but mica. 

A sea-cow path had to be followed through the bush t o 
take us on to the beach. I may here state that Petersen was 

1We started with 13 Europeans, 8 horses, 4 H ottentots and 30 natives.­
Author's n ot e . F SHA KA , KING OF THE Z ULUS • 

ram Nathan · JI , ie saacs Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, vol. I 
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63 years of age, corpulent and subject to ill health, not of the 
sweetest temper, and seldom spoke without swearing. The 
delay at the river in searching for gold had by no means 
sweetened his t emper. While going along the sea-cow track, 
one of his legs became entangled, as well as his neck, in the 
monkey ropes which, in this country, abound in bushy parts. 
He now broke out into a violent temper, swearing : "God 
verdam, dat is geen paad voor een man van dree en sest;g 
jaren. " The whole body of the natives looked with astonish­
ment on what had produced such passion. Farewell burst into 
a fit of laughter and I could not help doing likewise. This 
considerably increased the difficulty of our position, for Pet er­
sen at once insisted on going back to the port and returning to 
the Cape. However unfitted he was for such excursion, he had 
so far involved himself in the undertaking that his sole motive 
for undertaking this journey was evidently to get an ocular 
demonstration of the cattle kraals alleged to be formed out of 
elephant tusks. He therefore required very little soothing. 
We went forward and continued the journey beyond the 
Thongati River without any difficulty. We had, however, no 
sooner crossed the river than our path led us through a swamp, 
with here and there clumps of earth sufficiently solid to enable 
a pedestrian to step without difficulty from one to the other. 
I took the lead and crossed without mishap. Pet ersen, to 
ensure a safe passage, ordered the Hottentot John to cross 
before him and attempted to follow his route. His horse , 
however, brought him into a deep part of the bog, and poor 
Mr. Petersen and his horse rolled over. H ere was a new scene 
of difficulty-changing of clothes, and making of coffee, inter­
larded with strings of Dutch oaths. It got dark before we had 
reached Siyingila's kraal, where it had been arranged we 
should sleep.1 Two oxen were presented to us for slaughter 
and we commenced making our preparations for the night, 
several hours of which were taken up with crimination and 
recrimination between father-in-law and son-in-law, the former 
accusing the latter of intending to kill him by bringing him to 
this barbarous country. I , fortunately being innocent in this 
matter, was able to st ep in as a mediator and, at length, I 
succeeded in getting such amount of sleep as the noise and 

'We, therefore, were obliged to camp for the night on the beach about 
half-way to Siyingila's kraal.-Author 's note. 

F l 
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tumult of a hundred beef-eating Zulus-not disposed to leave 
off till morning appeared-would permit. 1 

I may at once state that the distance from the po~t to 
Shaka's residence was 200 miles. Our progress was exceedmgly 
slow, each day's journey being arranged by Mbikwana .. We 
afterwards found out that he had not taken us by a direct 
route, but to kraals of minor chiefs and some of the barr~cks 
of Shaka's regiments. Cattle-slaughtering occurred sometimes 
twice and thrice a day. Numbers of Zulus joined our column 
in order to relieve Mbikwana's people of their burde~s .. ~e 
were struck with astonishment at the order and discipline 
maintained in the country through which we travelled. The 
regimental kraals, especially the uppe~ parts thereof, also_ ~he 
kraals of chiefs, showed that cleanliness was a pr~vailmg 
custom and this not only inside their huts, but outside, for 
there were considerable spaces where neither dirt nor ashes 

were to be seen. 2 
• 

Frequently on the journey we saw large parties seated ~1th 
grotesquely dressed men apparently lecturing in their ~mdst, 
and on several occasions saw individuals seized and earned off 
and instantly put to death. The grotesque characters we 
learned were " witch finders " whilst those singled out and put 

to death were said to be " evil doers." 3 

'Next day we passed Siyingila's kraal and arrived at that of Mbikwana. 
Here we rested two days on account of the exhausted state of the homes, 
which had just come off a voyage. We then travelled a further 20 miles, 
when Mr. Petersen being taken ill agam delayed us a day. We bad now 
passed the Cele territory under Magaye who had recently been defeated by 
Shaka to ,vhom they were now tributary. This accounts for the advantage 
taken 'of them by the Zulu warriors when passmg through their d1stnct.-

Author's MS. d · •One afternoon seeing a flock of vultures near.us, I shot one an on gomg 
to pick it up found they were devouring dead bodies, of which there were five. 
They appeared to have been killed the day before.-Author's MS. 

One day we arrived at a large kraal containing 190 huts, the barracks 
of one of Shaka's regiments. We had not been th.er~ many mmutes before our 
attention was drawn to a party of 150 natives s1ttmg m a circle with a man 
opposite them, apparently interrogating them. In .reply, they each beat 
the ground with a stick and said, H e-sa-gee ! [Yizwa Z hi !-Editor. ] After they 
had been answering with the same word about an hour, three of them were 
pointed out and killed on the spot. This man, whom they c.alled an inyanga, 
or as we should say a necromancer, was dress~d in an ape skin cap ; a _number 
of pieces of different roots were tied round his neck ; and a small shield and 
assegai were in one hand, and the tail of a cow in the other. He ,~as an 
interpreter of dreams and thought capable.o~ telling what has hal:'pened many 
other part of the country, also if one has miured ?-not~er by pmson or other­
wise. His decision is fatal to the unfortunate md1v1duals pomted out by 

bim.-Author's MS. 
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Messengers passed three or four times a day between Shaka 
and Mbikwana, the former enquiring about our progress and 
doubtless directing how we should proceed so as to fall in with 
his own preparations for our reception. We had thus dallied 
13 days ~n th~ road in trav~lling 200 miles, when the locality 
of Shaka s residence was pomted out to us about 15 miles off. 
~ile en~amped that night we saw much commotion going on 
m our neighbourhood. Troops of cattle were being driven in 
advance; regiments were passing near by and on distant hills, 
interspersed with regiments of girls, decorated in beads and 
brass with regimental uniformity, carrying on their heads 
large pitchers of native beer, milk and cooked food. Tbe 
approaching scene we anticipated witnessing cheered us con­
siderably tha~ evening. Farewell and Petersen expressed 
extreme affection and attachment for one another, with mutual 
apologies for past small differences. 

It was not until ten o'clock the following morning that a 
proposal was made about advancing. In about two hours we 
a~ved at a ridge from which we beheld an extensive and very 
picturesque basin before us, with a river running through it 
called the Umfolozi.1 ' 

We were requested to make a stand under a large euphorbia 
tree, from whence, about a mile before us, we saw the residence 
of Shaka, viz: a native kraal nearly two miles in circumference. 

While in this position, messengers went backwards and 
forwards_ between Mbikwana and Shaka. At length one came 
and desired Mr. Farewell and myself to advance, leaving 
Mr. ~etersen and our servants and native followers, who were 
carrymg Shaka's present, at the euphorbia tree. Mbikwana 
and about 20 of his followers accompanied us. 
. On entering the great cattle kraal we found drawn up within 
it about 80,000 natives in their war attire. 2 Mbikwana 
requested me to gallop within the circle, and immediately on 
my starting to do so one general shout broke forth from the 
whole mass, all pointing at me with their sticks. I was asked 
to gallop round the circle two or three times in the midst of 

fro~\~~enUy. the Umhlathuze is meant, for the Umfolozi cannot be seen 
2., 

0 
pos1h?n t.he travellers had now got to.-Editor. 

drawn n entermg its gates we perceived about 12,000 men in their war attire 
wherea~:() in~ circle to receive us." The author here refers to warriors only° 
as well mEt· e text he includes regiments of girls women servants etc ' 

.- ditor. ' ' ' ·• 
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tremendous shouting of the words, " U Jojo wokhalo ! " (the 
sharp or active :finch of the ridge). 1 Mr. Farewell and I were 
then led by Mbikwana to the head of the kraal, where the 
masses of the people were considerably de~ser tha~ elsewhere. 
The whole force remained stationary, as, mdeed, it had been 
since the commencement of the reception. 

Mbikwana standing in our midst, addressed some unseen 
individual in 'a long speech, in the course of which we ~ere 
frequently called upon by him to answer "Yefio," t~at is to 
affirm as being true all he was saying, though perfectly ignorant 
of what was being said. 2 

• 

While the speech was being made I caught sight of an 
individual in the background whom I concluded to be Shaka, 
and, turning to Farewell, pointed out and said: " Farewell, there 
is Shaka." This was sufficiently audible for him to hear and 
perceive that I had recognised him. H~ immediately held .up 
his hand, shaking his :finger at me approvmgly .. F~rew~ll, b~m~ 
near-sighted and using an eye-glass, could not distmgmsh hm~. 

Elephant tusks were then brought forward. One was laid 
before Farewell and another before me. 4 Shaka then raised the 
stick in his hand and after striking with it right and left,

5 
the 

whole mass broke from their position and formed up into 
regiments. Portions of each of these rushed to the river and 

1Literally t he word s m ean : Long t a iled F inch of the Rid ge, which implies 
tha t the person t o wh om the words a re applied is quick and brave m attacking 
and overcoming his enem y.-Editor. . . . 

It is customar y fo r the principal warriors of each regiment ,. m their war 
dances, t o dance forwards [i .e. each_ dances a pas-seul by rushmg forw_ards, 
gesticula ting as he does so with t he shield and weapons he is carrymg.-Editor .), 
when t hey are appla uded by t heir own heroic na mes. !hey, therefore, on the 
occasion in question, considered I was adoptmg t heir own p_ractlce, h hence 
cheered m e by a phrase or na me commonly found a mong their own eroes. 
On entering the kraal's gates .. . we were desired. t o gallop t wo or three 
times round, then t wice more ; t hen to return a nd bnng the r ema mder of the 
p arty wit h us. W e were desired t o gallop four times m ore round t he k raa~ a ~d 
then sta nd all t ogether about 20 yards fro m a large tree a t the head o t e 
k raal.-Author 's n ot e. 

The probabilities are t ha t Fynn began galloping a lone, hence he was 
acclaimed, his prowess as a p ioneer doctor_ havm g already become known, as 
sta ted in the t ext, and that in the succeedmg gallops he was accompamed by 

Farewell .-Editor. . . 
'Evidently the King, but Shaka was so surrounded by his chiefs that we 

could not see h im.-Author's not e. · . 
•A speech in answer to Mbikwana's was then made b y a chief opposite . 

-Author's note. 
•Mbikwana n ow made another speech.-Author's MS . 
s "and springing out from a midst the chiefs."-Author 's MS. 
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the surrounding hills, while the remainder, forming themselves 
into a circle, commenced dancing with Shaka in their midst.1 

It was a most exciting scene, surprising to us, who could not 
have imagined that a nation termed "savages" could be so 
disciplined and kept in order. 

Regiments of girls, headed by officers of their own sex, then 
entered the centre of the arena to the number of 8,000-10,000, 
each holding a slight staff in her hand. They joined in the 
dance, which continued for about two hours. 

Shaka now came towards us, evidently to seek our applause. 
[The following from Bird's Annals of Natal, contributed by the 
author, describes the scene. " The King came up to us and told 
?s not to ~e afraid of his people, who were now coming up to us 
m small divisions, each division driving cattle before it. The 
men were singing and dancing and whilst so doing advancing 
and receding even as one sees the surf do on a seashore. The 
whole country, as far as our sight could reach, was covered with 
numbers of people and droves of cattle. The cattle had been 
assorted according to their colour. . . . After exhibiting their 
cattle for two hours, they drew together in a circle, and sang 
and danced to their war song. Then the people returned to the 
cattl~, again exhibiting them as before, and, at int~rvals, 
dancmg and singing. The women now entered the kraal each 
~aving a long thin stick in the right hand, and movini it in 
time .to the song. They had not been dancing many minutes, 
wh~n they had to make way for the ladies of the seraglio, 
besides about 150 others, who were called sisters. These 
d~nced in parties of eight, arranged in fours, each party wearing 
different coloured beads, which were crossed from the shoulders 
to the knees. Each wore a head-dress of black feathers, and 
four brass collars, :fitting closely to the neck. When the King 

11 of then t nother ~S. F ynn h as : _The whole body then ran t o the lower end 
h 'dd .raal, leavm g us a lone, with the excep t10n of one m an who had been 
w~ ~n m the crowd . This man p roved t o be a native of the Cape Frontier 
set° t o a~ been t aken prisoner i~ a war between the Colonists and K affirs and 
inte obben I sland . Captam Owen of the L even had t aken him as an 
the ;J:{:ter t o a t tend him _during his survey of the Eastern coast . Afterwards 
Ther h rpreter had been given over t o Farewell on his voyage t o St. Lucia Bay. 
lila~bae ran off and s_ought protection with Shaka , who gave him t he na m e of 
the col manzi, denotmg one who had crossed (swum) the wa ter. A m ong 
good 

0
° nists he had been known by the name of J acob Sumbiti H e spoke 
utch. · 

Further pa t· I b h ' . . Advent . r 1cu ars a out t 1s m an will be found m I saacs T ravels and 
to Eupt;es ; : Eastern Africa, II, 251 - 58, 264-69 ; Owen, N arrativ~s of Voyages 

e ores of Africa, A rabia and Madagascar, I, 59, II, 222 .- Edi tor. 
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joined in the dance, he was accompanied by the men. This 
dance lasted half an hour. The order observed and the 
precision of every movement was interpreted to us by his 
interpret er, Hlambamanzi. He desired to know from us if ever 
we had seen such order in any other state, assured us that he 
was the greatest king in existence, that his people were as 
numerous as the stars, and that his cattle were innumerable. 
The people now dispersed, and he directed a chief to lead us to 
a kraal where we could pitch our tents. H e sent us a sheep, a 
basket of corn, an ox, and a pot of beer, about three gallons. 
At seven o'clock, we sent up four rockets and fired off eight 
guns. H e sent people to look at these, but from fear did not 
show himself out of his hut. The following morning we were 
request ed to mount our horses and proceed to the King's 
quarters. We found him sitting under a tree at the upper end 
of the kraal decorating himself and surrounded by about 200 
people. A servant was kneeling by his side holding a shield 
above him to keep off the glare of the sun. Round his forehead 
he wore a turban 1 of otter skin with a feather of a crane erect 
in front , fully two feet long, and a wreath of scarlet feathers, 
formerly worn, only, by men of high rank. Ear ornaments 
made from dried sugar cane, carved round the edge, with white 
ends, and an inch in diameter, were let into the lobes of the ears, 
which had been cut to admit them. From shoulder to shoulder, 
he wore bunches, five inches in length, of the skins of monkeys 
and genets, twisted like the tails of these animals. These hung 
half down the body. R ound the ring on the head , 2 were a 
dozen t astefully arranged bunches of the loury feathers, neatly 
tied t o thorns which were stuck into the hair. Round his arms 
were white ox-tail tufts, cut down the middle so as to allow the 
hair to hang about the arm, to the number of four for each arm. 
Round the waist, there was a kilt or petticoat , made of skins of 
monkeys and genets, and twisted as before described, having 

lThis word, often applied to Zulu head-dresses and especially Shaka's, 
seem s to us inaccurate. Zulus do not wear turbans. They wea r headbands or 
circlets cut out or made of various skins or other substances.-Edi tor . 

2This clearly proves that Shaka worn a head-ring (i sicoco). We ha_ve 
sometimes heard doubts expressed on this pomt by Europeans. Well-m­
formed natives, however, b elieve the King to have worn a ring, without, in 
these latter days, being able to prove it. The only portrait of Shaka we know 
of which can claim to be authentic (that in Isaacs' Travels and Adventures in 
Eastern Africa, I, 58) lea,·es one in doubt, for the band there shown_ round the 
head may well be the circlet or headband known as umqhele.-Editor. 
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small tassels round the top. The kilt reached to th k 
b 1 h

. h . e nees, 
e ow w ic were white ox-tails fitted to the legs so a.S to hang 

down
1 

to the ankles. H_e had a white shield with a single black 
spot, and one assega1. When thus equipped he certainly 
present_ed a fine and most martial appearance. 

While he was dressing himself, his people proceeded, as on 
the ?ay _before, to show droves of cattle, which were still 
flock~ng m, repeatedly varying the scene with singing and 
dancmg. I~ the meantime, we observed Shaka gave orders for a 
man standmg close to us to be killed, for what crime we could 
not learn, but we soon found this to be a very common 
occurrence." 2] 

~r. Pet ersen, unfortunately, at this moment placed a 
musical box on the ground, and, striking it with a switch 
~ ov_ed the stop. Shaka heard the music. It seemed to produc~ 
i~ him a superstitious feeling. He turned away with evident 
displeasure and went back immediately to the dance. 

Those portions of regiments which had separated prior to 
th~ ?a.nee ~ow r e_t~med from the river and from behind the 

.adJommg hills, dnvmg before them immense herds of cattle. 
A grand cattle show was now being arranged. Each regiment 
dro_ve towar~s us thousands of cattle that had been allotted to 
their respe:hve _barracks, the colour of each regiment's cattle 
correspondmg with that of the shield the men carried which in 
turn, served to distinguish one regiment from an;ther No 
cattle of differing colour from those allotted to a given regiment 
were allowed to _ intermix. There were many droves without 
~oms, ot_hers with pendulou~ proj ections, four or six inche~ 

ng, which covered a considerable portion of the an· 1 
;~e cattle ?f the other droves had four, six, and eight ~:~; 
aii~ce. This show of cattle continued till sunset, with dancing 
bro~nterva~s, when we proposed to pitch the t ents we had 

ght with us. A man was ordered to point out a spot for 
the purpose. Greatly to Farewell's astonishment, this man 

L
pro~ed to be Jacob, his interpreter, who had landed at St 

UC th 
0 

the ia. e year previous when he, Farewell, lost his boats and 
sailors therein were drowned. Jacob had been taken to 

isomewhat oval · h ( · . man's open han m s ape seven mches by five inches) about the size of a 
thereof.-Editord. It was rrudway down the shield and on the right-hand edge 

•Bird, Annals of Natal, I , 77. 
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Shaka, who immediately appointed him one of the sentries 

for guarding his establishment. 
Two oxen were slaughtered for us. After dinner we pre-

pared to retire, but messengers from Shaka requested us to 
go to him, with Jacob the interpret er. 1 I was then led into 
the seraglio, where I found him seated in a carved wooden 
chair and surrounded by about 400 girls, two or three chiefs 

and two servants in attendance. 
My name Fynn had been converted into Sofili by the people 

in general; by this, after desiring me to sit in front of him, he 
several times accosted me in the course of the following 

dialogue: 
"I hear you have come from umGeorge, is it so? Is he as 

great a king as I am? " 
Fynn: " Yes; King George is one of the greatest kings in 

the world." 
Shaka: " I am very angry with you," said while putting on a 

severe countenance. "I shall send a messenger to umGeorge· 
and request him to kill you. He sent you to me not to give 
medicine to my dogs." All present immediately applauded 
what Shaka had said. " Why did you give my dogs medicine ? " 
(in allusion to the woman I was said to have brought back to 

life after death). 
Fynn: " It is a practice of our country to help those who 

:are in need, if able to do so." 
Shaka: "Are you then the doctor of dogs? You were sent 

h ere to be my doctor." 

lThe first meeting of Shaka with Farewell, Fynn, and the rest of the party 
was manifestly a unique and memorable occasion . Instead of the formal, 
stiff and constrained ceremonial customary at such a moment, Shaka, whose 
heart had been mysteriously touched by the advent of British settlers to his 
shores, converted the occasion into a grand a nd dramatically planned festival. 
We cannot but think these warm-hearted exhibitions of regard should be 
attributed in the main to two influences seemingly trivial in themselves : 
(a} Jacob's previous lengthy contact with worthy officers of the Royal British 
Navy; (b} Fynn's discreet, courageous and humane bearing during the weeks 
he was striving to open up communication with Shaka. His spontaneous 
humanity straightway disarmed all suspicion and even caused him to be taken 
as typical of the race he belonged t o. Thus, through the agency of Fynn and 
J acob, the British people henceforth began to stand in a favourable light. 
Shaka, despot though he was, one of the greatest the world has ever known, 
took them to his heart and, as will be seen, never failed to treat them as friends. 
More than this, the conviction then arrived at as to their friendliness has, after 
many sad and trying vicissitudes of later years, been honoured down to the 

present time.-Editor. 
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Fynn: " I am not a doctor and not 
countrymen to be one." considered by my 

Shaka : " Have you medicine by you ? ,, 

Fynn: "Yes." · 
Shaka: " Then cure me or I will h to have you killed." ' ave you sent to umGeorge 

Fynn: .':,What ~s the matter with you ? ,, 
Shaka. That is your business to find out ,, 
Fynn- " St d · Sh k .. " an up and let me see your person.,, 

a a·" Why should I stand up ? " 
Fynn: That I may see if I can find out what ails ou " 
Shaka stood up but evidently disliked f . . 

closely. A number of girls held r h my approachmg him 
about his person and after fl ~? ig ted torches. I looked 
had shown during th~ da re ec i~g on the great activity he 
matter with him I h y, was satisfied he had not much the 

on his _loins wh~re 'na~::v~~c~~::r~:~ :~:~~~~s b_lack marks 
once said he had pains in his 1 . . him, and at 
mouth in astonishment u o 01~~- h He he~d his hand before his 
by all present. Shak~ the: wt ~c tl m\w1sdom was applauded 
medicine to his dogs and ft s nc f y c arged me not to give 
in which he showed' oo ' a er a ew commonplace questions 
for the night .1 g d humour, 1 was permitted to retire 

. Very few, if any, of the Zulu arm had an 
rught. Cattle were slaughte d . Y Y sleep that 
country round about ~lle 1~ great numbers, and all the 

h
. h was 1 ummated by the fir 

w ic the people sat in groups. es, around 

. The following day had been a · mg our present wh' h f t ppomted by Shaka for receiv-
Farewell f r ' ic.' or unately, had been well chosen b 
consist ed ;f e~ese~tah~n ~o so superior a chief as Shaka. I~ 
in Cape Town e;y d ;scnpt10~ of beads at that time procurable 
obtained from' thn pa\ superior to those Shaka had previously 
variety of woolle: ~r u:~ese at Delagoa. There was a great 
turned and 1 an e s, a large quantity of brass bars 
cats and do :cq~ered, and sheets of copper, also pigeons, a pig: 
with epauleft~ here ~as,. moreover, a full-dress military coat 
no open gratit:~overe with gold lace. Though Shaka showed 

e, we saw clearly that he was satisfied. He 

, I remained . ' to his re till ten o clock when I left h; · . 
Farewe1(~e1t,J would remain with him a m~~~v~~~ a f;o~use that, agreeable 

n etersen.-Author 's MS. er e eparture of Messrs. 
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was very interested in the live a~imals, e~pecially the pig, until 
it got into his milk stores where it_ committe_d great hav_oc, and 
set all the women in the seraglio screammg for assistance. 
All this ended in the pig being killed. 1 

. 

The showing of cattle and dancing continued dunng the 
day, whilst other regiments, which had ~o~e from a great 
distance, arrived and took part in the festivities. Among the 
articles we had brought were some Congreve rocke~s. These we 
kept back. On returning to our camp, as the evemng was da~k, 
we fired them off, having first informed Shaka, and asked hrm 
to order his people to look upwards. Their surprise w~s great; 
I however question if the showing of such wonders to ignorant 
u'atives is 'advisable after so short an acquaintance between 
white and black as ours· had been. In conversati?n on our 
object in coming to Natal, this part ?f So.uth Afnca, Shaka 
showed great desire that we should hve at the port. Each 
evening he sent for me and conversed with me through the 
Kaffir Jacob, the interpreter , for three or four hours. 

On the first day of our visit we had seen no less th~n t en 
men carried off to death. On a mere sign by Shaka, viz: the 
pointing of his finger, the victim would be seized by his nearest 
neighbours· his neck would be twisted, and his head and body 
beaten with sticks, the nobs of some of these being as large as a 
man's fist. On each succeeding day, too, numbers of _o~h: rs 
were killed ; their bodies would then be carried to an ad1ommg 
hill and there impaled. We visited this spot on the fourth day. 
It was truly a Golgotha, swarming with hundreds of vultures. 
The effects of this together with the scenes of death made Mr. 
Petersen decide at once to dissolve the partnership and leave 

for the Cape. 
In the afternoon of the fifth day Shaka sent for me and 

requested me to proceed with so~ e of his serva_nts to a distant 
kraal where the chief uMpangazitha was very ill. I went and 
found him in high fever. I bled him, gave him medicine and 
caused him to be brought to a full perspiration. At midda_Y on 
the follm:ving day he was able to report himself comparatively 

IThe bringing of the live animals to Shaka was d ue to a suggestion by 
Sh ka's uncle Mbikwana who had returned with me to Natal to accompany 
us aall to Shaka's reside~ce. He asked us not to omit to take one of each 
s ecies of dom estic animals we had brought with us, among which was a pig. 
}ll were t aken t o the isigodlo, a seraglio, for the amusement of the women.-

Author 's MS. 
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well. 1 As thi~ captain was a great favourite with Shaka, my 
success gave him much pleasure. 

Mr. Petersen could not but observe the high estimation in 
which I was held from my success as a doctor. He produced a 
box of pills which he assured Shaka were good for all diseases· 
he urged him to take two as a trial. Shaka told Mr. Peterse~ 
to take two himself, which he did. Showing no disposition to 
take them, and on being further urged to do so, Shaka told 
Mr. Petersen to give two to each of several of his captains who, 
swallowing the medicine as directed, said they had no taste. 
Mr. Petersen still urged, when Shaka insisted, before he himself 
did s~, that the fori_ner should swallow two more, desiring the 
captams to watch him as he had not 5een him swallow the two 
first. This Mr. Petersen for a considerable time refused to do 
until Shaka and his people said he wished them to take medicin~ 
which he would not do himself. Fear then overtook him and he 
swallowed two more. 2 

In the afternoon I walked to the riverside to observe the 
~oves of sea-cows which there abounded. On returning to 
dme at the tents, I could not but observe the gloomy silence of 
Farewell and Petersen. The cause of this they did not com­
municate until after dinner, when I learned from them that on 
informing Shaka, during my absence at the river, of our ;ish 
on the following day to return to the port, he had at once 
assented, though only on condition that I should remain with 
him-~n ~his he persisted in defiance of their objections. As 
the Kmg s _word was the only law in the land, they became 
un~asy until they found I was not only willing but desirous of 
seemg as much as possible of this new country. It was therefore 

1Five days afterwards I heard of his final recovery.-Author's note. 
k 'Another MS. has these additional details : During my absence Mbi­
r;;~na mformed Shak_a that Mr. Petersen also had m edicine. Mr. Petersen was 
he\:fJed to prod uce it and state its virtues. He produced a box of pills which 
The Ki were good for a ll d iseases and strongly advised Shaka to take two. 
them ~ took fou r and g1vmg one each to four chiefs, made them swallow 
end · L Petersen was also desired to take four. Mr. Petersen after vainly 
relu e~o~nng to convince the King that four were too much for one person was 
tas/d ~ Y compi:lled to swallow the four. Shaka asked the chiefs how they 
Th/Kin they replied : ' Not at all,' they having swallowed them as directed. 
This Mr g now swallowed two. and ordered Mr. Petersen to keep him company. 
chiefs a·d!fJersen peremptonly refused to do, but the King insisting, and the 
medic· g the pressure of the argument that one who recommended 
to sw:J~es should not refuse to take them himself, Mr. Petersen was compelled 
63 does ow ttwo more, that is, six in all. The consequences of this t o a person of 

no requue t o be explained in detail. 
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. ·th th Kaffir Frederick as my 
decided that I should r~~a~:t ;ichae; as my servant.1 
interpreter, and the Ho en K the following morning, 

On taking leave of the :g s~l~ with five elephant tusks 
Shaka presented Farewell and dy . d he would send out 
each and 40 hea~ of cattle, a~ promi~e accompanied Messrs. 
his soldiers to kill elephants ·1or u:turned to Shaka by sunset 

11 d Petersen a few mi es, r 
Farewe ~n . th e hours in the evening. 
and sat with him two or re 

Chapter VI 

Farewell and party left for Natal Shaka 

AT noon on the da~ xen and in the evening left for 
presented me with 1_5 o ' He sent the next day 

nother kraal 15 m1les away. 
a h. 

requesting me to follow . im. to look at and then to count a 
On my arrival he desired mef I did so making the 

f I had not be ore seen. ' t 
large drove o oxen d the result the crowd tha 

5 654 When I announce "bl f number ' . . asking how it was possi e or 
was present burst out lau?hmlh d not once counted up to ten 
me to count so many, seemg al d d I had not counted them 

fi They at once cone u e f th on my ngers. ld t convince Shaka o e 
at all, and the int~rpret~r cou h nouse of the fingers. Their 
possibility of counting without t e 

. nderstood that F arewell and P eter-
ion the following day, SNhakai t:t ~!x~ m orning, collect ed a ll such ot h1~ 
· t nded to return t o a ta 1 and female numbering a ou 

sen m :s were in the neighbourhood , ma eon the first d~y. t o dance, and at 
~o_.r~iso At about 10 o'clock, they be~ an,ha~ marked their faces with clay of 
. "t rv; ls t o display their cattle. Tk ey d \th er shades. vVhen these a muse­
m :ious ~olours, white, red a~d bla,c • an the King desired his people. t o look 
va t s had been continued till 4 o cloc\ I H ence only t o consider his great­
~ ens and behold a wonder- white ~e~p e ·d escendants of his nation that . he 
a u who was able t o t ell a ll . u ure E uro eans and a t the same time :~:'t~: first of their kings t\~\:~

1
i~~:\vere s~bj ects of King ~mGe~~1t 

nsicler h ow proud he was . were cowards who d id not are a . 
~is own forefathers a s well as their ~':twcnt on to rela t e the case of a wlut~ 

h ·t e man into their presence. three ears before and had been pu 
a w ' ,.,.h o had escaped from a wreck , only K'n cr ~f the Qwa 5es (i.e. t he Qwa5e 
:a;e:th by his neighbour, P hak ath;!~{ha ti h ad sprung out of the sead ~e 

~~~1~ e~~,rc~s~~f !::o~~obfobik :~:~~t s :~~!~;.11
e1f~ft{ ~ ! t:;e~~~{~Tc:; ~~e; 

· s n ot consider us as em g r we retired t o our tent. e nex 

~~~i;red, in a firm a~d J~: :tlt~~~f a'.nd P etersen tdo t a~e/ ea:ic~; d~~: kf~ 
mornmg I accompame ttl etc. they departe , w 1 e; 
After receiving presents odf cla _e,Hott~ntot servant.-Author s MS. 

· d s di a so a . ~ promise, I remame • a 
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way of counting is to begin with the little finger of the left 
hand, the thumb of the right hand l;>eing six, and so in rotation 
to t en, which is the little finger of the right hand, 20 being 
two tens, 30 three tens, until they come to ten tens, or a 
hundred, which they call a great ten. There are some who have 
an idea of a thousand, which they call a great ingwane (Inku­
lungwane). 1 

Shaka went on to speak of the gifts of nature, or, as they 
term it, uM velinqangi. 2 He said that the first forefathers of the 
Europeans had bestowed on us many gifts by giving us all the 
knowledge of arts and manufactures, yet they had kept from 
us the greatest of all gifts, such as a good black skin, for this 
does not necessitate the wearing of clothes to hide the white 
skin, which was not pleasant to the eye. He well knew that for 
a black skin we would give all we were worth in the way of our 
arts and manufactures. He then asked what use was made of 
the hides of cattle slaughtered in our country. When I told 
him they were made into shoes and other articles, which, 
however, I could not explain so as to make him understand, he 
exclaimed that that was another proof of the unkindness of our 
forefathers, for they had obliged us to make use of hides to 
protect our feet, but as such protection was unnecessary in 
their case their forefathers revealed to them that hides should 
be used for making more handsome and serviceable articles, 
namely shields. This changed the conversation to the 
superiority of their arms; these he endeavoured to show in 
various ways were more advantageous than our muskets. The 
shield, he argued, if dipped into water previous to an attack, 
would be sufficient to ward off the effect of a ball fired when 
they were at a distance, and in the interval of reloading they 

1
Inguarn (ingwane) d oes not stand as a separate word in Zulu though it 

may well do so in some cogna te dia lect. D ohne says natives use inkulungwa ne 
then they have hundred s for all t en fingers, the fingers then being a ll bent 
Iogether and so representing a thousand.- Z ulu-Kafir Dictionary under 
nkulungwane. 

Th 'T~is Zulu word means litera lly The F irst Appearer, The First to E merge, 
Ne First to Exist , hence The Creat or. It is associated with another word, 

u kulunkulu , signifying the First Ancestor or F ather. Both these t erms have, 
~ s~bsequent years, been thoroughly inquired into by such missionaries as 
5 ar .mer , Grout, Schroeder, Colenso and Callaway . What is, however, 
}ecially notable is tha t Shaka himself used the word uMvelinqangi in con­
e~~ati~n with Fynn some 11 years before the earliest missionary set foot in 
po e~l atal or Zululand, whilst the mention of it in the MS. we are using is 

ss, Y the first occasion on which it was committed to paper.- Editor. 
G 
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would come to close quarters, when we, having no shield, would 
drop our guns and attempt to run, but, as we are unable to run 
as fast as his soldiers, we must all inevitably fall into their 

hands. 
I found it impossible to confute his arguments, as I was 

unacquainted with his language, and his interpreter on whom · 
I had to depend would not have dared to use strong arguments 
in opposition to the King. I was obliged, therefore, to accept 
all his conclusions, for there was not the least hope of proving 
myself capable of arguing in a way he could be made really 

to understand. 
Next day, when out walking in the hope of shooting a sea-

cow, I met him on the road going towards his kraal. When he 
heard I was going out shooting, he ordered a man to fetch a fat 
ox which he said I was to take with me for food on the way. 
When I told him I was returning the same day he still insisted 
on my taking it. Only with great difficulty could I show how 
unnecessary it was, for only my Hottentot servant was with me. 

When I returned in the evening, he asked me to give him an 
emetic. This he took in the way I desired him to do, but 
immediately afterwards he thrust his two forefingers deep 
down his throat as possible, remarking that that was their 
custom and therefore must be better than ours. I remained 
till late in the evening, conversing on different matters relating 
to England. Whilst in the presence of his people he placed 
the worst construction on everything, ridiculing all our manners 
and customs, though in perfect good humour. When none of 
his subjects were present he would listen with the greatest 
attention and could not help acknowledging our superiority. 
He, however, took exception to our method of imprisoning 
criminals, regarding it as the most horrid pain that man could 
endure. If one were guilty why not punish the deed with 
death? If suspicion only attached to the individual allow 
him to go free; his having been put under arrest would be 
sufficient warning for the future. This argument had arisen 
from the fact of his interpreter having been taken prisoner and 
sent to Robben Island. Through him, therefore, it was out of 
my power to explain how wishful we are to save the lives of the 
innocent, and in how few instances life was despised by its 
possessor. I had therefore to give way as before. 
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The following day was s ent . d . 
up till the evening 1 H ~ m ancmg and this was kept 
reading, I was indu~ed tavtmkg spent the whole afternoon in 

· o a e another pe t h 
As it was dark when I entered th k l ep a t e dancers. 
going on, the King ordered e raa where the dancing was 
lighted bundles of dried reeds atonu?1be: of people to hold up 
bundles, however, called for reatg1ve hg_ht to the scene; these 
went out. I had not been t~ attention as they frequently 
a shriek and the lights . ere m~ny minutes when I heard 
followed a general busttered1mm: d1ately extinguished. Then 

h l 
e an crymg Ravi l ft J 

s al henceforth call the inter . . ng e acob, as I 
in the hut, I endeavoured t/::tr, and Michael, the Hottentot, 
to listen what the occasion was ft~~ everyone _who would stand 
At length I found out that Soh k is ext~aordma:y commotion. 
stabbed. I immediately tu d a a, while dancmg, had been 
him on the top of the l~~e h aw~ y to call Michael. I found 
mistaking the commot1·owaf s outmg and giving the hurrah 

n or some mer · t I . ' 
told him what I had hea d d . nmen · immediately 
t b 

. r an sent him to 1 o nng linen and som . prepare a amp and 

d
. . e camomile tea wh· h ' 

me 1cme I had by me I 1 d . , . 1c was the only 
t · a so esired him t d 
erpreter to me. All this time th o sen the in-

very great. e bustle and confusion were 

When Jacob and Michael . 
hut in the palace 3 wh arnved we proceeded to Shaka 's 

' ere we supposed h. t b 
was a very great noise o· im o e. Here there 
it was almost impossibl;" t~n~i~~ and the ~r_owd ~o dense that 
~proar, following the example of. mJacob JOmed m the general 
ma fit so that r ld . any others. He fell down 

· ' cou now neither ask t · 
any information as to wh Sh k ques ions nor come by 

I . ere a a was. 
attempted to gam admittance . . 

great crowd round it M l mto his hut. There was a 
the seraglio pulled . y amp was put out. The women of 
· me, some one way 
in a state of d ' some another; all were 
uproar beco . ma ness. The crowds still increasing and the 

mmg more dreadful · 
and crying made m . . ' m consequence of the shrieking 
tremely unp' 1 y s1tuat10n very awkward as well as easant. ex-

1As it was A "No doub gust , the sun set about 5 30 . 
been . t the wooden fence of th · p.m.-Editor. 

3lhom€l' o~.-Editor. e cattle kraal, where the dancing had . t 

E 
at IS Ill th . JUS 

ditor. ' e seragho or harem at th ' e uppermost part of the kraal.-
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Just as I was making another attempt to enter the hut, 
where I still supposed the King to be, a man, who was carrying 
some lighted reeds, attempted to drag me away. I refused to 
go with him, for I did not know what his intentions were nor 
why the King had been stabbed so shortly after our arrival; 
at the moment I suspected it was on account of his having 
allowed us to appear among them without being acquainted 
with their political affairs. The man made a second effort to 
pull me along, and was then assisted by another. I then 
thought it best to see the result and, if anything were intended 
against myself, to make the best of it. I accordingly walked 
along with them for about 40 minutes, and my fears and 
suspicions were relieved on seeing the King in a kraal close by. 

I immediately washed the wound with camomile tea and 
bound it up with linen. He had been stabbed with an assegai 
through the left arm, and the blade had passed through the 
ribs under the left breast. It had made the King spit blood. 
I could not account for the assegai not entering the lungs; 
it must have been due to mere accident; I was for some time 
in doubt. His own doctor, who seemed to have a good know­
ledge of that nature, also attended him. He gave the King a 
vomit and afterwards administered purges and continually 
washed the wound with decoctions of cooling roots. He also 
probed the wound to ascertain if any poison had been used on 

the assegai. 
Shaka cried nearly the whole night, expecting that only 

fatal consequences would ensue. The crowd had now increased 
so much that the noise of their shrieks became unbearable, and 
this noise continued throughout the night. Morning showed 
a horrid sight in a clear light. I am satisfied I cannot describe 
the horrid scene in language powerful enough to enable the 
reader, who has never been similarly situated, to appreciate it 
aright . The immense crowds of people that arrived hour after 
hour from every direction began their shouting on coming 
in sight of the kraal, running and exerting their utmost powers 
of voice as they entered it and joined those who had got there 
before them. They then pulled one another about, men and 

' women throwing themselves down in every direction without 
taking care how they fell. Great numbers fainted from over 
exertion and excessive heat. The females of the seraglio, more 
particularly, were in very great distress, having overtaxed 
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themselves during the night. The s 
heat and from want of nourishn{ uffere_d from the excessive 
touch, whilst the four brass ll ent, which no one dared to co ars each had fitt· . 
round the neck as to make it im 

O 
"bl • mg so tightly 

h<:r head, nearly suffocated t? ssi e for the wearer to tum 
Fmding their situation so distre:s: Several of t:iem died. 
to afford them relief I po d g,. and there bemg no one 

, ure a quantity f t 
over them as they fell· th· . 

0 
wa er and threw it , is went on till I 

as to be obliged to desist Th th was myself so tired 
help one another. . ey en made some attempt to 

All this time I had been so b il 
most sickening part of th· t us _Y employed as not to see the 
begun to kill one another is S ragical scene. ~hey had now 
they did not cry others f ome. were put to death because 
others for sitting' down to 0:r puttmg spittle into their eyes, 1 

after such contm· uous . Y: although strength and t ears 
mournmg a d · • 

exhausted. No such limits t k n . exert10n, were quite 
W were a en mto account 

e then understood that six m h . 
assassins who wounded Sh k ;n ad been wounded by the 
was supposed that they ha~ ~~en rom the ro~d they took, it 
Ndwandwes (Ndwandwe tribe) h sent by Zwide, King of the 
enemy. Two regiments wer 'w o ~as Shaka's only powerful 
search of the aggressors. e accordmgly sent off at once in 

In the meantime the medici . . 
Farewell had promi·sed t d nes which, on his leaving Mr o sen were rece · d T ' . 
opportunely and Shak ive . hey came very 
hi • a was much gr t"fi d 

s wounds frequently and . a i ~ . I now washed 
moreover dressed hi ' d ga~e h~m mild purgatives. I 
. ' s woun s with omt t T . , 
m a hopeless condition for four da men _. he Kmg was 
people were continuing to fl k . yr Dunng all that time 
country and joinin in th oc m rom the outskirts of his 
fourth day that c!ttle w:te~~~a~ t~mult. It was not till the 
multitude. Many had di d ~ i e_ or the sustenance of the 
killed for not mour . ef m th~ mterval, and many had been 

nmg, or or havmg go t th . On tha fifth d ne O eir kraals for food. 
th K" ay there were sympt f . e mg's condition . th oms o unprovement in 
no iceable on the da ' f llese _favourable indications were also 

Y o owmg 
At noon on that da th . Would-be murd y e party sent out in search of the 

' erers returned, bringing with them the dead 
And so to t . pre end it was tears Ed't o 1 .- i or. 
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bodies of three men whom they had killed in the bush (jungle). 
These were the supposed assassins. The bodies, having been 
carried off, were laid on the ground in a roadway about a mile 
from the kraal. Their right ears were then cut off and the two 
pursuing regiments sat down on either side of the road, while 
the whole of the people, men and women, who had assembled 
at the kraal, probably exceeding 30,000, passed up the 
road crying and yelling. Each one, on coming up to the bodies, 
struck them several blows with a stick, which was then left an 
the spot, so that nothing more of these was to be seen; only an 
immense pile of sticks remained, but the formal ceremony 
still went on. The whole body now collecting, and three men 
walking in advance with sticks on which were the ears of the 
dead and now shattered bodies, the procession moved to Shaka's 
kraal. The King now made his appearance. The national 
mourning song was chanted. After this a fire was made in the 
centre of the cattle kraal when the ears were burnt to ashes. 

From the moment that Shaka had been stabbed the 
wearing of ornaments was prohibited, nor was anyone per­
mitted to wash, or to shave his or her head,1 moreover, no man 
whose wife was pregnant was allowed to come into the King's 
presence. Every transgression of these regulations was 
punishable by death; several cases occurred of persons being 

put to death on these grounds. 
There now being every appearance of Shaka's complete 

recovery, the chiefs and principal men of the nation brought 
cattle to the King as offerings of thanksgiving; and on the next 
day the principal women of the nation did the same. Shaka 
then offered sacrifices to the spirit of his deceased father. 

The restoration of the King to health began to bring about 
great changes. The tumult gradually ceased. 

Mr. Farewell and Mr. Davis, 2 h aving received a letter from 
me st ating particulars of the recent occurrences, now arrived 
on a visit to Shaka. They had not been seated many minutes 
when a man, who in ignorance or neglect of the prohibition 

lThere was, in those day s, no shaving of faces among the Zulus. Women, 
as well as men, however, often shaved the upper parts and sides of the head.-

Editor. 
2
Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 84, has" Mr. I saacs" here, which, of course, is 

an oversight. The text refers to July, 1824-Isaacs did not arrive in Natal 
until September of the following year.-Editor. 
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had sha_ved his head, was put to death . . . 
of sha vmg was again conceded. . After this the pnv1lege 

A present to the King from M 
to the kraal during the Kin 's ~ii!'arewell had been brought 
account been unable to ? . ess, and he had on that rece1 ve 1 t It 
Shaka now made a grant of land t.o Mr was now called for. 
up a ?oc~ment in connection therewith . Farewell, who drew 
50 miles mland and 2S .1 1 · The grant extended 

h 
m1 es a ong the t . 

t e harbour of Natal. coas , and mcluded 

The following is I I S a copy of the grant in question. 
' nguos haka, King of the Zulu . 

Natal, as well as the whole of th 1 d ~ and of the country of 
Bay, which I have inherited f e an rom Natal to Delagoa 
heirs, do hereby, on the seve:;hmd:y father, for _myself and 
of our Lord eighteen hu d d y of August m the year n re and twent f . 
presence of my chiefs a d f y our, and m the 
consideration of divers gno do m~ own free will, and in 

d 
o s rece1ved-g t 

an sell unto F G Fare 11 d C ran ' make over 

full 
. . we an ompa th . 

possession in perpet ·t ny, e entire and 
executors, of the Port or ~1 t to themselves, heirs and 
name of " Bubolongo" t a;h our ~f Natal, known by the 
and surrounding cou~tr/g: ~ w~th the _Islands therein 
whole of the neck of land o: er~m de~cnbed, viz: The 
entrance, and all the countr pem1:sula m the south-west 
of Port Natal, as pointed o! t en ;nles to ~he southern side 
coast to the northward a d ' a~ extendmg along the sea 
known by the native nam~ " ~as ward as far as the river 
"Farewell's River ,, b . b umgelote," and now called 
coast to the north-eas~mo~ ;o~ut ;wenty-five miles of sea 
the country inland as fa th t N~tal, together with all 
" Gowagnewkos ,, exten~ as ; nat10n called by the Zulus 
w~rd from the s~a shore, w7fh :1~;it one hundre~ miles back­
mmes, and articles of all d . g~ts to the nvers, woods, 
the said land and ap t enommahons contained therein 
the sole use of said Fr:w: ~a::~s to be from t~is date fo; 
executors and to be b th d _Company, their heirs and 
they think best calcula y em i~p?sed of in any manner 
molestation or hind ted fofr their mterests, free from any 

·t ranee rom mys lf . 
Wl ness whereof I h 1 d e or sub1ects. In 
that the so doU:g is ~:;e;d:~ t ~ ~and, being fully aware 
and conditions that I f O m me to all the articles 

' o my own free will and consent, do 
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hereby in the presence of the undermentioned witnesses, 
acknowledge to have fully consented and agreed to on 
behalf of F. G. Farewell as aforesaid, and perfectly un~er­
stand all the purport of this document, the same havmg 
been carefully explained to m e by my interpreter , C~amba­
maruze, and in the presence of two interpreters, Coliat and 
Frederick, before the said F. G. Farewell, whom I _hereby 
acknowledge as the Chief of the ~aid coun~ry, with f~ll 
power and authority over such na~i:7es that hke to_ rem~m 
there after this public grant, promismg t~ supply hi~ with 
cattle and corn, when required, sufficient for his_ con­
sumption, as a reward for his kind attention to me m my 

illness from a wound. 

SHAKA, his X mark. 
King of the Zulus. 

Native witnesses : 
Umbequaru (Shaka's uncle), his X mark.

1 

Umsega, his X mark. 2 

Cuntelope, his X mark. 3 

Clambamaruze (King's interpret er), his X mark. 
4 

Two certificates (the one signed, the other witnessed by ~he 
author of the present work) are attached to the grant refer~mg 
to its having been correctly interpret e_d to ~haka, et~., which, 
however, there is no special reason for mcludmg here. . 

When Shaka had quite recovered from his wound he qmtted 
the kraal in which he had been stabbed and removed t~ the one 
at which we had first visited him.6 Farewell, Davis and I 
accompanied him, the natives singing the whole w~y. On ~he 
day after our arrival a force of 4,000 men was _sent mland, with 
orders to conceal themselves in ambush, until they should be 
joined by another detachment, which was to march next day. 

icorrect spelling Mbikwana-the man who has already been frequently 

mentioned in these pages.-Edi.tor. . 
•Probably intended for uMs1ka .-Editor. 
•Evidently Mhlophe .-Edilor. . . _ . 
•This of course, is Hlambamanz1, alias Jacob.-Editor . . 
SThe'above is taken from Bird, Annals of Natal , published 1888, vol. I, 

193. A copy of this grant was duly transmitted by Farewell on 27th August, 
1824, for the information of the Governor of the Cap~ of Good Hope.-Editor. 

•That is a t Bulawayo, known as G16ixhegu.-Editor. 
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These, about 3,000 in number, were mustered in the kraal, and 
being ordered to march out of the kraal, they ran in four 
divisions to the spot at which they were directed to halt, and 
there formed three sides of a square. A fire was made in the 
middle, and a pot containing a mixture of roots, plants and 
water was kept boiling. An inyanga 1 (doctor), in his ceremonial 
dress, kept dipping an ox-tail frequently into the decoction. 
The men placed themselves in turn with their backs towards 
him, when he sprinkled them with the mixture, which was 
supp~sed to have the effect of giving them strength in war, and 
ensunng a good result. 

A speech was made by Mbikwana in which he showed what 
the aggravating cause was that called for revenge, namely, the 
attempt on the life of their King. The order to march was 
gi':'en, and they were directed to spare neither man, woman, 
child nor dog. They were to burn their huts, to break the 
stones on which their corn was ground, and so prove their 
attac~ment to their King. The command was given to 
Eenziwa, an elderly chief. 

The force moved off in the following order: 
The first division wore a turban of otter skin round the 

forehead, with a crane's feather, two feet long, erect on the 
forehead; ox-tails round the arms; a dress of ox-tails hanging 
over the _shoulders and chest; a petticoat (kilt) of monkey and 
genet skms made to resemble the tails of those animals· and 
ox-tails round t~e legs. They carried white shields cheq~ered 
at_ the centre wit~ black patches. Each shield was held by 
st~cks attached t o it, and at the top of each stick was a genet 's 
tail. They each carried a single assegai and a knobbed stick .. 

The sec~nd division wor~ turbans of otter skin, at the upper 
edge of which were two bits of hide resembling horns; from. 
these hung black cow-tails. The dress round the chest and 
shoulders resembled that of the first division, a piece of hide 
cut ~o as to resemble three tails hanging at the back. They 
earned red-spotted shields. 

The third division wore a very large bunch of eagle feathers 
on_ the head, fastened only by a string that passed under the 
chm, trappings of ox-tails over the chest and shoulders and as 
the sec d d" · · · ' ' on ivis10n, a piece of hide resembling three tails. 

1Here war-doctor.-Editor. 
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Their shields were grey. Each man carried an assegai and 

knobbed stick. 
The fourth division wore trappings of ox-tails over the chest 

and shoulders, a band of ox-hide with white cow-tails round the 
head, and their shields were black. 

The force descended the hill in the direction of the enemy's 
country. They held their shields down at the left side-and, 
at a distance, very much resembled a body of cavalry. The 
first and third divisions marched off making a shrill noise, 
while the second and fourth made a dreadful howl. 

During Shaka's illness a carpenter in the employ of Mr. 
Farewell arrived at his residence. He had been sent to build 
for Shaka a house like those used by Europeans. He brought 
with him a saw, a hammer, a gimlet , and an adze, also some 
nails. Shaka wished to know the uses of these things, except 
the hammer, for he knew that a t ool of that description was 
used by Zulu blacksmiths. After the uses of the gimlet and nails 
had been explained, he sent for a piece of the hardest wood 
grown in his country , namely, a species of ironwood. He 
desired that the gimlet should be tried on that. It snapped at 
once. Then he said the nails must be used without the gimlet. 
These, on being hammered, bent into all kinds of shapes. 
Much pleased with his own cunning, he declined t o have the 
house built , directing the carpenter to build them in England 
where the wood was softer than the iron and not attempt to 
build in Zululand where our iron was softer than his wood. 
After this, he frequently t alked of sending six of his men to 
build a house for King George in the Zulu style, for, though 
assured that King George's houses were much larger than his, 
he would not be convinced that they were as neatly constructed. 
Mr. F arewell and Mr. Davis as well as I , having expressed our 
gratification at the King's complete recovery , parted with him 
on the following day, and in six days arrived at Port Natal, the 
distance between there and Shaka's residence being 125 miles. 
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Chapter VII 

ON our arrival at Port Natal we found that Petersen and 
the Afrikanders, who comprised nearly the whole of our 
party, intended to return to the Cape. The sloop Julia 

was accordingly prepared to convey them but this could only 
be done by her making twb voyages, she being too small to 
take them all at one time. 

On the following day possession was taken, in the name of 
His Britannic Majesty King George IV, of the land at Port 
Natal and inland thereof that had been granted by Shaka to 
Mr. Farewell, four six-pounder rounds of ammunition and 20 
of musketry being fired to celebrate the event. 

Next day I again set out to visit Shaka, taking with me a 
present from the party. I remained three days with the King. 
During this time the army that had been sent out against Zwide 
returned, bringing with it several droves of cattle. It had, 
moreover, destroyed a number of kraals. I delivered the 
present, and, being assured of Shaka's satisfaction therewith, 
returned to Natal. 

Not many days after this I resolved to visit a people we 
had heard of as living to the westward of Natal, called the 
amaMpondo; the distance of their country from Natal, and 
the situation thereof being quite unknown to me accounts 
for my having taken provisions for only four days. Finding 
it impossible, without an order from Shaka to procure guides, 
and conceiving it not likely to obtain that favour, I started 
with merely an interpreter and four Hottentots. 

On the first day we travelled about 20 miles to a place 
we afterwards called Jo6e's Rocks-deriving the name from 
a man called Jo6e, chief of a party of bush Kaffirs we found 
there. On seeing us they left their dwellings and ran into the 
bushes. Not until an hour or two had passed in making signs 
as well as running after them could we manage to induce them 
to return, and this was effect ed only by catching one of them 
and giving him some beef and a few beads. When he saw we 
had no shields or assegais he called out t o inform his com­
panions of the fact. This allayed their fears, for until then they 
supposed we had come with no other intention than to destroy 



92 THE DI A RY OF HE NRY FRANCIS FYNN 

them. They lived in hovels and subsist ed on fish, shell-fish ~nd 
wild roots, the roots, however, requiring great preparat10n 
before they could become fit to eat. 

I enquired of the man we had caught th~ ~istan~e to the 
amaMpondo, but could get no satisfactory mtormat10n. H e 
told me I should be three months on the road; that I must pass 
through a desert and, on the journ:y, meet with only a few 
stragglers obliged, like himself, to hve ?n roots. I , however, 
could not but think this was only a device to make me return 
and so prevent such tracks as there were from being turned 
into a general thoroughfare. . . 

After resting the night, I proceeded m the m_ornm~ along the 
beach. I frequently climbed the hills to obt~m a view of the 
surrounding country, more especially to see if there were any 
signs of its having been burnt or if any ~moke co~ld be seen 
rising from bushes in which fires had been ht. In this, howe,ver, 
I was unsuccessful. After I had travelled unti~ sunset, i~ a 
winding direction, we encamped in ~he bush without havmg 
come across a single individual durmg the day or advanced 
more than ten miles in a direct line from where we had started 

in the morning. . 
Owing to the height of the grass and intertwin~ng bnars and 

bushes, we found it impracticable to do otherwise than keep 
along the beach, repeatedly examining the country as ~ e had 
done the day before. In the· evening, whilst searchmg for 
water and a place to bivouac in, we came across a man, woman 
and child. We caught the man and the child, but the woman 
escaped into the bush and all our efforts to find her proved 
futile. I asked the man the distance to the amaMpondo and 
the time it would take to reach their country, but we got no 
better information than Jo6e had given. I theref~re resolved 
to go on travelling until noon the next day, when, if u~able to 
obtain more definite particulars, I would abandon the Journey 
for the time being and return to the port. 

We made our companions in hunger par~akers of su~h food 
as we had left and passed the night in their hut. This place 
we called Klaas's Flat from the fact of one of the H ottent?ts 
having spoken of the bush Kafnr as _Klaas. On the followmg 
morning we travelled until noon without any better result. 
As our provisions were now exhausted we returned to sleep at 
Klaas's Flat. There we, fortunately, found two fish on the beach. 
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After having divided them between us, we went back to Natal, 
reaching there the next day. 

We learned that during our absence Messrs. Petersen and 
Hoffman, with some of their party, had sailed in the Julia; 
also that Shaka had sent a message to Natal requesting me to 
pay him another visit. I accordingly proceeded to his residence, 
where I found that a number of natives of Delagoa Bay had 
recently arrived with tribute for the King. It turned out that 
one of them knew me very well, having seen me at Delagoa 
in 1823. 

The King, having heard in my absence that I had gone off 
on a journey to the westward, asked me to give him particulars 
thereof. He laughed heartily on hearing the account. More­
over, he wanted to know how I could expect to travel through 
those parts without his assistance, for obviously my troubles 
had all arisen out of his having killed off the inhabitants of the 
surrounding countries. I had, therefore, got only what I 
deserved for attempting to travel among people from whom it 
was impo~sible to reap any kind of benefit; indeed, I could only 
expect to be either murdered by them or .poisoned by bush 
Kaffirs. 

I endeavoured to explain the reasons for the attempt I had 
made by saying it was customary with my countrymen to try 
and become acquainted with the manners and customs of other 
natives with a view to self improvement, and, in return, to 
strive_ to benefit those with whom they come in contact by 
teachmg them something of British manners and customs. If 
we had not been habitually actuated by such impulses, and 
put them into practice, we would not have had the pleasure 
of making his own acquaintance or of receiving from him 
those marks of kindness and attention he had already shown us. 
But I might have saved my breath on this occasion as well as on 
~any others, for I found I had to deal with a king who had no 
idea of any limit to his powers, and who was confident his 
commands were both lawful and strictly reasonable. To this 
I made no reply, considering that doing the· deed, although 
~orbidden, would be less likely to irritate than attempting to 
Justify it in words at that moment. He treated me kindly 
during the remaining part of my visit, which lasted only two 
days . I then returned to Natal. 
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When I got back, within four days of my departure, I 
found that Mr. Davis had returned with the Julia from Algoa 
Bay. On hearing that I intended once more to return to the 
amaMpondo and meant to be better prepared for the journey 
than on the former occasion, he volunteered to accompany me 
thither, that is, during such time as the sloop was being cleaned 
and put in order for her next voyage with the remainder of the 
party-the first portion having already gone off with Mr. 

Petersen. 
On this the second journey to the westward, after the 

necessary preparations had been made, I was accompanied by 
Mr. W. H. Davis, Joe (one of Mr. Farewell's servants) and two 
Hottentots. But when just about to start we found the loads 
rather too heavy for the two horses we were taking, so we were 
obliged temporarily to increase our party by three women 
obtained from the bush,1 to help carry the things. We, 
moreover, had with us two cows, a few salt fish, 12 pounds of 
rice, 15 pounds of biscuits, also some t ea and sugar. 

The first day's travelling brought us to Jo6e's Rocks. 
Jo6e, as had happened before, ran away as we approached, but 
returned on hearing that I was with the party. We slept at his 
place, and, resuming our former route the next morning, 
passed the night in the same bush as we had slept in on the 
preceding journey. The next day we reached Klaas's Flat , 
where we killed one of our cows. We rested in the hut we had 
formerly occupied, namely that in which we discovered Klaas 
and his family, but the woman and child had now deserted it . 
On moving forward the next morning, accompanied by Klaas, 
we came across two half-starved boys in the bush. We soon 
found ourselves surrounded on all sides by matungulu bushes, 
laden with fruit. This induced us t o take advantage of the 
opportunity by resting and refreshing the horses. 

After spending about two hours in collecting a plentiful 
supply of fruit to take with us, we journeyed on till the evening, 
when we bivouacked for the night close to a small stream. 
When preparing supper we discovered, to our great surprise, 
that there were no more biscuits, and on making a close enquiry 
among our people we learned to our great regret that while a 

1The word bush here , and in some other places, means the sylvan mode of 
existence to which thev had been reduced as the result of Shaka's wars.-

Editor. ' 
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number of us were engaged in picking fruit the others had 
eaten up the biscuits, some t en pounds in weight. The one who 
had been carrying the bundle at first declared that in the hurry 
of starting it had been left behind. The meat of the beast 
killed the day before had become putrid owing to having been 
tied up in leaves and carried on the peoples' heads on an ex­
cessively hot day. We, therefore, had to be very careful of 
what remained of our beef and rice, for previous to the killing 
of the cow we had been partaking only of fish and biscuits. 

On going forward the next morning we were joined by 
another woman carrier. In order to reduce the weight of the 
loads carried by the others, which included our clothes and 
bedding, we gave her the rice, t ea and sugar t o carry. My 
horse, which on the preceding day had become very fatigued, 
was now so exhaust ed that I was obliged to get off and lead 
him. After proceeding some distance, we came upon traces of 
cattle. On following the hoof marks we were soon brought in 
sight of the kraal the cattle belonged to ; no sooner did we get 
there than we came face to face with several men armed with 
shields and assegais and ready to attack us. 

Aware that our having come from Shaka would be dangerous 
to us if known, I simply told them that we were from a 
European settlement, subjects of King George, and anxious 
t o reach the amaMpondo. On finding us amicably disposed, 
they took us into their kraal. There was but one cow in the 
kraal; it belonged t o the headman, whose name was Mzo6oshi. 
As he and his adherents were living entirely on root s, there was 
no possibility of procuring from them provisions of any kind 
for our journey, and they said the distance still to be covered 
was very considerable. Mzo6oshi informed us that his chief 
resided about 20 miles from there, and that it wouldbe neces­
sary for us to visit him before we could proceed any further. 
We gladly took advantage of the opportunity of going there 
as it might afford us a chance of purchasing the provisions 
we needed for the rest of our journey. 

In the evening we were visited by Mbalijala and his 
followers ; this man 's kraal was but a short distance from that 
of Mzo6oshi. He was pointed out t o me as being the brother 
of their chief Mangcuku. After he sat for a few minutes in 
conversation with Mzo6oshi, the two parties combined and 
struck up a dance in honour of the occasion. They felt sure 
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that some great change in the country was imminent, t se;;:i~ 
that white people had now appeared among the~ . Up o a 

t th "d they had only heard of the existence of such mom en ey sai , · f th ls 
animals , Their forefathers had told them that i e veshse 

· t t any of us as ore that conveyed us across the sea were o pu bl" h d 
it was to be looked on as a sign that peace _would be esta is e 
throughout the land. They remained until after sunset. That 
night we once more reposed in a hut . 

When we awoke the next morning we found the people 
alread repared to accompany us to their ch~~£. After an 
early ir~akfast we left with Mzo6oshi, MbahJala and th~ 

. ·ty of their followers; they conducted us by a stony an ;:;~n route which caused a lot of pain owing to my ~hoes 
bein yin bad' order. The sun had already set when we arr~v~d. 
Mucf to our regret there was no better prospect of obtammg 
provisions here than at Mzo6oshi's, for the people had very 

few cattle. 
Mangcuku the chief, apparently about 25 years of a%e, 

made his ap~earance in the midst of his foll~wers, all be'.ng 
clad in their war-dresses. He paid us the compliment of h~vi~g 
their war song sung. When this had come to an en .' . e 
promised to renew his visit in the mornin_g to talk over deta;l:~n 

t . ·th the remainder of our Journey. On app Y g connec 10n WI bt · 
to Man cuku and on paying thereforl we were able to o am 

. g t ilk This milk proved to be a great luxury. a httle swee m . 
We decided to rest two days at this kraal. 

Whilst at the kraal, a messenger was sent to warn us _ to 
fasten securely at night the door of our hut , as on the precedmg 
ni ht leopards, which in that part of the country ~~re very 

f g . had carried off two women from a hut ad101mng ours. 
eroc10us, . k ·t d"d 

We accordingly took the precaution, and luc y 1 was we i 
d f ot more than half an hour afterwards we heard a 

o, or n 1· b t the hut we were in . finding all secure, leopard prow mg a ou . . ' I t 
he contented himself that night with seizmg a calf. twas _oo 
dark when we heard the calf bellow to attack the leopard ~th 

t f Uccess though we looked forward to ha vmg any prospec o s , · b 
the following morning. As soon as it ecame our revenge on · t 

d li ht we followed the leopard's track, and found him no ::re gthan two hundred yards from the kraal. The interpret er, 

'Not in money, but probably by bartering with beads. Editor. 
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Fire, shot it, the ball passing through the two shoulders; a 
second ball from me sealed its fate. When quite satisfied it was 
dead, the natives danced about in ecstasy of delight. They ran 
their assegais through and through the corpse to avenge the 
death of their companions. They then lifted the body on to 
their shoulders and carried it off; afterwards they danced 
round the criminal as he lay on the ground. The animal was 
then skinned and his hide placed on the cattle kraal fence and 
there allowed to rot. Such procedure took place in accordance 
with custom, for the hide was deemed to be unfit for use owing 
to the animal having devoured human flesh. To signify his 
pleasure at the death of the leopard, Mangcuku presented me 
with a cow and, as he clearly realised the superiority of our 
arms over theirs, he promised to reward me handsomely with 
cattle if I would join in an attack he proposed making on 
people living to the westward. Although I positively refused to 
comply, he would not be persuaded but that I refrained only 
because, by holding out, I anticipated the promise of a greater 
reward. 

As there appeared no hope of increasing our stock of 
pn;ivisions we now made arrangements for continuing our 
journey. I went into the cattle kraal to obtain milk I had 
already purchased by Mangcuku's orders, and for which I had 
already paid him. Finding the man who was there disinclined 
to give it, I took it by force. He immediately flew to his 
assegais, whereupon Mangcuku ran up, intervened and took 
him aside, away 'from where our interpreter was standing. 

From what the interpreter reported, I concluded that they 
were not well disposed towards us for having persist ed in 
refusing to join them in the intended attack. I thereupon 
endeavoured to convince them of the impropriety of our 
fighting people whom we did not even know, and who had not 
injured us in any way, adding that were we to take part in any 
such proceeding it would be at the risk of incurring our own 
King's serious displeasure. 

On leaving them, we took the cow Mangcuku had given me 
and returned to Mzo6oshi's kraal, where we slept. The cow was 
now slaughtered and part of its meat dried for use on the 
journey, the distance to be travelled being still unknown to us. 
We felt that the people we had just visited were not our best 
friends, and perceiving some difference between them and 

H 
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Mzo6oshi, who, however, possessed nothing he could give us, 
we determined to leave with him the only cow we had by way 
of making sure of having some food available on our return. 

We concluded that the people Mangcuku contemplated 
attacking were the amaMpondo, hence they could not be far 
off. Our dried meat, rice, t ea and sugar would therefore last 
until we got to them, when there would be a better chance of 
replenishing our stores for the return journey. Even to the 
last moment I could obtain no information as to where the 
amaMpondo lived. As often as I questioi:ied these p~ople, the!' 
replied simply by pointing to the other side of th~ r~ver. !his 
caused me to be somewhat suspicious as t o their mtenhons. 
As I could not depend on my horse for even a day's journey, I 
left it behind, and went forward on foot, though only aft:r 
coming to an understanding with my companion, Mr_. Davis, 
known as "ride and tarry." 1 On getting to the Umzimkhulu 
or Bloody River, however, Mr. Davis when crossing a gully 
so hurt his foot that, unable to walk, he was obliged to ri?e, 
hence he did the riding and I the tarrying, seeing the third 
horse was unable to do more than carry our bedding. 

We had just crossed the river when the interpret:r. in­
formed us that the woman the last to be engaged was missmg, 
together with the bundle she was ~arrying containing the whole 
of our rice, sugar and t ea, that is, all we had taken the pre­
caution of keeping in reserve in case of failure to procure 
supplies on ahead. We stopped and searched about for _her for 
some time, but without result . We then went on with our 
dried beef, but had not gone far before the boy who was 
carrying it also disappeared. Owing to his knowledge of the 
bush being better than our own he easily escaped. This further 
misfortune now left us entirely without provisions. 

In the course of our search for the boy, we found three 
men by the side of a river; they were living on roots and honey. 
They brought us three large pots of this food a~d we sat down 
and partook of it. We then held a c?nsultahon as to what 
course to pursue, seeing we were now without means or hope of 
subsistence. The question now was whether to return_t? Natal, 
without having accomplished the object of the exped1t_10n, and 
in doing that, risk being cut off by the people we had iust left, 

!\\°hereby one rides for a time, whilst his com panion walks, then Yice 
versa.-E dilor. 
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for we felt satisfied it was they who had induced our carriers to 
run off with the provisions, or to proceed on our journey. We 
thought it wiser to send Klaas back to fetch the cow we had 
left at Mzo6oshi's and await his return on the following day. 
This he faithfully promised to do. In the meantime we con­
tinued to live on the honey. But, owing to eating too heartily of 
it, we found ourselves in a manner stupified by it. We stayed 
where we were until the evening of the next day, without seeing 
any sign of Klaas. Next morning we discovered that our only 
remaining boy had absconded. 

After waiting till noon, without seeing anything of Klaas, 
we removed to the hut occupied by the men who were with us. 
We found it occupied by a large family. The headman was an 
elderly man apparently about 80 years of age. All the inmates 
were subsisting almost entirely on honey and roots, occasionally 
catching birds and scaring buck. In front of the principal hut 
was a patch of Indian corn not ten yards square. As they 
feared that, in our hungry state, we would be unable to resist 
the temptation of stealing, we were intreated not to touch the 
corn as the lives of the whole family depended thereon, for, 
should it be eaten by them or by others, Mbalija1a, who had 
heard of its existence, and had ordered it to be reserved for his 
own use, would put all of them to death. I assured Songomela 
that it would not be touched by us. 

Finding him to be a man of intelligence, I enquired as to 
the present state of the tribe and how it had been brought 
about. 

He informed me of the wreck of the Grosvenor and indicated 
where I could see its remains. He said he had heard from 
people who were present that the vessel had, for several hours, 
been drifting about in the neighbourhood before coming 
ashore. On the occasion on which he saw her, however, all the 
passengers, crew, etc., had left, except the blacksmith, who 
remained at the spot making assegais and copper rings for 
wearing round the neck. Some time afterwards Europeans 
arrived with waggons d awn by oxen, and proceeded as far 
as the Bloody River (Umzimkhulu). What seems to have 
attracted his attention most was the whip with which the 
bullocks were beaten, of this he gave a detailed description. 
They gave away blankets and beads to the natives, but he was 
unable to ascertain the real object of their visit . After stopping 
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a few days at the Bloody River, they returned westward by the 
route they had come by. 

Night came on, and yet no Klaas and no cow, so that we 
gave him up for dead. As only two of the women we had 
brought from Natal remained, and these were unable, for want 
of food, to carry our baggage, we decided to leave them at 
Songomela's to continue living on roots as they had been in the 
habit of doing. We, however, found it impossible to subsist on 
roots, hence, next morning we pursued a course along the beach 
in the endeavour to live, if possible, on mussels. Of these, on 
that day, we made a meal. We arrived at the habitation of 
Songomela's eldest son, Osiyana, where we obtained some 
honey. We continued our journey on the following morning. 

When about five miles from Osiyana's huts, and while 
breakfasting on a bed of oysters, Osiyana himself, with a party, 
overtook us, his intention b.eing to accompany us to the 
amaMpondo, where, if they could see any hope of peace, they 
proposed to live. We had not gone far before all but four of 
them were obliged to return on account of fatigue. They were 
nothing but skeletons. 

In the course of this day's tedious march we met several 
droves of elephants. We reached the Umthentu River, where 
we observed among the rocks something resembling the trunks 
of old trees; these had apparently become jammed in the 
crevices of the rocks. On examining them, we found them to 
be the trunks of trees which had petrified and become as hard 
as the solid rock by which they were held. We counted six 
of these trees. One or two had retained several of their largest 
branches, and showed the marks of such as had decayed. The 
knots and grain of the wood were still perfect. In breaking 
several pieces off by means of large stones, as much fire was 
produced as if the hardest flint had been struck. This induced 
us to look along the shore to see if these characteristics were 
general but found them in no other place than between the 
Umthamvuna and Umthentu Rivers and there only between 
the high and low water mark. 

At Umthentu we fed on mussels and slept in a cave among 
the rocks. By this time we all felt weak for want of better 
food, hence, on the following day, travelled about six miles, 
where we again fed on mussels. We slept at the Umsikaba 
River. On leaving there in the morning we soon arrived where 
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the wreck of the Grosvenor Indiaman had occurred. This we 
found was about one mile off St. Stephen's Point, and where it 
forms a very shallow bay. There were immense rocky 
precipices along the whole of the shore, in this part of the 
country, and, in the steepest portions thereof, the remains of 
the wreck were still to be seen. We waited there till low water 
when we counted five of her guns of large calibre (32-36~ 
pounders) and 86 pigs of iron ballast, scattered here and 
there about the rocks. Many of the pigs of ballast had so 
jammed in the crevices of the rocks as if designed to link them 
together, and this to a height of 30 to 40 feet above sea level. 
I suppose they must have been carried or floated there with 
parts of the wreck. On further search we came across a flat­
topped knoll covered with ballast laid on the ground with great 
regularity; this had evidently been placed there on purpose. 
In the belief that something had been buried on the spot, we 
removed the iron and began, weak as we were, to dig. After 
digging for some way down Osiyana told us the Indiaman's 
blacksmith had set up and worked at a forge on the spot. This 
made me desist from searching any more. I now proceeded to a 
river close by where I found the remains of an Indian barn boo 
chair, but, judging from its appearance, I was not satisfied that 
it had belonged to the wreck in question. 

As we t •avelled along we found an abundant supply of 
water from waterfalls. From knowledge of that part of the 
country, which I subsequently obtained, I was led to believe 
that the passengers and crew of the Grosvenor, who complained 
so much of the want of water, must have travelled close to the 
sea from a fear of being seen by the natives. In that case they 
would have come across very little water as many of the 
streams do not flow into the sea, but simply ooze into it through 
the sand, and those that do flow in are salt for a considerable 
way inland. 

After the searching we had done on this day we were greatly 
fatigued and our horses completely knocked up; moreover, our 
feet and legs were swollen in consequence of our shoes having 
quite worn out. On the following day, therefore, we could 
proceed only at a very slow rate. We made our breakfast off 
oysters. Osiyana informed us that we could not then be very 
far from the amaMpondo, but he was not at all sure of the 
distance. 

H l 
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At night we got to a wat erfall , where we rested. Finding 
ourselves next morning unable to proceed on account of weak­
ness we decided t o remain where we were for the whole of that 
day.' On going t o the rocks t o get shell fish, we saw a _man at a 
distance. He ran away, as indeed did all strangers, owmg t o not 
being accust omed t o see " white animals" like us. We saw 
that, physically speaking, we were not worse off than he was. 
Indeed, he even was more like a skelet on than we were. We 
caught him and enquired how much further we had to go to 
reach the amaMpondo. To our intense satisfaction, he said that 
by t ravelling at a moderate pace we would reach them by 
midday. This intelligence revived our spirits, and made us not 
feel so weak or suffer so much pain in our feet . After break­
fasting on such food as was available, we pushed on and passed 
a cave of sufficient capacity to shelter 50 men, with water, 
moreover, close by. About a mile beyond the cave, we found 
a long spar which, owing to its distance from where the wreck 
had taken place, we doubted if it had belonged to that vessel. 
The dist ance from there to the site of the wreck would have 
been about 25 miles. I noticed that the spar had been burnt 
through the middle in order to remove the iron; otherwise the 
timber was still quite good . 

We found the country about here to be different from that 
we had travelled over since leaving Natal. In and about Natal 
were to be found extensive flats, with bushes scattered about 
them. The country we were now in, however, was very hilly 
with immense forests, and containing the finest timber I had 
seen in that part of South Africa. 

About four o'clock, I picked up a piece of honey that had 
been thrown away by an amaMpondo. This I devoured with 
greater relish than anything I had ever eaten before. A few 
minutes afterwards, we came upon some cattle tracks and 
cow-dung. This delighted us all. Following these tracks we 
came in sight of three kraals, which appeared t o be but a short 
distance from us. To guard against causing t oo great a surprise 
to the people on entering their kraal, for we were declared t o be 
the first Europeans who had paid them a visit , I desired two 
of the four nat ives that then remained with us t o go to the kraal 
in advance and prepare the inmates · for our approach. We 
waited till they had sufficient time t o get there, then we 
followed. To our great surprise, after we had passed through 
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the intervening bush, longer than we had expected, we found 
our messengers sitting at the edge of it and close t o the kraal. 
On asking why they had not gone forward, they replied they 
were afraid because of their having brought us with them. 
As there was no time to lose, we entered the kraal and found 
a number of boys and girls engaged in dancing. On seeing us 
they immediately fled into the bush , whilst the men ran t o get 
their shields. On looking round for Fire, our interpreter, he 
was missing, and as I was unable to inform them from whence 
I had come, or of the object of our visit , and as, moreover, I 
wanted to show that I was well disposed t owards them, I gave 
several of the elder men some beads, and then asked for food. 
They brought me a pot of milk and asked me various questions, 
which , I understood plainly enough, had reference t o Shaka. 
As I was aware that they had recently been defeated by Shaka, 
I thought it wise to appear to know nothing about him, for 
had I admitted knowing their great enemy nothing I could 
afterwards say in self defence would have convinced them 
I was not one of his spies. On their frequently mentioning the 
name of Shaka, therefore, I pretended not to know what it was 
they referred to, merely pointing to my stomach and myself 
and repeating the word Shaka, as if I understood it to mean 
hunger. This device proved so successful that I was not again 
troubled with his name until the middle of the night when the 
interpreter arrived on the scene, the explanation as to his not 
having come sooner being it was on account of fatigue. The 
people of the kraal came with him t o my hut, when I at once 
t ook the opportunity of t elling the former that the object 
of our coming was to open a trade in ivory with their people ; 
that we had come from the Colony by sea , 1 and that having 
been in distress for want of provisions, had been a long time 
in search of their kraals. They appeared to be inclined to talk 
all night but I begged them to defer all further enquiry until 
the morning as we were then so tired. They therefore left us 
t o take the rest we so badly needed. 

My first step was to send messengers to their king, Faku, 
who lived 30 miles further on, to inform him of the object 

1That is , the Cape Colony. During the earlier part of the nineteenth 
century it was cust omary in other parts of South Africa t o refer , in ordinary 
conversation, t o the Cape Colony as simp ly the Colony or t he Old Colony. 
-Editor. 
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of our visit, and of my intention of returning to Natal before 
I could pay him a visit . 

After the messenger had been dispatched, I was presented 
with a cow by the chief of the amaNtusi tribe, Manya6a. This 
tribe was part of the amaMpondo nation. The cow was killed 
and the day was spent with our amaMpondo visitors in making 
various mutual inquiries. On the following morning we were 
awakened by the noise of the inmates of the kraal. They were 
getting ready to hunt some elephants that were near at hand. 
We accompanied the party. Each man carried as many as 
six or 12 assegais. Presently, they and their dogs approached 
the elephants. The dogs, by constantly barking, so attracted 
the elephants' attention as to afford the hunters an opportunity 
of coming close enough to throw their assegais. The first 
that was flung struck one of the animals' left shoulder. This 
hit, in accordance with custom, entitled the thrower to claim 
the tusks. The rest of the party then threw a shower of assegais. 
This process was repeat ed until the elephant became so ex­
hausted as to become an easier target to its assailants, who, 
creeping closer, whilst the dogs continued to keep the animal 
at bay, threw their assegais at it with greater force than before. 
When, at length, the elephant's strength failed he fell, crushing 
the bushes under him, and then died in a few minutes. The 
hunters now withdrew their assegais, almost as numerous as 
the quills of a porcupine. Another elephant was then attacked · 
and dispatched in like manner, except that it did not suffer 
its fate quite so t amely, for it twice chased the hunters during 
the assault. On seeing the second one fall, with no others near 
at hand, we returned to the kraal , leaving the hunters engaged 
in cutting their game in pieces. The three men who were with 
me, as well as Osiyana, when it was time to go, were not at 
all inclined to move from the elephant. 

Osiyana now said he was determined not to throw in his lot 
with the amaMpondo as he had intended to do, but to return to 
his home and await my return from Natal (as I had already 
led him to believe I would do) , when he would go and reside 
with me. After having done some business during the day, I 
told Manya6a I proposed to return to Natal on the following 
day, provided the messengers from Faku arrived in time. They 
did not, however, do so until the morning after, bringing with 
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them a cow as a present from the king, coupled with a request 
that I would soon return to his country. 

I purchased a calf, which was all that could be got for food 
on the road. This was killed before I left, but owing to their 
continual encroachments I was able to reserve very little. 
I therefore had to depend on the cow from Faku which I 
reckoned would be sufficient to keep us in provisions until we 
reached the Umzimkhulu. 

Having now completed our forward journey, 1 which at 
the outset we imagined would take only three or four days, we 
resolved to start at once on the return journey to Natal. We 
managed t o pass the first night in a cave near the River Umsi­
kaba, after partaking of the head of the calf, which was all that 
remained of the animal. As we intended to kill the cow at noon 
on the following day, we got away early in the morning of that 
day. On passing the mouth of a small stream, we saw a 
hippopotamus walking about on the beach. We off-saddled 
the two horses to give them a rest, then attempted to prevent 
the hippopotamus from getting to the sea, and so make it 
possible to stab him with our assegais. After half an hour's 
chase, however, we failed to do this, so returned to where we 
had left the horses. During our absence, it seems that one of 
them neighed and so frightened the cow that it ran off and got 
out of sight of its driver, Osiyana. We remained there all day 
searching about for what was our sole means of subsistence. 
But all our efforts proved futile, as the animal had evidently 
made off in an inland direction, where it was impossible to 
follow its spoor. We were, therefore, once more in the pre­
dicament of having to depend entirely on mussels. We 
decided to travel as far as we could during the night, and got 
as far as the Umthentu River, where we t ook an hour's rest . 
Mr. Davis now proposed that each of us should exert himself 
to the utmost to reach the Umzimkhulu, and that, in case 
anyone was unable to keep up through weakness or other cause, 
the rest of the party should not wait but go on without him. 
As the object of the proposal was to stimulate everyone to do 
his best , it was agreed to . 

1Apparently the author did not reach the Umtata River, as in his evidence 
before the Native Affairs Commission 1852-3 he says he did do: There is, 
however, no doubt that he did reach it when he made his second journey. 
-Editor. 
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When we had walked about 15 miles, I saw some bush 
Kaffirs near our route. I went up to them-Mr. Davis and Joe, 
however, passed them and continued to go ahead. I found the 
head of one of them covered with wounds recently inflicted. 
This led to my asking how they had been caused. He said he 
had been at Umzimkhulu and been beaten by Umbalijala, 
brother of Mangcuku, for having, as they presumed, shown us 
the way to the amaMpondo. I was sorry it was not in my 
power to compensate for the injuries that had been done him 
on our account . Those with him had already washed the 
wounds with herbs. I told them I would be coming back again 
when I would remove him from his present position. During 
the half-hour I was with them I overlooked the arrangement 
come to in the morning. As soon as it occurred to me, I 
marched on quickly. Fire and Osiyana remained to beg for 
tobacco and I expected they would soon follow. After going 
some distance without seeing either Mr. Davis or Joe, I 
quickened my pace; following the horses' track, until I came 
to the River Umphenjathi. But this river, between the time 
at which Davis and Joe haa crossed it and my reaching it, 
had swollen so much on account of the tide as to be impassable. 
As there were no signs of Fire and Osiyana coming on, and 
being alone, I concluded they had most likely gone to Osiyana's 
kraal, which, I recollected, must now be close at hand. I went 
:n search of it but, through its being in the centre of the bush, 
I could not find it. I met a girl of about 8, and called to her, 
feeling sure she belonged to Osiyana's kraal. But, through fear 
of conversing with a human being other than those she lived 
with in the bushes, she ran away, whilst I remained for a time, 
without hope of seeing anyone. This continued until I had 
crossed the river, after which I proceeded along Mr. Davis's 
track as fast as the famished state in which I was could allow. 
After walking about 20 miles, I overtook them at the Imbizane 
River. They were having a strong argument as to which road 
was the best to go by. Joe, an old sailor, refused to go any­
where else than along the beach, which he was confident 
would, some time or other, bring him to the Umzimkhulu, where 
he would find Mzo6oshi's kraal. Mr. Davis and I recognised, 
on the other side of the river, the route we had before used, 
hence we walked through the bush until we came to our old 
track. There we found a man lying asleep. I caught hold of 
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him. On waking, he was greatly surprised, and, making sure 
he would be put to death, he attempted to run. We pacified 
him and showed him some beads. After a great deal of trouble, 
owing to the absence of our interpreter we managed to make 
him understand we wanted to find the way to Songomela's 
kraal, adding that if he would conduct us there he should have 
the beads we had shown him. He then went along with us. 
It was after sunset when we arrived at S,angomela's kraal. 
We found the two women we had left there on our forward 
journey. These now rejoined the party. We pushed on in the 
evening towards Mbalijala's, at the risk of obtaining there only 
the scantiest supply of food, rather than eat the intoxicating 
roots which were all Songomela had to offer; that is unless we 
took their small piece of corn, with the esult that, after our 
departure, and when we were unable to protect them. they 
would be immediately put to death by Mbalijala. Having 
tightened our stomach bands, to prevent feeling extreme pangs 
of hunger, and after drinking water at every brook we came to, 
we arrived at Mbalijala's kraal. Had this kraal been but a 
short distance on, it would have been impossible for us to reach 
it. As it was, we had travelled from about five in the morning 
to twelve at night, covering a distance of not less than 70 miles. 
Such a feat could not possibly have been achieved if we had had 
food to subsist on. It was hunger and hope that drove us on. 

We waited some time before the gate was opened for us by 
an elderly man. He gave us a hut to sleep in whilst I went to 
that of Mbalijala's mother. Mbalijala himself was away on 
war service against a tribe inland of the amaMpondo. On 
attempting to enter the hut to procure some milk, the door was 
shut in my face, and I was ordered to remain outside. No 
entreaties would induce them to let me in. I then took off 
a handkerchief that was tied round my neck and gave it to 
the old man who had opened the gate, begging him to let me 
have some milk. I also gave him a snuff-box (worked over 
with beads), being all I had, upon which they gave me some 
milk in a pot-cover, which held no more than a pint. As I 
saw no hope of getting more, Mr. Davis and I drank it, which 
however, left us as badly off as if we had had none at all. 

Our bedding had remained behind with Fire, and as we 
were unable to obtain a mat at the kraal, we lay down on the 
bare floor, with some firewood as a pillow. Hard though our 
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circumstances were, we managed to sleep soundly until eight 
o'clock, when we determined at all risks to seize their milk as 
soon as the cows had been milked. We waited till eleven o'clock 
to carry out the intention, only to discover that the cattle had 
been t aken into the bush and there milked-on purpose to 
prevent our seizing it-just as if they had been aware of our 
intentions. I then entered a hut where I saw two calabashes 
of milk. On going for a pot to put it in, I left Mr. Davis to 
keep watch at the door and prevent it being removed. On 
returning, however, I found the calabashes had already been 
passed out of the hut- through an opening at the back of it.1 
All our attempts to obtain milk having thus been frustrated, we 
went across the Umzimkhulu feeling as faint as we could 
without actuall~ falling. Nor was there any ground for hoping 
we should receive more favourable treatment at Mzo6oshi's 
kraal, as we suspected that long before then the boy Klaas, 
whom we had sent for the cow we had left at that kraal, had 
been killed by the inmates. As Mzo6oshi's was only about 
two miles off, we got there in about an hour's time. Mzo6oshi, 
too, we, were informed, was away fighting. We asked the 
mistress of the kraal for milk. She gave us two large pots of it 
and produced also the cow we had left with them, as well as 
my horse. And so we became much more hopeful. 

We enquired about the boy Klaas. They said he had been 
killed by them, but had not asked for the cow. He had been 
caught i_n t_h~ bush below the kraal, after stealing some assegais 
.and cunos1hes I had left at Mzo6oshi's. As we knew nothing 
:more about him than his having travelled with us part of the 
way, we could not do otherwise than accept what they told 
us as being correct. We then killed the cow, and satisfied our 
hunger. The only anxiety that now remained was in regard 
to our absent followers. 

After inquiry, we ascertained that as soon as we had left 
that part of the country (on our forward journey) the tribe, 
under Mangcuku, called the amaNdulo had immediately gone 
inland to attack the amaMpondo, which accounted for Mbali­
jala's and Mzo6oshi's present absence. 

We rested the night at the kraal, then resolved to wait for 
those we had left behind, and at the same time dry some beef 

1 Under normal conditions Zulu huts have no opening at the back.-Editor. 
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for the journey. In the meantime, towards evening, Fire made 
his appearance in company with the two women who had 
rejoined us at Songomela's kraal, whilst Joe arrived about the 
middle of the night. Both were too weak to go in the morning. 
Nevertheless, we proposed to start, and as my horse was fresh, 
Mr. Davis and I arranged to " ride and tarry," leaving Joe, 
Fire and the two women to come on with the dried beef as well 
as they could. We made an early start, taking with us only 
as much beef as was sufficient for the remainder of the journey. 
But we had not gone far before we lost it all, together with my 
hat and green hide shoes, while crossing at high tide. 

We now felt that such a disaster as losing our provisions 
could not be repeated, for, between there and Port Nat al, no 
supplies of any kind were procurable. We therefore pushed on 
as fast as possible. Late in the evening the darkness compelled 
us to put up for the night just where we were, but we had not 
been asleep for more than two hours when we were awakened 
by wolves attacking my one-eyed horse on his blind side. 
I gave Mr. Davis two brass arm rings to jingle together and, 
with the help of firebrands and a sword, we at length managed 
to drive them away. This caused us to get on the move. 
We afterwards called the hill we had slept at "Wolf's H ead." 
When we left there it was with the intention of not again 
resting until we had reached the port, that is with the exception 
of halting to obtain mussels. These, indeed, we were able to 
get in the middle of the day, but so poor as to be fit only for the 
consumption of hungry travellers like ourselves. When we 
had somewhat refreshed ourselves we walked on until we got 
to Jo6e's hut. Of him we hired a man to carry our blankets, 
for the doing of which I gave him two brass rings I had brought 
from Mzo6oshi's kraal. The roots the natives lived on were so 
bad that we could not manage to eat them. We were now 
obliged to proceed on foot as the horse was much too tired to 
go on. We continued to travel until darkness prevented our 
going any further, but we rested on a hill which brought us 
within view of Natal. From there we intended to proceed 
when the moon rose. I woke just at that time and roused 
Mr. Davis, also the man I had got from Jo6e. The latter, 
however, proposed sleeping a little longer , that is, until the 
moon had got well up. Still feeling .the want of sleep, we again 
lay down and fell into a deep slumber, from which we did not 
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wake till daylight. We then found the carrier's reason for 
wishing us to lie down again was simply to afford him an 
opportunity of escaping, owing to the fear of the Zulus, who, 
as he knew, lived with us at Port Natal. We resumed the 
journey in an extremely weak and famished condition, and 
in addition had to carry the blankets ourselves. We were, 
however, soon obliged to throw the blankets away. The 
immense quantities of water we drank had the effect of so 
exhausting us as to prevent our arriving at Mr. Farewell's 
house until late in the day and, as may be conjectured, in a 
most miserable condition. He was absent. It seems that, 
having taken provisions with him in the boat, he had gone 
down the Bay in the hope of meeting us, as he had heard of our 
approach from natives that had seen us that morning. 

All were greatly surprised on seeing us again as they had 
long given us up for dead. Joe, Fire and the women arrived 
safely two days later. 

Chapter VIII 

AFTER resting a few days at Natal, I went off again on a 
visit to Shaka, who, as before, was angry at my proceed­
ings, assuring me that the visiting of strange nations 

would ultimately ruin me. Business being my object, in a few 
days I returned to Natal, and from thence went off again to the 
amaMpondo, for the purpose of forming a trading establish­
ment there. Having taken every precaution, in the way of 
provisions and other respects, before starting as well as en route, 
to obviate the dangers and distress I had experienced on the 
former expedition, I reached my destination in due course 
without difficulty or happening upon anything worth relating, 
except the having come upon and rescued a number of people 
when almost at the point of death, through having tried to 
appease their hunger by consuming injurious poisonous roots. 
I stayed only two days with the amaNtusi tribe, an advanced 
division of the amaMpondo, then proceeded on to King Faku's 
kraal. 

After having waited two hours for an interview, exposed to 
an oppressive sun, I was directed to a hut; an ox was presently 
brought there for our consumption. 
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In the morning the representatives of the nation kept on 
assembling until about eleven. I was then requested to attend 
and did so, only to realise that I was to be put on trial under 
what appeared to me difficult and dangerous circumstances. 
I was accused of being employed by Shaka as a spy. The proofs 
adduced against me were three. First, that I could not have 
come from the eastwards without having been sent by Shaka, 
it being asserted that there were no Europeans in that direc­
tion ; secondly, they had seen me use salt, which they had never 
heard of as being found anywhere except near the River 
Thukela, which is in the very heart of Shaka's country; thirdly, 
Shaka was said to be of white extraction, therefore I was 
probably one of his relations. 

I made the best possible defence I could, placed, as I was, 
under the most awkward circumstances. I assured them I had 
come from the Colony in a vessel and expressed my deepest 
indignation at being suspected of being engaged in the con­
temptible office of a spy. Nevertheless, during such time as 
the trial lasted, I expected to be condemned. As each of those 
present had the right of interrogating me, the case was not 
concluded until four o'clock. I had no sooner replied to one 
man than another stood up and repeat ed the same questions. 
At length, the charges were dropped and, after Faku had 
received from me a present of beads, I proceeded to the par­
ticular business I had come upon. After this visit to Faku, 
which lasted two days, I returned to the amaNtusi tribe to 
set up there a trading station for the purchase of ivory. 

When this had been arranged, I made an excursion along 
the coast, crossing the Umzimvu6u or St. John's River at its 
mouth. Leaving Faku's kraal inland about 15 miles, I crossed 
the Umgazi River, where I heard of another man called Faku, 
who was said to be of European extraction. I sent for him 
and remained until his arrival at the kraal of Mbalawa, a 
petty chief of the Red Kaffir (Bomvana) tribe. This man was 
said to have recently killed a European whose name, however, 
I was unable to ascertain. On the expiration of two days 
Faku arrived, when I found him t o be the son of the blacksmith 
of the Grosvenor, a man whom the natives called uM6ethi. 1 

· lThe author writes Umbate, but the last Jetter is evidently meant for i a s 
indeed often the case when he writes other word s ending in i, e.g. izinkabi , 
spelt by him incarbe.-E di/oi' . 
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He informed me that several descendants of Europeans lived 
near him. This induced me to accompany him to his home. 
The first kraal that called for notice was that of Maju6ana, a 
man fully 50 years of age, tall and of a copper colour. His father, 
Ndapha,1 lived a mile away. Owing to the fact that he, to~, 
had European blood in him, I deci.ded to proceed ~o Faku s 
kraal and bring them all together m order to obtam all the 
information I could. The number of people in whom I traced 
European descent was--. 2 

Ndapha, the chief of that part of the country, w.as the son 
of an English lady, whom they called Dawa. and said to h~ve 
been remarkably handsome. I could obtam no further m­
formation than that she had come from the eastward and would 
not consent to live with her husband if he retained the women 
he had already married. He consented to put them as~de. 
She had but one son, Ndapha, now the father of a large family; 
she used to dress in native costume, twisting or plaiting her 
hair into cords which ext ended to her waist, and covered, or 
rubbed over with red clay. It was on account of her extreme 
beauty that, even to this day, the people when reciting her 
eulogies use the expression, "Izinkaoi zikaDawa," i.e. the 
oxen of the white lady. 

My present host, Faku, was the son of M6ethi, the black­
smith of the Grosvenor, who, after the passengers and crew had 
gone off in different directions i~ the hop~ ?f reaching some 
European settlement, remaine_d m the :71cimty of th~ wreck 
and employed himself in makmg assega1s and brass rmgs for 
the natives. By these means he accumulated a few head of 
cattle, when he took a native woman to wife. By her he had 
one daughter and one son, namely, Faku. It, however,. so 
happened that Faku's mother, when pregnant, was earned 
off by a wandering tribe that had come from the. east. ~he 
was taken to the Umtata River, where the Faku m quest10n 
was born. 

From other sources I ascertained that the father was in 
despair on account of the loss of his wife. H e_ resided fo~ a 
time among the amaXolo 3 tribe, near the .umz1mk~ulu, with 
his daughter, and built a canoe for explormg the nver. He, 

ispelt Umdaper in MS. 
2Left blank in MS. 
SMS. has Amacholues. 
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however, failed to proceed far up because of the beds of rocks 
that extend across it. Leaving his daughter (who was after­
wards married to a native blacksmith), he went off in an 
inland direction, from whence, soon afterwards, news was 
received of his death by the amaXolo. His daughter was 
killed in 1823 in the general slaughter of the surrounding 
peaceful nations by Shaka. Faku is still living, he has a large 
family and possesses a few cattle. 

The next to arrive was Mornegal, the eldest of four brothers; 
he is the son of Kapa. 1 Kapa was a cooper who made tubs, 
tables and stools for his own use, also trousers and hats of 
hide. He told his son Mornegal that his ·(Kapa's) father was 
called J effrey. Kapa had died but five months previous to 
my arrival. It would appear, from the account given to 
Mornegal by his fa~her, that the latter, at one time, must have 
been a slave of European extraction; for he informed his son he 
was sitting on the rocks picking shell-fish when he was seized 
by some sailors, put on board a vessel and "fastened, " then 
t aken off to where the ship was wrecked. 2 Mornegal, though 
black, has a countenance strongly resembling that of a 
European. 

The next to arrive-from the eastward-was Peter, evi­
dently of Malabar caste. He was a man of about 80 and spoke 
good Dutch. He pretended to have been wrecked on the coast 
some years back. At first he concluded I was going to take 
him to the Colony, where he would become a slave, but after 
his fears had been dispelled, through our getting to know one 
another better, he confessed he was a run-away slave of the 
Cape Colony, where he must have lived for about 20 years. He 
had a son of about that number of years and a daughter of 
18, with several other children. He said his master at the Cape 
was Hendrick Fleck. 

The next was also a slave from the Colony, Jantze Lapoot, 
whose master had been Baas Konier. He had run away from 
Uitenhage, to Kaffirland, but was retaken. H e made a second 
and more successful attempt to escape, when he came on to 
this place. Biales, of whom I have only hearsay knowledge, 

1MS. has Capa. 
2Tha t is, in that part of the Cape Colony the author was now visiting. 

-Editor. 
l 
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was a European. He had died some time back, leaving a son 
named Julwjela, 1 whom I did not see. 

After compensating these people for their trouble, I left 
with the intention of paying Hintza, 2 chief of the next tribe, a 
visit. Peter had already invited me to put up at his kraal, 
where he said he would provide me with bread, which at that 
time was very scarce. I promised, in the presence of Faku, t o 
visit him, for his kraal was on my way. Peter had not been 
gone many minutes before Faku warned me to be particularly 
careful as to what I ate, as there were people in that part of 
the country who used poison, but would not explain from 
whom or where I was likely to experience such treatment. 

Faku accompanied us on the following morning to Peter's 
kraal. Fourteen loaves, which corresponded exactly with the 
number of our party, were put before me. One of these, larger 
than the rest, was pointed out by Pet er as intended for me as 
the principal, the smaller ones were for the other members of 
the party. F aku immediat ely helped himself to one of the 
smaller ones. This induced me to follow his example. Peter, 
observing that I had taken one of the smaller ones, made some 
remark about having taken some trouble to please me; but 
I, however, pacified him by alluding to the necessity of having a 
loaf to eat on the journey, adding that I intended reserving the 
larger one for that purpose . I accordingly ordered it to be 
packed up, but, not having an opportunity of examining it, 
threw it into the first river we came to . I now passed on with 
Faku to the Umtata River, 3 where I visited a petty chief 
called Ngathane,4 who was preparing for an attack on a 
neighbouring kraal. He presented me with an ox, but as Faku 
again urged me to be cautious as to what I ate, without giving 
any idea as to where I should suspect foul play, I concluded he 
was aware of some design on my life. In these circumstances, 
I decided t o return t o the amaNtusi tribe. 5 Faku accompanied 
me. I rewarded him for his attentions. 

On returning to the amaNtusi, and during my somewhat 
lengthy stay there, I had an opportunity of observing the 

1MS. has J ugugaler. 
2MS. has E inza. 
3MS. has Umtarte River . 
' MS. has Ingatarne. 
6MS. has Amantucens. 
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custom of circumcision. Boys of 13 and upwards who have 
not been circumcised are annually collected in each neighbour­
hood. The man whose business it is to perform the operation 
lives apart from everyone else, his hut being generally a 
short distance from those of the rest. H e uses for the purpose 
an assegai which he sharpens on a rough stone. This is done 
that the blade may become more like a saw than otherwise, its 
roughness being supposed t o accelerate the cure. After each 
boy has undergone the operation, the parts are washed with an 
infusion of roots of a cooling nature. Each now puts on a dress 
specially prepared for the occasion and occupies a hut in which 
he and the others live apart from all relations and friends. In 
such locality the neophyt es live from one to six months, food 
being brought them during that time from their respective 
homes. The dress is made of a kind of flaggy grass,1 tied in 
bunches and is intended to cover nearly the whole body, the 
face being painted with clay. 

The lads amuse themselves principally with dancing. At 
the end of their period of segregation they are deemed to have 
arrived at the state of manhood, hence entitled to engage in 
courtship, become married, etc. 

[We propose to introduce here the following incident which 
no doubt occurred in connection with the present journey 
(forward or return) and inadvertently omitted by the author 
from his MS.-Editor. 

Captain J. S. King, in his "Account of Mr. Farewell's 
Settlement at Port Natal and of a visit to Shaka," 2, after 
referring to the author (H. F. Fynn) as having undauntedly 
penetrated fo rests, passed through nations, and frequently 
with no other than black companions, proceeds: " Several 
a ttempts have been made on this gentleman's life, one of which 
is worthy of remark. Being a few miles distant from a tribe, 
he sent a messenger to say he was friendly, and would advance. 
No sooner had they received this intelligence than people 
were dispatched to kill him while asleep. However, the chief 
who had this task to perform, finding to his surprise that he 
only differed in colour from themselves, said : ' I am comman­
ded by my chief to put an end to you, as no white creatures 

'A grass with sword-shaped leaves, usua lly growing in moist situa tions. 
-Edi.tor. 

2South African Commercial Advertiser, 11th July, 1826. 
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are allowed to enter his territory. But I see you are equal to us, 1 

therefore feel yourself secure, at least from the weapon which is 
in my hand.' Regardless of the remonstrances of the savage, 
Mr. Fynn insisted on making his way to the nation, which he 
accomplished, and was tolerably well received. He naturally 
felt much attached to those who thus spared his life, and 
they are now living under Mr. Farewell."] 

After I had resided with the amaNtusi tribe for about 
four months, whilst on one of the excursions I made from there 
to the Umzimvu6u River, I heard of a European who passed 
among the natives under the name of Calamaish. I tried to 
ascertain his whereabouts but found he had returned to the 
Colony from whence he had come. He afterwards proved to 
be a Mr. Thackwray, a Kaflir trader. During the various 
excursions I made in this part of the country I visited most of 
the tribes living eastward of the Umtata. 

Nine months had now elapsed since I left Natal. During the 
last four, having worn out every article of European manu­
facture, and no others being procurable, I was reduced to the 
necessity of wearing skins. A report was now in circulation 
among the natives that spies had been seen inland of the 
amaMpondo, supposed to have come from Madikane, a maraud­
ing tribe. A few days afterwards a letter arrived from Mr. 
Farewell to inform me that Shaka's spies were in my neigh­
bourhood, that Shaka had frequently inquired after me, and 
that he intended to attack the amaMpondo . This, therefore, 
would make it necessary for me to remove my establishment, 
goods, etc. , and to pay him a visit. This was all the more 
necessary as the correspondence which was taking place 
between Mr. Farewell and myself was causing great suspicion 
in the minds of the amaMpondo; they imagined it related to 
them and Shaka. I therefore, returned to Natal for the 
purpose of paying Shaka a visit. 

[This volume is not so well provided with illustrations that 
we can afford to omit a vivid pen sketch of the author from 
the hand of his friend and partner, Nathaniel Isaacs. He is 
before us at the very moment of return to Natal, itself then, by 
the way, in a nascent and very humble state of civilization, 
after one of his memorable journeys to Pondoland. If ever 

1That is, like us in all respects except colour, for by that time he was able 
to converse in their language.-Editor. 
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South Africa could boast of a Robinson Crusoe of her own, as 
affable, shrewd, politically sagacious, courageous and large­
heart ed as Defoe's, here is one to life : 

"In the afternoon [15th October, 1825], Mr. Fynn arrived 
from the country of the Amampontoes [amaMpondo], a tribe 
inhabiting the banks of the St. John's River, a distance of 
about 200 miles from Natal. This gentleman had been trading 
with the natives and had collected a great quantity of ivory. 
For eight months he had separated himself from his solitary 
companion, Mr. Farewell, and had associated solely with the 
people with whom he sojourned. We sat attentively to hear 
him detail his adventures- the many vicissitudes he had 
endured, and the obstacles with which he had contended, not 
only in having been often without food, and ignorant where to 
seek it, but in daily terror of being destroyed by wild animals, 
or massacred by savage natives. He had from necessity 
assumed the costume of the latter ·while with them, but re­
sumed his own on his return to his habitation. It is almost 
impossible to convey a correct idea of the singular appearance 
of this individual when he first presented himself. Mr. Fynn 
is in stature somewhat tall, with a prepossessing countenance. 
From necessity his face was disfigured with hair, not having an 
opportunity of shaving himself for a considerable time. His 
head was partly covered with a crownless straw hat; and a 
tattered blanket, fastened round his neck by means of strips 
of hide, served to cover his body, while his hands performed the 
office of keeping it round his ' nether man '; his shoes he had 
discarded for some months, whilst every other habitment had 
imperceptibly worn away, so that there was nothing of a piece 
about him. He was highly beloved by the natives, who looked 
up to him with more than ordinary veneration, for he had often 
been instrumental in saving their lives, and in months,of pain 
and sickness had administered to their relief. About a hundred 
had attached themselves to him, so much so that they were 
inseparable." 1 

'Isaacs, Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, I, 39. Of this work and 
~.he extract above Mendelssohn, South African Bibliography, I, p. !xii, writes : 

What a romance, to be sure, is the first settlement of Natal. To me at least 
the Travels of Nathaniel Isaacs is as fascinating as Robinson Crusoe .. .. Even 
Defoe imagined nothing more wholly satisfying to the adventurous mind than 
Fynn . .. 

l l 
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Let us now stand aside for Fynn himself to go on with 
his narrative.] 

During my absence from Port Natal, I 'ound that two 
vessels had t ouched there, the Salisbury, brig, on a trading 
voyage to the southward and eastward, and the t ender of the 
L even, commanded by Lieutenant Hawes, attached to the 
surveying squadron of Captain Owen, then engaged in surveying 
the African coast. 

After remaining a few days at Natal in order to rest, I aga!n 
visited Shaka. I was much gratified at the kind manner in 
which he received me. Nothing of importance had happened in 
Shaka's country during my ab_sence, except the death of 
Zwide, King of the Ndwandwes-Shaka's principal enemy; 
his son, Sikhunyana, had succeeded him. 

When Shaka heard that the ivory I had purchased among 
the amaMpondo had been left there, he accommodated me with 
60 men to bring it to atal, a distance of more than 200 miles. 
It was·, of course, understood that I myself would accompany 
the carriers, but as these people were so entirely unacquainted 
with carrying loads of this description I succeeded in getting 
only part of the ivory to Natal. It was owing to the presumed 
loss of the J ulia-nothing having been heard of her for 11 
months, that is, since she sailed from Natal-that it became 
necessary to transport the ivory by carriers to Natal. The 
arrangement previously arrived at had been that, on her voyage 
back from Algoa Bay, the J ulia would touch at the amaMpondo 
for the ivory and afterwards convey it to the Colony. In con­
sequence of her being unavailable, and of my having, therefore, 
to depend on carriers, several journeys were necessary before 
the whole of the ivory could be removed. 

While I was conducting the remaining portion of the ivory 
to Natal I heard of the wreck of the brig Mary. 1 Lieutenant 
King,~ who had been told by Lieutenant Hawes of our being 
greatly in need of a vessel, volunteered to come · to our 
assistance, but owing to the foregoing tragic occurrence he was 
only partially able to assist us, that is from supplies recoveFed 
by him from the wreck. 

10n the outer northern beach at Port Natal, 1st October, 1825.-Editor. 
20wner of the Mary.-Editor. 
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Lieutenant King, though owner of the Mary, had come as a 
passenger. The sailing master, was a Mr. Hutton, formerly a 
ship-builder. As he had brought all the tools necessary for 
ship-building in the Mary, King decided on building a vessel 
at Port Natal. Some of the crew, however, with the mate, 
were determined to return to Port Elizabeth in one of the 
boats. As they showed every disposition to mutiny, King 
provided them with a boat and provisions and allowed them 
to go. 

On the mate entering the boat, with those of the crew who 
were leaving with him, he asked them who was to take com­
mand of the boat. The unanimous answer was that he should 
do so. He replied: " Then let my first order be obeyed. Let 
all spirits be thrown overboard." This was immediately done, 
whereupon the boat crossed the bar, and after landing at three 
different places along the coast, reached Port Elizabeth safely 
on the fifth day. 

As I was watching the boat go over the bar, I picked up 
from the wreck a pamphlet which I eagerly read as it contained 
a description of an elephant that had been shot at Exeter 
Change by a regiment of Horse Guards. The large number of 
balls fired before it fell was also given. The description rather 
damped my expectations, for, of course, one of our principal 
objects in coming to Natal was to procure ivory by shooting 
elephants. 

On hearing of the wreck of the Mary, Shaka requested the 
whole European party to pay him a visit, Farewell, King, 
Isaacs, King's friend, and I, together with the t en remaining 
men of the crew. 1 We accordingly proceeded t o Shaka's 
kraal, some 140 miles from Port Natal. 2 Shaka sent a four­
horned bullock to meet us. He received us in a most affable 
manner and gave us two oxen to slaughter. We managed to 
pitch our marquee and tents by sunset. Shaka then sent for 
me. I was taken into his seraglio. This was now his regular 
practice whenever I visited him, and he rarely ever allowed 
me to leave before twelve or one o'clock, owing to the intense 
interest he took in the different subjects he questioned me 

'Isaacs did n ot visit Shaka on this occasion ; he remained behind to take 
charge of Farewell's establishment.-Isaacs, Travels and Adventures in 
Eastern Africa, I, 50 . 

2The journey began on 26th October, 1825.-Editor. 
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about . On the evening in question he amused himself by 
treating with ridicule the power of European firearms, urging 
that native assegais were far superior. I contended that, with 
our guns, we could kill elephant, sea-cow, buffalo and all other 
kinds of game, as well as the birds of the air, and do so at a 
distance their assegais could not reach. He, however, persisted 
in his argument until I retired to rest. Dancing and feasting 
occupied the morning of the following day; at midday we 
retired to our marquee. About an hour later a messenger 
appeared to say that Shaka required our immediate presence 
with our guns, as a troop of elephants was close at hand. I 
immediately went to the King and begged him not to require 
us to shoot the animals as the guns we had were fit only for 
killing birds and small game. I told him that the one used for 
shooting elephants was of a larger kind. I merely got laughed 
at for my pains and on being reminded of the conversation of 
the previous evening, found there was no alternative but to 
comply. He insisted on our going, so off we went. Our army 
was eight to ten strong. We had among us only three f~wling 
pieces, two blunderbusses and four muskets. I must say 1t was 
fully in expectation of being afterwards laughed at by every.­
one that we reluctantly set forth on this venture. We arranged 
among ourselves to approach to within 40 yards of the animals, 
then t o fire a volley with no other hopes than that the elephants 
would turn and make off. It was evident, as we proceeded 
in the direction of the elephants, that the several Zulu regiments 
that accompanied us depended solely on our efforts, or , at least , 
were determined not to use their own weapons until we had 
failed . We had travelled about half an hour when we suddenly 
came upon a troop of 16 elephants. We marched slowly and 
cautiously towards them, but as we were manoeuvring to get 
within the distance we had dedded upon one of the sailors 
suddenly fired at the nearest bull. To the astonishment of the 
Zulus and our own far greater astonishment, the elephant 
dropped dead. It was some time before we could satisfy our­
selves of the fact as to how such a thing could have occurred, 
for in those days it was considered almost impossible t o kill 
with leaden balls. Shaka's const ernation was great , and he 
admitted that our weapons were superior to his own. 

On examining the elephant, we found the bullet had pene­
trated the ear. It was a mere chance shot. The sailor was 
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certainly not accustomed to using a gun, he had no more 
knowledge of shooting than sailors usually possess, nor had he 
ever seen an elephant before. 

In the evening, when again conversing with Shaka, in the 
seraglio, he asked me who had the right to the elephant tusks. 
Owing to the knowledge I had by that time acquired of his 
character, I foresaw the object of the question and replied that 
while we had shot the elephant, we could not forget that we 
had done so at his residence, as his guests. The tusks were, 
therefore, at his disposal. This answer gave him great pleasure, 
whereupon he immediately said we could take them. 

The day after this occurrence Shaka requested me to attend 
his grandmother, who was dangerously ill with dysentery and 
fever. I accordingly went to see her. As her age was about 
80, I saw no hope of recovery, and candidly t old the King my 
fears. He requested me to put a white shirt on her. I did so. 
He then began t o cry bitterly. Jacob, the interpreter , t old me 
of Shaka's great affection for his grandmother. When she 
happened to visit him he frequently washed her eyes and ears 
which were in a sad st at e because of her age; he also pared her 
nails and otherwise treated her as a father might his child. 
We could hardly believe that a man of an apparent unfeeling 
disposition could be possessed of such affection and con­
sideration for others. Further observation, however, convinced 
us that this was indeed the case. 

The following evening, while we were sitting with him
7 

he was informed that she was dead. He remained fo r some 
moments in deep contemplation . His feelings then seemed to, 
overpower him. He burst out crying and did so aloud. This set 
the whole of the people in a stat e of uproar, which continued 
for about an hour. The great Zulu song was then chanted . 
The immense number that took part in the singing, the late­
ness of the evening, and the mournful solemnity of the tune, 
were sufficient to depress the spirits of the stoutest hearts. 
After the singing had gone on for about an hour, the crying 
was repeated and kept up all night; it continued also on the 
following day. The inmates of the surrounding kraals arrived 
in hundreds to join with the others in expressing their common 
sorrow. The mourning came to an end at sunset. When things 
appeared to be tranquil again, we returned to Natal, only for 
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me, however, in a few days to undertake yet another journey 
t o the south-west. 

During my absence in the Pondo country the brig of war, 
H elicon, arrived . Mr. King t ook the opportunity of returning 
in her to the Cape. I heard this while still on my journey . 

Chap ter I X 

\\ / / HEN I next returned t o Shaka's kraal, May, 1826, I W saw Somaphunga, 1 brother of Sikhunyana, 2 then king 
of the Ndwandwe tribe. Somaphunga, afraid of being 

put t o death by his brother, had escaped and come to t ender 
his allegiance to Shaka. H e, moreover, gave such information 
to the King as could not possibly have b~en obtained by 
means of spies. 

I had not been at the port many days before messengers 
arrived from Shaka to call all hands, white as well as black, to 
resist an attack which was momentarily expected on Shaka's 
kraal. 3 This placed us in an awkward position, as we were far 
from being fit for active service. Powder was scarce, and our 
:arms out of repair. Moreover , we were aware that, by comply­
ing, we should be violating the laws of our country, and em­
barking on a course which could in no way prove beneficial to us. 
On the other hand, we dreaded the consequences that might 
ensue from refusing to obey the order . After a general con­
sultation, we decided to proceed to Shaka's residence. On 

·arriving there, we found everything quiet and peaceful. A day 
or two after our arrival, however, the whole nation had been 
called to arms. 

Shaka acquainted us with his intentions, and spoke of the 
necessity of our accompanying him, it being the custom, when 
the King proceeded in person to war , for every able-bodied 
man t o accompany him. Attempts t o explain the nature of the 
laws of our country and the duties they imposed on us, 
especially in regard to attacks on other nations, caused him to 
make some very unpleasant observations. We realised that the 

lMS. has Umpoonya. 
2MS. has I seconyarna, son of Zuede. 
3The summons a rrived at the port on or about the 12th of June, 1826.­

I saacs, T ravels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, I , 128. 
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From the painting by George F rench Angus in I<affirs Illustrated 
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more we showed ourselves ready to accompany him, the better 
it would be for us. He showed us how dependent we were on 
him. He also pointed out that vessels seldom, or never, visited 
Natal ; that he could destroy every one of us in such a way that 
there would be no one left t o tell the tale ; and that, if the 
English should seek to avenge our being massacred, they would 
be terror-struck at the magnitude of his army. On Mr. Fare­
well refusing to lend J acob a musket, one was taken from us by 
force. After these arguments, we proposed to retire t o rest, 
seeing it was late. Shaka then remarked that there would 
be no necessity for our t aking part in the actual fighting ; all 
he wanted us to do was to accompany him, i.e. give him our 
moral support. 

On the following morning we found out to our surprise that 
the whole army had already moved off during the night; two 
chiefs only being left t o accompany us. We made all possible 
haste t o overtake them, but were unable t o do so until we had 
reached No6amba, the residence of Shaka's father, Senzanga­
khona, a distance of 60 miles from where we started. No6amba 
was now the general rendezvous of the forces. Thence the 
army was to proceed in separate divisions and by different 
routes. Here we rested two days, the divisions having been 
dispatched each with its orders and spies sent on ahead of 
the remaining forces (each regiment being headed by its 
chiefs), with heralds, in the meantime, loudly and repeatedly 
reciting the numerous heroic achievements and altogether 
wonderful characteristics of their sovereign. The day was 
exceedingly hot. Every man was ordered to roll up his shield 
and carry it on his back-a custom observed only when the 
enemy is known to be at a considerable distance. In the rear 
of the regiments were the baggage boys, few above the age of 
12, and some not more than 6. These boys were attached 
to the chiefs and principal men, carrying their mats, head­
rests, t obacco, etc., and driving cattle required for the army's 
consumption. Some of the chiefs, moreover, were accompanied 
by girls carrying beer, corn and milk ; and when their supply 
had been exhaust ed these carriers returned to their homes. 

The whole body of men, boys and women amounted, as 
nearly as we could reckon, t o 50,000. All proceeded in close 
formation , and when looked at from a distance nothing could 
be seen but a cloud of dust. We had not rested from the time 



124 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

we started, and were parched and almost perishing from thirst, 
when, coming to a marshy stream, about sunset, the craving 
to obtain water caused a general and excessive confusion. 
After the first regiment had passed, the whole of the swamp 
became nothing but mud, yet this mud was eaten and swallowed 
with avidity by the following regiments. Several men and 
boys were trampled to death ; and although there was a cry of 
" shame " raised by many, and a call to help the victims, 
everyone was too much occupied to attempt to extricate them. 

We travelled on until about nine at night, when we arrived 
at some kraals belonging to a once-powerful nation, the 
Iziyendane, 1 of whom no more than 150 or 200 souls now 
remained. They were a different people from any we had yet 
seen. They were of a strong muscular build, more active than 
the Zulus, and not having their heads shaved, but wearing 
thei r hair about six or eight inches long and twisted in strings 
of the thickness of whip-cord. As these people had a perfect 
knowledge of the country, Shaka engaged them as guides and 
spies. 

Next morning we proceeded at daylight, marching over 
extensive plains of hard and stony ground. At eleven we rested 
and Shaka employed the Hottentots in making sandals 2 

for himself. Cattle were killed for the use of the army. We 
ate the same food that Shaka did. Each day cattle were dealt 
out for the use of our Hottentots and natives. We had not been 
sitting more than an hour when Mr. Farewell was attacked 
by an ox and so severely injured as to be unable to proceed 
any further. The King left him in the care of the chiefs who 
had been directed to remain there, with a part of the seraglio 
women, until his return. 

At one o'clock we proceeded on our march. The whole 
army was then made to form a single line across the plain, 
when we drove before us hartebeest , rhinoceros, pheasant and 
partridge in great numbers. We encamped at the end of the 
plain under stunted bushes that were dotted about here and 
there. The army rested here for two days. During the halt 
a force was detached and sent on ahead. 

'A Bechuana tribe.-Author's MS. Also Shaka's name for the regiment 
composed of members of the Hlu6i tribe. Their patroness was Shaka's mother, 
Nandi. The word is derived from yenda, meanmg to waver, as corn or branches 
in the wind.-Editor. 

20f ox hide.-Editor. 
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On resuming our march, Shaka request ed me to join the 
detachment that had already gone on. He did this merely to 
please his own fancy. I accordingly went on. The frost of the 
preceding night had been so severe that many of the detach­
ment, from the excessive cold, had slept, to wake no more. 
During the whole of this day's march not a tree or bush of any 
kind was to be seen; we were, therefore, obliged to roast our 
meat with dry grass. We encamped where we found the 
detachment, namely, in a cave of a mountain. This cave was 
shaped so as to form three sides of a square. It was known by 
the name of Inqa6a ka Hawana- Hawana's Fastness-from a 
chief of that name who, some years back, had revolted and 
defended himself successfully by taking refuge there. 1 

The following day Shaka arrived with the remainder of the 
forces and next morning we proceeded in one body to a forest, 
where we rested for two days, awaiting the return of the spies. 
Several regiments were sent to kraals deserted by the hostile 
nation, the people having betaken themselves to a general 
rendezvous. They returned on the evening of the following 
day loaded with corn, a great luxury to us who had had nothing 
but meat for several days, and that extremely poor. To us, 
who were not used to such kind of living, it caused such pain 
in our t eeth as prevented us from chewing. 

When the spies returned, the army moved forward early 
in the morning and bivouacked at the foot of an immense 
forest, from which the enemy was not far distant. We had 
generally marched ahead to relieve ourselves from dust, and we 
had done so this morning till we came within sight of the 
enemy, when we thought that we ought to join Shaka, ex­
pecting him to be close at hand. We found that he was on the 
opposite mountain, and seeing a regiment carrying white 
shields, I diverted my course to it at once. 

Michael, the Hottentot, and Frederick were induced by 
Jacob to join a division that had been ordered to move round 
the mountain to the rear of the enemy, under the belief that a 
force would be sent that way by the enemy to attack ours in 
the rear. When I had reached the bottom of the mountain 
and was ascending the opposite one, expecting to find Shaka 

1Tbis place figured prominently in the Zulu War of 1879. It is about 
20 miles to the east of Utrecht, and a mile or two from Kambula, where 
Col. Evelyn Wood's well-known battle was fought .-Editor. 
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there, I met one of his servants, who informed me that the 
King had remained at the forest, and advised me to go back, as, 
the ascent being difficult, the regiment would leave me a long 
way behind. Being a stranger to their mode of attack I 
determined to ascend the mountain and be a spectator of 
passing events. 

The hill from which we had first seen the enemy presented 
to our view an extensive valley to the left of which was a hill 
separated by another valley from an immense mountain. On 
the upper part of this there was a rocky eminence, near the 
summit of which the enemy had collected all his forces, 
surrounding their cattle, and above them the women and 
children of the nation in a body. They were sitting down, 
awaiting the attack. 

Shaka's forces marched slowly and with much caution, in 
regiments, each regiment divided into companies, till within 
20 yards of the enemy, when they made a halt. Although 
Shaka's troops had taken up a position so near, the enemy 
seemed disinclined to move, till Jacob had fired at them three 
times. The first and second shots seemed to make no im­
pression on them, for they only hissed and cried in reply: 
" That is a dog." At the third shot, both parties, with a 
tumultuous yell, clashed together, and continued stabbing each 
other for about three minutes, when both fell back a few paces. 

Seeing their losses were about equal, both enemies raised a 
cry and this was followed by another rush, and they continued 
closely engaged about twice as long as in the first onset, when 
both parties again drew off. But the enemy's loss had now 
been the more severe. This urged the Zulus to a final charge. 
The shrieks now became terrific. The remnants of the enemy's 
army sought shelter in an adjoining wood, out of which they 
were soon driven. Then began a slaughter of the women and 
children. They were all put to death. The cattle being taken 
by the different regiments were driven to the kraal lately 
occupied by Sikhunyana. The battle, from the commencement 
to the close, did not last more than an hour and a half. The 
numbers of the hostile tribe, including women and children, 
could not have been less than 40,000. The number of cattle 
taken was estimated at 60,000. The sun having set while 
the cattle were being captured, the whole valley during the 
night was a scene of confusion. Parties of three, four, and five 
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men each went about killing cattle and cutting off the tails of 
others to form part of their war dress. Many of Shaka's 
wounded managed to crawl on hands and knees in the hope of 
getting assistance, but for the enemy's wounded there was 
no hope. 

Early next morning Shaka arrived, and each regiment, 
previous to its inspection by him, had picked out its cowards 
and put them to death. Many of these, no doubt, forfeited 
their lives only because their chiefs were in fear that, if they did 
not condemn some as being guilty, they would be suspected 
of seeking a pretext to save them and would incur the resent­
ment of Shaka. 1 

No man who had been actually engaged in the fight 2 was 
allowed to appear in the King's presence until a purification by 
the doctor had been undergone. This doctor gave each warrior 
certain roots to eat, and to everyone who had actually killed 
one of the enemy an additional number. To make their 
bravery as public as possible, bits of wood are worn round the 
neck, each bit being supposed to reckon for an enemy slain. 
To the end of this necklace are attached bits of the root received 
from the doctor, part of which has been eaten. They then 
proceed to some river to wash their persons and, until this 
had been done, they may not eat any food, except the meat 
of cattle killed on the day of battle. Having washed, they 
appear before the King, when thanks or praise are the last 
thing they have to expect; censure being loudly expressed on 
account of something that had not been done as it should have 

1The following incident in connection with this very battle was told me 
many years ago by a son of the hero therein mentioned. "Among the regi­
ments directed to attack Sikhunyana's army, when concealed in the forest, 
was one called Izimpoh!o, of which my father, Nohadu, was a member. As it 
charged, Sikhunyana's forces appeared at the edge of the forest drawn up in 
wall-like formation. As the I zimpohlo got close up, the enemy flung a shelf 
of assegais at them. (The assegais coming simultaneously and horizontally 
from so many looked like a shelf.) One of these struck Nohadu in the ankle. 
His assailant turned quickly (like the others) to retreat into the forest, but 
only as quickly to become entangled in monkey ropes at the edge of the forest. 
Seeing this, Nohadu, instead of stopping to withdraw the assegai, rushed, 
assegai and a ll, after his foe and forthwith stabbed him to death. Shaka 
happened to see all this, also the colour of Nohadu 's shield, from the hill 
where he was watching the battle. When a ll was over, discussing the various 
incidents, Shaka remarked, ' Whose was that hemu (dark and light shield) 
I saw at the edge of the forest ? ' Nohadu being present, claimed it as his. 
This proved to be indeed the case. Shaka, thereupon, directed his war doctor 
to look for a suitable beast for his hero to kill and so conform to yet another 
Zulu custom known as ukuncinda."-Editor. 

2This means ; No one who had actually killed any of the enemy.-Edilor. 
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been, and they get off well if one or two chiefs and a few dozen 
soldiers are not struck off the army list by being put to death. 

During the afternoon a woman and child of the defeat ed 
tribe, the latter aged about 10 years, were brought before the 
King, and he made every enquiry respecting Sikhunyana; 
what had been his plans when he heard of the intended attack, 
and what was the general feeling as to its result. To induce her 
to set aside all fear, he gave her some beer and a dish of beef, 
which she ate, while giving all the information she was possessed 
of. When her recital was finished, both mother and child were 
sentenced to instant death. Being present , I begged the life 
of the child, that it might become my servant . An application 
t o save the life of both was little likely t o succeed. From her 
information, Shaka found that Sikhunyana, with a few men, 
had escaped. A regiment was ordered to pursue them, whilst 
another was detached to kill the wounded of the enemy. I now 
took the opportunity of writing Mr. Farewell an account of all 
that had taken place. The army, after clearing up, com­
menced its return home. 

When we had been three days on the march orders were 
given for the army to be divided into three corps; one of which 
was to accompany Shaka; the other two were to attack two 
tribes under Mlotshwa1 and Beje.2 These chiefs had formerly 
been under Zwide, the late king of the defeated enemy. In an 
unsuccessful attack on Shaka these two tribes had been cut off 
from the main body and were induced t o join Shaka. Believing 
that they had joined him only from motives of policy he dealt 
kindly with them at first, but the moment their former king 
had been subdued, and they could have no opportunity of 
revenge, they were attacked. 

Mlotshwa took up his position 011: the Phondwane 3 

mountain, where his father had several times successfully 
defended himself. This was in the centre of a plain, and could . 
only be ascended by two different passes guarded by men who 
hurled down masses of rock on their assailants. The women 
kept up the supply of these boulders for the men. This mountain 
hold was usually well stored with provisions. His provisions 

1MS. has Umloacha . 
2MS. has Bacha. 
3MS. has Umpondwarna. 
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being exhausted, Mlotshwa submitted himself to Shaka and 
was again received into favour. 

Beje's capabilities of defence were equally good. He, too, 
had a strong position among the rocks, and succeeded in cutting 
to pieces one of Shaka's regiments , raised only two months 
previously, and numbering two thousand men. This regiment 
had the name of the regiment of "Warmth," or in the Zulu 
"Motha." A few escaped and came to the army, now on its 
return homeward; but orders were given to put them to death 
at once, as men who had dared to fly . 

Shaka now started on his return journey, leaving the 
regiments to attack the above-named chiefs. We accompanied 
him. When we had almost reached the place where we had 
left Mr. Farewell, news arrived of a vessel having anchored at 
Port Natal. We accordingly left Shaka and went to Natal, 
where the vessel that had arrived on 6th October, 1826, from 
Algoa Bay, proved to be the schooner Anne, with Mr. King 
and Mrs. Farewell on board. 1 

About this time, Michael and John, two of the Hottentots 
in the service of Mr. Farewell, were sent by him elephant and 
sea-cow shooting. They had not been long absent when we 
heard that they had committed a crime likely to endanger the 
whole of our pa ty. The laws of the Zulus are so severe against 
the crimes of adultery and rape that, up to this period, we had 
not heard of a single violation of them. These Hottentots had 
seized and ravished by force the daughter of a Zulu chief, 
who, dreading the result of connection with a European-all 
persons wearing clothes (as our Hottentots did) were deemed 
by the Zulus to be Europeans, for as yet our race was not 
regarded as earth-born, but as animals that had sprung out 
of the sea- reported the crime to Shaka. This incensed him 

1T he following extract from Reminiscences of F. M. Wolhuter published 
in the Times of Natal, 14th December, 1892, is of interest. "A lady once escaped 
from the Zulus in men's clothes. It was Mrs. Farewell. Lt. Farewell was 
married at Capetown about 1824 t o Miss E lizabeth Smidt. Her parents 
lived at No. 1 Burg St., now called St. George 's St. H er mother and m y 
father were brother a nd sister. She was the first lady Chaka ever saw and he 
determined to seize her and make h er his wife. Fortunately, Lt. Farewell 
heard of this and in the dead of night Mrs. Farewell dressed in men 's clothes 
and under a sufficient escort rode away from the laager as ha rd as possible to a 
place of safety. When Mrs. Wolhuter was in Capetown in 1842 the two ladies 
used often t o chat about their experiences in Natal. Mrs. Farewell had no 
children by her first husband, but had some b y Mr. Gustaaf Aspeling, whom 
she married after Lt. Farewell was murdered." 

K 
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against the whole of our race, and Mr. King, who arrived at this 
critical moment, was placed in an extremely awkward position. 
After Shaka had vented his rage on him, he demanded satis­
faction, as the culprits belonged to us. Had his own people 
been the offenders they would have suffered death the instant 
the deed was done. 

Mr. King acknowledged there was sufficient cause for his 
anger, assuring him that such crime was also punishable by 
death under the laws of our country. This had such an effect 
on Shaka's mind as completely to avert what he intended in 
the event of Mr. King attempting to palliate their crime. He 
then demanded that the whole European party, then at Natal, 
should join him in an attack on Beje, whom he was unable, 
without the assistance of our muskets, to drive out of his 
stronghold, except by sustaining great losses. Mr. King saw 
the necessity of acceding to his wishes to prevent his avenging 
himself on the whole of us. After some deliberation, Messrs. 
Cane and Isaacs, together with part of the crew of the Mary, 
also two Hottentots, and several natives (with guns) volunteered 
to go. They succeeded in completely defeating Beje's tribe 
and killing the chief himself.! On our side, Mr. Isaacs was 
severely wounded. Shaka did not as much as thank them for 
their services; on the contrary, he took every opportunity of 
depreciating what they had done and minimising the value of 
fire-arms in the estimation of his people. 

I now proceeded to the Umzimkhulu River 2 with a party of 
natives, who had learned the use of fire-arms in our service, for 
the purpo~e of elephant hunting. I had not long been estab­
lished there before natives from the surrounding country, 
because of their distressed and famished state, flocked to me for 
protection from that death which those who had joined me in 
my former expeditions had escaped. It was not long before the 
remains of four tribes, with their chiefs- amounting to more 
than 2,000 of both sexes-came to live under me. Many of them 
were people who had made their escape when at the point of 
being put to death by the Zulus. By merely notifying such 
arrivals to Shaka, the refugees were allowed to reside with us, 
a favour contrary to all former custom. 

'This took place at the Ingome forest, in the north-west of Zululand, 
F ebruary, 1827.-Isaacs, Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, I, 197, 210 
and 211. 

2MS. has Imsumculu. 
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Messrs. Farewell, King, Isaacs, Cane and Ogle, as well as 
myself, have in this manner been the means of saving the lives 
of hundreds of people. The country for 25 miles round Natal 
was uninhabited except by the few previously mentioned. 
There are now more than 4,000 inhabitants under our protec­
tion, and our departure from the country would be the signal 
for their immediate destruction. 1 

Chapter X 

AFTER the defeat of Beje, the Zulu impi returned to Zulu­
land, and Isaacs with it. He found Shaka at his Dukuza 
kraal [ where the town of Stanger now stands J on 18th 

March, 1827. On reaching Port Natal in the following month, 
the state of affairs there in connection with the ship in the 
course of construction-afterwards named the ElizabethSusan 2-

was so unsatisfactory that King resolved to proceed to Delagoa 
Bay by land and obtain a passage to the Cape of Good Hope, 
where he would engage a vessel to go to Natal. This proposal, 
however, on the situation improving, was modified, it being 
decided that instead of himself a youth, John Ross, of about 
15 years of age should make the journey for the purpose of 
obtaining medicine of which they stood in much need. To 
enable the lad to do this it was necessary for Isaacs to appeal 
to Shaka for an escort to protect Ross as well as provide him 
with food on his 300-mile journey there and back. $haka 
supplied the escort and after a few weeks Ross returned safely. 
In July King, accompanied by Isaacs, proceeded to survey 
the mouths of the Rivers Umhlathuze and Umlalazi. Later 
in the same month they visited Shaka at his Bulawayo and 
Di6inhlangu residences. 

Shaka now, for the first time [the author's MS. proceeds], 
having begun to hunt elephants with his whole force,3 Mr. King, 
myself, and several other Europeans, being out on an excursion, 

'This was probably written in or about 1832 or 1833 or even in 1831 when 
Fynn was on the Cape Frontier. Two of the sheet s of the revised version of 
these notes bear on them the watermark of 1827.-Editor. 

2To replace the Mary, which, as will be remembered, was wrecked at Port 
Natal on 1st October, 1825.-Editor. 

3With the object of procuring ivory to be exchanged for Macassar oil. 
-Editor. 
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met him on his return from one of these hunts. Shaka, 
travelling slowly, induced Mr. King and party to return to 
Natal, but Shaka insisted that I should accompany him to the 
kraal where he was going to reside. 

After travelling slowly for two days, we passed his usual 
residence, Eulawayo, closely adjoining which was the kraal of 
Nandi, his mother, and, proceeding forward, arrived about 
nine at night, at the place Shaka intended to fix his residence, 
that is, the one he had come purposely to rebuild. This work 
was begun on the following morning. Messengers now arrived 
to announce that Nandi was very unwell. Doctors were 
immediately dispatched, and also some European medicines 
which Shaka had been made a present of, and had by him, 
having first asked their uses. As messengers continued to 
arrive with accounts of the invalid getting worse, Shaka 
decided to return to her kraal 1 accompanied by his forces. 

We started at nine o'clock at night and arrived at Eulawayo 
about three in the morning. Shaka now requested me to visit 
his mother. 2 I went, attended by an old chief, and found the 
hut filled with native doctors and nurses, and such clouds of 
smoke that I was obliged to bid them all retire, to enable me to 
breathe within it. 3 Her complaint was dysentery, and I 
reported at once to Shaka that her case was hopeless and that 
I did not expect that she would live through the day. 4 

The regiments, which were then sitting in a semicircle 
around him, were ordered to their barracks, while Shaka 
himself sat for about two hours in a contemplative mood, with­
out a word escaping his lips, several of the elder chiefs sitting 
also before him. When the tidings were brought that she had 

1A distance of 80 miles from the hunting ground ; which distance was 
travelled during the latter part of the day and the night.-Editor. 

2Fynn had then been with Shaka some time and, from various cases 
wherein he had been successful in restoring health to sick natives and once 
heali~g Shaka when severely wounded, implicit confidence was placed in his 
abilities.-Editor. 

3Another MS. bas: "On my arrival at her hut, which was crowded to excess 
with native doctors, several of whom had to move out before I could enter 
it. Being an exceedingly hot day, sufficient to sicken one of the strongest 
constitutions I recommended at least half her medical attendants and nurses 
to make roo~ for a little air. When this had been done, an opportunity was 
afforded me of seeing my patient." 

'He requested me to go back again to observe if there was any change, 
which I did.-Author's MS. 
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expired 1 Shaka immediately arose and entered his d~elling, 
and, having ordered the principal chiefs to put on their war­
dresses, he, in a few minutes, appeared in his. 2 

As soon as the death was publicly announced, the women 
and all the men who were present tore instantly from their 
persons every description of ornament. Shaka now appeare.d 
before the hut in which the body lay, surrounded by his 
principal chiefs in their war attire. For about 20 minutes 
he stood in a silent mournful attitude, with his head bowed 
upon his shield, and on which I saw large tears fall. 3 After 
two or three deep sighs, his feelings becoming ungovernable, he 
broke out into frantic yells, which fearfully contrasted with 
the silence that had hitherto prevailed. 4 This signal was 
enough. The chiefs and people, to the number of about 15,000, 
commenced the most dismal and horrid lamentations. 

I expected, on seeing the old woman in her last agonies, 
that I should again witness a scene like to those at which I had 
been present on two similar former occasions. Not for a 
moment did I anticipate the extent to which the proceedings 
were now to be carried. The people from the neighbouring 
kraals, male and female, came pouring in, each body, as they 
came in sight, at the distance of half a mile, joining to swell 
this terrible cry. 

Through the whole night it continued, none daring to take 
rest, or to refresh themselves with water, while at short inter­
vals fresh bursts were heard, as more regiments approached. 

The morning dawned without any relaxation, and before 
noon the number had increased to about 60,000. The cries 

'Everyone now left the hut and began to strip off their beads and other 
ornaments. The females from the seraglio approached the hut, and a general 
shouting commenced.-Author's MS. 

2His face painted with substances of various colours, prepared for the 
purpose.-Author's MS. 

30ccasionally wiping them away with his right hand_. . He presented the 
appearance of a brave warrior in extreme distress, sufficient to extort pity 
and commiseration from the hardest of hearts.-Author's MS. Another MS. 
has : " Shaka shortly made his appearance dressed in ~is war dress, his face 
besmeared with preparations of different colours and which had bee:i made up 
for the purpose. He was attended by his chiefs and stoo~ se".eral mmutes m _a 
most mournful attitude. His face lay carelessly over his shield on which his 
tears dropped, and as they fell he used his right hand to wipe them away." 

•" Maye ngo Mama!" (Alas, my mother) . These are the words h~ is said 
to have uttered. Such ejaculation is common among Zulus on vanous oc­
casions of bereavement.-Editor. 

K l 
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now became indescribably horrid. Hundreds were lying faint, 
from excessive fatigue and want of nourishment; while the 
carcasses of 40 oxen lay in a heap, which had been slaughtered 
as an offering to the guardian spirits of the tribe. I At noon 
the whole force formed a circle with Shaka in their centre 
and sang the war song, which afforded them some relaxatiod 
during its continuance. At the close of it, Shaka ordered 
several men to be executed on the spot, and the cries became, 
if possible, more violent than ever. No further orders were 
needed. But, as if bent on convincing their chief of their 
extreme grief, the multitude commenced a general massacre. 
Many of them received the blow of death, while inflicting it on 
others, each taking the opportunity of revenging their injuries, 
real or imaginary. Those who could not force more tears 
from their eyes-those who were found near the river panting 
for water-were beaten to death by others who were mad with 
excitement. 2 Toward the afternoon I calculated that not fewer 
than 7,000 people had fallen in this frightful indiscriminate 
massacre. The adjacent stream, to which many had fled 
exhausted, to wet their parched tongues, became impassable 
from the number of dead corpses which lay on each side of it; 
while the kraal in which the scene took place was flowing with 

l- blood. 

1From thirty to forty cattle were killed, n ot as the reader might suppose, 
to be eaten by the mourners, but to be devoured by dogs, flies and birds of 
prey_; no_food of any kind was to be eaten during the day. Having eaten 
nothing smce startmg on the journey the evening before, I was at a loss how 
to act. Application to Sbaka, situated as he was, would have been both 
improper and useless. On searchmg for a hut to sleep in, I fortunately 
observed two calabashes of beer belonging to a chief who dared not use it. 
I ~onferred on myself the privilege of d oing so. I slept as well as the horrid 
cnes dunng the m ght would aIJow. Shaka appeared early in the morning 
dressed as before, _and immediately ordered one of his aunts, who had been on 
bad terms with his mother, with the whole of her attendants (some 12 or 14 
girls), t o instant death.-Author's MS . 

2Evcry man's hand seemed remorselessly turned against his feIJow creatures 
and this scene, heightened by the deafening cries of victor and victim, fro~ 
the body of more than 30,000 people, renders any language of mine inadequate 
to convey _to the reader this never-to-be-forgotten scene. Those who had 
quarrelled m the past ; the stronger took the opportunity of avenging them­
selves on the weaker, and those most intent on rioting and bloodshed appeared 
to be the only ones to escape. A petty king being asked for after the tumult 
had s_omewhat subsided, was said to have gone to the river to drink, when he 
was mstantly ordered t? be_ killed. Whilst masses were thus employing 
themselves, Shaka and his chiefs, the latter surroundmg him, were tumbling 
and throwmg themselves about, each trying to excel in their demonstrations 
of grief by alternate fits of howling.-Author's MS. 
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Amidst this scene I stood unharmed, contemplating the 
horrors around me; and felt as if the whole universe was at that 
moment coming to an end. I stood there alone, a privileged 
being, not compelled to take part in this frantic scene; and I 
felt truly thankful, not only that I was a British subject, but 
that I had so far gained the respect of this tyrant as to hope 
for escape even from this horrible place of blood. While 
standing thus, motionless, a regiment of young Zulus passed 
by me, when two of them with their uplifted knobkerries 
(heavy headed sticks, or life preservers) rushed towards me, 
the leader demanding fiercely why I stood there without a 
tear. I made no reply, but gazed upon them sternly and 
steadily. They moved on shouting vengeance. 

The sun again set, and Shaka now put a stop to this un­
governed general massacre.I The cries, however, continued 
during the whole of the next night, and until ten the 
following morning, when the chief became somewhat pacified 
and his subjects were permitted to take some refreshment. 

The ceremonies of his mother's burial were the subject of 
much deliberation between Shaka and his favourite counsellors. 
On the second day after her death the body was placed in a 
grave, in a sitting posture, near the spot where she died. 2 At 
this part of the ceremony I was not allowed to be present, and, 
if what was related to me at the time by several of the 
attendants be true (and I believe it to be true, knowing to what 
extent superstition will carry this people), it was fortunate for 
me that I was not present, to witness the horrid spectacle of 

1Late in the evening, on being informed of the dreadful loss of souls that 
had taken place, Shaka put a stop to the outrage, it only requiring a single 
word from him to do this. The crying, however, continued all night, every 
now and then becoming more violent from fresh arrivals. The scene of horror 
continued on the third day though attended with about only 12 or 14 murders. 
On the fourth day tranquillity was restored and Shaka for the first time since 
the beginning of the convulsive obsequies seated himself before his people. 
The ~hiefs, hmvever, to express their sorrow, busily employed themselves by 
sendmg parties throughout the country to destroy every soul that had not 
attended to express their sorrow for the old witch, so that, while tranquillity 
prevailed here, remorseless murder was stalking through the land.-Author's 
MS. 

2
~ grave was dug in the hut where she died ; in this she was placed, on a 

mat, m a s1ttmg posture. She was then covered with another mat, and her 
hut let fall upon the spot. Branches of the milk tree were planted on the site, 
to form a grove.-Author's MS. 
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t en of the best-looking girls of the kraal being buried with 
her, alive. I 

All who were present at this dreadful scene, to the number 
of 12,000, drafted from the whole army, were formed into a 
regiment 2 to guard the grave for the next 12 months, and 
during that time were prohibited from all intercourse with the 
tribe or any of their nearest relatives. About 15,000 head of 
cattle were set apart for their use, which were contributed by 
all the cattle holders of the country, as offerings to the spirits 
of the departed queen and her ill-fated attendants. Had 
I been present on this occasion I should have had to keep 
guard with the rest. 

Hitherto, the proceedings had been local. But now the 
chiefs, anxious to show further proof of their attachment, 
proposed that further sacrifices should be made. And Ngo­
mane, 3 Shaka's principal favourite, made a speech proposing 
the following resolution: 

"That, as the great female elephant with small breasts, the 
over-ruling spirit of vegetation, had died, 4 and as it was 
probable that the heavens and the earth would unite in be­
wailing her death, the sacrifice should be a great one; no 
cultivation should be allowed during the following year; no 
milk should be used, but, as drawn from the cow, it should be 
poured upon the earth; and all women, who should be found 
with child during the year, should with their husbands be 
put to death." 5 

1Among other enquiries I made sometime after, I was informed by three 
persons at different times that Nandi was buried with ten maids placed alive 
in the grave. Others I have asked denied this, probably wishing it to be 
kept a secret. How far this is true or false, I leave the reader to judge, after 
forming an estimate of Shaka's character. For my own part I do not think 
it improbable, knowing the extent of Shaka's pride and cruelty. On the hill 
where the barracks were built and where the body lay, no person dare put 
the point of his stick on the ground, but was obliged to carry it in his hand.­
Author's MS. 

2Larger than any other in the army.-Editor. 
3Principal chief, confidant and adopted father. When Shaka went, as a 

young man, to offer his allegiance to Dingiswayo, the latter put him under 
the care and protection of Ngomane.-Editor. 

•As the result of her death, the word nandi, which means anything nice or 
sweet, should never more be used ; instead of nandi, the word mtoti must be 
adopted ; as she was the mother of an elephant, mother of a lion, of a leopard, 
and of wild beasts-in allusion to the titles of Shaka.-Editor. 

5Nothing now surrounded them but death and destruction; locusts would 
cover the earth and no man should live. All this was unanimously agreed to. 
-Author's MS. 
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At the close of this speech, which was received with acclama­
tion, regiments of soldiers were dispersed throughout the 
country, who massacred everyone they could find that had not 
been present at the general wailing. 

During the next three months the first two of Ngomane's 
propositions were strictly carried out; at the end of which time 
these orders were redeemed, by large offerings of oxen being 
made to Shaka from all the chiefs. But the third condition 
was strictly enforced throughout the year, during which also 
lamentations on a smaller scale took place from time to time 
at Shaka's residence, when I was not present. I 

At the end of the year Shaka left this kraal, where his 
mother died, and came with his whole nation and cattle to 
Dukuza, a kraal he had recently constructed on the Umvoti 
River, and the place where he was subsequently assassinated. 
Having heard of his approach, so near to the Bay, I started to 
pay him a visit, and met him on his march a few miles south 
of the Thukela. He appeared rejoiced to see me, and would 
not allow me to separate from him, carrying on a lively and 
pleasant conversation during the march. While passing a large 
pool of water, one of the chiefs remarked that alligators 
abounded there; upon which Shaka asked me if I had the 
courage to swim across the pool-promising me five head of 
oxen if I did. It was an awkward question, but I was de­
t ermined not to show any signs of fear, and at once took off 
my trousers and in my shirt swam across the stream. He 
applauded my courage and then asked if I expected the oxen. 
I said" No ! "which produced a hearty laugh from himself and 
his counsellors. 

We proceeded on the road until we came in sight of Dukuza, 
when he separated from his chiefs and followers, and took me 
with him under a large euphorbia tree and, while putting on his 
war-dress, told me that another lamentation was then to t ake 

1Whenever Shaka shed a tear, which he often did, the howlings were 
renewed. This, I think, he often d id from political motives. After mature 
reflection, I think I may safely assert that the whole thing was nothing more 
than a political scheme.-Author's MS. Another MS. has : " The whole scene 
was a political scheme in furtherance of Shaka's vain imaginations a nd to keep 
the minds of his people filled with wonder. During the twelve m onths following 
the death of the female elephant the whole t ribe were three times called 
together to repeat their lamentations. On the last occasion, the cattle of the 
whole tribe were collected, the bellowings of which was to be figurativ e of 
their lamentations." 
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place at Dukuza. I begged him to grant me one request. 
He smiled and asked what it could possibly be. I entreated 
him for his own sake, as well as mine, not to allow on this 
occasion any of his people to be put to death. He at once 
called for Ngomane and, laughing at the strangeness of my 
petition, that I should plead for the life of dogs, gave orders to 
him to see that none were put to death. He then told me to 
separate from the mass, stand on a hill, and quietly observe 
the ceremony of this, the last, lamentation, by which he was to 
be purified from his uncleanness. 

He now advanced, with his chiefs, in their full war-dress. 
Presently Dukuza, lying, as it were, in a basin, came in full 
sight; and the outrunners, shouting out the praises of Shaka, 
announced his approach. Upon this he began to sigh and sob 
badly, pretending to falter and stumble in his steps, and 
then commenced crying aloud. The whole of the able-bodied 
population of the country, each regiment by itself, came all in 
sight, as it were, in a moment, standing upon the edge of the 
hills which surrounded Dukuza. They took up, as before, the 
frantic cry of their chief; but now with the general yelling was 
mingled the bellowing of about 100,000 oxen, brought from 
the remotest parts of the country expressly for this occasion. 
I stood at the distance of half a mile, near enough to see that 
no lives were sacrificed; and was glad to find that at sunset 
the lamentations, which began late in the afternoon, were 
brought to an end, 1 the regiments being ordered to rest, and to 
slaughter cattle for the evening meal. 2 I retired to my hut, 
but to sleep was out of the question, from the bellowing of the 
oxen and the dinning sound of the multitude. 

The next morning the purification took place. Every 
cattle-owner had brought calves for this purpose, each of which 
was ripped open on its right side, the owner taking out the gall 
of the living animal, which was then left to die in its agony, and 
not allowed to be eaten. Each regiment in succession then 
presented itself before Shaka, and as it passed in a circle round 
him, each individual, holding the gall-bladder in his hand, 

1Without much disturbance. A chief was struck a violent blow, the 
intention being evidently to kill him. Shaka saw this and immediately 
interfered. Such action put a stop to a ll further bloodshed on that occasion . 
-Author's MS. 

2At nine o'clock, the crying came to an end, and 65 head of grown cattle 
were slaughtered.-Author's MS. 
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sprinkled the gall over him. After this proceeding, Ngomane 
made another speech: 

"The tribe had now lamented for a year the death of her , 
who had now become a spirit, and who would continue to watch 
over Shaka's welfare. But there were nations of men, in­
habiting distant countries, who, because they had not yet been 
conquered, supposed that they never should be. This was 
plain from the fact of their not having come forward to lament 
the death of the Great Mother of Earth and Corn. And, as tear s 
could not be forced from these distant nations, war should be 
made against them, and the cattle taken should be the tears 
shed upon her grave." 1 

The war-dance was now performed; several droves of oxen 
were slaughtered; and Shaka was finally washed with certain 
decoctions, prepared by native doctors. And thus this 
memorable lamentation ended-in which, however, I cannot 
help suspecting that reasons of state policy had as much to do 
as any feeling of regret for his dead mother; and that he wished 
his people to infer, if such a sacrifice was necessary upon the 
occasion of her departure, how frightfully t errific would be 
that required at his own. Such considerations as these might 
possibly tend to prolong the life even of such a tyrant. And 
yet he fell at last at the hand of an assassin. 

Nandi was the da~ghter of a chief of the Langeni tribe, 2 

which lived between the Zulus and the Mthethwa tribes on 
the River Umhlathuze. 3 She was betrothed by her father t o 
Senzangakhona, 4 chief of the Zulus before they became a 
nation, and father of Shaka. In those days it was the custom 
for chiefs not to co-habit with their wives, only soma 5 with 

1Another MS. has : " As tears could not be forced from foreigners, a11 
attack should be made on the Frontier tribes, whose cattle should be considered 
as tears shed for Shaka's dead mother." A further MS. has : " All that now­
remained to complete the ceremonies of Nandi's death was a declaration of 
war against some nation or tribe in which the Mkhindini [MS. Umquindein] 
that had been guarding the burial ground was to be the first to attack the 
enemy, the cattle captured by it to be considered as being tears shed for her 
by foreign nations." 

2MS. has Amalangeines. 
3MS. has Umclatuse. 
•Ms. has Sensagacone. 

• 
5It is a common custom among the Zulus for a betrothed pair to indulge 

m frequent surreptitious though unconsummated intercourse . The practice, 
though t echnically unlawful, is nevertheless universally connived at, even by 
the girl's parents; but it is only tolerated between a couple who have been 
properly affianced in accordance with native custom.-Bryant, Zulu-English 
Dictionary; cf. Colenso, Zulu-English Dictionary. 
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them-a practice which was supposed to be followed until the 
chief had undergone the rite of circumcision. But chiefs were 
generally backward in being circumcised-never till they were 
30 or 40 years old-and apparently under the idea that they 
would be deemed to be younger than they really were. 

Nandi, however, had been but a short time betrothed to 
Senzangakhona when she became enceinte. This was generally 
reported to be not the case, but only one known as itshaka, 
signifying a looseness of the bowels. In the course of time, 
however, Nandi gave birth to a son, when, instead of being 
called itshaka, the appellation was softened to Shaka. He was 
Senzangakhona's eldest son, though not his heir, seeing that 
Nandi, the mother, was not the inkosikazi or queen. The real 
queen shortly afterwards bore the heir to the Zulu throne, 
namely, uMfokazi, elder brother of Dingane (who later became 
king) by the same mother. 

By the time Shaka reached the age of 5 N andi had 
frequently been in disgrace on account of her violent t emper. 
At about this time she was expelled from the seraglio for 
having struck one of Senzangakhona's chiefs a severe blow on 
the head. She accordingly returned to the Langeni tribe, where 
she married a commoner named Ngendeyana, 1 by whom she 
had a son, Ngwadi. 2 After Ngwadi's birth, Shaka left her 
a nd placed himself under the protection of Dingiswayo, 3 king 
of the Mthethwas. Dingiswayo gave him in charge of 
Ngomane, 4 his fighting commander, i .e. he who delivered the 
oration in connection with Nandi's obsequies. 

Nandi remained with her husband and son Ngwadi, until 
Shaka came to the throne. By that time her husband was dead. 
She now joined Shaka as superintendent of his seraglio. During 
her residence with him her temper knew no bounds in her 
thirsting for bloodshed. She let but few opportunities escape 
her vengeance, and this both in the absence and frequently in 
the presence of Shaka. She would have men and women put 
to death before her eyes with no less compunction than in 
eating her dinner. Their heads would be broken, their necks 
twisted, and a stick thrust up the fundament and through the 
body, in her presence. 

1MS. has Ungideann. 
2MS. has Enguade. 
3MS. has Tingiswao. 
•MS. has Gomanney. 
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Chapter XI 

DURING his four years' knowledge of us, Shaka, from the 
inr.essant enquiries made of his interpreter, Jacob, and of 
myself , who had by this time acquired a knowledge of 

the Zulu language), received so much information respecting 
Europe and our sovereign (whom he called umGeorge) that he 
expressed a desire to send chiefs to visit both the Colony and 
England. H e proposed also to send six young girls as a present 
to his brothe: King. He accordingly requested Mr. King to 
conduct them thither and conferred on him the captainship of 
the regiment Dukuza, as, unless he accepted such appointment 
in his army, he was not likely to study Shaka's interest,at least 
not so much as if he belonged to the Zulus. In order to satisfy 
the King, Mr. King accepted the office, though merely nominal. 
Upon this, the King gave him a head-dress of black feathers, 
the ensign or badge of that regiment . He appointed Soto6e, 
Mbozamboza and Jacob, with Soto6e's and Jacob's wives to 
accompany them, in order that their native costume might be 
seen by the Europeans. At the same time Shaka gave Mr. King 
86 elephant tusks, and one or two large ones which, he said, 
were to be his mouth1 to King George. 

The vessel was launched, and the party sailed forth on their 
mission. The idea was that Soto6e and Jacob were to proceed 
to England with Mr. King, while Mbozamboza was to return 
from the Colony as Mr. King might arrange. As some doubt 
arose in Shaka's mind as to their safety, I voluntarily became a, 
hostage for their safe return. 

I must now allude to an incident which, though trifling in 
i tself, fi om a European's point of view, nearly brought serious. 
disaste · on our party at Port Natal. 

One day, after the defeat of Sikhunyana, Shaka saw me 
writing a letter to Mr. Farewell. 2 He asked me if the ink would 
wash off the paper. On my replying in the negative, he asked 
if it would stain a shield. I told him it would not , but the hair 
and the skin might appear slightly tinged. H e thereupon 

1 0r introduction.-Editor. 
'He stood over me and watched me very attentively.-Author's note. 
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threw a bottle of ink over a white shield t o observe its effect .. .. 
In the evening he asked how it was that Europeans had different 
colou ed hair, and if there were no preparations to change 
its colour. 1 

I told him Macassar oil was said to produce that effect. 
On arriving where we had left Mr. Farewell, 2 he asked Mr. 
Farewell the same question and received the same reply . When 
Messrs. King and Isaacs arrived they were asked, and under­
standing what we had said, agreed with us. Shaka, finding us 
all agreed as t o its virtues, called us into his hut and, ordering 
all his attendants to go out , made us swear by him that we would 
not mention what had taken place concerning the oil, and went 
on to say he would collect ivory in great quantities and give the 
tusks to whatever person produced the oil. He said he wanted 
it for his mother- and father-in-law, who were grey-headed, 
which did not look well in such great personages. We, however, 
!:aw that he wanted it for himself, having a few grey hairs 
on his chin. 

We now endeavoured to assure him of our having great 
doubts as to its powers, fearing should it not prove what we 
had led him to believe it was he would be displeased; but the 
more we attempted to deprecate it, the more he thought of its 

' · .. a ccording to one's choice. I r eplied in the negative; at the same 
time n ot for a moment supposing anything would come of what I said, I 
adde'd tha t there was a substance, called Macassar oil, which was saiJ to 
d a rken the h air. At this he was highly gra tified, but said no more on the sub­
ject till some week s lat er, when Messrs. Farewell, King, I saacs a nd I were at 
his residence [24th July , 1827]. H e expressed d oubt as t o whether anyone i? 
E ngland dared use the oil bu_t umGeor(l'e, ~upposm g _t he la tter t o hold his 
subj ect s under the sam e restram t as he did his .. On ~em g assur~d the 011 was 
easily procurable, he expressed the great es~ satisfaction. . . . ~o defray all 
expenses h e said he would commence hunt mg elephan ts, wh ose ivory should 
belong t o Mr. K ing, seeing he had a vessel an d would t hereforn be able t o 
supply the oil. It was n ot long before he went t o hunt elephan ts with the whole 
of his tribe. D uring that hunt 48 elephants were killed. H e gave the t usks t o 
Mr. King. This t ook place in the pres~nce of his people, when he assured the 
chiefs that, for the ivor y which was bemg given Mr. Kmg _he, m return, would 
bring cloth, beads, etc., for t heir use ; but when speakmg t o Mr. K m g m 
privat e h e said he wanted nothing of the kind for such dogs as his p eople were. 
-Author's MS. . 

The huntina here referred to probably took p lace late in 1827 or early m 
1828, fo r that of 27t h August was suspended on accoun.t of Nandi's illness. The 
E lizabeth and Susan, with Lieut . Km g a nd Sha ka s a mbassadors left for 
Algoa Bay in March , 1828.- Editor. . 

•Probab ly at D i5inhlangu (near Bulawayo) . On only one occas10n 
in the author 's MSS. have we seen Farewell r eferred t o as having been left 
behind , viz. during the expedition to Sikhunya na (August-October , 1826), 
consequently the ab ove conversation would have occurred m or about 
October, 1826.-Editor. 

THE DI A RY 143 

value. H e said he could plainly see it was an oil used by 
umGeorge and that none of his people were allowed to t ouch it. 
Seeing the improbability of our procuring any in the im­
mediate present, we attempted, though in vain, to lessen it in 
his esteem . He had, however, set his mind on this invaluable 
oil. It was his constant theme and induced him to t ake the 
whole of his force elephant hunting, which hunting, as has 
been seen, was suspended owing to the death of his mother, 
Nandi. 

When he presented Mr. King with the 86 tusks, on the 
latter 's departure for the Colony, 1 he t old his people that he, 
Mr. King, would bring back immense quantities of such things 
as they required. Afterwards, however, in his hut, he told 
Mr. King to bring nothing but Macassar oil. His people were 
dogs, he would give them nothing. All he wanted was Macassar 
oil and medicine. 

Only three days after the vessel's departure,· messengers 
arrived from Shaka to Mr. Farewell and myself, requesting that 
all blacks in our respective services be sent the following morn­
ing to follow up a party that had stolen some cattle. As the 
situation we were in compelled our compliance, they went. 
I proceeded to my residence at the Umzimkhulu, a distance of 
80 miles from the port. I had, however, been there only two 
days when I was surprised to hear that Shaka was near at hand 
on his way to attack the amaMpondo. As I received this 
intelligence from a chief on whom I could depend and who, 
moreover, had been sent ahead for the purpose of reconnoitring, 
I no longer doubted its truth, and, for the first time, saw into 
Shaka's scheme for obtaining our natives and H ottentots, for 
we had frequently told him we would not let our people assist 
him in attacking the amaMpondo. 

I went to meet him. I found him about 40 miles from my 
place; he was resting there for the night, having left the whole 
of his forces about five miles in the rear. We went forward next 
morning and, in the afternoon, arrived at one of my kraals, 
where I had about 100 muids of Indian com. On his asking 
therefor, I gave him the whole of it for the use of his army. 

On the following day we arrived at my residence (at the 
Umzimkhulu). Knowing it to be the custom for me as host to 

'In the Elizabeth and Susan in March, 182S.-Edito1·. 
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present the King with a bullock, I produced my herd and 
requested him to make himself welcome to as many as he 
thought fit. H e selected 17 and thereupon made my place 
his headquart ers. The army, after resting three days, 
marched towards their destination, some 120 miles further on 
to the south-westward. Shaka himself remained behind with 
only a small division, to act as circumstances might dictate. 

By this time I had acquired a thorough knowledge of the 
Zulu language, manners and customs, hence was able to spend 
my time pleasantly with Shaka; he always demanded my 
attendance during his leisure moments. All this, moreover, 
gave me an opportunity of minutely ascertaining the basis on 
which he acted. 

On the day of the army's departure the regiments assembled 
to the left of my place, drawing up in such a way as to form 
three sides of a square. The doctors having performed the 
usual ceremonies of strengthening them for the attack, Shaka 
came into their midst, and, in a speech, began to explain to 
them that the necessity of the expedition was to erase his 
wounded feeling for the mother he had lost. To make the loss 
more memorable, it was necessary that regret should be felt 
by other tribes in addition to his own. They must, therefore, 
exterminate the whole of the tribes between him and the 
Colony. He wished, he said, to open a road, and, for that 
purpose, had already sent chiefs in order that he might be on 
good terms with the white people. 

When he had finished speaking he ordered the Mkhindi 
(short-skirt) regiment t o take the lead. The army then divided 
into two divisions, which thereupon took different routes. Each 
of these divisions was subdivided into different regiments and 
companies, these, again, being headed by their respective chiefs. 
Mdlaka was in supreme command. The forces were directed 
to form a junction at the Umsikaba River, within the t erritory 
of the enemy. 

The chiefs, after starting, were called back and ordered not 
to proceed further than Hintza 's people. Shaka's cousin, 
Maphitha, 1 was detained and given secret orders by Shaka to 
find some plausible excuse for returning should the army 
happen to fall in with any white people. 

1MS. has Arnapeta. 
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Eight days after the departure of the army messengers 
arrived t o say that it was about to enter the tribe when the 
messengers left. Daily intelligence now arrived of its repeated 
successes, and of its having crossed the Umtata River. 

During the absence of the army I was constantly with 
Shaka and frequently had warm arguments with him. In these 
we used to differ much in opinion. One arose from his re­
peatedly calling his commander-in-chief, Mdlaka, a fool. I 
pointed out, why not take away the command. For his 
public abuse would prevent the army from obeying such orders 
as were given by him. He argued that they were all fools, but, 
being his people, no one would abuse them. To prove the truth 
of this assertion, he called on several chiefs to acknowledge 
themselves fools. This they did, saying I was one too, as well 
as the rest of the white people. No sooner, however, had they 
left his presence than Shaka offered me a pancake as apology 
for what he had said, which, he remarked, he knew to be 
wrong, but it would not do for his people to know that. 

On arriving at my place, he had sent to Natal for a new 
frying-pan. I attempted, at his request, to show his maid­
servants how to fry beaf-steak and pancakes. The latter were 
made of green Indian corn and water and fried in soup fat, for 
by Zulu custom neither sweet milk 1 nor butter might be used. 

Another argument arose in connection with the present 
campaign. We differed as usual in our opinions. I told him 
it was my opinion that if he wished to be on amicable terms 
with the Colonists a war with the Frontier tribes, as then 
going on on their borders, could not convince them of his 
being peacefully disposed . He, on the other hand, main­
tained they were not, as I held, allies, but enemies, and that 
we white people were merely playing with them. Black 
people who had committed an offence should not be talked to 
but killed, i.e. dealt with as he did. They would. not then 
offend any more. " How is it, " he observed, " they attempt to 
play on your superiority of force and arms ? You know they 
steal your cattle and kill your countrymen. By destroying a 
tribe entirely, killing the surviving chiefs, the people would be 
glad to join you on your own t erms. You could then seize all 

'That is, of a kraal in which one does not live.-Editor. 
L 
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the ivory and horns 1 without paying for them, and give me 
the beads." 

A rather curious incident occurred whilst Shaka was still at 
my place. I was surprised one morning to see one of my 
servants, a most faithful fellow, crying in my hut, evidently in 
great distress. He had already been four years in my employ. 
On inquiring into the cause of his grief, he said he had dreamt 
that he saw me being killed by Shaka's order at the back of my 
own garden. So great was his distress that I was quite unable 
to pacify him. At breakfast I mentioned the matter to Shaka. 
He said the proper thing to do was to consult an inyanga or 
diviner. This I then did for amusement. After the necessary 
ceremonies had been gone through, the diviner replied that 
Shaka had appeared in the dream merely because of his 
greatness. Nothing would induce him to kill me. The man 
went on to interpret the dream as meaning that one of my 
greatest and nearest relations, on the other side of the sea, was 
dead. With this explanation the servant was satisfied. 
Strangely enough, not many weeks later, after I had gone back 
to Natal, a vessel brought a letter announcing the death of my 
mother. She had died a little before the servant had his 
dream. Later on, when I had quite forgotten the matter, the 
same servant alluded to it in the course of an argument in 
support of his belief in izinyanga (diviners). Against such 
belief I often attempted to argue, though with little effect, for 
all that natives would allow was that diviners of the present­
day, perhaps on account of their being more enlightened, were 
not as competent as those of former days. 

Owing to the knowledge I had of Faku, Shaka asked me 
one morning if I thought, were he to withdraw his army, Faku 
would consent to becoming his tributary. I replied in the 
affirmative and recommended, as an inducement, the return of 
the girls who had been captured and sent to him by the army, 
and refraining from destroying more corn. To this he assent ed. 
H e accordingly sent messengers to Faku with proposals for 
peace, at the same time returning the females as proof of his 
bona fides; he, moreover, directed his army to withdraw and 
to stop destroying the corn. Several chiefs of petty tribes in 
Faku's neighbourhood, with messengers from Faku, returned 

1This refers to tusks, usually called by Zulus izimpondo zezindlovu----horns 
of elephants.-Editor. 
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with the army to thank him for his liberality in thus sparing 
their lives. They were rewarded with presents of cattle, 
selected from those that had been taken from them. 

Messengers now arrived to inform Shaka of the near 
approach of the army; they were severely beaten with sticks for 
bringing such information. Shaka wanted to know why they 
had not reached the Colony and defeated the tribes according to 
his orders. In consequence of this the army could not approach 
him; they, therefore, remained three days on a plain four miles 
away, in a starving state, although amidst droves of cattle they 
had taken, to the amount of 30,000. 

On the evening of the third day Shaka requested me to 
collect the people and deliver an order from him for them to 
scour the surrounding country in search of buck and bring the 
skins to him. I would be able, he said, to point out the bushes 
that most abounded in game. He desired Ngomane to go with 
me and inform them that during their absence certain chiefs 
to the eastward of the Zulus had been co-habiting with their 
women and were wearing beads and brass, forgetting the death 
of such an important personage as his mother. For having 
done this, they had insulted the Zulus beyond hope of for­
giveness. He, however, did not wish them to be attacked that 
year as the army was still tired, nor did he wish his men to 
know of the insults that had been received. Ngomane, on 
coming before the army, was to pretend he had only accidentally 
met me on the road, then say he took that opportunity of 
informing them of the insult, and it was his opinion that, if they 
had the hearts of Zulus to insist, the King would afford them 
an opportunity of immediately avenging the wrongs they had 
been subiected to. He was, moreover, to give them 50 head of 
cattle, as from himself (Ngomane), such, however, to be reported 
to Shaka as having died from fatigue. I went on, anxious to 
witness the result of this scheme. 

When the army had assembled, I delivered Shaka's order. 
After this, Ngomane, standing in the centre of the assembly, 
introduced himself and set forth everything as he had been 
desired to do. He begged that, if they had any regard for him, 
an old chief, they would not let Shaka know that he had 
acquainted them with what he had been saying, as should 
they presume to do that it would result in orders being issued I 
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for his death. He again assured them that Shaka was ignorant 
of the proposals he had made. 

H e had no sooner sat down than several chiefs rose to 
acquiesce in his opinion. One in particular said that the whole 
army, during such time as they had served under Shaka, every 
time a war was proposed had expected to be defeated, but, 
under his command, they had become so used to conquering 
and to seeing the enemy entirely defeated on every occasion, 
that they were now ready to face whatever enemy might offer, 
and that as soon as possible. The general acclamations of 
applause that followed this speech convinced Ngomane of their 
willingness to carry out what he had proposed. We returned to 
Shaka after Ngomane had given the cattle referred to, which, 
he said, were to be reported on the following day as having diesL 

When Ngomane acquainted the King with what had taken 
place, Shaka told him he had omitted a very necessary point 
in not requesting the troops to send chiefs to him to request 
and insist on the King giving his consent . These, however, 
soon appeared, when Shaka argued with them and appeared 
determined not to consent. Only after much entreaty did he 
do so. When people arrived to report the death of the cattle 
they were severely beaten and threatened with death for not 
having taken better care of them, as Shaka pretended to 
suspect that they themselves had killed them. 

It is necessary here to observe that Matiwane's tribe was 
located some way up the Umtata River before the Zulus 
appeared in that country. The great consternation the frontier 
tribes were thrown into, in consequence of Shaka's invasion, 
gave Matiwane an opportunity of attacking them and capturing 
their cattle. 

This man's forces , in consequence of reports being circulated 
in the Colony of an intended invasion by the Zulus, with me 
at their head, were supposed to be a division of Shaka's army. 
Reports such as these induced the Colonial Command of 1828 
to advance against this supposed formidable enemy. The 
Zulus had, by that time, returned to their own country, but the 
Colonial forces, misled by their interpreters, were brought into 
conflict with Matiwane, who was, indeed, an uMfecani or 
marauder, though erroneously supposed at the time to be part 
of Shaka's forces. 
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It was a very shrewd political move on the part of the 
Frontier tribes to direct the British forces against Matiwane, 
as it prevented this chief from taking advantage of their 
distressed state. Had Matiwane not been conquered, he would 
most likely have proved a very great annoyance to the Colony. 
The thorough manner in which they were defeated will ever be 
remembered by those who were present. Although many in 
the Colony condemned the proceedings as improper, they did 
not have the opportunity of witnessing the dread caused by 
that marauder's depredations, the accounts of whi<:h, 
exaggerated to the utmost by those who escaped, ran throug~ 
the country like wildfire. There can be no doubt but that this 
action prevented, and will prevent, the loss of many more 
thousands than were slain on that day, namely by keeping 
ambitious or ignorant people from attempting what they 
might otherwise have ventured upon. 

The day after Ngomane addressed the army Shaka per­
mitted it to appear in his presence. He examined the cattle 
which had been captured, and had them· sorted according to 
their colours. Those which had been seized by the Mkhindi 
regiment were kept apart, but to them were added some of the 
cattle captured by natives in our service, viz: three small 
droves. When the latter cattle were seized one of the 
amaMpondo people had been shot. 

After the cattle had been sorted, the army formed up in 
the centre of a plain, where it went through the usual ceremonies 
at the hands of the doctors. The whole of it then proceeded by 
order of the King to wash in the sea. When the troops re­
turned from the sea a song, which had been composed by 
Shaka during their absence, was sung. Roughly, it was as 
follows: 

L 1 

Zhi, zhi, zhi, zhi, zhi, zhi, zhi, zhi, 
We never heard of wars like those of the Bathwas 

and the Jayis, 
Also that of Mlotshwa, son of Vezi, 

All enemies indeed, 
They ran off with Phunga's cattle, 

And threw in their lot with the Swazis; 
So too, Mlotshwa, who likewise stole from N tombazi; 

Though we at first were his protectors 
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And put ourselves betwixt him and the foe. 
We removed Mlotshwa from the stump behind which 

men are wont to hide, 
Oh, Swazis and Mthethwas, how have we offended you? 

Give ear, oh people! 
The honey's been eaten by the ratel 

The bees have flown and quite deserted you. 
You turned from the path without even trying it . 

Not by word of mouth are arguments decided, 
But by facts being put to the practical test. 

You drove them away there, o'er Nhlokonhloko hills, 
Raising great dust in the land, 

Who dare now take and slaughter them. 

The following is an explanation of the foregoing: The 
interj ections Zhi, zhi, zhi . .. are exclamations of triumph. 

The Bathwas and amaJayi were two tribes; Umlotshwa the 
chief of yet another. These three tribes were continually at 
war with Shaka, though at length he defeated them. At first 
he had invited them to become his subjects, but they declined. 
Mlotshwa subsequently stole a lot of cattle belonging to Shaka 

• (inherited by the latter from his great grandfather, Phunga), 
joined the Swazis (other enemies of Shaka), and then took 
refuge in their caves. After this he joined Shaka's most 
formidable foe, the Ndwandwe tribe, only, however, to be put 
to death by Ntombazi, Zwide's principal wife. It is this that 
makes Shaka say that he was, at first, Mlotshwa's protector 
and offered him peace. For the Zulu army, when attacking 
Zwide, at the time hostile to Mlotshwa, passed by Mlotshwa, 
i.e. beyond where he was living. It is the same incident which 
makes him say further that he put him (Mlotshwa) in the rear, 
i.e. set the Zulu army between him and his enemy. 

The association of the names Swazis and Mthethwas is 
deliberat e. The latter, of course, were, by this time, Shaka's 
subjects, but, owing t o having recently offended him, he here 
uses their name in conjunction with that of the former to show 
his great displeasure at their conduct. 

The latter portion of the song beginning " Give ear, oh 
people ! " alludes to the Zulu army's dilatoriness in attacking 
the Pondos so much as to afford the latter an opportunity of 
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running off with the greater part of their cattle. This made it 
possible for any other tribe but the Zulus to capture them. 
The word honey means cattle, and being eaten by the ratel 
refers to those who might have seized them as the Pondos 
were making off with them helter-skelter. Ratel is the Cape 
ratel, an animal very fond of honey. The two lines about 
arguments means that all the Zulu army says in defence of 
their conduct is of little avail, as, after consideration of the 
actual circumstances Shaka is convinced of their being unsound. 

The driving them over the hills of Nhlokonhloko merely 
refers to the cattle fleeing over the hills with their owners, the 
Pondos. There is no such hill as Nhlokonhloko in those parts. 
The word Nhlokonhloko is a fictitious term used in derision of 
the Pondos, who are accustomed to wear their hair extra­
ordinarily long (inhloko means a head). The plural inhlokonhloko 
might be said to mean a mass of heads or many head-dresses. 
Raising a great dust refers to the clouds of dust caused by so 
many cattle fleeing in all directions. The last line, " Who dare 
now take and slaughter them," means that, having succeeded 
in escaping him (Shaka), what other person could possibly 
capture and enjoy them. 

After the singing, the thought of his mother produced a 
tear from Shaka, which instantly affected the whole army, and 
a general uproar commenced, but it lasted only half an hour. 

The next day Shaka commenced his return and insisted 
upon my accompanying him, the captured cattle being stationed 
in different parts of the country. 

On our crossing the Umzimkhulu, where the tide was high, 
many little boys would have been carried down with the 
stream. Shaka, foreseeing this, plunged into the river, with 
only his head-dress on, and remained one and a half hours in 
the water, giving the boys to the care of the men, who otherwise 
would have left them to their fate, and collecting the calves, 
which were nearly drowned, ordering fires to be made to assist 
in their recovery. 

In the evening he slept at the kraal where I had given him 
the corn. Here he put to death one of his sisters for having 
taken a pinch of snuff out of his snuff-box. Such opposed kinds 
of conduct in one person appeared to me to be strange, but I 
afterwards became convinced that both the contradictory 
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dispositions, delicate feeling and extreme brutality, were 
intimately blended in him. 

We proceeded on our journey, and in three days arrived at 
Port Natal. On the fifth day Shaka rose very early. I over­
took him when he was ascending a hill, on the side of which, at 
the bottom, the Mbelebele 1 regiment happened to have 
bivouacked . When he, Shaka, perceived that the regiment was 
not yet moving he ordered his servants to run and stab a few 
of them. They did so and killed five . The regiment then ran 
on ahead with all possible speed t o lead the way and clear it 
of thorns, the omission to do which, in accordance with the 
usual practice, they supposed was the reason why the servants 
were killing them. In their haste a group of men passed within 
five yards of Shaka, not having noticed him till they got within 
that distance. He looked at them so fiercely as to make them 
run back, whereupon he vociferated his usual oath, "Mnka­
bay i," 2 in so violent a manner as to bring them to a momentary 
stand. He then ordered an attendant to single out a man and 
stab him. They sat down, about 80 in number, when the 
attendant for some moments looked about for a bad-looking 
man ; he found one, then stabbed him in the left breast and, by 
Shaka's order, left the assegai in the body that it might be seen 
by passers-by. The moment the assegai pierced the body 
Shaka averted his head, his countenance betraying something 
like a feeling of horror, but we had not proceeded more than a 
mile when two other unfortunates experienced the same fate. 

As soon as we came in sight of Dukuza we rested near a 
drove of cattle. He called the boys employed in herding them 
and asked them if they sucked the cows that had small calves. 
They denied having done that, upon which he directed them 
to take the usual oath. This they refused to do, knowing they 
were guilty. He then told them t o go to the army about a 
mile distant, and say he had ordered them to be put to death. 
They did what he told them to do and were instantly killed. 

When, in the evening, we arrived at Dukuza Shaka was 
received with shoutings and acclamations of praise, celebrating 
his repeated successes. After the war-song had been sung the 
people retired to rest. On the following day I left for Natal. 

'MS. has Umbalabala. 
2?11S . has Umcarbe, Shaka's elder sist er. 
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I had gone only two days when the army was sent off to 
attack Nkantolo and Sindane, two tributary chiefs, for having 
dared to disobey the orders before mentioned, and from thence 
to proceed to Soshangane's, 80 miles to the north-east, beyond 
Delagoa Bay and near 500 miles from Dukuza. They had been 
gone scarcely two days when Shaka found that , from the 
strictness with which his orders had been enforced, scarcely 
an able-bodied man had been left at home with him and sent 
to the army for the return of all the baggage boys, compelling 
the soldiers to carry their own baggage. With these he formed 
a regiment which he called Nyosi, i.e. Bees. 

In a few days all communications were cut off from the army 
by Sobuza, chief of a tribe which had several times joined the 
Zulus and as often revolted, intercepting all messengers and 
killing them, protecting himself from the Zulus by the 
capabilities the caverns of that country afforded him. He kept 
the road constantly patrolled, so that information was only 
received of the defeat of the two tribes which had insulted the 
memory of N andi. 

About this time Shaka composed the following song: 

Translation: 

SONG OF SHARA 

A6am6ulali ngani njengoyise? 
A6am6ulali ngani njengoyise ? 

Eayamzonda. 
Inkonyana yozondwayo njengoyise. 
I nkonyana yozondwayo njengoyise. 

Eayamzonda. 

Why do they not kill him as they did his father? 
Why do they not kill him as they did his father? 

They hate him. 

The calf of the hated one, like his father, 
The calf of the hated one, like his father, 

They hate him. 
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Uyise meaning his father, who he wished to be believed was 
murdered, the calf of the murdered one is himself, intimating 
that he preferred death to constant trouble. 

About this time he dreamt he had seen the vessel in which 
his chiefs had embarked, and the mast was broken. With this 
he informed Mr. Farewell, concluding that something serious 
had befallen his mission and he sent an ox to be killed at 
Soto6e's kraal to intercede with his spirits for his welfare. This 
had not happened many days before the vessel arrived with 
Soto6e, M6ozam6oza, Jacob and Mr. King, accompanied by 
the Helicon, brig of war. 

Mr. King was in a state of serious illness occasioned by the 
many mortifications he had experienced. Mr. King, on leaving 
Natal, had arranged his affairs, expecting to proceed with the 
chiefs entrusted to his care to England, but on arriving at 
Algoa Bay Major Cloet e was sent from the Cape to take charge 
of the chiefs and act as the Colonial Government should direct. 
This Mr. King could not consent to, they having been given into 
his charge, and my remaining a hostage in Shaka's hands for 
their kind treatment and return. 

The consequence was a misunderstanding, which was secretly 
fomented by Jacob, always anxious to injure the whites, 
between Major Cloete and Mr. King, the chiefs becoming the 
sufferers, being frequently examined and interrogated in a way 
they did not understand and had not been led to expect. The 
advance of the Zulus towards the frontiers made matters still 
worse. They were suspected as spies and interrogated on a 
subject they could not possibly know anything of. Fearing the 
result , should they be taken from Mr. King's care, one of them 
attempted t o run away in the night to reach the Zulus, and 
although the Government were not sparing in their expense for 
all their wants, and Mr. King's friends behaved in the kindest 
manner to the visitors, yet they were disgusted with the place 
and glad to return on any conditions. 

Expecting to see castles, cities, soldiers and ships, they saw 
only a village and oxen which they were in the habit of seeing 
in their own country. The place could not impress them with 
any idea of British greatness, but materially served to eradicate 
those ideas of Britain's grandeur and power we had all striven 

to inculcate. 
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Owing to Mr. King's state of health he was unable to 
accompany the chiefs to the King's presence on their return, and 
Mr. Isaacs proceeded with them, taking a present from the 
Colonial Government and one from Mr. King. The description 
given by the chiefs of their reception differed very much from 
what Shaka had expected, and they represented everything to 
the greatest disadvantage to escape being punished by death for 
not proceeding to England. This, with the deficiency of the so 
much expected Macassar oil, enraged Shaka against the whole 
of us, his passion for the present venting itself on Mr. Isaacs, 
whom he endeavoured in every way to insult, accusing Mr. King 
of having plundered his property and bestowing abusive 
epithets on the whole of us-and, from some motive or other, 
he determined on sending Mr. Cane overland to the Colonial 
Government to complain of the treatment he had received, 
giving him orders to demand all the ivory from the frontier 
chiefs and give it to the Colonial Government, though he must 
have known such orders were useless. 

Mr. Cane had not left many days when Mr. King expired, 
his complaint being irritated by his disappointment at the 
failure of this mission. Shaka was, however, glad to be able to 
say that an umnumzane, i.e. gentleman, had died a natural 
death and not by the hands of his people or himself which was 
more than his forefathers or neighbours could boast of. 

After sprinkling the gall of a calf round Shaka to purify him 
after the death of Mr. King, we returned to Natal. 

A few days only elapsed when Mr. Hutton, commander of 
the Elizabeth and Susan, formerly of the Mary, was taken ill 
and died. The command of the vessel then fell on Mr. Isaacs, 
who, after arranging Mr. King's affairs, sailed for Algoa Bay, 
when Mr. Farewell took a passage for the Colony. 

From the time the army had left, the active mind of Shaka 
could not be quiet or free from bloodshed. H e had, six months 
before, publicly asserted his skill as a necromancer and now, for 
want of other active employment, began to exercise his new 
profession. For that purpose he collected the women of each 
kraal round his neighbourhood, separately, to find out those 
possessed of magic arts, going over the forms usual on such 
occasions. They were interrogated as to their having magical 
powers or not. Finding the answer in the negative had no 
effect, some had the boldness to avow their being acquainted 
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with them, but either answer produced the same result. Dead 
bodies were to be seen in every direction, not less than 400 or 
500 being killed during the absence of their husbands at war. 

During the life of Shaka his despotic sway was so feared 
that his name was seldom mentioned but as the form of an 
oath, and much more dangerous was the attempt to trace in 
any way the particulars of his family, who were not permitted 
publicly to be known as his relatives. His brothers, though 
numerous, were not allowed to call themselves so, except 
Ngwadi, brother on his mother's side. Dingane and Mhlangana 
were only partially known, the former much resembling Shaka 
in person. Their apparent fondness was so great that one was 
seldom seen without the other. In the same house lived 
M6opha, son of Sithayi, a Zulu chief and principal servant of 
Shaka. These were the three conspirators who put Shaka to 
death. 

There is little doubt that the intention of killing Shaka had 
been long in contemplation. As I have since.understood, it was 
intended to have taken place at my residence during the attack 
on the amaMpondos, at which time both brothers remained 
behind with Shaka feigning sickness, when an opportunity was 
wanting to effect their purpose. 

On the 24th September, 1828, Shaka, while taking his usual 
sleep at midday, dreamt he was killed and M6opha's sister, one 
of the seraglio, knowing the result would be likely to prove 
her brother's death, told him what had transpired, to give him 
an opportunity of killing a cow as soon as possible, to invoke 
his spirit. This information induced M6opha to urge his ac­
complices. Some Bechuanas arriving with crane feathers, 
which Shaka had long expected, these people were brought to 
him, he being in a small kraal he had built about 50 yards from 
Dukuza, calling it Nyakomu6i or Ugly Year. There he went 
to receive them. The two brothers, being informed of it by 
M6opha, took a circuitous route to come in at the back of the 
kraal, having concealed assegais under their karosses, and sat 
behind the fence. Shaka asked the Bechuanas what had 
detained them so long, in a harsh tone. M6opha immediately 
threw a stick at them. They ran away instantly, supposing 
it the signal for their death, which had been given to M6opha 
by Shaka unperceived by them, as was his custom in those 
cases. Shaka asking why he had struck them, Mhlangana 
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embraced the opportunity and, from behind the fence, stabbed 
at the back of his left shoulder. Shaka had only time to look 
round and, seeing the two brothers, exclaim : " What is 
the matter, children of my father? " when Dingane stabbed 
him. He then threw the blanket from him and, taking the 
assegai from his side with which Dingane had stabbed him, 
fell dead near the kraal gate. Ingnasconca, uncle to N andi, 
and Nomxamama, two chiefs coming up with Ngomane, the 
two former were instantly killed and the latter wounded, but 
allowed to live should he recover from his wounds. The few 
people in the neighbourhood had run to the bushes for fe-ar and 
were with great difficulty, using threats and hopes, induced to 
assemble and sing the war-whoop song, the females of the 
seraglio joining, some crying, others singing. The war-whoop 
having been sung, an ox was killed as a thank offering to the 
spirits, which was no sooner done than a dispute arose between 
the two brothers who should first use the gall, which, in these 
occasions, is partly drunk and the remainder sprinkled over 
their bodies and the bladder worn round the arm, each insisting 
on his superior right. They were, however, pacified by the 
interference of M6opha, who was proclaimed in the presence of 
the few people collected as being invested with sovereign 
power, till the return of the army, when they should act as they 
might think proper. 

During the night the news spread over the country, and 
messengers were sent to inform the Europeans at Natal of the 
event that had taken place, assuring us, as well as all they were 
sent to, that Shaka had intended our deaths, but which they 
had been fortunate enough to frustrate. 

The body of Shaka had remained all night on the spot where 
he fell. When Soto6e and several others proposed his having 
the rites of burial, to which, his having been so great a king, 
he was entitled, let faults have been what they might, the 
brothers asked Soto6e by what means they could repress 
Shaka's anger so that when he became a spirit he might assist 
them in their endeavours, he recommended that a piece of 
umutsha, or dress worn behind, to be cut off and put into his 
mouth, which would have the desired effect. This being done, 
the assegai was taken from his hand, his personal property was 
all collected, amounting to several tons of beads, brass and 
various other articles. A grave was dug, his mat laid down, his 
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head placed on his pillow, his blanket placed over him, and his 
property placed by his side. The earth was then thrown in and 
a hut built over it. The people employed at the burial were 
posted as guard over him, having cattle and corn given them 
for their subsistence. They were now isolated from their 
countrymen, not being allowed to associate with anyone or go 
out of the place, and everyone entering the kraal was subj ect 
to the same restrictions on pain of death. 

Chapter XII 

U NTIL the return of the people, by whom the claim to the 
succession to the kingdom could be discussed, M6opha 
assumed the direction of affairs, and set on foot an ex­

pedition against Ngwadi, 1 another of Nandi's sons by Ngende­
yana, 2 who no doubt would have aspired to succeed Shaka. 
It was not likely that he would succeed in that object, but 
the attempt might have caused much unnecessary bloodshed. 

The first thing M6opha3 did was to have all the cattle that 
had been taken from the amaMpondo 4 collected and brought to 
him. These cattle had been left along the route the army 
had taken through the uninhabited country between the 
Umzimkhulu and Port Natal, with only a few people to herd 
them, and might have been retaken by the amaMpondo 
without more trouble than that of driving them. It was 
nothing else but the dread of Shaka which prevented their 
being retaken. 

Mr. King's vessel the Shaka, 5 commanded by Mr. Isaacs 
owing to the death of Mr. Hutton shortly after that of Mr. King, 
had in the meantime sailed for the Colony. 

Whilst the cattle were being collected, many slight quarrels 
occurred between Dingane and Mhlangana, on subjects of 
apparently the most trifling description, and scarcely a day 
passed without something of the kind. Once a dispute about 

1MS. has Engwade. 
2MS. has Ingindearn ; also pronounced Gendeyana by Zulus. 
3MS. has Umbopo. 
'MS. has Armumpondoes. 
6\,Vent also by the name of Elizabeth and Susan.-Editor. 
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two sticks rose to a very high pitch, and showed evidently that 
these disagreements were only occasioned by their broodings 
on the subject of the grand point which each was wishing to 
attain. However, their better sense induced them to set such 
feelings aside, and prepare to attack Ngwadi. Both saw the 
urgent necessity of destroying him, as, if this were not done, 
opposition might be anticipated on the return of the army. 

They started from Dukuza1 under the command of M6opha, 
in two divisions, one being the regiment of Nyosi, or Bees, 
that had been raised by Shaka, and the other consisting of all 
the stragglers that had remained at home from sickness or 
other causes. At the time of Shaka's death 2 the Bees were 
away destroying certain kraals to the eastward. Ngwadi, 
during Shaka's reign, had been much in his favour and 
regarded as a king over his own kraals in a very independent 
way, not conforming to Shaka's orders unless they related to 
him personally. 

When the nation was ordered to the north-eastward Ngwadi 
had remained at home with his own division. This force being so 
greatly superior to that under M6opha, the greatest secrecy 
was required on the part of his assailants, in order that he 
might be cut off before the kraals in his neighbourhood should 
know of the impending attack; and in this M6opha succeeded 
so far as to be able to make the attack at break of day . 

It being the custom among warriors to assume names of 
distinction, by which they are subsequently known in the regi­
ments to which they belong, Ngwadi had chosen that of our 
sovereign George, adding to it the prefix um, for the Zulus do 
not use any word of one syllable. 3 

The inhabitants of his kraal no sooner set their eyes on 
their foes than they flew from their huts to attack, swearing 
(like Britons), as they did so, to die " by George " for their 
king. Although their numbers were small compared with that 
of their aggressors, not one attempted to escape. This un­
paralleled little action was most desperately and heroically 
fought by gwadi's men, only as warriors of Shaka could do. 
All flashed their assegais to the end, killing more than their own 

1MS. has Tugusar. 
'Circa 29th October, 1828.-Editor. 
3Except for interjections.-Edilor. 
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number before they themselves were completely annihilated by 
the few left surviving of M6opha's army. 

Not more than 20 of M6opha's force were left alive out of 
300; of Ngwadi's party not a solitary one-they had fought 
literally to the last man. Ngwadi alone made eight lick the 
dust before he fell, stabbed in the back by a boy during the 
battle. 

This obstacle to their designs being removed, M6opha and 
his associates returned to Siphezi, 1 one of Shaka's kraals, to 
await the homeward march of the great army, when a king 
would be elected. The one brother was now only an obstacle 
in the way of the other. Mhlangana could not endure long 
suspense, being under the impression that there was more hope 
for his brother than for himself. Of the two Dingane appeared 
to have the greater influence. One day Dingane saw him 
sharpening an assegai, and because on being observed Mhla­
ngana became agitated, the former suspected that it was in­
tended to take his life. He informed M6opha of the circumstance 
and of his suspicions, and requested him to sound his brother as 
to his intentions, so that he (Dingane) might know how to act. 

M6opha accordingly went to Mhlangana, apparently in the 
most friendly manner, and, speaking in a careless way about 
Dingane, ridiculed the idea of his sharpening an assegai for his 
brother, since the murder would not attain his object without 
the approbation of the army. He persuaded Mhlangana not 
to think of committing any more outrages, as, in the absence 
of the army, they had perhaps already gone too far. Mhlangana 
replied that he would not wait long and see such a fool as 
Dingane with pretensions which the least of his brothers would 
be more capable of realizing ; M6opha expressed his concurrence 
in this, assuring Mhlangana that the act he was meditating was 
unnecessary, as he, M6opha, intended from the first to do all 
in his power for him, and only awaited the return of the army 
to convince him of his good wishes; but he strongly recom­
mended him to set aside his present intentions, as the whole 
of the community was still in terror from what had already 
occurred. This to some ext ent succeeded in pacifying Mhla­
ngana and gave M6opha time to tell Dingane the result of his 
visit. The latter had no sooner heard this than he collected a 

1MS. has I sepase. 
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few people on the spot, with the assistance of M6opha, and 
made them surround the hut, from which Mhlangana was then 
dragged forth and summarily put to death. 1 

This effectually removed every obstacle that stood between 
Dingane and his assumption of sovereign power, that is, until 
the return of the army, which occurred about 14 days later. 2 

The troops on their arrival were in a miserable plight. 
They had passed by Delagoa Bay into the interior, and had 
marched as far as Inhambane, frequently losing their way 
before they fell in with Soshangane. This chief they proposed 
attacking the next day, but being surprised during the night by 
Soshangane's army-when one regiment was entirely destroyed 
- their plans of further acting on the aggressive were frustrated. 
Soshangane had been urged to attack them by a Zulu chief 
who had deserted from the Zulu army. Owing to their famished 
condition the Zulus were unable to renew the attack. On the 
way back the army completely lost their way, imagining that 
they had got to the east of the sun. They had suffered severely 
from sickness and hunger. In the regions beyond Delagoa Bay 
they, for the first time, met with locusts, which rose in clouds 
from the eastward. These insects were, for many days, almost 
the only food the army had to subsist on. Large numbers died 
of sickness, whilst fully half of the force remained behind, 
enfeebled or prostrate through illness, and were unable to 
reach Zululand until two or three months after the return of 
the main body. 

Shaka did not live to witness the m;serable spectacle they 
presented on their return, as, unaccustomed to such a reverse 
of fortune, he would probably have resorted to such acts of 
cruelty as might have had serious results. Nothing of the kind 
had occurred during his reign. To return without the defeat 
of the enemy, without even a trophy of cattle, would have 
aroused his severest anger; his independence of all self control 
would have hurried him to such acts as would have compelled 
the nation to revolt and destroy him, or suffer in some terrible 
way. 

1This occurred cfrca November, 1828. This is not the accou nt of Mhla­
ngana's death usually accepted by the Zulus. cf. Dhlomo, R. R. R., uDingane 
chapters IV a nd V. See a lso Olden Times in Zululand and Natal, by A. T. 
Bryant, p. 669, where a nother account is given . 

2The army began to return gradua lly by degrees after Ngwadi a nd Mhla­
ngana had been put to death, probably during November, 1828.-Editor. 

M 
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On the other hand had they been successful, there is no 
doubt they would have been driven to excesses and not borne 
the murder of Shaka as quietly as they did. Their fatigued 
and famished state required that rest for their weary limbs 
which the flattering promises of Dingane had induced them to 
look for. 

In the circumstances there were few who did not bless the 
spirits of their forefathers for allowing them t o enter their huts 
and rest themselves, few who did not contemplate their late 
sad position and compare it with the present and that which 
the promises made them led them to expect. For Dingane not 
only behaved towards them in their distressed st ate with 
liberality and kindness, but promised to set the minds of his 
people at ease in the future by not imitating the conduct of 
Shaka, in such matters as he considered to be hurtful to them. 

He composed or caused to be composed national songs, 
containing denunciations against the former state of things; 
his general conversation was, moreover, directed against the 
severe character of Shaka's government. He adopted mild 
measures, and thought that he was establishing himself firmly, 
when obstacles occurred which showed him the true state of 
things, and the motives that had driven his predecessor to such 
extreme lengths of severity and cruelty. I shall not be in the 
least surprised to see repeated by Dingane the very acts for 
which he and his confederates assassinated Shaka. 

The deep impression Shaka had made on his subj ects, 
as well as the numerous cunning devices he had from time 
to time resorted to, caused many to suspect that he, Shaka, 
was still alive and that, in order to be quite satisfied as to their 
loyalty, he had conspired with Dingane to the effect that the 
latter should temporarily pose as king. Dingane knew of these 
prevailing suspicions, also that a large section of the nation 
deeply deplored the death of Shaka. He consequently decided 
to allow Shaka's favourites to retain their respective positions 
for the time being, a policy which seemed to hold out prospects 
of a better future. The favourites, however, remained in office 
only until he had firmly secured the sovereign power, when 
he found an excuse for putting to death Mdlaka, Shaka's 
commander-in-chief, a man who had held that position from 
the commencement of Shaka's reign, had had the entire man­
agement of the army and who had rigorously and successfully 
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fought his many and famous battles, conquering every nation 
or tribe he attacked. He had given great satisfaction to Shaka, 
though it was never acknowledged. But as his protector was 
no longer living his days were numbered. Such a man had to 
be removed if room was to be found for creatures of Dingane's 
own choice, by means of whom he could then inaugurate his 
own despotic career. 

The person appointed to take Mdlaka's position was Ndlela, 
a man who, as it happened, was greatly respected by the people. 
The remainder of Shaka's favourites were removed one by one 
from their positions, and a body of chiefs selected by Dingane 
himself were appointed in their place. On such chiefs, there­
fore, was laid full responsibility for dealing with and settling all 
the disputes of the people. It appeared at first as if Dingane 
did not and would not interfere with this tribunal, so much so, 
that persons accused of having committed crimes might expect 
to be tried fairly, instead of their fate depending, as had former­
ly been the case, merely on the King's own decision. This, 
however, proved to be only a show of justice, for all cases, 
prior to any proceedings in connection therew~th, we~e .re­
ported to him. If trivial he disposed of them himself; 1f im­
portant they were referred to the chiefs for adjudication, steps, 
however, being taken in each instance to acquaint the judges 
beforehand with the King's private opinion. And so it happened 
that all these decisions were invariably biased to the extent 
of being made to conform to the King's will, pleasure or per­
sonal caprice. 

Not three months after the return of the army from Sosha­
ngane's, the people became convinced that Dingane's promises 
were nothing but words. Numbers were put to death for the 
most trivial offences, and many for having expressed disappoint­
ment at non-fulfilment of the promises he had made. Then did 
the destruction of human beings begin to go on as a matter of 
daily routine, as it had done in Shaka's day, and many of the 
former objectionable customs were retained, contrary to the 
expectation of the people in general. 

It is true that the people at large under Dingane were 
released from the state of perpetual terror they had experienced 
during the reign of his predecessor. At the same time there 
appears to be a want of that affection and respect which Shaka 
always engendered or commanded. The manners of the people 
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appear under Dingane to have undergone a considerable 
change. There is more ease and freedom in conduct-this 
being especially noticeable in their dancing. Instead of the 
energy and fieriness of disposition that used to be observed in 
the dancing and singing there is now a coolness, sedateness and 
formal regularity. In other words, the personal dispositions 
of the kings themselves are reflected in the very styles in which 
their subjects are wont to dance and sing. 

The immense number of girls who were collected during 
Shaka's reign were, in that of Dingane, released from his 
seraglios and permitted to marry among the chiefs and elders. 
Dingane retained only about 300. The order these are kept in 
as well as the extreme neatness and grandeur of their costumes, 
far surpassing what one would expect to be possible when 
obliged to make use of only beads and brass, is enough to 
convince one that Dingane is at once resourceful and endowed 
with superior taste. 

During his visit to the Zulus in 1832 Dr. Andrew Smith 
could scarcely believe that such grandeur as he beheld, on 
being invited one evening to come into Dingane's seraglio, 
could be found among the native tribes of Kaffraria or indeed 
anywhere else. 

The Zulu nation is composed of a multitude of tribes. 
These were combined by Shaka into a single nation, a nation 
which he alone had the ability to control. Under Dingane a 
number of the tribes became insubordinate, he being regarded 
by the tribes that had been annexed as having no claim on 
their allegiance. 

Among the songs composed by him reflecting on the conduct 
of Shaka was one exposing the folly of depriving people of the 
right or liberty of marrying, though this was not to be under­
stood as consenting to them marrying, as will appear from 
what took place in the following notable instance. Now it so 
happens that the case about to be quoted, although aptly 
illustrating the foregoing statement, became the starting point 
of a whole series of other events which, being important, I 
propose forthwith to enter upon, particularly as the whole fall 
within the earlier years of Dingane 's reign. 
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Nqetho, 1 heir apparent to the chieftainship of the Qwabe 2 

tribe, had just married two wives. One of these was the widow 
of his deceased brother, but in accordance with custom auto­
matically became his, Nqetho's, wife. Since Nqetho's brother's 3 

death she had lived in Shaka's seraglio, but as that vast estab­
lishment had now almost entirely broken up, to make room for 
the smaller one of Dingane, she claimed N qetho as her husband. 
In consequence of this he sent to Dingane that only one woman 
had come to him to be married, alluding only to the other 
girl. But Dingane, having heard of the other (i.e. the spinster), 
handed Nqetho's messenger over to the chiefs, by whom he 
was to be tried for attempting to impose on the King. 

The chiefs decided in favour of Nqetho, giving it as their 
opinion that he was not obliged to report his having taken to 
wife a woman who was already married to him by an ancient 
custom. Dingane was of a different opinion, pointing out that 
his orders were that no marriage of any kind was to be entered 
into. When Nqetho received this information, he concluded 
that his life was in danger, real and immediate. 

He forthwith collected a few of his tribe and revolted .4 

He made his way into the centre of the tribal area by night, 
using the general cry of rebels. He proclaimed liberty to the 
oppressed, was lavish of promises of good, and quickly appointed 
people in different parts to call the Qwabes5 together. In three 
days he had managed to collect a large body without interference 
of any kind by the Zulus. The outrages committed by this 
tribe, and the cattle they seized in various directions, induced 
many to believe that Dingane's not acting promptly in repres­
sing the lawlessness arose from a sheer sense of fear, brought 
on by the suddenness and energy of the rising, which resulted 
in many more joining Nqetho than would otherwise have been 
the r.ase. 

A few days later a skirmish took place with a small part of 
Dingane's forces, the latter being compelled to retreat with 
loss. This incident gave still further confidence to Nqetho's 

1MS. has Catu. 
2MS. has Quarbe. 
3Phakathwayo is the man referred to. He was chief of the Qwa6e when it 

was conquered by Shaka early in his reign. H e died a day or two afterwards, 
not of wounds, for he was not physically injured, but of grief, humiliation 
and despair.-Editor. 

4This occurred about March, 1829.-Editor. 
5MS . has Quarbes. 
ML 
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army, which was fast increasing in numbers. Nqetho now took 
up a position in the centre of Magaye's1 tribe, a small tribe 
tributary to the Zulus and living 25 miles east of Port Natal, 
and at the same time furtherest westward of the tribes that 
had attached themselves to the Zulus. Nqetho required Maga ye, 
the head of the tribe, to join him. Magaye was irresolute, not 
knowing how to act. He was anxious to join Nqetho but feared 
the Zulus. Several days passed in doubt as to whether Magaye 
would join Nqetho or not, but after the whole of the farmer's 
corn had been consumed by Nqetho's people he determined 
to remain loyal to Dingane. 

In consequence of this Nqetho attacked Magaye the follow­
ing morning. The latter retreated, suffering his cattle to be 
taken with a loss of only one man. Nqetho then moved to 
the uninhabited country in the south-west. 

Three days only had elapsed when Zulu emissaries came 
to Maga ye to request him to send spies to Nqetho; these spies, 
they suggested, should be directed to put forward as their 
excuse for making the visit that they had come from Magaye 
to beseech Nqetho, on account of their relationship in marriage 
and for " auld acquaintance " sake, to return just a few of the 
many cattle that had been taken from him. 

When the messengers reached Nqetho, instead of their 
plausible request being granted, they were promptly suspected 
of being what in fact, they were, and forthwith put to death. 
The captured cattle were now divided into two large droves, 
one of which remained with Nqetho and his army, whilst the 
other lot, treated as a reserve, was driven off in an inland 
direction. 

Pushing on, the Zulus overtook the Qwa6es about 25 miles 
from the sea, on the River Embokodweni, 2 which enters the 
sea about 15 miles from the port. The Qwa6es boldly stood 
their ground in anticipation of attack. As soon, however, as the 
Zulu force came up, although each army got ready for action, 
neither side felt disposed to attack the other; the Zulus then 
contented themselves with capturing such cattle as they found 
in Nqetho 's immediate possession, without being interfered 
with in any way by Nqetho, and then withdrew. 

1MS. has Margi. 
2Now wrongly ca lled Mbogintwini.-Editor. 
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Owing to no communication having passed between the 
armies, and to the fact that when seizing the cattle only a few 
men that happened to be in the way were killed, one might 
have supposed that what occurred was in accordance with 
some preconcerted arrangement, and not in accordance with 
Dingane's specific instructions, as was no doubt really the case. 

While passing through Magaye's country, on their return 
homewards, the Zulus invited the chief to point out any of his 
cattle which he could find among the droves taken from Nqetho, 
saying that such would be given up on his entering the cattle 
kraal and personally indicating them. Whilst engaged on this 
he was treacherously put to death on the ground that he had 
held communication with Nqetho after the latter had revolted. 

On hearing that Magaye had been assassinated Dingane 
pretended much to regret his death, declaring his innocence of 
the order, and offering a reward of a hundred head of cattle 
to anyone who would point out the murderer, who as a matter 
of fact was well known to him as to everyone else in the country. 

By this time the Qwa6es, having continued to move west­
ward, had temporarily established themselves on the Umzi­
mkhulu River. The land they settled on had been in the occu­
pation of a few natives who, on hearing of Nqetho's approach, 
had hastily abandoned their kraals and made off eastwards. 
The Qwa6es remained here only until they had consumed such 
food, stored in pits or otherwise available, as they could find. 
When the grain had been consumed, Nqetho moved further 
to the south-west, where he attacked a tribe called amaGushara, 
which were living inland of the amaMpondo. These people 
escaped only with their lives. As a result of these and subse­
quent frequent encounters with the occupants of various kraals, 
in which the latter were always defeated, the Qwa6es soon 
became a terror to all tribes residing on the eastern border of 
the Colony. When Nqetho first appeared among them, a 
Dutchman, Klaas Hochenberg, who had for a long time resided 
among the frontier tribes, joined one of these tribes, the ama­
Xesi6e, in attacking and repelling the invaders. In the action 
that followed Hochenberg and a Hottentot were killed. 1 

As Nqetho had no intention of attacking the amaMpondo, 
he expressed a desire to their chief Faku of entering into terms 

1Nqetho was himself wounded in the thigh.-Author's MS. 
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of friendship with him, although cognisant of the fact that a 
spy had been sent to Faku by Dingane to watch his, Nqetho's, 
movements. 

Lieutenant Farewell happened at this time to come over­
land on his return to Natal, having visited the Colony shortly 
after the death of Shaka, to arrange his affairs. He had with 
him several waggons laden with goods and was accompanied 
by Thackwray, Walker and Cane, also some Hottentots and 
native servants. There was no necessity for him to traverse 
the area then in occupation of the rebels from Zululand. The 
knowledge he had of Nqetho was slight, obtained from the 
visits he had from time to time made to Shaka, when he had 
casually seen, though not actually communicated with, the 
man, but the good treatment he had uniformly met with among 
the Zulus may have induced him to expect the same from 
Nqetho, without, however, considering what motives the latter 
might have had for destroying him as being a friend of Dingane. 

Want of oxen for the waggon as well as provisions caused 
him to pay Nqetho a visit in the hope of obtaining assistance. 
He accordingly left his waggons and other property among the 
amaMpondo and set out for Nqetho's kraal. In addition to 
Thackwray and Walker, Hottentots and native servants, Fare­
well took with him a certain native boy, son of a Zulu spy. 
This spy, who was travelling in disguise, had been sent to 
keep an eye on Nqetho's movements. Farewell happened to 
meet him on his journey through the amaMpondo country. 
On Farewell proposing a visit to Nqetho, the spy asked if his 
son might accompany him. The request was granted, although 
contrary to the advice of Cane. The fact that Farewell was 
being accompanied by such a person, if it came to light, though 
only of a political nature, was no doubt itself sufficient to incite 
Nqetho to put Farewell to death. 

Over and beyond this, from Nqetho's point of view, a 
number of practical advantages would at once accrue from 
his murdering Farewell's party. They had no sooner arrived 
at Nqetho's kraal than the identity of the boy was discovered, 
when the people began murmuring amongst themselves. 
Nqetho was, of course, fully alive to the fact that Farewell 
would give Dingane all the information he could about him, 
his place of refuge, military strength, property, etc., whilst the 
very merchandise, or at least the principal portion thereof, 
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that Farewell was then in the act of transporting from the 
Colony he knew was intended for Dingane. Unless, therefore, 
he destroyed the owners, his object of considerably annoying 
and destroying his enemy could not be achieved. 

It appears from the only information we received, namely 
through John Cane, a carpenter in Farewell's employ, who had 
remained in charge of the waggons, that on Farewell's arrival, 
after the usual formalities consequent upon such meeting had 
been completed, an ox was presented to him for immediate 
use. He was then conducted to an outer kraal, a short distance 
from that of Nqetho, as affording more suitable ground for 
pitching the tent he had with him. There being nothing to cause 
suspicion of any kind, they retired to the tent and went to slee:r 

The following morning1 guns were heard by the people m 
the kraal occupied by Nqetho, upon which Nqetho cried out: 
" They have entered ! " implying that the enemy had arrived 
on the spot. The people, supposing him to mean they were 
being attacked by the European, were much surprised to 
learn the real cause later on from others. The regiment known 
as Umzimvu6u, which had been raised by Nqetho since his 
arrival from scattered remnants of Matiwane's tribe, had 
attacked Farewell and party by surrounding the tent and, 
after cutting the ropes, had proceeded to stab Farewell, Thack­
wray and Walker through the canvas after the tent had col­
lapsed. A gun was discharged whilst this was taking place, 
but it must always remain unknown whether it was fired 
deliberately (if so, by whom ?) or whether it went off by acci­
dent. Two small native boys, servants of Farewell, who were 
also in the hut, escaped being killed; this, as report says, 
they managed to do by each taking hold of a piece of meat as 
the tent was in the act of falling and running out with it in the 
dark. They had the presence of mind to say they belonged to 
the same tribe as that of the revolters, and had gone into the 
tent merely to steal meat. One of these, an old servant of 
Farewell's, having worked for him almost from his first arrival 
at Port Natal, happened to be a member of the Qwa6e tribe. 
When it was daylight he was taken to Nqetho, who engaged 
him as his body servant. This boy after the defeat of Nqetho, 
an account of which will be given later, went to the Cape 

'Circa 29th September, 1829.-Editor. 
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Colony. Three Hottentots had slept in a hut near the tent. 
One of these escaped after fighting his way through and killing 
two or three Qwa6es in the act of doing so, but the other two, 
owing to their not making any resistance, were killed on the 
spot. 

A strong force was dispatched, without any loss of time, to 
loot the waggons which, as already remarked, were in charge 
of John Cane and others. In the meantime, however, Cane 
had been informed by the Hottentot who escaped of what had 
happened. 

When Cane saw approaching a force much greater than his 
own, and as the Hottentots who were with him refused to fight, 
he decided that, as there was no means of protecting the wag­
gons, the only course left was to abandon them. This he accord­
ingly did. The raiding party thereupon took from the waggons 
whatever could be carried, that is, much property of consider­
able value, and drove off the oxen as well. 

Nqetho endeavoured to persuade his people that he was 
in no way responsible for these atrocious murders. He declared 
he knew nothing of the matter until everything was over. It 
had been committed by the captains of the Umzimvu6u 1 

regiment, who were in consequence, for a time, disgraced. 
Nqetho expressed his regret at what had happened, remarking 
how unfortunate it was for him that a white man (presumably 
Dr. Cowan) had been killed by his brother 2 only a short time 
before their tribe was overwhelmed by Shaka. Nqetho sus­
pected that the murder of Farewell and party would be pro­
ductive of similar disasters to himself. Such premonition 
appears strange, and probably truly reflects his feelings after 
the deed had been committed. The captains were in private 
conversation the whole evening after Mr. Farewell's and party's 
arrival. But, whatever arguments Nqetho made use of to 
convince his people of his innocence, the latter well knew the 
improbability of the murders having been committed other­
wise than by their chief's orders. 

Any other Europeans would probably not have met the 
melancholy fate that Mr. Farewell and his party did. In this 
particular instance the provocations and temptations were too 
great for the assassins to withstand. qetho well knew, from 

1MS. has Umsimfubu. 
2Phakathwayo.-Editor. 
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the knowledge he had of our practice, that Dingane would 
come by the whole stock Farewell was conveying to Natal. 
Dingane, moreover, would learn from the spy the exact position 
and state of Nqetho's army. By destroying Farewell and party, 
therefore, Nqetho concluded he would be injuring his enemy, 
and in addition to being a material gainer he would become 
more dreaded by his enemies in the immediate surrounding 
districts on account of the outrage. 

A day or two only had elapsed when they experienced an 
unusually heavy downpour of rain, which lasted for four days. 
Moreover, two of the oxen taken from Farewell died. Such 
facts, considered in connection with the abnormal rain, were 
attributed to the spirits being angry on account of the murders. 
The tribe in general began to fear that a curse had come upon 
them for taking the lives of white people, lives that had been 
held sacred by Shaka, whose greatness in achievement as well 
as in savoir-Jaire could not be surpassed. 

Faku, king of the amaMpondo, whose nation occupied 
country below that of the Qwa6es, had so far remained un­
molested by N qetho. He had even acknowledged N qetho as 
his superior. However, whilst ostensibly subject to Nqetho, 
Faku had been holding communications with Dingane and 
was daily in expectation of the latter launching an attack on 
Nqetho. Nqetho, however, aware all the time that Faku was 
behaving with duplicity, directed his army to move off and 
attack him. Of this design Faku received timely and sufficient 
warning. He directed his army to take up a position on the 
bank of the St . John's River, where for several days it awaited 
the attack. Nqetho's forces had, in the meantime, proceeded 
along the banks of the Umzimvu6u, where, it seems, they were 
detained for several days by the manoeuvres of Faku's army. 
During this time a messenger was sent by Nqetho to his army 
with orders to return on the ground that, in a dream he had 
just had, Shaka had appeared to him and inquired why Faku, 
who, subsequently to Shaka's last Mpondo war, had given his 
allegiance to the Zulus, was now being attacked. The army, 
however, not being in the habit of turning their backs on the 
enemy when so close at hand, paid no attention whatever to the 
command. That very day they went off and attacked Faku. 
But Faku, as it turned out, had been carefully manoeuvring 
for position. He at length succeeded in getting the Qwa6es 
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into a bend of the river, where, owing to his own superiority of 
numbers and a more advantageous position (a position that 
permitted only one regiment to attack at any given moment), 
he completely defeated his rival. In addition to those killed in 
battle, many of Nqetho's men, unable to resist the pressure of 
their assailants, threw themselves into the river and were 
drowned in attempting to make their escape over to the other 
side; many others again were torn to pieces by the hippo­
potami that abounded in that part of the river. The few that 
escaped, together with one or two regiments that had been 
kept at home in reserve, became now fully convinced that ruin 
had overtaken them solely because of having murdered Fare­
well and his party, seeing that previous to that fatal occurrence 
they had prospered in every attack they had made. 

But although they arrived at this conviction, there was now 
no opportunity of retreating with such men and property as 
still remained to some inhabited territory. In these circum­
stances Nqetho, reduced now to a mere handful of men, though 
still in possession of large droves of cattle, and numbers of 
women and children , resolved to attack Ncaphayi, 1 chief of a 
marauding tribe living a little inland of him, and to do so im­
mediately. Ncaphayi had for some time been living in the 
neighbourhood, keeping himself out of Nqetho's reach until 
a favourable opportunity presented itself. 

The amaMpondo were not inclined to follow up their victory, 
dreading that if they took the cattle the Zulus would claim 
them as theirs, and in that way, having no doubt incurred 
Dingane's displeasure, they might bring on themselves another 
and far more serious attack by the terrible Zulu power. 

Nqetho planned his attack on Ncaphayi to take place in 
five days time; it was his intention then to remove to the east­
ward with his cattle and women, and laden with the beads and 
other plunder taken from Farewell's party . During the interval, 
however, Faku dispatched a messenger to Ncaphayi to apprise 
him of the heavy loss that had been sustained by Nqetho and to 
suggest his attacking the small force that remained. This 
Ncaphayi speedily did, that is, on the very day as that on 
which Nqetho had resolved to deliver his own attack on Nca­

phayi. 

1MS. h as I gnapie. 
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The kraals of Nqetho's people were surrounded and the huts 
set on fire, whilst the whole of their ill-gotten spoils, including 
their very numerous cattle, were captured. 1 

Some of the Qwa6es were killed, some were taken prisoner, 
whilst others escaped. Amongst those who got away was 
Nqetho himself, reduced now to a state of destitution. He, 
with a few of his people, took an inland course which led past 
the Zulu country, the object being apparently to join Mzilikazi, 
a chief who lived north of the Zulus, but in traversing the inter­
vening country he was taken and killed. 

The remainder of the ill-fated Qwa6es returned by the sea 
coast in the hope of finding homes among the Zulus, but all 
were ordered to be put to death, together with those who had 
attempted in any way to harbour them. Thus ended the once 
formidable tribe of the Qwa6es. Their destruction is still 
regarded by surrounding tribes as having resulted directly from 
the murder of Farewell, Thackwray and ·walker. 

In conclusion it may be remarked that during a visit paid 
by Mr. Isaacs to Dingane the latter ordered him to bring his 
gun. 2 On this being produced Dingane ordered him to shoot two 
of Nqetho's wives who happened to be sitting down at a short 
distance in front of the King. This Isaacs positively refused 
to do. He was then severely reprimanded by all present. 
Dingane argued that Isaacs, as well as all Europeans, held 
mistaken views regarding humanity, the present being a case 
in point. How could we, he urged, have any proper feelings 
if Isaacs refrained from killing the two women whose husband 
had murdered Mr. Farewell ? Mr. Isaacs' attempts to argue 
proved useless, for Dingane ordered the gun to be taken by 
his, Isaacs' , Zulu servant Noziphongo3 The latter dreading a 
second order, and Isaacs knowing that the women would not 
escape death by his refusing to execute them, then allowed 
Noziphongo to do so. The one was instantly shot , but the 
second, while the gun was being reloaded, held her mat up 
before her; she was attempting to run away when another shot 
also brought her down. 

1It is important t o note that the cattle, or many of them, belonged t o the 
Zulu King, consequently we shall find them becoming the principal cause of 
warlike expeditions against Ncaphayi, by the Zulus in the near future.-Editor. 

2This occurred on 5th July, 1830.-Editor. 
3MS. has osepongo. 



174 T H E DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

" These unfortunate women," says Isaacs, "had returned 
to their friends after the revolt of that chief, as had many more 
whom Dingane ordered to be sacrificed. This he had done to 
everyone who had revolted with his enemy, except about one 
hundred who had sought refuge with Mr. Fynn; those had 
obtained their pardon and were living under my friend's 
protection." 1 Others again, it seems, went to live under Ogle 
and other British settlers. 2 

Chapter XIII 

DINGANE'S pretext for putting Shaka to death was the 
latter's having unnecessarily kept the nation in a state 
of perpetual warfare, hence, when the former became 

King, he promised that shields and assegais should be laid aside 
and the dancing stick used in their stead. When Nqetho's re­
volt took place it was indeed necessary for shields and assegais 
to be used to some extent in self defence, but after that other 
occasions for resorting to such weapons were not wanting. 
For instance, the chief Ncaphayi, who captured cattle from 
Nqetho, at that time practically in a defenceless condition, 
cattle which Dingane regarded as belonging to himself, was 
followed up, but the Zulu forces turned back after coming in 
sight of the raiders and without molesting them in any way. 
Several attacks have since then been made on various other 
tribes living both far off and near by, the last being against 
Mzilikazi, but in each case without any success. Within the 
limits of his own dominions he has not spared the lives of his 
subjects. He has massacred numbers with the same unsparing 
hand as his predecessors, though in a more treacherous and 
crafty manner. 

Few of the many tribes tributary to the Zulus during the 
reign of Shaka, who was always more partial to foreigners 
than to his own countrymen, were spared by Dingane, who had 
no difficulty in inventing reasons for destroying them one by 
one, so that he might derive from the conquest of people already 

1Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, II, 45. 
2Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 150. 
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his subj ects that glory which he was incapable of winning in 
wars against admittedly hostile neighbours- incapable because 
of the Zulus having, when under his control, lost that daring 
and prestige for which they had been so conspicuous ir, the 
reign of Shaka. 

Instances of Dingane's artful and underhand methods of 
surprising his subj ects and then doing them to death have 
already been given; others will be found further on, e.g. the 
massacre of Mkhonto and his tribe. 

After Lieut. King's death and Lieut. Farewell's departure 
for Cape Town, subsequent to Shaka's assassination, Dingane 
carried on no trade other than with natives from the neighbour­
hood of Delagoa Bay, nor did he receive presents of European 
goods, except such as were sent by the P ortuguese by means 
of native carriers, until Mr. N. Isaacs arrived at Port Natal in 
an American brig commanded by Captain Page. Owing to 
the intimacy that had already grown up between Mr. Isaacs 
and myself, we entered into partnership with every prospect 
of our commercial ventures proving successful. And these 
favourable expectations would probably have been realised 
had it not been for the extraordinary circumstances that 
arose in consequence of certain false and vindictive reports 
made by J acob. These reports being of importance have to be 
dealt with at some length in the following chapter. 

In F ebruary, 1829, i.e. shortly before the revolt of Nqetho, 
I received a letter from Messrs. Cowie and Green informing me 
of their arrival at a kraal on the Umzimkhulu River belonging 
to natives in my employ. Hearing they were short of provisions, 
I sent them one or two head of cattle. Four days later I met 
them ten miles from my place, reaching it the same night. 
They stayed with me seven days. As they expressed anxiety 
in regard to the remainder of their journey, I decided to accom­
pany them as far as the Zulus. 

It had been their intention on leaving the Colony to have 
travelled across the sub-continent. This idea was, however, 
abandoned on reaching Faku's tribe. They left waggons there 
with the intention of returning to that district after proceeding 
as far as Natal, they being at that time under the impression 
that the Zulu king lived in the neighbourhood of Port Natal. 
After much trouble with the waggons, although only one was 
actually upset, we at length arrived at Dingane's kraal. The 
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King expected a present in accordance with the usual practice, 
but there was none to give. I therefore suggested that it would 
be in their interest, in the circumstances, to present an ox. 
When that had been done, I explained to the King the obj ect 
of the journey. 

An ox was given us by the King daily for food all the time 
we were there. On obtaining from me a description of the 
country ahead, they resolved to continue their journey to Del­
agoa Bay. They expressed a wish that I would accompany 
them; with this proposal, however, I could not agree, as, having 
been there before, there was no personal curiosity to satisfy. 

At their request I managed to persuade Jacob to accompany 
them, also lent them one of my servants, and, on account of the 
representations I made to the King on their behalf, he directed 
certain natives of Delagoa Bay, who happened to be on the 
spot, to accompany them as guides. Dingane, moreover, sup­
plied them with sufficient cattle for consumption on the way, 
besides authorising them to help themselves to food at any 
kraals they came to on the return journey. The Hottentots 
were to have brought the waggon back with me, but this plan 
could not be carried out as the oxen were taken sick before 
they could leave. 

We accordingly left them at the royal kraal. I escorted the 
travellers some little way. They told me they were in hopes of 
selling one of their horses to the Portuguese, which would enable 
them to make some return for the kindness Dingane had shown 
them. I returned to Natal with the Hottentots, intending to 
come back later for the waggon, but the revolt of Nqetho, 
which broke out just about that time, prevented it. I began to 
get anxious when I found the time at which the travellers 
were due to return had gone by. 

My servant, the one referred to above, then arrived with a 
report to the effect that Messrs. Cowie and Green had both 
succumbed to malarial fever. H e also brought a book and 
sundry other articles that had belonged to the deceased. I sent 
the book as also Dr. Cowie's will to Mr. Munroe, under cover 
of a letter from myself, giving all the particulars I could. This 
parcel was, I suspect, opened and detained by someone en 
route, as I have had no acknowledgment of the receipt thereof. 
The way in which my name has been mentioned in connection 
with the affair, as also the allegation that the deceased's 
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property was left with me, coupled with the failure to acknow­
ledge receipt of the parcel I sent forward, convinces me that 
my suspicions were well founded. 

It is unnecessary to re-write what is already common 
knowledge in regard to the ill-fated expedition. I shall, there­
fore, confine my observations to the least known parts that were 
traversed. The Maphutha River is about eight miles from 
English River, to the east of which is the Portuguese fort. 
The Maphutha is the largest river on that part of the coast, its 
breadth ranging from 500 yards near the mouth to 50 higher 
up. As far as 30 miles it has water for vessels of 60 tons burthen. 
It is, however, not known how far boats can be got to go up; 
but when I was with Mr. Threlfall in 1823 we succeeded in 
going a distance of 50 miles. There is beautiful scenery along 
its banks, each for about 40 miles being overhung with forest 
trees of good timber, and so close to the water's edge that it 
would be possible whilst vessels were moving up the river to 
break-off projecting branches here and there. Further up the 
river the country is not clothed with forest. It then begins to 
rise gradually towards the mountains that are visible from 
Delagoa Bay. This higher ground is free from the marshes so 
frequently to be met with in the neighbourhood of the Bay, 
and in which the inhabitants cultivate rice. 

The natives have boats composed of roughly made planks, 
sewn or held together by means of rushes. These boats are 
generally to be found at the ships' landing place, for the purpose 
of conveying passengers on payment of corn, beads, assegais, 
etc. 

Messrs. Cowie and Green crossed well above the landing 
stage. Mr. Green swam over. The doctor and the others with him 
got over with the assistance of native swimmers. The party 
then passed through a piece of country called Tembe, which 
lies between the Maphutha and English Rivers. They here 
separated from J acob owing to the latter 's suspicions that the 
Portuguese would either make a slave of him, or poison the 
the party. The travellers then passed on t owards the fort, 
making a crossing in the Governor's boat . 

In regard to the other details, I can only go by what was 
told me by my servant, who, of course, knows no more than he 
actually saw. He said that Messrs. Cowie and Green were 
supplied with t ea, rice, sugar and biscuits. As to the circum-

N 
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stances under which they came by their death, the account he 
gave corresponds with what has already been published. 

A Portuguese sloop called the African Adventure, of about 
120 tons burthen, was wrecked at Port Natal in January, 1830. 
" It appears that this vessel had sailed last from Sofala, laden 
with slaves, and bound for Mozambique. The weather had been 
hazy, and an adverse current had occasioned their losing 
course. The first land they descried was that in the vicinity of 
Natal. As the passage from Sofala to Mozambique is only 
two days, and they had been out nearly three weeks at sea, 
they were entirely out of provisions, and had been eight days 
without water. A number of slaves had died, and a great 
many had been thrown overboard, to shorten that term of 
misery to which they were doomed. Out of 160 slaves, with 
whom they left Sofala, only 30 landed at Natal. . . . The few 
who had escaped the dreadful suffering of starvation were in 
such a state of exhaustion that , although the boat was sent 
over the bar for water, they ran the vessel on shore, without 
waiting to see what the boat could obtain. 

There were several passengers on board, amongst whom 
was the wife of the commandant. She was a very delicate 
woman . The Portuguese left her to herself, and even deprived 
her of a few trinkets with which she wanted to purchase a few 
necessaries. Mr. Fynn, however, with his accustomed hospital­
ity and generous sympathy, provided for the passengers and 
crew during their stay at Natal (upwards of a month) and then 
supplied the lady with a pack bullock, and the party with an 
escort to Dingane's kraal, to which his brother was sent to 
accompany them. Dingane consulted Mr. Fynn how he should 
act towards them, observing that they were not King George's 
people, but he was t old they were the same, and that King 
George would be glad to learn he had treated them well. " Oh," 
said the King, " then I will do with them as you please," and 
at once gave them an escort to the Portuguese settlement at 
Delagoa Bay, at the same time presenting to them several 
head of cattle. The Portuguese, t o show their gratitude, had 
all their baggage brought before him and desired him to take 
what he pleased; but the monarch, with a feeling that did 
honour to human nature, said: "No, your vessel is lost, and 
you have been unfortunate, I cannot think of taking anything 
from you." 

' 
I 
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[The foregoing is from Isaacs' work, II, 12-14. The informa­
tion was, however, originally supplied by the author himself, 
for Isaacs himself was not in Natal when the incident occurred. 
Among Fynn's MSS. we have found a note in which he says 
the Zulus could not be hoodwinked as to what had occurred and 
regarded the conduct of the Portuguese, in making slaves of the 
natives, as disgraceful.-Editor. Isaacs' account goes on:] "Al­
though all Europeans had been treated with every mark of 
respect," says Mr. Fynn, "and assistance afforded them when 
in need, it was with the greatest difficulty my brother could 
persuade them to admit these Portuguese into their kraals 
and supply them with food, even though they offered to pay for 
it. On arrival at Dingane's kraal an ox was given for their 
consumption-it indeed being customary to treat all visitors 
in that way. Next day, when accounting for their presence in 
Zululand, it was necessary to refer to the slaves they had had 
on board, which had the effect of convincing Dingane that they 
must be identical with the Portuguese at Delagoa Bay, of whom 
accounts had come to his notice of their making slaves of the 
people, placing them in irons, etc. After their interview they 
were directed to sleep at another kraal. Owing to this, and to 
the way in which they were looked down upon, they were 
afraid lest they should be put to death. My brother had much 
trouble in convincing them t o the contrary. He begged Dingane 
hard to give them assistance. With a liberality that Zulus can 
display once their feelings are aroused, the King not only 
presented them with seven oxen, but made certain natives of 
Delagoa, then on a visit to his kraal, depart sooner than they 
had intended in order that they might accompany the travellers 
t o their destination. On the return of these natives we learned 
that the Portuguese had got safely to the end of their journey. 
The Lieut.-Colonel and a Chinaman who were also of the party 
left for the same place four months lat er. " 

Chapter XIV 

DEFERENCE was made in the preceding chapter to certain 
I\. reports by Jacob as bringing about an extraordinary 

situation, rendered extraordinary by the nature of the 
action that Dingane saw fit to take, involving no less than the 
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total destruction of the residence of one of the English settlers 
in addition to seizure of such part of his property as happened 
not to have been removed in time, an incident that so alarmed 
the rest of the settlers as to cause them all to fly for safety in 
different directions, three by going overland t o the Cape Colony 
with their adherents and belongings, one by embarking on a 
ship that fortunately happened to be at Port Natal and bound 
for Cape Town, and the others by concealing themselves in the 
bushes. Thus, for the moment, the settlement seemed to have 
been broken up completely at a stroke. Nothing of the kind 
had ever occurred to any of Farewell's party, who, on account 
of the peculiarly privileged position they all stood in ever 
since arrival, were familiarly known as the King's white people 
and therefore universally regarded as being constantly under 
the monarch's special protection. 

The matter being important as well as unprecedented, and, 
at the same time, somewhat involved, it will be as well to 
preface the narrative with some detailed account of the ante­
cedents of the man who instigated these inquisitions and 
revolutionary proceedings, viz. J acob, a native of the Cape 
Colony, a man of considerable influence and notoriety, whose 
name has already frequently come up in the foregoing pages. 

Jacob originally belonged to a tribe under the chief N dlambe 
that occupied land on what was once the borders of Cape 
Colony. At an early age he was captured by Dutch farmers 
during one of the numerous incursions they were at that time 
making among the tribes with the object of recovering stolen 
cattle. He was named Soembitchi by his master and remai.ned 
in his service long enough to acquire a fair knowledge of the 
Dutch language. 

H e then ran off to his own country, being thereafter fre­
quently employed to interpret for his countrymen in their 
dealings with the Dutch. When, later on, the former organised 
parties for stealing cattle in the Colony, he used to accompany 
them as guide. In one of these raids, after capturing a drove 
of cattle in the neighbourhood of Bushman's River, the party 
he was with entered a bush and killed an ox. While busy 
skinning it they suddenly heard the trampling of horses, and 
Dutchmen crying out " Vang horn ! Vang horn ! " i.e. Catch 
him, catch him. When the natives emerged from the bush and 
looked to see what number of Boers were coming after them, . 
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they were observed, then closely pursued, which ended in J acob 
and two others being arrested. 

Some argument ensued as to whether the prisoners were 
or were not to be shot. One was actually set up as a mark, 
and several shots fired at him before he was killed. The other, 
however, and Jacob, owing to their knowledge of Dutch, were 
spared. They were each then tied to a horse and the horses 
made to canter to a Dutchman's farm, whilst a H ottentot 
riding behind flogged them with a sjambok as often as they 
failed to keep up. Owing to the severe sjamboking they received, 
Jacob's companion died. Shortly after this J acob managed to 
escape, once more running back to his own country. 

He was now taken by Major Frazer, commandant of the 
Frontier, and used as an interpreter. Jacob, however, remained 
only a short time, when he again returned to his country. At 
that time a law was in force prohibiting Kaffirs from crossing 
the Fish River boundary. In company with several others, 
Jacob one day conveyed an elephant's tusk to the missionary 
station at Theopolis with the view of selling it. After finding 
a purchaser, a Hottentot, and after concluding a bargain with 
him, the latter called Jacob's attention to the existing Jaw, 
and recommended him to make off as soon as he could, at the 
same time refusing to pay what he had promised to do. Jacob 
was determined to recompense himself in some way, so on the 
way back he stole and made off with a number of cattle. He 
was pursued and arrested. He was then sent under escort to 
Grahamstown, where, as it happened, the notorious Kaffir chief 
Lynx was in custody. The two were then transported to 
Cape Town and directed to undergo their sentences on Robben 
Island. 1 

When in 1822 Captain W. F. W. Owen, R.N., arrived at Table 
Bay with his squadron, for the purpose of surveying the south­
east coast of Africa, J acob was placed on board his ship, H.M.S. 
Leven, by direction of the Governor, and told he would have 

1
" He was sent to Algoa Bay, and from thence to Cape Town, by the brig 

Salisbury, which vessel had been engaged to convey troops. The voyage was a 
boisterous one and occupied forty days. As J acob suffered severely from the 
mclemency of the weather the comm ander of the vessel, Lieut. King, knocked 
off the irons with which h e was manacled, gave him clothes, and otherwise 
occasionally ind ulged him with an a llowance of grog. T he fee ling thus shown 
towards him was not ill bestowed ; for, a lthough he was literally nothing more 
than a savage, he took the earliest opportunity with which he was favoured of 
showing his gratitude.'' -Isaacs, Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, II, 225 

NI 
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to act as interpreter. 1 It so happened that his services were 
not required in that capacity, the reason being that Capt. Owen 
did not visit any country south-west of Delagoa Bay, where 
the man's services might have been useful, but only places 
beyond or northward of that bay, where the native dialects 
differ widely from the Kaffir language. 

Owen extended his voyage to several ports in that part of 
Africa, e.g. Madagascar, Mozambique and the Isle of France 
(Mauritius) , after which he returned to Algoa Bay. It so hap­
pened that Farewell and Thompson had already reached Algoa 
Bay with two chartered vessels, the Salisbury, Capt. King, 
and the Julia, and were making final preparations for a voyage 
to St. Lucia. Jacob asked Capt. Owen to allow him to join 
Farewell's vessel as interpreter. Owen agreed and after paying 
him such wages as were due to him and making such arrange­
ments as were necessary in regard to his services in the future 
he passed him over to Farewell on loan, upon which the latter 
sailed off to St. Lucia. 2 

10wen , being bound for the south east coast of Africa, applied t o the 
Governor for interpret ers. J acob and six others, at that time R obben Island 
convicts, were handed over t o him in the belief that they would prove of 
assistance. The following particulars are taken from Owen , Narrative of 
Voyages-Africa, Arabia and Madagascar, I, 59, 82, and Boteler, Narrative 
of Voyage of Discovery to Africa and A rabia, I, 14, JS, 36, 37. " Jacob was 
known t o Owen by the name of J ackot . J ackot was very h andsome, strong 
and t all and p ossessed of a commandin g fi gure. H e quitted the sh ore with a 
heavy heart for Kafirs have an unaccountable dread of water. H e and his 
companions were for a time placed in d ifferent messes for the purpose of 
m aking them learn English . J ackot had been a chief in his own country and 
famed for d eed s of arms. H e and his com panion Fire b ecame quite accust omed 
t o the ship a nd appeared anx ious t o accommodat e themselves entirely t o our 
manners. T hey favoured us a t times with an exhibition of the K afir war 
exercise. T hey appeared t o have the m ost thorough contempt for the Dela­
gonians . .. . J ackot , wh o was on shore one day, per suaded one of them to 
try his assegay a t a mark ; he complied, a nd a lthough h e was near , missed it 
b y a considerable d ist ance. J ackot t ook up the weapon and with the usual 
p relude of v ibratory m otion , launched it wit h such force and accuracy, that it 
pierced the b od y of the obj ect, a slender tree, a t the distance of six ty yards, 
and deeply fixing itself in the wood quivered with the force of the blow. 
The natives who were present were ast onished , and J ack ot apparently exulting 
in the consciousness of his own superiority walked away with a st a tely step ." 
J ackot and Fire, however, as a lso the others, a re sa id to have entirely failed 
a s interpreters, though in other respects, "excellent and trustworthy men." 
-Editor. 

2" They (F arewell and Thompson ) a pplied for interpreters t o Captain 
Owen who very readily agreed t o furnish them, provid ed the people consented 
t o accompany them. Accord ingly, Lieut . King went on board with Mr. 
Farewell to engage these people. At first, they refu sed t o go and expressed a 
wish t o return to their own couri.try, but J acob, on seeing Lieut. King, without 
the least hesitation, consented t o join him." - Isaacs, Travels and Adventures 
in Eastern Africa, II, 252- 5. 
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Owing to the coast about St. Lucia Bay being dangerous, 
great difficulty was experienced in landing. In one case the 
boat was upset, when two sailors lost their lives. 1 Jacob, who 
happened to be in the same boat, managed to save himself by 
swimming to shore. Shortly afterwards he was punished by 
Thompson for some offence, upon which he ran away. As no 
more was heard of him, Farewell concluded he had been killed, 
and continued to be under that impression until our arrival at 
Shaka' s residence. 

It appears that, when he deserted, he was taken to Shaka, 
who, from the fact of his having escaped drowning by swimming, 
nicknamed him Hlambamanzi. 2 Shaka, with his accustomed 
liberality, then gave him ten head of cattle and placed him 
under the protection of a chief to find him a wife. In view of 
the statements he no doubt made to Shaka about the conduct 
of Europeans in general towards him, it is remarkable that 
Shaka was not unfavourably disposed towards us, though it 
is evident Thompson himself would not have met with a 
pleasant reception had he been of our party. 

Our arrival on the scene in 1824 brought Jacob's qualifica­
tions as interpreter into request. Shaka took him into favour, 
and, that he might always be near at hand, appointed him 
one of the night guards of the isigodlo (royal harem). Owing to 
the general information acquired in the Colony as well as among 
the Dutch in his various disasters, owing also to what he had 
learned during his voyages with Capt. Owen, when the scenes 
were so often and greatly varied, all this, added to a naturally 
observant and intelligent disposition, also to his extreme crafti­
ness and capacity for deception, made Jacob particularly 
acceptable to Shaka in the execution of his various purposes. 

When I had been about 12 months in the country, most 
of which time I had had but little opportunity of conversing 
with Europeans, the knowledge I gained of the Zulu language 
enabled me to follow his interpretations closely, and to check 
him in the false renderings which he had long been in the habit 
of giving without danger of refutation. Owing to his docile 

1Farewell in his Jetter of ! st May, 1824, to the Governor of the Cape 
Colony says that four m en were drowned attempting to Jand.-Bird's Annals 
cf N atal, I, 72. 

2MS. has Clamber amanse. Hlamba is a verb- to swim, and manzi-water. 
Thus Hlamhamanzi is water swimmer.-Editor. 
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manner, he always remained in favour with Shaka. In his 
conversations with the King he used to praise or disparage ·our 
country and manners so long as Shaka was inclined t o listen 
to him. 

In consequence of the gifts of cattle repeatedly made to 
him by Shaka, he became a man of some importance; he was 
the owner of several kraals, 1 and a number of followers, whose 
lives he used not to spare when he wished to kill any of them. 
Among his followers was one who was constantly in attendance 
on him, called Hlomula . This youth's manners had so captiv­
ated several Europeans that they, in turn, tried to persuade 
Jacob t o give them the lad, but without effect. One night 
Jacob fell asleep, though at the time on duty guarding the 
King. Shaka happened to wake, called Jacob, and finding him 
asleep ordered Hlomula to beat him. Jacob woke on being 
called and then apologised to Shaka. Shaka asked Jacob if he 
had heard the boy refuse t o beat him as directed. He admitted 
having done so, whereupon Shaka exclaimed " Kill the boy 
at once, he fears you more than he does me ! " The boy was 
seized by Jacob and there and then put to death. 

When the mission consisting of Soto6e and Mbozamboza 
was sent by Shaka under care of Lieut. King to the Colony 
(June-September, 1828) to negotiate a friendly alliance with 
King George, whom he said he est eemed as a brother , Jacob 

was one of the party. 2 

During the interviews that t ook place between King and 
Major Cloete3 a misunderstanding arose between them. 
Jacob played his usual role of deceiver, which had the effect 
of heightening the misunderstanding between the parties. 
Moreover, on his return t o Natal he lost no opportunity of 

10 ne of t hese was established on the right bank of t he T hongathi River.­
Author's MS. 

2W hilst Shaka was making t hese arrangements J acob appears in some 
way to have misconducted h imself, for Shaka, as I saacs says, intimated "it 
was his wish Lieut. King should k ill J acob . . . as he Shaka was afraid tha t 
t his person would incense t he Governor of the Cape ; b u t to such a course 
L ieut. King seriously and immed iately objected and t h us Jacob 's life was 
sparecl."-Isaacs, Travels and Adventu1•es in Eastern Africa, I, 256. This 
incident deserves to be borne in mind in view of what subsequently occurred.­
Editor. 

3 An officer who was dincted by the Governor to ascertain the object of 
t he mission. T he way in which he did this b as a lready been commented on. 
-Editor. 
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assuring Shaka that his (Shaka's) emissaries had had the 
worst of treatment met ed out to them at Algoa Bay. 

[As both Fynn and his friend Isaacs were intimately ac­
quainted with Jacob the accounts given by each, and by 
them alone (if we exclude the slight notices from which extracts 
have already been given), of a man much less known to the 
public than he ought to be, become naturally complementary 
t o one another. We therefore have no hesitation in introducing 
a further extract from Isaacs' work, which, though well known, 
has for many years been out of print and nowadays rarely to 
be met with.- Editor. ] 

" After Jacob joined the Salisbury at Algoa Bay in June, 
1823, he and his companion Fire sailed for the River St. Lucia, 
where, after encountering many difficulties, the party landed. 
Previously, however, one of the boats under the charge of 
Mr. Farewell foundered in the surf, when Jacob distinguished 
himself as an expert swimmer, and not only saved his own 
life, but that of Mr. Farewell also. From this event he was 
called by the natives Hlambamanzi. Here it appears the party 
commenced trading ; but Mr. Thompson, one of the super­
cargoes, having struck Jacob, the latter , fearing a repetition 
should they return to the vessel, sought rather a living on 
shore, than a return t o the vessel. He accordingly shaped 
his course inland, in a north-westerly direction , travelled 
about 50 miles and reached No6amba, the principal kraal or 
village of Shaka, the then King of the Zulus. At this time, it 
may be remarked, Shaka had been successful in subduing 
all the surrounding tribes ; by which means he had acquired 
considerable forces and made the Zulus the most powerful 
nation on the south-east coast . Through their own manoeuvres, 
they suspected all strangers as spies ; and in consequence of 
this suspicion Jacob was nearly losing his life, and was kept 
in apprehension for a considerable time. From his natural 
shrewdness, he at length, however, found out Shaka's weak 
side, saw his disposition, and how to flatter his desires. He 
devised many plans which pleased the despot exceedingly, by 
which he was elevated above the ordinary warriors. 

The manner in which he first brought himself into notice 
was as follows : Finding Shaka very suspicious of his subjects 
conniving at his destruction, he related to him many stories of 
the white people; fi rst how the king was guarded by sentinels; 
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then that he (Jacob) had been made a sentinel, and while on 
board of a king's ship the Leven, had paraded before the cap­
tain 's door, in the dead of night, while he was sleeping ; the 
reason the captain assigned for choosing him was that he, 
Jacob, being a stranger, would_ be vigilant_, as ~is life d~pen~ed 
on that of the captain. To venfy these thmgs m Shaka s mmd, 
he asked ' what would become of him now, if the King did not 
protect him-would not the King's subj ects destroy him, on 
suspicion of his being a spy ? ' Shaka felt the force a1;1d plaus­
ibility of his story, immediately raised a party of sentinels and 
placed them under the command of Jacob, at the ~ame ti~e 
taking him by the ear (a custom they have of 1mpressmg 
anything on the mind) saying 'Recollect, if _any~hing happens 
to me to-day my people will kill you for bemg m my favour; 
your prospects depend upon my safety.' Sha~a then told ~ne 
of his ministers Mbikwana to t ake care of him, and furmsh 
him with three wives and some cattle. Hlambamanzi had now 
frequent opportunities of conversing with his_ sovereign, and 
relating stories concerning the a6elungu, or white people. The 
King found him an amusing fellow with whom to pas~ an 
hour or two at night, when all his attendants had retired. 
Shaka, ignorant of Europeans, and never before having had 
intercourse with anyone who had known them, found what 
Hlambamanzi related exceedingly interesting; particularly as 
their manners and appearance were so different to anything 
·.the savage mind could fancy. The King had always thought 
t here was no other land but that which himself and his people 
inhabited, and that he was the only great king in the world. 

He caused Hlambamanzi to build himself a kraal that he 
might be nearer to him; he increased his cattle and wives, 
the latter to the number of ten , which ranked him as a minor 
chief. Having now ingratiated himself in the favour of the 
King, Hlambamanzi became popular among the chiefs, and 
from the opportunity he had of conversing with the Zulu 
monarch he acquired considerable influence with the govern­
ment, so that at the period of Messrs. Farewell and Fynn's 
arrival he had it in his power to serve them, which he did by 
recommending the white people to the consideration and respect 
of the King, who, from the information thus communicated 
respecting them, excited in Shaka no ordinary anxiety and 
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solicitude to see them. The arrival of the white people, there­
fore, in 1824, was conceived to be a good omen. 

Mr. Fynn was the first who penetrated into the interior; 
he was treated well, but ordered to return until the pleasure 
of the King was known. Shaka sent his principal chief, Mbi­
kwana to see him, who made a favourable report; and the 
whites were permitted to accompany him to Gi6ixhegu. On 
their arrival they were received by the sovereign with an air 
of surprise and amazement, but with a civility which they 
little contemplated, and which they attributed to Hlambamanzi. 

His career, from the time of the white people settling 
amongst them, became evidently more useful and important 
to the King, to whom he not only acted as chief sentinel, but 
became also interpreter to His Majesty on all occasions in his 
interviews with the white people; and the latter had great 
reason to be satisfied with him, as he evinced a desire to promote 
the object of their visit to atal. He now had address enough 
to prevail on Shaka to induce Mr. Farewell to give him a 
musket, which gave him an opportunity of not only proving 
his own value, but of course showing the deadly weapons with 
which the white people fought, and which exalted us as war­
riors in the Zulu monarch's estimation. 

Jacob had now become a great man; he had arrived at 
the acme of influence with the savage monarch, and on the 
arrival of Lieut. King and myself in 1825 he came to Natal 
on purpose to greet his old master, Lieut. King, as a manifesta­
tion of his gratitude for having been released by him from 
transportation. It is not easy t o describe the joy he evinced 
on seeing us, and of the care and anxiety he displayed on 
hearing of our disaster of being shipwrecked. H e sought to 
aid us in every way. H e sent us a bullock for food, offered to 
Lieut. King a quantity of ivory, and accosted him as father 
and protector, compelling his wives as well as his people to do 
the same. 

Both Lieut. King and myself had no reason t o be displeased 
with the conduct of Jacob until the return of the first mission 
to the Cape (on which he acted as interpreter), when he plotted 
with the Zulu chiefs, Soto6e and Mbozamboza, t o give Shaka 
an unfavourable opinion of the Cape authorities, and to bring 
the failure of that mission on Lieut. King and myself. From 
that period Jacob created in us a suspicion that he was a 
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dissembler, and that it would be dangerous to repose any 
confidence in him in future ; and after events proved that our 
inferences were not erroneous. He became the perfidious and 
designing villain which we had predicted." 

[After Shaka's assassination Jacob transferred his residence 
to Port Natal. When Dingane directed Cane to make a visit 
(his second) to the Colony Jacob was ordered to accompany 
him. Jacob, however, went only as far as the amaMpondo, 
when, under the pretence of being afraid of proceeding further, 
he parted company with Cane. In consequence of this Cane 
was obliged to go on alone. 

On his return to Zululand he reported to Dingane the loss 
and inconvenience he had been put to on account of Jacob's 
desertion, whereupon Jacob was ordered to forfeit ten head 
of cattle. This he refused to do. However, two cattle were 
surrendered, though much against his will. After this he was 
again ordered to proceed with Cane to the Colony. It was only 
the fear of being put to death that made him obey; he went 
off breathing vengeance against Cane for forcing him to go 
against his will. 

This time he went the whole way. On his return to Natal 
with Cane, the two remained some time in the vicinity of the 
port on account of the rivers being swollen. Whilst waiting, 
one of Dingane's messengers happened to arrive at Natal, 
when Jacob took the opportunity of whispering to him, for the 
information and warning of the King, that the Europeans of the 
Cape Colony, on the ad vice of Cane, were about to attack the Zulus. 

When this report reached Dingane it was already clear that 
Cane had been unnecessarily dilatory about continuing his 
journey to its natural end in Zululand, and instead of going 
himself with the goods purchased or otherwise procured for 
the King in the Colony he had contented himself with forward­
ing them by irresponsible native carriers. 

In these circumstances Dingane got exceedingly angry and 
in a few days dispatched a force to attack and destroy Cane 
and the whole of his people. Fortunately for Cane, he got word 
of the intended attack on the evening preceding the morning 
on which it actually occurred. 1 He at once made off. As soon 

1The attack actually took place on or about 18th April, 1831. Zulu 
kaNogandaya, a famous hero, was in command of the Zulu force.-Isaacs, 
Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, II, 218-227. 
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as the force arrived they surrounded the premises. Finding 
them deserted, they proceeded to destroy all the immovable 
property and to seize a portion of the cattle that had not been 
removed in time. As a result of these violent and unprecedented 
proceedings, Cane nearly lost the whole of his property. 
-Editor.] 

Chapter XV 

[THE false information maliciously communicated by . 
Jacob to Dingane produced a remarkable change in the 
King's attitude towards the European settlers. At first 

it appeared as if only Cane was the person affected, it being 
generally known that Jacob had openly quarrelled with him 
only. But whilst having every reason to be dissatisfied and 
angry with Cane, who had certainly been negligent and dilatory 
in the execution of his duties, the nature of the rumours was 
such as to make Dingane suspect not only Cane but every other 
white man in the country of being actively disloyal towards him. 

He felthe could trust none of them, not even Fynn. Indeed, 
just because Fynn at this time was the most prominent among 
them, he probably, in Dingane's estimation, was more to be 
feared than the others, particularly as he had been a close friend 
and favourite of Shaka. In short, it was believed that the 
Zulu nation had all along been harbouring "snakes," which, 
finding themselves at length in a position to do so, were now 
about to i:urn and attack their protectors. 

The position, to an intensely ignorant and suspicious 
mind like that of Dingane, was peculiarly disturbing and 
alarming. Whilst he secretly suspected every white man of 
being disloyal, he was wise enough to know that with only 
Jacob's uncorroborated t estimony to rely on he could not be 
openly distrustful. What he did was to set about manoeuvring 
in various ways, and this went on for so considerable a period 
as to render fundamentally insecure the position of the settlers 
at the port. In such circumstances it became practically im­
possible any longer to carry on trade in the country. 

As Dingane owed Fynn and Isaacs, then in partnership 
with one another, SO elephant tusks it was agreed that Isaacs, 
accompanied by the farmer's brother, W. Fynn, should proceed 
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to the King and endeavour to get the ivory sent to the port, 
so as to be in readiness for a vessel expected soon to arrive. 
Isaacs and W. Fynn, leaving Port Natal on the 9th April, 
reached Mgungundlovu on the 17th, only to find that orders 
had already been issued for the seizure of Cane's cattle. 

Dingane, however, said that he had directed that warning 
was to be given to Fynn beforehand, to enable him to acquaint 
the other settlers and so prevent their becoming alarmed. 
Isaacs took the opportunity of discussing the false reports 
Jacob had made. He pointed out to the King how absurd it 
was to suppose that any attack on him by troops of the Cape 
Colony was in contemplation, incidentally suggesting that 
Jacob's malicious utterances had probably been made in conse­
quence of a long-standing quarrel between him and his fellow 
ambassador, Cane. 

Before Isaacs and W. Fynn could get back to the port 
the attack on Cane had already taken place, viz. before dawn 
on or about April 18th, 1831. But luckily for Cane, he received 
warning beforehand, hence the Zulu force was not able to do 
more than capture a few cattle belonging to his companion 
Halstead, besides burning Cane's house to the ground and 
otherwise completely wrecking the place. 

Fynn soon got to hear that a force was on its way to attack 
Cane and official warning was sent to him beforehand (as 
bingane assured Isaacs would be done). He naturally con­
cluded that the despot's intention was not only to destroy 
Cane, but every other settler a t or near the port as well. Fynn 
accordingly hastily made preparations t o fly south-west with 
his people, taking care to advise such other settlers as happened 
t o be at or near the port of his plans. 

As soon as one comes to the conclusion that a Zulu attack 
on him is imminent, the wisest course is to move forthwith 
and do so swiftly, i.e. where from want of guns and men, as in 
this case, it is quite impossible to hold one's ground. Only 
civilized nations know how t o dilly dally about attacking or 
pursuing the enemy-not Zulus. The reason why Fynn was 
not advised of the impending attack was, as the commander of 
the forces informed Isaacs, because there was no opportunity 
of doing so . He also said his orders were not only to t ake Cane's 
cattle, and wreck his homestead, but to put him to death; and 
this certainly would have been done had he been caught. 
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Fynn withdrew, probably on the very evening preceding 
th.e attack on Cane. At this moment Isaacs and W. Fynn were 
still at Mgungundlovu. Naturally Fynn, not knowing exactly 
where. th~y were, ~as most anxious about them. After retiring 
to a distnct occupied by Mzo6oshi on the Ilovu River a dozen 
or so miles from the sea shore and about 20 miles f;om Port 
Natal, he halted and wrote the following letter, which, as it 
fully relates the circumstances, at an interesting and little­
~nown period in the history of Natal, and has never been pub­
lished, we do not hesitate to insert here. It is undated, but 
the contents are such as to enable us to fix on the 21st of 
April as its approximate date.-Editor. ] 

My dear Isaacs and William, 
The having some faint hopes that you are still alive is 

what induces me to write and inform you of our situation 
and the circumstances under which we came to retreat'. 
You are aware of the report brought by Khokhela, 1 viz. 
that the King would send for all the Europeans and then attack 
the blacks. After you left, the rumour was exaggerated by 
people in this direction. Mto6ela then arrived with two 
oxen and your notes. I forwarded one of the latter to John 
(Cane) and read the other. I next drew Mto6ela's attention 
t~ the ru1:1ours in circulation, at the same time informing 
him that m two days time I would myself go to the King, 
tho.ugh leave the guns behind as to bring them was likely 
to mvolve us in serious trouble with our Government. He 
then request ed me to let him know when I could start and 
so enable him to send a messenger in advance of us. When 
I informed our principal people of this, they expressed 
doubts as to our safety, having regard to the nature of the 
reports in circulation; I, however, still determined on going 
to you. Early next morning John arrived. He informed 
me he had just heard of two regiments having crossed the 
Thukela, and had, in consequence, already sent his people 
and cattle to the Bluff Point. On hearing this our people 
advised that we should get ready to retreat. I , however, 
refused to move ; at the same time I sent out spies and 

1This ma_y be Khokhela (son of Ncumbatha), a man of high rank and 
associated with Mto6e!a and Zulu, the man in command when Cane's house 
was wrecked. His kraal was near Mhla li (right bank).-Isaacs, Travels and 
Adventures zn Eastern Africa, II, 144. 
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directed two smart lads to take a letter to you. The letter, 
I said, must go as speedily as possible so that even though 
it arrived after we had been attacked, you, with your horses, 
might have some chance of escape. I was fully persuaded 
that the King was keeping you in the dark and that, until 
he had heard of our actually being put to death, he would 
treat you well. If, on the other hand, he learned that we 
had escaped, he would, just because he had been treating 
you well, have no difficulty in persuading you that we had 
foolishly run away in consequence of idle reports, in which 
case you would, of course, induce us to return. My letter 
had not been gone ten minutes when Mbangwa sent to say 
that, while one of the boys was cleaning his gun, Mto6ela 
exclaimed: "Iya Iya ! we know what those'll do!"­
which appeared strange, as he had been sent by the King 
to fetch those very guns. Soon after this we were surprised 
to see the two men I had sent with the letter for you 
return with a stranger, the latter completely out of breath. 
The perspiration was pouring off him; indeed it was several 
minutes before we could get him to speak. He said he be­
longed to Njanduna, though of the Hlongwa tribe, and had 
come to inform us that Hlomendlini and Njanduna were on 
the point of moving off to attack us. The attack, he said, 
would be sure to take place the next day at daylight. It 
occurred to me that the treatment you had received from 
Khokhela 1 was strange in the light of this news. Lukilimba 
advised me on no account to enter the F engu area, but 
go with him to a certain naturally protected rock, where the 
whole Zulu army could not defeat us. He said that if we 
went to F engu we would be parted from our corn, our 
cattle would starve, and the impi would find there such an 
abundance of corn that fresh regiments would come and 
eventually starve us out. It appeared therefore reasonable 
that escape in that direction was impossible. First of all I 
went to your kraal, where I took flints, beads, and writing 
desk. I shared Du(?) with the people, all of whom I saw 
out of the kraal. I next sent for Mto6ela, who was at Frank's2 

kraal and told him all we had heard, and what the reports 

IMS. has Cocaler. 
•Frank is Francis, a younger brother of the author. His Zulu n ame is 

P o6ana.-Editor. 
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appeared to point to. Not a single word could he utter to 
show that our suspicions were ill formed. When the people 
found out that Luho 1 was missing, they asked where he was 
and, as no satisfactory explanation could be given, they 
concluded he had run away. 

Mto6ela now asked what I should do if the impi did not 
arrive on the following morning. I replied that that would 
prove that I had been misled, an answer that I thought 
would induce him to delay the attack until we had got well 
out of the way. I now took all the cloth, some powder, lead, 
and a little spirits, expecting to arrive early the following 
morning at the rendezvous we had agreed on, but, owing 
to there being no road-nothing but the most troublesome 
bushes, rocky country and thick grass-we couldn't get far. 
Early next morning we proceeded on our way. After hearing 
from such of our people as had remained behind to act as 
spies, that no impi had arrived up to the moment of their 
departure, we killed two cows and bivouacked for the night. 
Next morning we made special arrangements to pass over 
some nasty-looking country near the River Ilovu, for by 
this time our people were quite knocked up. Just then 
intelligence reached us that two regin1ents having passed 
inland of us with the intention of encircling us, and, as by 
this time we had heard of John's kraal having been sur­
rounded, there seemed to be no doubt but that that would 
also be our fate. Our case, therefore, seemed desperate. 
Under these circumstances I gave you up for gone. I threw 
away my medicine chest, writing box, your desk and all the 
cloth, keeping only such papers as, in a dim night light, I 
judged had writing on them. These documents I intended 
forwarding to your friends. About an hour later, we hap­
pened to think of William's Spanish dollars. These were 
specially sent for during the night, for by that time we were 
determined to make off to the Colony without further delay. 
On the day preceding the night in question messengers 
were sent back home to conceal all our elephant tusks. 
Early next morning, before daylight, we all went forward 
in such a way as to baulk any who were or might be follow-

1P ossibly some notable refu gee who had come to live with the settlers fo r 
protection.-Ediloi' . 

0 
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ing in our track, i.e. if they managed to get as far as that. 
At midday yesterday we were informed that only one regi­
ment had been to attack John, and that a vessel or two had 
arrived in port. I am waiting, a short distance above 
Mzo6oshi's district, to hear the truth of the reports as well 
as send this to you, to find out if we can look forward to 
the pleasure of meeting you at a place where, I can assure 
you, we concluded we could never hope to see you again. 

Don't delay in sending me your ideas on the subject, 
and if any doubt as to your safety occurred while you were 
at the King's kraal. Hoping you are in ... 
[In a day or two after sending this letter, on hearing that the 

Zulu force had withdrawn, that Isaacs and W. Fynn were safe 
and were on their way back to the port, Fynn also returned, 
reaching there on the 24th of April, viz. on the same day that 

his brother and Isaacs got there. 
Fynn now fully discussed the situation with Isaacs, Cane 

and his brothers William and Frank, the conclusion come to 
being that there was nothing else to do but withdraw for a time 
from Natal. As, however, owing to the nature of the trade they 
had been carrying on, their property was in a very scattered 
condition, time was necessary for collecting it and generally 
winding up their businesses, every advantage, of course, being 
taken of the moral and practical support afforded by the brig 
St. Michael being at the port, she having opportunely arrived 
two months sooner than it was anticipated she would do. In 
these circumstances it was decided by way of gaining time to 
send a message to Dingane boldly informing him of the vessel 
being in port, and of their intention to leave the country as they 
felt they could no longer confide in him or his people. 

A few days later, messengers arrived from Dingane to say 
how sorry he was for the trouble that had been caused to Fynn, 
who was to be invited to returh and told to be under no appre­
hension for his safety in the future. As, however, Fynn had 
already returned, he was notified of the King's desire that he 
should send such black men as were trained to arms, with their 
muskets, "to assist His Majesty in his attempt to dislodge 

THE DIARY 195 

Mzo6oshi 1 from the position he had taken up in the rocks," 
seeing that Ogle had already agreed to accompany them. Ogle's 
tactless consent greatly compromised the settlers, Fynn in 
particular, for Ogle was a member of the very first party that 
came to Natal with Farewell and Fynn in 1824. In the circum­
stances, as Ogle had already pledged himself, the settlers thought 
it advisable to accede to the King's wishes. Dingane was 
accordingly informed that he might expect them. On the 14th 
May Fynn and his brother William left for Dingane's kraal 
accompanied by about 80 native carriers laden with presents 
for the King.-Editor. J 

Chapter XVI 

[THE re~der will now be in a position to appreciate the 
followmg account by Fynn himself of his visit to 
Dingane, a visit fraught with such grave and un-

precedented consequences. 2-Editor. J 
" On my arrival the King greeted me kindly and was much 

pleased with the presents. All the people were surprised, and 
observed they had never seen such a present before. It consisted 
of beads of various descriptions, brass bugles and other orna­
ments, snuff boxes, iron pots and kettles, rugs, blankets, printed 
cottons, white and blue calico, Scotch plaid, and woollen clothes 
to the value of 2,000 dollars. The King was rather angry at 
not getting more than 11 muskets, as I told him that 15 boys 

. 1MS. has Umseboacher. The man here referred to is very probably 
identical with the person of that name alluded to in the author's letter above 
quoted. Of this man, Isaacs (Travels and Adventures in Eastern J..Jrica, II, 129) 
says : " He was a chief who had about 200 natives under his command, and 
sought leave to live a m ong us; but as Shaka had lent him fifty cows, the 
Zoolas were entitled to his services, Dingane, however, gave us both the cattle 
and the services of the tribe. 'I consider him and his people,' said the King 
m December, 1830, 'to belong to you ; your claim is perfectly correct and I 
now concede to you the cattle which Shaka lent him ; but he is still under 
my government and I have the privilege of killing him if he offends me, 
because he 1s of my country and you are our friends.' " 

Mzo6oshi was at this time living on the coast near Ilovu River (cf. Isaacs, 
Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, II, 86-7). More will be heard of him 
later on.-Editor. 

•see Isaacs, Travels and Adventures in Eastern Africa, II, 264. But this has 
been amplified slightly here and there by the light of an earlier report by 
Isaacs to be found in S outh African Commercial Advertiser No. 548, of 12th 
Septemher, 1832. 
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were coming; but when I stated the cause he seemed pleased. 
H e only gave me about 2,600 1 pounds of ivory and 20 head of 
cattle. I remonstrated with him, and used every argument t o 
show the impossibility of the vessel returning as he wished 
unless he was more generous. He then said : ' I do not want the 
vessel to return. You are never satisfied. Last year the vessel 
went away dissatisfied. Now I am convinced that you white 
people are tired of me. I shall therefore not expect a vessel in 
future, but depend entirely on any trifle that you may pick 

up.' 
Jacob had reported to the King that as he was going to the 

Colony he had met a Frontier Kaffi.r , who told him he wanted 
to find a home with the Zulus, as there was no living so near 
the white people; that at first the white people came and took 
a part of their land, then they encroached 2 and drove them 
further back, and have repeatedly taken more land as well as 
cattle. They then built houses (i.e. missionary establishments) 
among them, for the purpose of subduing them by witchcraft; 
that at the present time there was an umlungu-and a white 
man's house, or missionary in every tribe; that they had even 
got as far as the amaMpondo (St . John's Cave); that lat ely no 
less than four kings 3 had died, and their deaths were attri­
buted to the witchcraft of the aoelungu, as all the izinyanga 
(doctors) or prophets had predicted it; that during his stay 
at Grahamstown the soldiers frequently asked what sort of a 
country the Zulus had; if the roads were good for horses; if 
they had plenty of cattle; and had said ' we shall soon be 
after you ' ; that he had heard a few white people had intended 
t o come first and get a grant of land as I , Farewell, King and 
Dambuza4 had done; they would then build a fort , when 
more would come, and demand land, who would also build 
houses and subdue the Zulus, and keep driving them farther 
back, as they had driven the Frontier tribes. That when they 
left Grahamstown to return here J ohn 5 told him that Mr. Collis 
and a number of people were coming to settle at Natal, because 
the country was much better than their own; that Colonel 

1In South African Commercial Advertiser No. 548, of September, 1332, 
I saacs (reporting what the author had told him) has 1,600 lb. 

2Isaacs in South African Commercial Advertiser as above. 
3Paramount chiefs.-Editor. 
'Isaacs' Zulu hiclrname.-Edilor. 
5Joh n Cane, J acob's fellow ambassador.-Editor. 
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Somerset, who is the terror of the Frontier tribes, was about to 
advance with some soldiers to see Dingane, because of having 
hear~ so much about the Zulus and he thought J ohn had 
remamed at home to guide them. 

After hearing this statement, I sent to inform His Majesty 
that Jacob was a consummate villain and an atrocious character 
and that His Maje.sty would find him a dissimulating wretch: 
who w?uld lead him ~o do great wrong to the white people. 
The Kmg sent to desire me to talk over the matter with the 
chiefs. Accordingly the chiefs, Jacob and I assembled at the 
river, the usua~ place of debate, when Jacob related his story 
(as above detailed) and called his servant and Ogle's man to 
confirm it. 

I declared the whole to be a tissue of falsehoods invented 
by the interprete_r himself, in order to be revenged on John 
Cane; an~ that time would prove the villain had long contem­
plated to mduce His Majesty to injure us; that he had neither 
regard for the King nor regard for the Zulu nation but would 
whilst it suited his purpose, betray the King· as 'willingly a~ 
he had attempted to destroy us. I then gave them instances 
of Jacob's treachery and enormities, and called on Lukilimba 
and others to prove his worthlessness and his crimes. 

The chiefs, howeve~, observed that they had heard enough, 
an~ were pe~fectly satisfied ; but I felt differently, for I could 
plamly perc~ive ~h~y were prejudiced from the effect of J acob's 
report , and implicitly believed all he had asserted, in spite of 
all that I had said. The chiefs returned to the King, I following 
the~; when we reached the royal apartments, I was directed 
to sit outside with Mto6ela, while the others went in to con­
verse ~th His Maj esty. I sat waiting for some time, but, finding 
they did not come out, I retired to my hut. 

When . I got an opportunity of speaking to the King I 
assured hm~ that Jacob's assertions were all utterly false . I 
requested him to say what, in his opinion, could have induced 
the Colonial_ Gov~rnment to think of attacking him; what 
was the motive; if cattle were wanted why had the numerous 
herds on the frontiers remained so long unmolested; if land, 
why had the vast territory between the frontier and the Zulu 
count~y remained for years uninhabited; lastly was there 
anythmg, any wrong or crime the Zulus had committed, which 
the Government wished to avenge ? The fact was that the 

O L 
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Government had hitherto molested no one, nor wrongly de­
prived any man of his property. Dingane fully agreed with 
me, but insisted on my saying no more about the matter as 
he had quite made up his mind to put Jacob to de~th. 

On the following day our elephant party, 1 12 m number, 
arrived and the same evening, to our utter astonishment, a 
company of soldiers also arrived from the Portuguese settle­
ment at Delagoa Bay, the latter having been compelled by 
Dingane to come to his assistance. This showed clearly how 
serious the consequences might have been had we refused tb 
bring our men and muskets. The next day the army set forth 
on its expedition, Ogle and Jacob being included as members 
of our party. 

In the evening I heard of Lukilimba having been summoned 
to the palace (seraglio). An hour afterwards he came into my 
hut to say the King had asked him why he had not collected 
such of his followers as had dispersed to various kraals in the 
preceding year on the occasion of his being attacked. As _he 
spoke, I noticed he was trembling; however, I made no in­

quiry as to why he was agitated. 
Next morning I went along with him to take leave of 

Dingane. I was amazed then to hear Lukilimba bluntly request­
ing the King to remove him from my protection and control, 
and putting forward many arguments to induc~ Dingane t_o 
do so. I may as well point out at once that this man Luk1-
limba was a Zulu chief who had revolted during Shaka's reign 
and subsequently returned to the Zulus. After this, in Ding~ne's 
reign, he was ordered to be put to death, but on my specially 
interceding on his behalf his life was spared. He was then 
placed under my charge and protection. Whilst with me I 
made him presents both of cattle and corn. 

As soon as the King heard Lukilimba's application he 
pretended to be opposed to granting it, asking what made him 
wish to be removed from me, who had exerted himself so 
much on his behalf, and when everyone else wished him to be 
put to death I had in fact saved his life. Lukilimba, however, 
continued to beg and implore the King to remove him, if only 
to Mzakali's kraal, which was in our neighbourhood. 

IThat is, our coloured servants, trained to arms, whom I had been directed 
to bring.-Author's note. 
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To this I strongly demurred, begging that, if he must be 
removed, then let it be to a greater distance. I went on to say 
that I had objections to the application being granted under 
any conditions whatsoever, for, in the then doubtful and un­
settled state of affairs in Natal, everyone would begin wonder­
ing what it was Lukilimba foresaw which made him so anxious 
to move, particularly at a time when so many strange reports 
were in circulation 

After I had said this, Dingane immediately consented to 
his removal and, as he did so, remarked to me, ' Let us fall in 
with his request, then see where and when he will find a pro­
tector such as you have been. The fact of your being present 
when he makes the application will at once put an end to any 
doubts in the minds of the people in Natal, for you personally 
know that Lukilimba proposed being removed, not I, who am 
his King. Had it originated with me suspicions might well 
have arisen in the minds of others.' 

So far I was satisfied with the King, but could not conceive 
what had induced Lukilimba to leave me until that moment 
completely in the dark as to his intentions. That day w~ 
started off on our journey back to Natal, my brother William, 
however, remaining behind to take note of any movements 
in connection with ourselves. 

During the first day of the journey I did not speak to 
Lukilimba, but, on the second, he sent two boys to request me 
to grant him a hearing. On his coming up, I told him it would 
be little use, seeing he had deceived me by not informing me 
?f his intentions when in my hut on the night preceding his 
mterview with Dingane. I said that under the circumstances 
I did not know how I could believe him, even if he were to 
speak the truth or put forward an apparently reasonable 
excuse for what he had done. 

Mto6ela, the chief who had been deputed to accompany 
me home, was at the moment some distance from us. Luki­
limba, seeing this, told me of a plot that had been entered into 
to take our lives as soon as the vessel sailed from Natal· that 
nothing but the greatest fear of death had kept him sil~nt on 
the night in question; that during that night he had been 
summoned to the King, who was attended by four chiefs, one 
of :Vhom being Mto6ela; that the King had then started by 
saymg: ' Lukilimba, when you come tomorrow morning with 



200 THE DI A RY O F H EN RY F RA NC I S F Y NN 

Mr. F ynn to take leave of me, request me to remove you from 
his protection. This I shall at first object to doing. You will 
then more strongly insist upon it , and, after some time, I'll give 
my consent. Tell me, whatever it is that induces you to live 
with those wild beasts ? Am I not able to give you cattle ? 
It was the voice of my people, not my wish, that you should 
be put to death. I was and am still partial to you, and wish 
to make you a captain.' 

When the King had finished, one of the chiefs pulled him 
(Lukilimba) by the ear, saying: ' Rascal, do you hear ? You 
dog that is admitted into the King's presence and honoured by 
the King's voice ? I can see right into your heart . Dare, 
rascal, to divulge the King's secret; if you do, you'll not see 
the setting sun. White people don't keep these things secret; 
They confront us with everything they hear as having emanated 
from us. If, therefore, Mr. Fynn be told this secret, told by 
you , we' ll see by his eyes that you have done so.' 

Lukilimba then assured them that he would keep absolutely 
secret what had been communicated to him by the King. He 
next asked Mto6ela what he was to say to me, for , of course, 
I was aware that the King had called. him. Lukilimba was 
then advised to say just what he did say to me, viz. about 
collecting his people. ' I therefore warn you to be careful,' 
continued Lukilimba, ' if you remain at Natal. The moment 
the vessel leaves I'll make off to some distant country . Should 
you decide to leave Natal, I shall accompany you and die 
where you do. Rather than deceive you I would eat the 
bones of my long-deceased father .' " 

[The author gave his partner Isaacs a full account of what 
happened on this memorable occasion. I saacs made a record 
thereof in his J ournal, copious extracts from which were pub­
lished in the South African Commercial A dvertiser , June-Oct ., 
1832, as far as one can judge before the author had made his 
own record of what t ook place . The following t aken from that 
J ournal (No. 556), and not t o be found in Isaacs' well-known 
book, will, although somewhat recapitulatory, serve t o throw 
additional light on an interesting and important situation, as 
well as on Zulu psychology-the kind of psychology which, 
inter alia, underlay the massacre of Piet Retie£ and party .-

Editor. ] 
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" Kelimba gave a long account of his life from the time that 
he first ran away from the Zoolas, to the present time, and then 
asked Dingana to point him out a place t o live, as he was tired 
of living with white people, and that he wanted to get clear 
of them, and, upon the whole, spoke in a most disrespectful 
manner of the Europeans. Dingane put himself in an artificial 
p~t , and said: Can you have a better place than you now have 
w1~h Mr. !'ynn ? . Kelimba insist ed upon being removed, and 
said that 1£ the Kmg would not point out a place he would go 
and live with Umsega. Mr. Fynn then observed that he could 
not allow him to live so near him after such base conduct he 
having .saved h~s li~e, and supported him at the time the I{ing 
~ as gomg to kill him, and took his cattle away, and has ever 
smce treated him like a chief ; therefore he (Mr. Fynn) could not 
account for such conduct , particularly as they t ravelled herel 
t ogether and not a syllable was mentioned prior to this about 
leaving, or respecting ill-treatment; and, in fact, his principal 
obj ect in coming was to prove that J acob was treacherous to 
the w~ite people ; and the scale t o be so reversed, in the space 
of a mght, was a mystery to Mr. Fynn. Dingane agreed with 
~11 that Mr. Fynn said, and continued to say to Kelimba : ' Who 
.1s U~se~a? Look, there he sits, he is nothing but dirt, do you 
see his little black eyes ? He is not a person to take care of 
you! ' Kelimba replied:' Oh father, what am I to eat ? I have 
no cattle, and my people will not consent to leave their corn.' 
The chief Intobaler (Mto6ela) interrupted him and said: ' What , 
do you suppose anyone would say no, if the King told you to 
remove, and would he not provide for you ? Mr. Fynn had been 
made acquainted that Kelimba wanted to hunt the civet cat 
for Dingane, and knew that it could not be done without cattle· 
therefore he (Mr. Fynn) thought that his object was t o procur; 
cattle for the purpose, and said: ' Why, Kelimba, don't you 
tell the King what you mean ; that is, you are going to hunt 
the insimbees, but have not the means of supporting your 
people ? ' To which Dingane quickly replied : ' No, no ; if you 
go to hunt you'll go far away from Mr. F ynn, and who will 
protect you ? You will do wrong to leave such a friend as he 
has proved t o you. But, however, if you persist in leaving the 

1i.e., Dingane's kraal, Mgungund lovu .-Edilor. 
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white people, you can join Umsega, as you object to come to 
this side of the river.' 

Mr. Fynn observed that he did not want Kelimba, neither 
would he allow him to enter his kraals again; but the white 
people at Natal would think it very strange that he left, 
particularly as they were all partial to him, and felt for his 
recent situation; and what had just passed would only tend to 
confirm the report in circulation, respecting Slome-en-lene 
(Hlomendlini). Dingane, in an angry tone, said: 'How can 
that be, when you are present to hear that it is his own wish 
to leave you, and I want him to remain with you?' 'Yes,' 
said Mr. Fynn, ' that 's very true, but they'll think that Ke­
limba sees or knows something more than we do, and for that 
reason wants to remove from us.' 

Thus saying, Mr. Fynn got up, and bid the King adieu, 
and Kelimba accompanied him, when Mr. Fynn abused him 
for his treachery; and the former said: ' Why did you not 
abuse me before the King, and perhaps more would have come 
out? ' They travelled homeward, and Mr. Fynn treated 
him with great coolness, and would not allow him to eat with 
him as before. This appeared to hurt his feelings, and he tried 
several times to speak with Mr. Fynn privately . . . . (When 
later on, Mr. Fynn consented to hear him) he told him, in a 
pathetic and tearful tone, 'that the King's servant came one 
night and desired me to follow him; he took me to Boper's 
hut; he told me to go inside and disappeared himself. The 
chiefs Intobaler [Mto6ela] and Tomboosa [Dambuza] 1 were 
sitting therein waiting for me. They took hold of me and 
pulled my ears, and said, we are sent by the King to inform 
you that he is very partial to you, and wishes to create you a 
chief again; pulling my ears, they continued to say, we are 
now going to confide in you; what we are going to mention 
is from the King's breast, and if you speak a word to anyone 
you are a dead man. 'This,' says he, 'so frightened me that 
I said: ' Oh Father, oh friends, whatever you advise me I'll 
do; if it is at the expense of my life.' ' Well,' said they, ' when 
Mr. Fynn " wallaleesers " or takes leave of the King, you must 
make a speech and bring out in a decent manner that you 

IThe Induna who was decla red by Mpande to have advised Dingane to 
put to death Piet R etief and pa rty as well as the Boers a t \¥eenen.- E ditor . 
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have been a long time from your tribe (the Zoolas) and that 
you want to leave the white people and return; speak ill of 
them when you can. The King will appear to know nothing 
of it, and perhaps abuse you, for the purpose of deceiving Mr. 
Fynn. Nevertheless, you must persist in leaving the white 
people, as the King's intention is to lead Mr. Fynn and the 
white people astray; therefore you must act as we tell you; 
and we trust you because you are a Zoola, and we know it is 
the King's intention to make you one of us; but on no account 
speak with the white people of what has passed this evening ... 
(In a later conversation, during the dead of night, Kelimba 
said) he thought Dingane intended to destroy the malonges as 
soon as the vessel left, under the impression that an army was 
coming from the Colony, and that we should serve them as spies 
-knowing, as we did, every path about the Zoola's territories; 
and, to accomplish his aim, he wants to separate us, as he has 
heard that I showed you the path when you fled before, at the 
time John's place was attacked, and from me being a Zoola, 
he knows that I am aware of all their schemes, and of course 
thinks that I am in your interest, and will tell you all I learn; 
thereforP, he wishes to separate us; but, I can assure you, I'll 
never see the Zoolas again. Tell me your intentions, ap.d I'll 
stick by you, and if you do not leave Natal when the vessel 
goes, I shall run to the bush. They say the King wants to 
make a captain of me, but I know them too well to be caught 
a second time. I advise you to leave, Mr. Fynn, but I think 
there is no danger while the vessel remains here, as they want 
to manage it so as to kill all, and not leave one to tell the story, 
as you know the Zoolas are afraid of the Governor, and think 
that your countrymen would come and revenge themselves; 
therefore you may be sending corn ahead." 

I remained some minutes in silent agitation, then told him 
that, for the present, we must to all appearances continue to be 
on the worst of terms, which would afford me an opportunity 
of considering with my friend Mr. Isaacs and the rest of my 
countrymen what had best be done. 

I now pushed on to overtake Mto6ela. On coming up to 
him, he asked where I had left Lukilimba. I said I wanted to 
say nothing to so ungrateful a vagabond, and hoped it would 
not be long before he left my place. On hearing this Mto6ela 
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was very pleased. He recommended me to drive him away 
as soon as I got back t o Natal. 

That night , after settling down to rest and sleep , Lukilimba 
came stealthily to me to say he would appear t o be on the 
most friendly footing with Mto6ela, and not come near me. 
Next morning I sent a note t o my brother William begging 
him to follow on as speedily as possible, as I saw no prospect 
of our remaining any longer at Natal. I also wrote to Isaacs. 
[The note, in pencil , ran thus: 

Dear Isaacs, 
Please come and meet me as soon as possible. I am 

waiting for you at the Mdlothi River. Come immediately. 
I shall not start before I see you. I can't say any more 
just now, only that there is nothing to fear, neither must 
you let anyone know that there is news of consequence. 
Don't be the least flurried, nor cause anyone else to be so. 
It 's only news I've beard. 
The above had no signature or date. (I saacs in South 

Af rican Commercial A dvertiser No. 584, 12th September, 1852.) 

- Editor.] 
My brothers William and F rancis left Natal with part of 

the men and women. I followed next day with Lukilimba. 
When I left, Cane's people were already on their way from 

his place. 
On hearing that Lukilimba's family had gone by an upper 

a nd different route, I asked him the reason, when he said he 
would overtake the people in the evening. I had gone only 
five miles when a girl came running after me to say she had 
been sent by a woman (whose husband had recently died) t o 
r equest me t o wait for her, as the woman travelling with her 
h ad run away. I rode back. On coming up t o her I noticed 
she was trembling and that Sobageli, Lukilimba 's brother, was 
behind her. She told me that her reason for sending after me 
was to request me to let some man conduct her t o our people's 
wives, who were some way on ahead. I immediately concluded 
that she wanted to avoid being courted by Sobageli, who, prior 
to her lat e marriage, had been her lover. I directed Andries, 
a Hottentot, to t ake her where the other women were, whilst 
I myself pushed on t o Mzo6oshi's kraal, where I intended to 

sleep. 
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On arriving there I heard that several boys had run off with 
20 of my cattle. The circumstances being what they were, it 
was, of course, useless to follow them. My brothers had passed 
early in the morning. That evening one of my people informed 
me that Lukilimba did not intend coming along with me; that 
it was he who had instigated the boys to run off with my cattle ; 
also that news had just been received that other boys engaged 
in carrying on our remaining property had also vanished on 
the same man's advice. 

Lukilimba and his brother had in fact , throughout the day, 
been endeavouring to persuade everyone to desert us, assuring 
them that he knew we would all be killed, including all those 
who happened to be in our company. I immediately called 
the woman whom I had seen trembling when Sobageli was with 
her in the morning. She "then explained that her reason for 
sending after me was because she found herself alone with 
Sobageli. When others were present he had not dared to try 
and persuade her to desert us, but when he found her alone he 
tried to force her to stay behind, swearing by his King that 
he knew of a plot from which none of us, or anyone with us, 
could escape. 

I remained for some minutes contemplating all the mys­
t erious incidents that had come to my notice, and then sent 
for Lukilimba. I asked him if he would continue to go along 
with us. He said " No," giving as the reason for changing his 
mind that he saw everyone deserting me, either through fear 
of being starved on the way or being killed by the amaMpondo. 
He consequently had begun t o think as they did, so proposed 
turning back the next morning. I was on the point of taking 
hold of my pistol to shoot him, when a second thought induced 
me t o look into the matter a little further. 

Not being able to sleep, I arose before daylight and con­
sulted with several of our people as to his conduct , after which 
I resolved to shoot him, which I did half an hour afterwards. 
I then continued on my journey. On arriving at the kraal t o 
which I had sent forward my cattle and corn , I found it deserted, 
and my cattle nowhere to be seen. My brother William pro­
posed going on ahead of us to the amaMpondo to prevent their 
supposing that our people were part of Dingane's army. 

On the seventh day after leaving Port Natal we slept in 
a bush on the Mbilanhlola River, little expecting that the Zulus 
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would follow us. We were, however, alarmed next morning 
before daybreak on hearing a violent noise and comm_otion, 
which proved to be the Zulus stabbing o~r people while we 
were all still asleep. The cries of those bemg murdered woke 
all the native chiefs, and in a few minutes all had scattered 
and made off t o various parts of the bush . Several muskets 
were fired in succession . Those of us who had guns, v iz. nine in 
all, though in very bad order, for our best guns were with 
Dingane's army, soon got t ogether. . . 

Among the nine was my brother Francis, who, m the dark, 
had been actually trampled on by the Zulus, but got off "'.ithout 
any other mishap. They managed to capture and dnve off 
our cattle ; this was done at the very outset of the attack. 

In proceeding from a rock to where the rest of our p~rty 
were I passed close to the impi, whic~ the~eupon broke mto 
three sections. These sections intended m this way t o surround 
me---one by advancing towards the sea shore from an inland 
direction; another by proceeding along the beach; and another 
by keeping their ground and crying out " There he is ! There 
he is ! Stab him ! " The inland party was prevented by a steep 
precipice from executing their movement, whilst that which 
had proceeded along the beach was checked by our guns. 

On coming up to my people they showed me the folly of 
remaining where we were, as, should the enemy see that I was 
not moving on, they would not quit the spot until they had 
succeeded in killing me, which would have prevented our 
assisting the wounded in any way. I accordingly left the place. 
The enemy then soon disappeared, when we ascertained that 
our losses were five men, 20 women, 15 children, and17 wounded. 
The Zulus lost 13 men . In addition to the foregoing casualties, 
150 head of our cattle were captured, also two horses, together · 
with cloth , beads and medicine. E verything else, including 
paper of every descript ion, was destroyed on the spot. All 

that we succeeded in recovering was two books. 
We now pushed on t owards the amaMpondo country (chief 

Faku) as rapidly as we could. When we got there we wer~ in a 
stat e of starvation, which continued until we reached Buntmg, a 
mission station near Faku's chief kraal, where we were treat ed 

in the most humane and hospitable manner. 
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[Fynn and party, which then numbered about 70, including 
women and children, reached the Umzimvu6u early in July, 
after a wearisome journey of 25 days. 

Their arrival was at once reported to the Pondo chief, Faku. 
The latter , being at a loss as t o how t o treat them, consulted 
Mr. Boyce, the missionary in charge at Bunting, who replied 
in these t erms : " They are my countrymen and in distress, 
therefore I should help them as much as I could ; for it was 
not our custom, when people were in trouble, t o talk to them 
about their faults, but to assist them. Faku must take care 
they are not injured while living under his protection. " Mr. 
Boyce not only assisted the refugees to the utmost of his 
power, but strongly advised Faku t o do likewise. 

The result was that F ynn and his dependants were soon 
rehabilitated and in a position to think about returning to 
Natal. The opportunity of doing this occurred in a few weeks' 
time; viz. in August , when Collis arrived at Bunting en route 
t ~ Natal. This enterprising colonist had two waggons with 
hrm, also a small party of Englishmen and Hottentots. A short 
time before he had paid Nat al a visit, and was now returning 
t o settle down there permanently. 

Whilst Collis was at Bunting, Boyce received a letter from 
Cane, then in Natal, in the following t erms: 

" We are well in this quarter , after three months living 
in the bush, daily expecting the Zulus to attack us. It all 
t urns out , however, to be an alarm of our own. Had Mr. 
Fynn only stayed a few days more, he would not have been 
assegaied. His departing in the manner he did gave Soto6e, 
a chief of this quarter, and with whom he was not on the 
best of terms, an opportunity of following him, to retake 
the King's cattle as he t ermed it . His Majesty (Dingane) 
has sent to me to send after him, to inform him, should he 
be inclined to return, he may ; and I could please myself 
to send or not. His people refusing and mine being t oo 
busy, was the reason no person came after him. Since the 
above report reached me from the King (Dingane) I hear he 
has sent to Faku respecting the people that came from this 
part , not to harbour them, if Caffres. Any of the white people 
can depart by informing him and obtaining his leave ... 1 " 

1S outh African Commercial Advertiser No. 443, 10th September, 183 1, 
p. 2, col. 3 . 
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From this we see that when Fynn fled from Natal, Cane 
instead of taking his people off towards the Colony, as he had 
at first proposed doing, went and hid in the bushes near the 
port. A considerable time passed before he could get an oppor­
tunity of seeing Dingane and personally assuring him that 
Jacob's alarming allegations were all utterly false . When at 
length the interview occurred Dingane pointed out that Jacob's 
assertions seemed at the time they were made so reasonable 
that he, Dingane, could not have acted otherwise than he had 
done, but added that if within six months of their conversation 
no European army arrived he would have Jacob put to death. 
The time stipulated by the King had passed by. In the mean­
time, Jacob was found to have stolen some of the King's cattle 
which had been placed in his charge. For such offence he 
could not possibly have escaped being killed, and it was prob­
ably this, and not his wanton false and mischievous reports 
which finally induced Dingane to order Cane to kill him. 

Had the issuing of such an order depended merely on the 
falsity of the reports it is probable that it would have been 
deferred indefinitely. As Cane was anxious, in carrying out 
this order, to prevent the destruction of the whole of Jacob's 
people along with himself, as would have been but in accordance 
with the usual Zulu practice in such circumstances, instead of 
resorting to such action he offered a reward of five head of 
cattle to anyone who should kill him and him only. Ogle under­
took to do this. H e accordingly invited Jacob over to his place 
on the pretext of having business to discuss. Jacob fell into 
the trap, when Ogle's people dispatched him quickly. 1 The 
whole of his cattle 2 were then taken and, by direction of 
Dingane, handed over to Cane by way of compensating him 
for those previously taken from him under a misunderstanding. 
-Editor]. 

1This happened at the latter end of January, 1832, a date fixed by the 
author in a letter to the Graha.mstown j ournal, 30th March, 1832.-Editor. 

' Seventy head .-Editor. 
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Chapter XVII 

[ FYNN, as we have seen, left Bunting in company with 
J. Collis and others in August, 1831. He and they 
reached Port Natal during the following months. 

Among the more notable incidents that had occurred during 
his three months absence was one in connection with the Cele 
tribe. 

During the reign of Shaka the chief of this tribe was Ma­
gaye. After this man had been assassinated, by order of 
Dingane, about February, 1829, under the circumstances already 
detailed, his son Mkhonto 1 was appointed chief in his stead. 
-Editor.] 

He, however, held the position for only 12 months [writes 
the author, in a letter dated 30th September, 1832, to the 
Grahamstown journal of 29th November, 1832]. During my 
absence in Pondoland in 1831 the whole tribe were ordered 
to collect together at one of Dingane's kraals, for the purpose 
of fencing it after a plan which only members of this tribe were 
competent to execute. The fence being completed, they only 
remained for orders to return to their homes, when a Zulu 
entered the kraal in haste and reported to Soto6e, the chief of 
that kraal, that a lion was devouring an ox belonging to Din­
gane. Soto6e placed himself at the head of four regiments and, 
disposing the Celes in the centre, proceeded a short distance, 
under the pretence of attacking the lion, when the signal was 
given for their indiscriminate massacre and Mkhonto and his 
tribe were thus treacherously killed. 

Owing to my return to Port Natal2 after paying Dingane 
a visit, those who had escaped or had avoided death by having 
remained at their homes sick arrived at Natal and placed 
themselves under the protection of Messrs. Collis and Ogle, 
whilst six brothers of Maga ye put themselves under my care. 3 

Only a short time had elapsed when a messenger from Dingane 
came to Collis, Ogle and me, with orders to "pull our ears," 
as the phrase went, meaning to draw our attention to the order 

1MS. has Mconto. 
•September, 1831 .- Editor. 
3This would have occurred without delay, probably in September or 

October.-Editor. 
p 



210 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FY N N 

and desire that we should give up the Cele refugees. We 
immediately ordered the messenger to return, saying we doubted 
his authority, although we were sufficiently satisfied of his being 
sent by Dingane, but we treat ed lightly the risk of offending 
by the argument I was able to hold in defence of our cond~ct. 
I accordingly proceeded to Dingane to account for our havmg 
doubted the authority of his messenger; I stated that from 
the manner they had been deceived in the affair of the lion, 
his now ordering " our ears to be pulled " in so public a manner 
was sufficient to cause them to run away, and he would accuse 
us of having induced them to do so. In reply, he said he only 
wanted to kill the brothers of Magaye, upon which a long 
argument ensued between us , from my requesting, if it were 
his det ermination to destroy them, that he would find some 
plan by which they might ?e execu_ted_ by his own . peo~le. 
Finding me urgent and seemg no hkehhood of theJr bemg 
effectually destroyed, he at length gave them to me. On my 
return to Natal I found those people had, during my absence, 
proposed running away, under an apprehension that I should 
return with positive orders for their destruction, but, many 
of their wives objecting, they had remained, and their hus­
bands' intention became publicly known. Eight months now 
elapsed 1 and they as well as I were entertaining hopes of their 
lives being spared. At this time I proceeded with Dr. A. Smith 
to the Zulus. 2 From the repeated demands I had made for 
the restoration of my cattle, Dingane made an enquiry into 
the case, and ordered the cattle to be brought to him by the 
chiefs who had reported only 30 (which he had given them) 
instead of the 300 that had actually been taken from me. 
He desired me to return t o receive them. Dr. Smith left in the 
morning, but I remained with Mr. Collis to overtake him in 
the afternoon. On taking leave of Dinganc he asked me how 
many chiefs of the Celes were with me in atal. I replied six, 
when he ordered me t o proceed home and kill them, alleging 
that, while under my protection, they had been guilty of witch­
craft in one of his kraals, some 70 miles from Port Natal, from 
whence I knew they had not gone beyond a distance of 20 miles. 
A severe argument ensued in consequence of my refusing to 

1i.e ., September, 1831-April, 1832 .- Editor. 
•Dr. Smith's visit to Dingane, in company with the author, as guide, took 

place about April, 1832.-Editor. 
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kill them, till at length the outrageous passion he evinced 
compelled me, for my own welfare, to submit and undertake 
t o have them killed. On his becoming milder, I again urged 
him to send his people for the purpose. This he refused to do, 
on the plea that they would run away at the sight of them, 
and I left them with the hope that I might plan their escape 
and deceive him by reporting their deaths. I saw plainly the 
plausibility of his scheme. In the first place, the cattle, he 
concluded, would be a sufficient inducement for me to take 
their lives, and if I did not obey his peremptory order he 
would then have sufficient excuse for not returning my cattle. 
Their escape would be another excuse for him, as it would 
furnish him with a good reason for accusing me of being the 
cause, but should I have them killed, the loss of the cattle to 
him would be overbalanced by the grand point he would gain 
in making the natives believe there remained no more hope of 
protection by the Europeans at Natal, from his destructive 
murders. I had, on my journey to Port Natal, deluded myself 
with the hope of disposing of the chiefs, without murdering 
them, proposing instead to supply them with corn, and to 
send them to live in the vacant country lying to the south­
west, but on a more due consideration of the improbabilities 
of their leaving their families, and the publicity of their former 
intentions, in consequence of their wives refusing to go with 
them, I felt I was hazarding a risk dangerous to myself, and 
determined to confer with the other Europeans at Port Natal. 
For that purpose, I sent circulars requesting them to meet and 
discuss the question. I also forwarded a messenger to Dingane, 
excusing myself for the present from making my appearance 
on the ground of being delayed in consequence of his order. 
As, however, there were but three Europeans at the port, Collis, 
Cane and Ogle being absent, I deferred the question till more 
persons should be present, when the reports before mentioned 
sickened me, with the little chance of my again being on a 
friendly footing with Dingane. 

Many instances of a similar nature were frequent in Natal, 
and have been the cause of much trouble to us in consequence. 
The dread we were held in by the natives on our first arrival 
soon vanished by the kind manner with which the half-starved 
stragglers, who at that time were on the point of death owing 
to Shaka's destructive attacks on the tribes which he laid waste, 
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were treated by every European then at Natal. This induced 
many people who escaped at the point of death by Shaka's 
rigid government to fly to us for protection, which we as 
repeatedly reported to Shaka, whose more noble spirit spared 
their lives, saying as they had flown to us, who were his " rela­
tions," they were safe. The number, in consequence, has well 
exceeded our expectations, there being not less than three or 
four thousand men, women and children under protection of 
the Europeans in Natal, who would be a most useful people 
should there be a settlement, but at present1 they are tram­
melled by the Europeans, because obliged to submit to the 
Zulu King's despotism. 

Although the present doubtful state of Natal is attributed 
to the falsehoods of Jacob, I am satisfied that the principal 
cause is the jealousy occasioned from so many natives being 
with us, and although it may not be Dingane's intention to 
murder all the whites at Natal, I have no doubt he is at the 
bottom of the reports, and many instances might be adduced 
which would show how he was interested by them. 

[The above letter deals only with Cele tribal affairs and 
important issues that sprang therefrom. The following one, 
though of a slightly earlier date (August, 1832), published in the 
Grahamstown journal of 21st September, 1832, throws further 
light on the situation in Natal at that particular moment. 
Whatever in those days Fynn saw fit to communicate to 
the Press regarding Natal affairs invariably commanded 
attention. In directing the attention of his readers to this 
very letter, this is what the well-known and capable editor 
finds himself justified in saying: " We have good reason for 
believing that this writer is better acquainted with the crooked 
policy of the Zulu chief than any person who had ever visited 
that country. His opportunities of gaining information have 
been more frequent and of longer periods than those afforded 
to any other person, and his intimate knowledge of the language 
and customs of that people give him a decided advantage. 
We, therefore, cannot believe, as has been asserted, that he 
abandoned Port Natal without very sufficient reasons for doing 

so."-Editor.J 

'This was written September, 1832.-Editor. 
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Faco's Tribe.1 
Dear Sir, 

It will no doubt appear unaccountable to you after the 
return of Dr. Smith from Natal, with such apparent fair 
prospects of our residing there, according to the promise 
made to Dingane, how many disturbances should arise to 
cause any doubt as to our safety, but, shortly after his 
departure, Mr. Collis left, then followed Mr. Cane who, 
with his party of Hottentots, went out elephant hunting. 
The Messrs. Cawood and Ogle were also from home on their 
several occupations and this at a time when the tribes and 
neighbours north, east, and west of the Zulus are in motion, 
being sure that someone or other of them will be destroyed­
as a winter was never known to pass, since Shaka became chief 
of the Zulus, without some tribe or other being destroyed. 
No sooner had the persons mentioned left Natal, than 
reports of an intended attack on us were in circulation, 
the truth thereof being so little doubted as to make us 
determined to sleep in the wood. Spies had been seen 
among us. This we at first doubted, but were at length 
sufficiently convinced that that was the object of their 
coming. In this state, we remained several days in the 
woods, there being at that moment but three guns at Natal. 
I, at length, determined on leaving, and profiting by my 
last year's experience by not delaying on the road. Mr. 
Cawood arrived from the Zulus, the day I left. He informed 
us that the Zulus were about to attack Mzilikazi, who lives 
to the north-east of their country. As, therefore, the 
reports in circulation appeared to them groundless, the 
Messrs. Cawood preferred awaiting the chance of a vessel 
they daily expected, rather than, by going overland, run 
the risk of narrowly escaping as I did last June. Had 
Messrs. Cane and Ogle, and every other resident of Natal 
been present, I would not have left, as we, no doubt, would 
have agreed to act on one plan. As, however, the above 
two persons were absent, they, with myself, being the only 
persons that have been sufficiently long with the Zulus to 
enable them to judge of their movements, I decided to 
leave, for, having lost all I had last year, I saw plainly 

. 
1This means that he is writing from near the St. John's or Umzimvu6u 

River.-Edi tor. 
p I 
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that there were no hopes of retrieving my cattle without 
losing more than their worth. 

A servant of Mr. Cane's arrived yesterday. He says 
he left more than nine days after us. Nothing further 
had transpired, and, in consequence of my leavin?, _I think 
that Dingane will, if possible, pacify those remammg. and 
wait for an opportunity when they are unprepared. Lieut. 
Edie's feather, which is in Dingane's possession, is supposed 
to be bewitched, and dreams are said to be the cause of the 
attack.I We have just heard that Mpande, heir apparent 
to the Zulu chieftainship, has been driven off to the bushes 
and his cattle seized. Two other brothers were killed before 
Mr. Collis left. As he set such an excellent example in 
killing his brother Shaka, no doubt someone will follow it, 
when perhaps there will be peace again at Natal, as there 
was during Shaka's life. At present it would be folly for 
anyone to attempt a residence, the sec~ritf of property 
being so doubtful. Port Natal has for this nme years past 
been open, ·and has not been wanting in persons capable 
of opening a trade with the Zulus to advantage, had there 
been a government protection, without which no per:ons, 
with the least prospect, can with spirit enter into bu_smess 
of any kind under so despotic a government, the_ like _ of 
which I don't believe exists on this earth. Only imagme 
to yourself a few Europeans, each guided by his own int_erest, 
and the little chance of success will be at once evident. 
Only read over the letter in the Grahamstown Journal of 
3rd August, 2 where it says: " I left and no _one kno~s for 
what." When the fact is I nearly lost my life and, m the 
end, quite all my cattle. Do you think, if there had been no 
cause, my cattle would not have been returned? As to the 
letter of Mr. Collis it would be impolitic of him to allow 
I had cause for leaving, as it would deter other persons 
from settling at Natal. We differ in opinion as to the place 
being settled by people without a government , but supp?se 
the traders will be all employed in their separate pursmts, 
and no disturbances amongst themselves, when could they 
meet together to defend themselves against the superstitious 

IThis probably refers to the attack Dingane was at that time prnsumably 
intending to make on the Europeans to whom Edie belonged .-Ed1tor. . 

•The reference is a letter by J ames Cawood, dated 3rd July, 1832.-Editor. 
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suspicions of the Zulus. Their suspicions of our bewitching 
hides and horns that their cattle may die, has prevented 
that trade being opened years back. The late Mr. Farewell 
attempted it, and collected several hundred horns, but was 
not allowed to remove them. Mr. Isaacs and myself suc­
ceeded in purchasing about 80 hides from Dingane, as also 
others from the natives-in fact, several attempts have been 
made before the arrival of the Messrs. Cawood, and only 
relinquished in consequence of the doubtful state we have 
been living in for the last three years, which must continue 
to remain so till some great change takes place in the Zulu 
government; but time will, no doubt, produce a profitable 
market at Natal, and that as soon as the despotic govern­
ment is suppressed. 

[In December, 1831, the Government arranged with Dr. 
Andrew Smith, medical officer of the Cape Town garrison, to 
pay a visit to Natal, as well as to Dingane, with the view to 
obtaining reliable information as to the local state of affairs, the 
capabilities of Natal, etc. Smith was accompanied by Lieut. 
Edie, and had waggons with him. He left Grahamstown in 
January, 1832. Proceeding overland, he reached Fynn's 
residence, near Port Natal, on the 25th March. After resting 
a few days, he and Fynn went on to Zululand. Smith had 
several conversations with the King, saw something of the 
remarkable native life at the royal kraal, returned with 
Fynn to Natal, and from thence went back by the same route 
to the Cape Colony, reaching Grahamstown early in June. 

He published a full and useful itinerary of his journey in 
the Grahamstown J ournal of 24th August, 1832. The forward 
journey alone extended over ten weeks. "Persons who may 
be about to visit Natal," he says, "will see that they must not 
trust for every article of diet to the Caffres; that they must 
be particular in the selection of articles for traffic; and that 
though in the land of savages, they have ample opportunities 
of having injuries avenged whenever such are properly repre­
sented. They will, moreover, perceive that the utmost caution 
is necessary to guard against theft s, and that a watch during 
the night is of the greatest importance. They will find that the 
road between the Umzimvooboo and Natal offers much at any 
time to try the patience, but that it is particularly harassing 
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if travelled during the rainy season , namely between September 
and April." 

Smith refers here to much the same route that the author 
travelled over to and fro, though under more exacting con­
ditions, seven years before; again in 1831; and yet again in 1832, 
to say nothing of later occasions. Indeed F~nn ~as t?e 
first European to traverse the country in quest10n, smce _its 
depopulation by Shaka's devastating wars, a depopulation 
which, becoming practically complete in or about 1820, con­
verted the whole of a most fertile and extensive area into a 
howling wilderness. 

The information obtained by Smith was soon t o prove of 
great value to the Government, viz. on the occasion of 190 
" merchants and others, inhabitants of the Cape of Good Hope," 
petitioning King William IV " to take measures for the _oc~u­
pation of Port Natal, and the depopulated country m its 
vicinity, which extends about 200 miles along the coast to the 
westward, reaching to the country of the Amapondos, and 
inland about 100 miles," included in the historical precis1 offi­
cially drawn up by him, May, 1834, in that connection. 

In January, 1832, the number of British s~ttlers at Natal 
was slightly augmented by the arrival of the Ca woods (James 
and Joseph S.) together with their wives and families. They 
had come with the object of establishing a system of commerce. 
They brought with them six waggons laden with merchandise 
suitable for the kind of trade they proposed to carry on. Set­
tling themselves at the head of the Bay, they proceeded to 
collect, as Fynn, Isaacs, Collis and others had for years been 
doing, ivory, hides, horns, etc. 2 

We have seen that Fynn got back to Natal in September, 
1831. The following letter by him, dated 21st February, 1832, 
and published in the Grahamstown J ournal of 30th March, 1832, 
throws light on the six months immediately preceding. As 
there is nothing in the Fynn manuscripts that deals specifically 
with this particular period, we give it in extenso.-Editor.] 

" On my return to Natal, Dingane ordered to death those 
persons whom we had cause to complain of, reserving Jacob 
a longer time, to be better satisfied as to the truth or falsehood 

!Steedman, Wanderings and Adventures in the I nterior of So?tthern Africa, 
n , 289. 

2See Bird's Annals of Natal, I , 255- 269. 
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of his statement, and at the latter end of last month ordered 
John Cane to have him killed, giving Cane Jacob's cattle in 
place of those that Cane had lost . In consequence of Jacob's 
rascally affair, the only hope I have of retrieving my property 
is a trial which is to take place, in which three chiefs are the 
defendants, they having taken 300 head from me, and reported 
only 30 head to Dingane. This so enraged him as to leave 
little doubt but that they will suffer for it. Although Dingane 
has punished with death all those whom we had cause to 
complain of, yet we are not on that firm footing that we were 
. before these events took place, and for some time not likely 
to be, as every trifling movement of ours, in the minds of these 
superstitious people, is construed as something foreign from 
its intent , which before was never thought of. For instance, 
the Messrs. Cawood praying on the flat, when their waggons 
were outspanned, and publicly in their houses-the one prays, 
the congregation is silently attentive, and a hymn is sung. 
How must this appear to the Zul-qs, when on going to war, 
they invoke their spirits, a chief stands in the midst of the 
people, appealing to the spirits for assistance in the intended 
attack, the peqple all mute and silent until he has finished, 
when the warwhoop is sung in a most solemn manner. This 
will at once prove the necessity of a missionary among them, 
these uncivilized beings. Reports assure us of traders coming 
here. It is my opinion, in our present situation , that there ought 
only to be three or four families at Natal; if much above that 
number, the Zulus will and must look on us with suspicion, 
unless some authority is sent from the Colony to bring our 
Government and the Zulu Chief to some settled understanding. 
Dingane has been told these five years, that an authority was 
coming to him from Government. It, however, does not 
appear likely that Government will 'trouble their heads with 
this place till they find that it ultimately must be so, when 
perhaps not with the same advantage as at present. The capa­
bilities of the port are superior to any on the coast, the vacant 
country, climate and soil being so much superior, with a surety 
of crops, which the Cape Colony does not afford, will induce 
everyone who visits this place t o be in its favour; and although 
it will take time and proof to persuade those who know nothing 
of the place to believe in its capabilities, yet I do not hesitate 
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to say it will not be long before this will be a settlement of 
importance. 

It is now only 14 days since we heard of an attack made on 
Mzilikazi (known in the Colony as Umsilikaats) by the Bastards, 
who took all their cattle; but they were retaken during the 
night. The white people have the credit of this. All we can say 
will not persuade them to the contrary. They naturally ask 
why Matiwane was destroyed? What had he done? We lived 
here on the most peaceful terms with Shaka, and it is only 
Jacob that has made this difference with Dingane ; but Jacob 
is no more. Mr. Collis will leave here in another month's time, 
and I doubt not but that Messrs. Collis and Cawood, or any 
other visitors, will on their arrival convince Government 
of the necessity of some person of authority visiting, and in 
fact residing here. The Zulus will attack Ncaphayi1 who lives 
inland of the amaMpondo in March. Mzilikazi's captain or fight­
ing general, who came here to Dingane for protection, has 
since run away. They now consider him to be a spy. He was 
disgraced for not having followed up the Bastards, when they 
retook their cattle. Since my return, the King has made me 
several presents of fine cattle, and promises me a great deal 
more." 

[" A winter was never known to pass, since Shaka became 
,chief of the Zulus, without some tribe or other being destroyed." 
So wrote Fynn in August, 1832. His opinion on fleeing 
from Natal early in the preceding June was that either the 
British settlers at Port Natal, the amaMpondo, or Mzilikazi 
were about to be attacked. It is quite possible that the first 
named would have been selected had they not all either made 
off in good time or taken refuge in the bushes. However, what 
actually happened was that an army was sent against Mzilikazi. 
It left Zululand at the latter end of June or beginning of July 
and did not return until the end of August. 

At this time Mzilikazi was settled near the Oliphants River 
in what is now the Transvaal. The campaign appears to have 
failed. The army returned with 140 oxen, 2 having had nearly 
three regiments destroyed . . . . Dingane demanded of the 

1MS. has Ingnapie. 
•A later report per J oseph Cawood says that " large herds of cattle have 

been brought in from Mzilikazi's territory. "-Grahamstown J ournal, J anuary 
?4th, 1833. 
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regiments not engaged, a cow from each man, or his sister to 
dispose of for one. Those who had neither cow nor sister were 
sent, a la Zulu, to inform Shaka. Several of the chiefs have 
returned wounded. It is supposed that they did not encounter 
the main army of Mzilikazi, as those they met with asked " why 
they did not come on and meet the fighting men who were 
coming up. " 1 One of the Cawoods adds 2 that the report of three 
regiments having been killed is contradicted. "We have also 
heard that Dingane has killed some of his chief captains for 
running away. It appears it was not his wish for them to go 
on this expedition; and he has therefore put those to death 
who returned without fighting. " 

Early in November we find Fynn writing as follows to 
the Rev. W. B. Boyce at Buntingville: " In one of my former 
letters 3 I informed you of Dingane's severity to his defeated 
soldiers, since which one of his regiments has left and is sup­
posed to have joined Mzilikazi. I have just heard that two 
divisions of Zulus, with cattle, are on the Msika6a River 4 on 
this side of Natal, and are coming in this direction. I suppose 
there are others that have since left . I have sent to see who 
they are, and shall acquaint you when I hear." 

Nothing more seems t o have been heard in the Cape Colony 
about this movement.-Editor.J 

. 
1From a letter by C. P . Pickman to B. Norden in which he is repeating 

mtel11gence communicated to him by J ames Cawood then at Port Natal. 
The letter is dated amaPondoland, September 19, 1832.-Grahamstown 
J ournal, 12th October, 1832. 

2Letter dated 10th September, 1832 (see Grahamstown J ournal, 22nd 
November, 1832). At this moment the Cawoods happened to be a lmost the 
only Europeans at Port Natal, Collis, Ogle and Cane having temporarily gone. 
-Editor. 

31 have been unable to find this.-Edilor. 
' Some 35 miles to the eastward of St. J ohn's (Umzimvu6u) R iver.-Editor. 
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EPILOGUE 

Chapter I 

THE state of affairs at Natal was fast becoming impossible. 
Indeed, in January, 1833, the whole of the Cawood party, 
who, as we have seen, reached Natal exactly 12 months 

before in hope of establishing a system of commerce, already 
had serious intentions of withdrawing themselves from that 
promising field . . . . It appears that Dingane's principal chief 
had established a fixed value for hides and other produce, and 
that the rate was so high as to render it useless to continue the 
traffic; they were, in consequence, removing their property to 
the nearest missionary station, under the Rev. Mr. Boyce in the 
amaMpondo country, "and it is their present determination to 
return to the Colony as soon as they shall have accomplished 
this part of their undertaking." 1 But, prior to their abandon­
ment of the station, various events occurred to which the 
reader's attention is now invited. 

For long past, ever since the murder of Farewell, Thackwray 
and Walker by Nqetho in September, 1829, Dingane had in­
t ended to attack him. It will be remembered that, though the 
Pondo chief Faku soon signally defeated Nqetho it fell to 
another chief Ncaphayi, himself a refugee from Natal, to com­
plete the rout, and, what in a Zulu's eyes is of the utmost 
importance, succeeded in capturing the whole of the numerous 
cattle and other property in possession of the Qwa6es. All the 
property he forthwith appropriated, including what had been 
looted from Farewell's waggons. 

Now, as we saw in a previous chapter, when N qetho revolted, 
he drove off a vast number of cattle belonging to the Zulus as 
well as to chief Magaye, then tributary to the Zulus. A large 
portion of these were recovered, but Nqetho managed to escape 
with the balance to Pondoland, a circumstance that, of course, 
soon came to Dingane's notice. Had not Nqetho been defeated 
a few months later by Faku, and routed by Ncaphayi, it is 

1Grahamstown J ournal, 24th J anuary, 1833, its informant being J oseph 
Cawood.-Editor. 
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certain Dingane would have attacked him, if only to recover 
the cattle he had wrongly made off with. 

When Ncaphayi possessed himself of Nqetho's cattle, in 
fair warfare though it might have been, he did so with the full 
knowledge that the Zulus would thenceforth regard him as 
their foe, and as one t o be attacked, defeated, and dispossessed 
at the earliest opportunity. Faku saw clearly that such cattle 
were a snare, as something that would inevitably excite Zulu 
ire against him, consequently when the chance of capturing 
them arose he left them severely alone. 

Ever since Shaka's assassination Dingane had been busy 
exterminating Shaka's various favourites, of whom Nqetho 
himself was one. Ngwadi, Shaka's stepbrother, Zihlandlo, 
Magaye, Mdlaka, Shaka's famous commander-in-chief, and 
others, moreover, Mhlangana and other members of the royal 
house, had by this time all been" removed," and in each case 
by resorting to swift and treacherous measures. 

In due course, then, we find Dingane seriously contem­
plating an attack on Ncaphayi. The usual precaution of sending 
spies in advance to the country it was proposed to raid, to 
ascertain, inter alia, if the inhabitants had cattle, was duly 
taken by Dingane, the men sent being Mgoduka, Mhlangana 
and Mphezulu. These, on their return, reported favourably, a 
report, however, that was soon to bring misfortune upon them. 

But as Faku, a far more important chief, lived in the same 
quarter as Ncaphayi, it was commonly supposed, especially by 
those at a distance from Zululand, that the object of attack 
by the army dispatched in April, 1833, was Faku and no one 
else. Being apprehensive that the traders at Port Natal would, 
from motives of policy, oppose this ambitious project , he, 
Dingane, determined to mask his intentions and, by making 
an extensive detour, to fall upon the devoted amaMpondos at 
a point altogether unexpected. In the prosecution of this plan, 
a large force was marched to the northward with instructions 
to reach a certain point, when they were to tum to the west­
ward, and to proceed until they were able to attack the ama­
Mpondos in the rear, where they were least prepared to make 
resistance. 1 In the execution of these orders, they advanced so 

'The a rmy seems for a considerable distance to have marched a lon "' the 
range of the Drakensberg mounta ins.-Editor . See H olden H istory ;fr the 
l(afir R aces, 50. ' , 
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far into the interior, and into a country which ·had been entirely 
depopulated, that at length they became bewildered; their 
supplies failed, misunderstanding arose; famine began to be 
felt to such a degree that their shields were consumed for food, 
and thousands of them perished in the trackless wilderness in 
which they found themselves entangled. Some were slain in 
personal feuds, but the greater part died from the effects of 
famine. The survivors wandered from place to place, subsisting 
in the most precarious manner, and it was at this time that a 
small party of the wretched fugitives fell in with a few 
Hottentots who happened to be engaged in elephant hunting 
on the Umzimkhulu River. 1 

The Hottentots were inhabitants of the Kat River settle­
ment. It seems .that, about the beginning of the same month 
as that in which Dingane's army left Zululand, a party of 
Hottentots proceeded from the Kat River on a hunting excur­
s10n. 

In this pursuit they successively crossed the Zwart and 
Witte Rivers, the Umthatha, the Umzimvu6u and the Umzi­
mkhulu Rivers. Having outspanned at the latter, which they 
reached on or about 10th May, the party proceeded out in 
different directions in quest of game. " Two were shot," says 
Piet Kieviet, a young member of the party. " The next morning 
early five of the party proceeded to the river to hunt sea-cows, 
leaving me, Goliath and Stoffel to take care of the waggon. 
In the afternoon of that day a large party of Zulus, armed 
with assegais, knobkerries and shields, came to the waggon 
and sat down close to us. They asked for meat , saying they 
were very hungry. Goliath and Stoffel gave them part of the 
flesh of the elands. They then asked for a pot, which was also 
given them; and having boiled and eaten a quantity of meat, 
they composed themselves to sleep. Our oxen had been grazing 
near the waggon all day. In the evening we tied them to the 
waggon. The following morning early the Zulus asked for more 
meat, which was immediately given them. About nine o'clock 
three of the persons that had been absent at the river returned 
to the waggon, each having a musket with him. The remaining 
two had proceeded up the river to look for tobacco. We sat 
round the fire, and the three men placed their guns behind them, 

1Grahamstown journal, 25th July, 1833. 
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close to the bush. In the afternoon the Zulus asked for more 
meat, but refused to take any part of the carcase, saying they 
wanted the breast of the elands. We gave them what they 
wanted, which they also boi.led as before. After having eaten 
it, they came and sat down near us at the fire . A few minutes 
afterwards, Kieviet Kleinbooy happened to turn his head round 
to look at something behind him, when one of the Zulus stabbed 
him in the neck with an assegai. He got up and ran a short 
distance but fell dead in the river. Andries Kobus and Smit 
Nel (my brother) were stabbed at the same moment. Before 
the Zulus came to the fire where we sat Stoffel and Goliath 
had gone to put the remaining meat of the elands, etc., into the 
waggon preparatory to our departure, and when they saw 
Kieviet Kleinbooy stabbed they ran off. They were, however, 
soon overtaken and murdered by two of the Zulus. I also 
attempted to escape into a bush, but was pursued, overtaken 
and brought back to the waggon. After they had murdered 
my companions, they broke the muskets to pieces, and took 
the waggon chain from under the waggon, which they put into 
a bag. They also took out of the wa:ggon some meat and a spade, 
together with some of the clothes and the blankets of the 
murdered men. With this booty they went off, taking me and 
the oxen with them, and making me carry the waggon chain 
on my head. After travelling about a month we arrived at 
Jandoona, a place two days' journey on the other side of Port 
N ~tal, from whence four messengers were dispatched to 
Dm_gane, t en days' journey distant. The messengers returned 
saymg that the King wished me, with the ten oxen belonging 
to our waggon, to be taken to Port Natal to the white people, 
and I and the ten oxen were accordingly conveyed to that place 
by five Zulus. When we reached Port Natal, we found it nearly 
deserted, there being only some Zulus under Messrs. Cane, 
Ogle, Fynn and Collis. I was taken back to J andoona. The 
m_essengers were again dispatched to the King, who returned 
with orders to take me to Amapondoland. I was accordingly 
conveyed towards that place by nine Zulus, but on the road 
we fell in with Mr. Ogle, to whom I was given in charge by the 
Zulus. We returned to Port Natal together, and from thence 
the Zulus went to J andoona and brought nine oxen to Port 
Natal, one having died in the interim. " 1 

1Grahamstown J ournal, 10th October, 1833. 
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After the murder of the Hottentots the Zulu army made 
its way slowly towards the coast. At length some of the men 
reached a small kraal of the amaMpondo, the people at which, 
having gained information that, in the course of their wander­
ings, they had met with and killed a party of "white men"­
as they termed the Hottentots from their European dress, and 
comparatively light complexion-and, not knowing of any 
white people except the Cawoods, who about this time were 
employed in the removal of the produce collected by them at 
Natal to Faku's country, it was at once concluded that they 
were the victims of their cruelty, 1 and that this was but the 
commencement of a general attack in contemplation upon the 
settlement. 2 

The extraordinary situation that no.w arose is set forth in 
a statement 3 by Ogle, who was an eyewitness: 

" Shortly after the murder of the Hottentots . . . . I was 
informed by one of my people that a great multitude of Zulus 
had just arrived at Natal, being the remains of a large com­
mando which had been ordered some time before by Dingane 
to proceed into the interior. My informant stated that one of 
these marauders had got, amongst other things, a spade, and 
he suspected from the circumstances that they must have fallen 
in with and plundered some Europeans. On hearing this, I 
immediately proceeded to the spot and observed, as had been 
stated, the handle of a spade projecting from amongst other 
lumber with which a pack-ox was laden. I instantly cut off 
the lashing which secured the pack and drew out the spade, 
upon which one of my people immediately declared he knew 
it as having belonged to the Cawoods. The Zulus declared 
they had found it on their march, but there was so much pre­
varication in their story that no credit was given to it. Believ­
ing that the Cawoods had been their victims, I immediately 
dispatched a message to J. Cane, acquainting him with my 
suspicions. At this time the place was filled with the Zulus. 
I should think there could be no less than 40,000, being about 
half the force originally composing the commando; but they 
were in the most wretched, dispirited and disorganized state. 

lGrahamstown Journal, 25th July, 1833. . 
2Gardiner, A. F ., Journey to the Zoolu Country, 289, no doubt from mforma­

tion giv en him by H . Ogle; cf. Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 125. 
3Grahamstown J ournal, 10th October, 1833. 
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My message to Cane occasioned great excitement amongst his 
people. They flew to their arms and, at the onset, one of 
Dingane's powerful chiefs was shot dead. 1 

This led to further excesses and, as the Zulus made no 
resistance whatever, a dreadful slaughter took place. I should 
think that 200 must have been killed. Many more shields and 
assegais than this number were brought in, but some, in all 
probability, were thrown away to facilitate escape. 

To account for this strange conduct on the part of the 
inhabitants of Natal, it must be remarked that the natives 
who are living under the protection of the traders are persons 
who have been dispossessed of their property and driven from 
their country by the Zulu chief, and who have the most inveter­
ate hatred for him and the people under his subjection. This 
feeling, heightened as it was by the supposition that the 
Cawoods had just been murdered by them, rendered their rage 
ungovernable; and the condition of the Zulu army offered so 
favourable an opportunity for retaliation that it could not be 
resisted. 2 

On the day following this affair the traders, who included 
J. Collis, had time to reflect on its probable result, and, it being 
the unanimous opinion that Dingane would pour down upon 
them with an overwhelming force, it was deemed prudent to 
abandon the station. 

The whole of the inhabitants are now living in that country 
to the eastward of the amaMpondo, which having been formerly 
depopulated by the Zulu tyrant was, until their arrival, entirely 
uninhabited. I have since been to Natal and, from the messages 
I have received from Dingane I have no scruple in saying that 
the traders may with safety return to their former station. " 3 

Ogle in this statement makes no reference to the boy Piet 
Kieviet, the oxen, etc. This omission is, however, made good 
in a letter by Fynn: 4 " Mr. Ogle has returned with the oxen 

'He was shot dead by a H ottentot in the ser vice of the traders.-Edi tor. 
2Another reason was tha t on reaching the port they proceeded t o take a 

number of settlers' cattle ; not an unnatural thing perhaps for a starving 
Zulu a rmy t o do. But within their own country. - Holden 's History of the 
Hafir R aces, 50 . 

3Collis, who as already remarked , was present and had a n opportunity of 
knowing what had transpired on this occasion, seems to have differed on 
m any points in Ogle 's story, "but still the m a in particulars a re fully corro­
borated."-Grahamstown Journal, 21 s t November, 1833. 

'Grahamstown J ournal, 26th September, 183:l. 
Q 



226 TH E D I ARY O F H E N RY FR A N C I S FY N N 

and leader 1 of the party (of Hottentots) destroyed by the Zulus. 
H e was met on his road by Zulus sent in search of the Euro­
peans. He went with them to Natal, and received six head 
of cattle and the leader. He then remained till the messen­
gers went to the King and came back. Dingane denies all 
knowledge of the affair and says he does not swear by his 
father, but by God-the Englishman's King-that he will never 
destroy a European. They are welcome to return to Natal if 
they think proper. But he does not wish them to return, as 
something appears to obstruct the friendship between them. 
Mr. Ogle requested him to remunerate, as far as he was able, 
the friends of those murdered. His reply was: ' Who would 
remunerate for the lives of the many people destroyed by the 
Europeans, with their shields and war dresses? ' The same 
messenger assured Mr. Ogle that the spies had all been killed, 
they being the only persons concerned in the destruction of the 
Hottentots. The captain in command of the spies was a cap­
tain who left Mzilikazi 18 months back. Dingane said he did 
not like to kill him as he was a foreigner, but to prevent him 
killing another white man he ordered his eyes to be picked out . 
The following day he sent to him to know how he was able, 
without eyes, to distinguish day from night. His answer was, 
his ears allowed him to listen to the birds; when they sang it 
was daylight, and when they did not sing it was dark. Now, 
all I have to remark is that, if the above report is true (which 
Mr. Ogle obtained only from the messengers sent to him by 
Dingane, and who are the only people who have crossed the 
Thukela since the uproar at Natal) Dingane is innocent without 
a doubt. But then, I would say what a contrast there is between 
Shaka's government and his. If he, Dingane, has the same 
power as Shaka had, it is evident the people would respect 
Europeans more than has of late been evinced, if his conduct 
towards them did not give scope for such outrageous conduct, 
taking away their lives and property." 

Gardiner says," No sooner was the affair related to Dingane, 
than he ordered all his people then inhabiting the district 
between the port and the Thukela to withdraw; and, notwith­
standing two entire regiments were stationed there, the whole 
moved off, and have never since occupied any portion of the 

1i .e., voorlooper.-Editor. 
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country to the southward of that river, which is now considered 
as their boundary in that direction." 1 

The army had more to report than that they had for a 
long time been in a state of starvation and had even been shot 
down in hundreds by British settlers 2 and their followers, on 
passing by the port. They had been sent expressly to recover 
Zulu cattle taken by Nqetho in 1829, cattle which, as we have 
seen, were subsequently captured from him by Ncaphayi. But 
before their arrival in Ncaphayi's district the people and the 
cattle had completely disappeared, having probably had either 
timely notice or having probably good grounds to suspect what 
was commg. 

As for Ncaphayi, what manner of man was he? He at this 
time was " slight and active, of middle stature; the scorching 
quickness of his eye; the point of his questions, and the extreme 
caution of his replies, stamping him at once as a man capable 
of ruling the wild and sanguinary spirits by which he was 
surrounded." 3 

His people were " peculiarly wary in their attacks generally 
in the night . they had long been the terror of this 
part of the country." 4 

It was, of course, this circumstance (failure to find and 
recover cattle) which had reduced the warriors to a state of 
starvation, for Zulu armies never take a commissariat when on 
campaign. In looking about them for someone on whom to fix 
the blame for the disaster, Dingane remembered that his spies 
had previously reported quite favourably, that is, declared 
they had seen sufficient cattle to justify his organising a raid. 
Mgoduka and his colleagues, on being found guilty of negligence, 
were " sentenced to lose their eyes, as they (the eyes) had 
brought a false report." They had seen what in fact did not 
exist. " An Englishman pleaded for them and one was spared; 
but nothing could arrest the sentence of the other two-the 
eyes must tell lies no more." 5 

'Gardiner , .Journey to the Zoolu Countr_v, 289. Gardiner is here relating what 
Ogle had most probably told him.- Editor. 

2As a matter of fact, the chief blame does not rest on the European traders. 
-Editor. 
" On the contrary, it appears ... that they exerted themselves to stop the 
carnage which ensued and ... were actually instrumental in saving many 
Iives."-Grahamstown .Journal, 10th October, 1833. 

3Gardiner, .Journey to the Zoolu Country, 281. 
'Ibid., 277. 
5Holden, History of the Kafir Races, 50. 
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One cannot but be struck by the manner in which Dingane 
treated the boy, Piet Kieviet, who had been taken captive. 
" The promptitude with which he dispatched him to a point 
from whence he could be taken to the Colony, the particular 
care taken of the oxen stolen from the murdered Hottentots, 
and the severe punishment inflicted on the leader of the party 
who committed the atrocity-all these indicate so clearly a 
sincere desire to continue on good t erms with the Colony, that 
there is still a prospect of the friendly intercourse so long sub­
sisting being ere long renewed. " 1 A surmise that was soon to 
prove true, though on a basis as radically insecure as any in 
the preceding years of this despot's reign. 

This attack by the traders and their adherents on Dingane's 
army has always been regarded as something mysterious, 
apparently because no adequate explanation thereof seems 
ever to have been published. And yet, looked at in the light 
of the intimate knowledge and experience of Dingane's char­
acter and policy set forth by Fynn in the preceding pages, 
there is nothing whatever mysterious. At this time about 
3,000 refugees from Shaka and Dingane are computed to have 
been living under the settlers. All these knew well that Dingane 
had begun to resent intensely their being where they were, 
constituting, in his estimation, practically an imperium in 
imperio, and, therefore, regarded not only as a standing but 
a constantly growing menace to his authority. 

At the same time, the Europeans had with them a number 
of Hottentots , and all in possession of arms and ammunition. 
There had been many signs that Dingane was not only sus­
picious of the settlement, but was openly and covertly striving, 
generally by foul means, to render it so weak and insecure that 
its members would find it more to their interest to return to 
him than to continue under a patently precarious and feeble 
authority. That was his game, which we believe will be clear 
to anyone who has carefully gone through the cumulative 
evidence already recorded. 

The intelligence that the Zulu army had in April, 1833, left 
for an unknown destination was as quickly known by the 
natives at Port Natal as if it had been t elegraphed, it being 
literally their business in those troublous times ever to keep 

1Grahamstown journal, 10th October, 1833. 
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a finger on the Zulu pulse. Fynn, of course, gathered his 
generally wonderfully accurate information from these very 
natives at the Bay. 

He and they knew ·of Ncaphayi being a likely objective, 
and when word reached Natal that the Zulu army was at the 
Umzimkhulu on its way back, and had actually killed some 
"white people" there, presumably the Cawoods, though actu­
ally the Hottentot hunters, it was concluded that having dealt 
with Ncaphayi or Faku, as the case might be, their intention 
was obviously to deal next with the settlement, the Cawoods, 
of course, being members thereof. 

When the starving army reached Port Natal and, just 
because they were starving, proceeded to help themselves to 
some of the cattle they found there, the natives would natur­
ally have assumed that the previously anticipated attack on 
themselves had already begun. That we believe is the reason 
why, under the bona fide impression that the army was hostile, 
they proceeded to defend themselves by boldly launching an 
attack, though, as it proved, against a force incapable of aggres­
sion or resistance. 

Thus, though it might well have been Dingane's intention 
to exterminate the settlers, the moment for doing so had 
clearly not then arrived. In any case, the army had become so 
enfeebled by starvation that it was in no fit state for fighting. 
Thus the attack took place under a misapprehension, and it 
was because this was clearly established that Dingane condoned 
the offence. 

Chapter II 

SINCE the affair with the Zulu army in June, 1833, Ogle 
seems to have been the first of the settlers to venture 
back, viz. in August of the same year, only to learn that 

Dingane had never intended to do them any harm, and that 
they were welcome to return, if they wished to do so. 

In consequence of these seemingly satisfactory assurances 
of the Zulu King, about 30 persons, supported by some of the 
most respectable merchants of Grahamstown, left there in 

Q l 



230 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

April, 1834, with the intention of forming a permanent estab­
lishment in the vicinity of Port N atal. 1 

Cane, who had latterly been living near the Umzirnkhulu 
River, was entrusted by Dingane, in May, with a letter to the 
Governor in which Dingane declared he earnestly desired " to 
continue on friendly terms with the white people." On reaching 
the Colony, Cane reported that the natives of Natal and Zulu­
land" are already glutted with beads which they procure from 
the Portuguese settlement at Delagoa Bay at a much cheaper 
rate than they can be purchased at Grahamstown." He also 
stated that ivory is extremely scarce, most of the Bushmen 
who formerly followed elephant hunting as an occupation 
having given it up for the more certain and less harassing 
pursuits of tillage. 

In the meantime, interesting though secret developments 
had been taking place among the Boers in the Cape Colony. 
Though accounts of Natal had from time to time been brought 
to the Colony by Farewell, King, Fynn and others, it was i:i,ot 
until that of Dr. Andrew Smith was published that the atten­
tion of the Dutch farmers was really attracted to the district 
with a view to their occupying it. "They quietly collected 14 
waggons," says Cloete, 2 and a party headed by Piet Uys, Colens 
Uys, Hans de Lange, Stephanus Maritz and Gert Rudolph 3 

started from Uitenhage in the beginning of the year 1834, 
taking the lower route along the eastern slopes of the Khahla­
mba or Drakensberg range, following nearly the same track by 
which Dr. Smith and his party had explored this district. 
Their arrival agreeably surprised the small party of English 
who had settled themselves down at the Bay, where Messrs. 
Ogle, Toohey4 and King .... gave them a hearty recep­
tion, from whose accounts, and from their own exploration of 
the country, they soon came to the conclusion that this would 
be a country in every way suited to them and their countrymen; 

1Bird , Annals of Natal, I, 261. 
2History of the Great B oer Trek (published by J ohn Murray, 1900), p. 72. 
3Grahamstown j ournal, 5th June, 1834. 
The Narrative of W. J . Pretorious in Bird's Annals of Natal, I, 231, says, 

"The men of principal note were Stephanus Maritz, J acobus Uys, Karl 
Landman, J ohannes de Lange and J acobus Moolman." See a lso Mackeurtan, 
Cradle Days of Natal, p. 169. 

•Cloete is mistaken as to Toohey (D. C.) for he did not arrive in Natal 
until early in 1835 . Then again he might also have mentioned J . Collis, 
J ohn Cane and others, who had by then returned.-Editor. 
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they loitered here some time, shooting and exammmg the 
country, and would have pursued their explorations still further 
if they had not been suddenly startled by the astounding 
intelligence that the Kaffirs had made a sudden general irrup­
tion into the eastern province, 1 and thus provoked a third 
Kaffir war. This compelled them to beat a hasty retreat, and 
they most providentially succeeded in returning unattacked 
through the whole of Kaffirland, while the Kaffirs, having 
deserted their own country, appeared wholly intent upon laying 
waste the eastern districts of the colony. 2 

Fynn, too, made his way back once more to Natal. The 
following piece, dated Umzimvu6u, 27th June, is connected 
with that visit: " During my visit to Dingane," he says, 
" I had some conversation with two Portuguese soldiers 
from Delagoa Bay. I was much surprised to hear from them 
that their Governor Deneis(?) was put to death on May last by 
a Commando from the Zulu chief, and their present Governor 
was Newburg. After hearing the whole of the circumstances, 
I determined on questioning Dingane, having doubts as to the 
possibility of his putting to death a governor who had a fort 
and soldiers under his command, and concluding, if true, how 
improbable it appeared that another governor so directly after 
the occurence should be on such amicable terms with Dingane 
as to send him presents of brass and beads, for which purpose 
the soldiers had come. On my questioning Dingane, he showed 
evident symptoms of surprise, and asked who were my inform­
ants; and when I acquainted him appeared much to regret 
I had gained the intelligence. After a few moments considera­
tion, he told me, almost in the same words as the two soldiers 
that he had sent to the Governor to demand a quantity of 
brass, which was refused him, under an appearance of his 
having none. Dingane knowing he had brass, sent a force to 

1This occurred on 21st December, 1834.-Editor. 
2These farmers were on their return to the Colony as Gardiner was travelling 

overland towards Port Natal, January, 1835 .-Gardiner, J ourney to the Zoolu 
Country, p. 89. Of this exploring party, Gardiner says: "They had heard 
much _of the soi l and capabilities of Port Natal for agricultural purposes, and, 
resolvmg to decide for themselves on the accuracy of the reports they formed 
a large party, and, with ten or twelve wagons proceeded at once to this place. 
A_fte~ advancing towards the Tugela and thoroughly examining the whole 
d1stnct, they not only acknowledged that the accounts they had heard had 
not been exaggerated, but set out on their return for their several families 
wit_h a full determination to locate them in this neighbourhood- a resolutio~ 
wh1ch the sudden breaking out of the Kafir War has a lone prevented." 
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put him to death. But the Governor, having previously heard 
of the force coming, proposed giving 100 large bangles to pacify 
his anger. The force returned with the brass, but on their arrival 
at Dingane's he ordered them immediately to return and fulfil 
his former orders, when they succeeded in putting him to 
death." 1 

J. Collis must have visited Dingane either in company with 
Fynn or about the same time, for, in the letter from Port 
Natal, 3rd September, 1834, he says : "During my visit to the 
King, one of his regiments ran away to NataI. Three others 
were sent after them, but with orders not to cross the Thukela 
River. He informed me that he would not pursue them further; 
for if his soldiers came to atal, there would be people killed; 
this would alarm the whites and perhaps cause them to leave." 

From this, it seems the King felt he was unable to restrain 
his army once it had arrived at its destination. Implicit in any 
order to proceed to a given place, e.g. to seize or recover cattle, 
was that , in the execution thereof men, women and children 
would be destroyed. Even if the King had expressly directed 
that no one should be killed, mere execution of that type of 
order carried with it , from the soldiers' point of view, destruc­
tion of those in possession, including dependants. 

Of course, massacres were more terrible and widespread 
where chiefs or indunas were, rightly or wrongly, believed to 
have committed spec\fiC offences, e.g. practising witchcraft, 
poisoning others, appropriating royal cattle, disobeying royal 
orders, e.g. in connection with marriage, first fruits, etc. (A 
case of this kind will be found a little further on in this 
narrative) . 

Criminals of this class were looked upon as enemies of the 
State, so, as in war, not only such persons but all related or 
connected with them in any way must be put to death, to 
prevent anyone coming forward to avenge the death of their 
chief or head. The theory is that even infants are potential 
enemies, and the safest thing is to remove them forthwith. 
Among many cases of the kind that in Gardiner (Journey to 
Zoolu Country, pp. 44-47) might be cited as an example. 

1Grahainstown J ournal, 7th August, 1834. 
In the same paper of October, 1834, J. Collis writes, "The Governor 

(Dennis) a Swiss has been assassinated by the captain, second in command." 
H e discredited the rumour that D ingane had put him to death .-Editor. 
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At the same time we can see how it was fast becoming 
more and more impossible for a despotically governed people 
to live alongside one governed on civilized lines without clashing. 
Open rupture may be deferred for years, but it is bound to 
come sooner or later. In the case of Dingane, it was deliberately 
precipitated by himself within about three years of the time 
in question. That was indeed the climax which already for 
years Fynn had seen and declared to be inevitable. 

The desirability and even necessity of the settlement at 
Port Natal being formally recognised by the Home Govern­
ment had for long been agitated by letter, by petition, as well 
as in the local press. As far back as September, 1824, Farewell, 
in a letter to the Governor of the Cape of Good Hope, referring 
to the extensive grant of land in the neighbourhood of Port 
Natal that Shaka had just made him, said: "I took possession 
of the country . . . . hoisted the English colours and fired a 
salute in the presence of Shaka's chiefs, which proceedings, I 
trust, will meet with your Lordship 's approbation and sanction 
as well as that of the English Government." 1 

The Government would not ,. however, consent to identify 
themselves in any way with the settlement. In 1828, Shaka 
dispatched two ambassadors in charge of Capt. King to King 
George, " to negotiate a friendly alliance " between the two 
nations (English and Zulu). This mission, as we have seen, 
resulted in a fiasco. Yet a further mission was sent by Shaka 
the same year to the Governor. This time the Governor arranged 
for an officer to pay the Zulu King a visit, but before he could 
start, intelligence arrived of Shaka having been assassinated, 
when the propos~d visit fell through. 

Although Dingane . was of a very different disposition 
to Shaka, he early saw the necessity of being on good terms 
with the British Government. H e too, sent embassies for the 
purpose of cultivating friendly relations. One of these reached 
Grahamstown in November, 1830. In reporting on it, the 
Governor expressed a wish to send, with the sanction of the 
Secretary of State, " some person in whose judgement I can 
place full confidence . . . . to ascertain the real wishes of 
Dingane, the Zulu Chief, as well as the nature and capabilities 
of the country." 

'Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 192. 
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Whether or no this wish was acceded to we know not . 
Anyhow, Dr. Andrew Smith, an officer of the Gove~ment, 
paid a visit early in 1832 to Natal as well as to. Dmgax_ie, 
subsequently reporting, inter alia, that he firmly believed Dm­
gane " would be ready and willing to enter into an alliance with 
the Colony." 1 In the meantime Mr. Saxe Bannister had been 
pressing the settlement on the notice of the Home Government. 
The same theme, from 1832 onwards, was repeat edly agitated 
in the Grahamstown j ournal as well as in the Cape Town Com­
mercial Advertiser. 

To such an extent had public interest in Natal been aroused 
by January, 1834, that the resolutions passed at a meeting 
convened in Cape Town on the 20th of the month were em­
bodied in a petition signed by 192 merchants and others. 2 

· 

This prayer, although accompanied by all the informatio:1 
Smith had been able to elicit on the spot, was refused by 1}1s 
Majesty's Government, on the ground that "in the present 
state of the finances of the Cape any additional expense for 
the establishment of a new settlement would be highly incon­
venient, and could not with propriety be incurred. " 3 

It was in September, 1834, that Fynn definitely severed 
his connection, for the time being, with Natal. He and his 
brother, William, thereupon took service under the Cape Gov­
ernment, then on the eve of the sixth Kaffir war. By this time 
his residence in Natal had extended over a period of ten and a 
half years. He was literally the first British settler in Natal, for 
he preceded even Farewell and Cane, also King, Hutton and 
Isaacs. More than this, his knowledge of the Zulu language; 
of native history, habits and customs; of Shaka in especial, of 
Dingane and Mpande; of countless other Zulu notab~lities­
princes, indunas, councillors, heroes, heads of kraals- m both 
reigns; to say nothing of the geography, fauna and flora of the 
country and adjoining territories, was unique and unrivalled. 

His intimacy with the Zulu language, his travels on foot 
amongst the native people, his warm-hearted disposition , his 
unfailing humanity to those in distress, and in those hard times 
they were very numerous and everywhere in hiding, especially 
in Natal, were such that even in these days, even a century 

1Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 263. 
2Ibid., I, 253 . 
3Ibid., I, 273. 
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later, his name is held in honour throughout the length and 
breadth of the land. In these things he always was first. 

A portion, and unfortunately only a comparatively small 
portion, of his experiences are set forth in the foregoing pages. 
But, though t emporarily severing his connection with Natal­
we say temporarily, for 17 years later he returned once more 
to the Garden Colony to pass the concluding ten years of his 
hard, strenuous, brave, honest, loyal and humane life-he con­
tinued to reside in parts of the old Colony near enough to 
maintain touch with the affairs of Zululand and Natal, i.e. 
a country he hoped one day to return to and die in. 

If he was far removed in a physical sense, he was yet able 
to employ agencies most of us know little about to place and 
keep him in vital, continuous and effective contact with the 
general course of events. It is for this reason, whilst noting 
Fynn's departure from the scene of his earliest and most. 
exciting adventures and adversities, that we feel justified in 
carrying on further our chronicle, so as at any rate to cover 
the next three important and little-known years, that is until 
we reach a time when the Emigrant Boers, under Retie£, hav­
ing arrived on the scenes, events began to occur in rapid 
succession, on a vaster and more significant scale, a more 
spectacular manner, and on a radically differing political basis. 

Fynn became Headquarters Interpreter (i.e. to the Governor 
Sir Benjamin D'Urban) on the outbreak of hostilities. These 
had begun with a vast raid on Sunday, 21st December, 1834, 
when some 12,000 to 15,000 men, under Makome, Tyali, 
Mhala and other Xhosa chiefs, made their way across the 
Colonial border along its whole length from the Winterberg to 
the sea. 

Without going into the wholesale and indiscriminate ravages 
committed by those hordes, and the military operations directed 
successfully against them by the Government, down to the 
conclusion of peace in May, it may be mentioned, incidentally, 
that in March, 1835, when war was at its height, Fynn pro­
ceeded by sea from Algoa Bay to Port Natal, by direction 
of the Governor, thence overland to the Umzimvu6u, for the 
purpose of opening up communications with the Thembu and 
Mpondo paramount chiefs, whose people lived to the east of 
the Xhosas, and securing their neutrality, and, if possible, active 
assistance against the belligerents. Faku agreed to remain 
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neutral but undertook to do no more than prevent the Xhosas 
from taking refuge in his district, and to seize any cattle that 
might be driven within his borders. 

As for the Thembu chief, Vadana, he declared he was ready 
to give all the assistance in his _p_ower, and _would place his 
warriors at the disposal of a Bnhsh officer 1f the Governor 
chose to send one.1 It is quite clear these negotiations owed 
their success largely to the assurances Fynn was able to 
give that neither Mpondos nor Thembus would be attacked_ by 
the Zulus. In other words his intimate knowledge of the situ­
ation in Zululand, and the messages he had, when passing 
through Natal, sent to Dingane acquain_ting him of the s~ate 
of affairs, backed by great personal prestige among the nahv~s 
along 300 or 400 miles of the south-east district, as w~ll as his 
previous acquaintance with Faku, prov~d of substa~bal prac­
tical value at a critical moment. Gardmer, who paid Faku a 
visit at the end of July, wrote : '' There is every reason !o believe 
that had not Mr. Tainton, a local missionary, remamed and 
Mr. Fynn arrived (with assurances from the Gove~nor) he 
would have removed to the opposite side of the Umzimvu6u, 
under the apprehension that he was considered as an accomplice 
and should share the fate of the hostile amaXhosa." 2 

When Fynn and his brother withdrew from Natal (Sep­
t ember, 1834) very few settlers remained, among them Can~, 
Ogle Halstead Collis and possibly F. Fynn, one of the authors 
you~ger broth;rs. There were, moreover, ~thers (late arrivals), 
·e.g. Richard Wood (in the employ of J. Coll~s), C. Blanckenberg, 
C. J. Pickman, Chas. Adams and J. Fran~is. 

Dingane continued to employ ap_Pall;1Ilgly harsh methods 
in ruling his people. For instanc~, dunn~ the sam: mon~h, 
" it appears that one of his captams or chiefs had given him 
some umbrage, and the sequel was that, on the verf common 
plea of having been detected in an illicit ar_nour with o~e of 
his wives he and all the persons composing his kraal or village 
were ord~red to be put to death. Under this barbarous man­
date, it is said between 3,000 and 4,000 souls were inhumanly 
massacred. " 3 

1Theal, History of South Africa, 1834-54, 21. 
•Gardiner, journey to the Z oolu Country, 242. 
•Grahams/own J ournal, 30th October, 1834. . . . 
We have been unable to ascertain the name of this Induna or chief. Possibly 

Du6e of the Nyuswa (amaQadi) tribe is referred to.-Editor. 
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We have now reached a stage at which definite Christian 
influence began, for the first time, to bear on Dingane and his 
people. The conditions under which missionary work was 
attempted could hardly have been more difficult . 

Unpropitious and discouraging as it was, that it came to 
be undertaken at all, under the auspices of the Church Mission­
ary Society, was due primarily to the extraordinary enthusiasm, 
pertinacity and persuasiveness of an officer of the Royal Navy, 
Captain Allen Francis Gardiner. 

Gardiner was born on the 28th June, 1794, and was the fifth 
son of Samuel Gardiner of Coombe Lodge in the county of 
Oxford. He entered the Naval College at Portsmouth in 
February, 1808. After a varied naval career, we find him 
visiting the Cape of Good Hope as a Lieutenant in the Ganny­
mede in 1815, and yet again in the Dauntless in August, 1822. 
He was promoted to the rank of Commander in 1826, but 
opportunities for further employment in the service did not 
occur after this date. 

" As a work into which he might throw his whole 
energy .. .. he chose that of a missionary pioneer." With 
this in view, he went to South Africa, reaching Cape Town in 
November, 1834. " He looked at the state of the Cape Colony, 
and saw it threatened by invasion from the Kaffirs. H e knew 
that beyond these were the Zulus .... still unvisited by the 
messengers of the gospel. And there he resolved to go." 1 

On leaving Cape Town he proceeded overland to Grahams­
town, reaching there on the 4th December. It was here that 
he made the acquaintance of Fynn, i.e. shortly before the 
latter's own voyage by sea to Natal, in connection with the 
Kaffir war, and from thence went overland to Faku, the Pondo 
chief. Gardiner reached Natal in J anuary, 1835. 

His first interview with Dingane t ook place in the following 
month. Of the presents he made to the King in accordance 
with local custom, that which was most prized was a red cloak. 

" For the selection of this article, which was composed of 
red baize, with a long silky nap . . . . I am indebted to Mr. 
Fynn, who recommended it to me in Grahamstown, as a 
description of cloth in colour and texture more likely to please 
his Zulu Majesty than any other that could be procured , and 

1Marsh, J. W ., Memoir of Allen F . Gardiner, 49. 
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certainly no advice could have been more correctly given. 
No sooner was it opened than it was displayed in every 
possible manner ; first on the King's shoulders, then on 
one of his servants, who was ordered to turn and twist 
about in all directions, that its every bearing and fold might 
be shown off to the best advantage; it was stretched to its 
widest extent and two men , holding it up at arm's length, 
were directed to run at full speed backwards and forwards, 
that he might witness its appearance while flowing in the air. 
At length for some minutes it was hung upon the fence oppo­
site his own house, that the curiosity of the people who were 
viewing it from a dist ance might be satisfied. Strange to say, 
after all this display, he never wore it , but has had it carefully 
preserved ever since for the Grand National Assembly at the 
Feast of the First F ruits, which takes place annually about 
the first week in J anuary. In the evening I received the 
important information, by special messenger, that it was neither 
too long nor too short, but exactly suited. " 1 

Nearly a month elapsed without any progress being made 
in what Gardiner had so much at heart, viz. the religious 
instruction of the people, although he assured the King that 
" any intention to interfere with either their laws or their 
customs was the farthest removed from his thoughts." 2 At 
last, on 7th March, Dingane's induna, Dambuza, stated defin­
itely that they did not wish for t eaching, that they could never 
learn, and that such words as he (Gardiner) had spoken they 
were sure they could not understand. If, however, he would 
instruct them in the use of the musket he might stay. Ndlela, 
the principal induna, supported his colleague, whereupon 
Dingane, upon being appealed to by both indunas to decide, 
said simply : '' I will not overrule the decision of my ind unas, ' ' 3 

and there, for the time being, the matter ended. 
On his getting back to the port, the settlers, whilst regret­

ting Gardiner 's unfavourable reception, assured him that " the 
presence of a missionary est ablishment at Natal would meet 
with all the support in their power. " Gardiner thereupon 
selected a site, on high ground overlooking the Bay, for a 
missionary station which he named Berea, "since notwith-

1Gardiner, J ourney to the Zoolu Country, 67. 
2Ibid. , 68 . 
3I bid., 68. 
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standing my ill-success with Dingane the Word has been gladly 
received. " 1 About this time it was rumoured that the Zulus . 
were meditating an attack on the settlement. A public meeting 
of the settlers was convened, when it was decided to defend 
instead of t emporarily abandoning the place. A stockade was 
accordingly erected round a wattled house, for the protection 
of the settlem: nt. In consequence of the many Zulu men, 
women . and children who, at different times, had taken refuge 
at ~he port, and the frequent threats of reprisal by Dingane, 
which had_ recently become more alarming, a meeting of the 
European mhabitants was held on 25th April " to devise some 
plan for our mutual security." 2 It was unanimously resolved 
that, " as this appeared t~ be a favourable opportunity, a 
treat y b~sed 01: the . followmg_ t erms should, if possible, be 
enter: d mto with Dmgane, viz. provided he will guarantee 
the live~ ~nd property of every individual, white and black, 
n~w res1dmg at Port Natal, we on our part, engage to repel 
with all our power, and never more to receive any deserter 
f~om his dominions ; and immediately to acquaint him of the 
circumstance, should any of his people elude our vigilance." a It 
was at ~he same time agreed that no deserters should be given 
up until some arrangement of this nature had met with his 
sanction. Gardiner was requested to negotiate this treaty. 
Leaving on the 28th, he reached Khangela, the kraal at which 
~he King was then living, on 4th May. D1.ngane at once entered 
mt~ the plan. He undertook " never t o molest any of his 
s~bJ ects now at Natal for past offences; said he should keep 
his word, but knew the white people would be the first to break 
the treaty." 4 In short, he eagerly and whole-heartedly accepted 
:he propos:d treaty, whic~ was thereupon reduced to writing 
"nd duly signed on both sides. Dambuza now explained that 

. the reason we did not let you remain before was because we 
did not know you- we wished you to go back and bring such 
'a word' as you have now done. That news has made our 
hearts glad (alluding to the terms of the treaty) ; now we wish 

'Gardiner, J ourney to the Z oolu Country 80 
2I bid., 108. ' . 
3Ibid., J ourney to the Z oolu Country 108 
'Ibid., 127. ' . 
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you to stay; and where you are_ to teach is in the Hlo~endlini 
(district)1 .. . . you may teach mall the towns there. 

Dingane inquired the object of Fynn's visit to Faku, upon 
which Gardiner explained the position. A few days later 
the King asked him to transmit the following message to the 
Governor of the Cape Colony: " Mr. Fynn sent me the news 
about the amaXhosa. I am grieved to think they should act 
so against the white people-those people who_m I love . . I 
have long let the amaXhosas alone. It is a pity the white 
people trouble themselves with them-they sh~uld leave them 
to me. I hope they will not destroy them all; 1f they do there 
will be only a desert left." 2 Fynn, no doubt, had wisely 
taken the opportunity of sending the above message when 
passing through Natal en route to Pondola~~- - . 

Dingane placed on Gardiner the responsibih~y of seeu~g that 
the white settlers observed the treaty. Gardmer on his way 
back to Natal learned that two women, one man and three 
children had recently deserted and probably gone off to Natal. 
He, moreover, had already agreed to surrender to Dingane a 
man who shortly before had fled to Natal. After some trouble 
all these deserters were secured and subsequently conveyed to 
Dingane by Gardiner in person. Dinganewasnatu~allydelighted. 
"Now," he exclaimed, "we see that you (Gardmer) belon~ to 
the Zulus." "Now," he went on, "his people would love hJm, 
whereas before they had hated him, because he refused to 
permit an army to go down to Port Natal: that for two years 
the chiefs had been urging him to destroy all the black people 
there but that he had withheld his consent . . .. . Now he 
was ~onvinced that the white people at Port Natal wished to 
do him good."3 The next evening the principal indunas came 
to inform Gardiner that the King had made him a present of 
12 head of oxen, to be considered as a token of his gratitude, 
for having concluded a treaty with him; that, as such a " fast 
word" had passed between them, it was right that there should 
be something to show, as a proof that it had been accepted on 
both sides. Gardiner would that day be " received into the 

lThis district, spoken of as Hlomendlini, including uHlomendl_in 'omhlophe 
and uHlomendlin'omnvama, fell within the Thukela and Amabgulu Rivers 
and extended some 35 ·miles up t he left bank.-Editor . 

•Gardiner , j ourney to the Zoolu Country , 139. 
3Ibid., 162 . 
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country and the oxen would be token to all of what Dingane 
had done; that he was not yet tired, but would do more here­
after. . . . It was not the King only who thanked him that 
day; it was the whole Zulu nation." 1 It is quite clear that, 
by proposing and, later on, faithfully observing the provisions 
of the treaty, Gardiner found the real and readiest way to 
Dingane's heart. This question of desertion, ignored by Shaka, 
had by . this time begun to assume formidable proportions. 
Indeed it was of paramount importance. Drastic action of 
some kind was fast becoming imperative, for the despot's 
authority was obviously being undermined, which, of course, 
Dingane was certain to resist to the utmost of his power. What 
despot ever beheld the sapping of the foundations of his position 
without striking a blow in self-defence ? Of course there had 
been numerous desertions in Dingane's reign, far more than in 
Shaka's, chiefly as a result of his ruthless policy of exterminating 
Shaka's fa".'ourites in the fond belief that a perfectly happy and 
peaceful reign would be the result . Ngwadi, Nqetho, Zihlandlo, 
M:ui;aye, and Mdlaka were among those favourites . 

In addi~ion to this he actually made a point of putting 
nearly all his brothers to death, one by one. Gardiner tells us 
of o~e of these very executions, viz. a man known personally 
to himself, whom he calls Goujana, though probably meant 
for Ngqojana. In all these cases, notably Zihlandlo and Maga ye, 
there were survivors, who, if they did not make off to the 
Colony or Mzilikazi or elsewhere, promptly placed themselves 
under the protection of one or other of the settlers in Natal. 
Thus, unless Dingane was able to massacre not only a chief but 
ev:rY one of his dependants, the survivors, by joining the 
Bnhsh settlers, must be regarded as inimical and therefore as 
determined on revenging the death of their relations at the 
~rst favourable opportunity. Thus the European settlement, 
i_n the eyes of Dingane, was objectionable, not only because an 
imperium in imperio but because it harboured many that could 
confidently be assumed to have vowed everlasting vengeance 
against himself and as constantly plotting to bring about his 
downfall . Hitherto the only course that seemed to offer a 
possible solution was the fatal one of using force, i.e. taking the 
bull by the horns, and attempt to massacre every soul in the 

1Gardiner, ] 01,rney to the Z oolu Country, 171- 2. 
R 
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settlement, white and black. That this was actually contem­
plated on at least three occasions has already appeared. The 
principal difficulty in the way of destroying the se~tlement was, 
however that at least all the white men and all their Hottentots 
were in ;ossession of muskets, a difficulty that tende~ to bec?~e 
more and more insuperable as time went on. Besides this it 
was always possible for people to take refuge in the surrounding 
dense bush at a moment's notice. Thus Gardiner's proposal 
was at once propitious and providential; it was exactly what 
Dingane wanted. He therefore jumped at it, but, as the despot 
himself correctly surmised, " the white people would be the 
first to break the treaty," thereby rendering it nugatory. It 
was indeed broken and surprisingly soon. How this came about 
will presently appear. 

On the 23rd June, a meeting attended by 16 of the settlers 
was held for the purpose of selecting the site of the town. The 
site was decided on the same day. It lay between the so-called 
River Avon on the west and Buffalo Spring on the east. The 
Avon is no doubt the Umbilo River, whilst Buffalo Spring, 
near the landing place in Lieut. J. S. King's chart of Port Natal 
to be found in Isaacs, is where ships formerly drew fresh water. 

The name D'Urban (after the Governor of the Cape of Good 
Hope) was given to the town. A list of subscript~ons, " for the 
purpose of clearing the bush, and other necessary improve1:1ents 
to the town and township of D 'Urban," was opened, a smtable 
set of regulations drawn up, and a Town Committee of house­
holders (not exceeding 13 in number nor less than _five) and 
other officers were appointed to see that the regulations were 
duly conformed to. The town lands were to extend for four 
miles inland and include Salisbury Island; each of the then 
inhabitants of Natal was entitled to a building plot; every 
person taking an allotment undertook to erect a house of 
specified dimentions within 18 months; no Kaffir hut or straw 
building was to be erected in the township, except for the tem­
porary use of labourers engaged in building; every holder, on 
taking possession, to pay a sum of 7s. 6d. to the Treasurer; 
3 000 acres on the River Avon (Umbilo) were reserved for the 
e~dowment of a clergyman of the Church of England, and a 
separate subscription list opened to collect funds up to £5~0 
for the erection of a church, Sir B. D'Urban and Captam 
Gardiner heading the list with £50 each. A lot was reserved 
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for a school, with 2,000 acres at Umlazi River for its support; 
provision was also made for a hospital, cemetery, etc. 

The members of the first Town Council were Captain A. F. 
Gardiner, J. Collis, F. Berkin, J. Cane and H. Ogle. A petition 
signed by 30 residents was at the same time transmitted to 
the Governor of the Cape Colony, praying that it might please 
His Majesty to recognise the country between the Umzimkhulu 
and Thukela Rivers," which we have named Victoria in honour 
of our august Princess," as a colony of the British Empire and 
to appoint a Governor and Council, etc. It was pointed out 
that the number of natives at the settlement at that time 
could not be less than 3,000. Though Fynn was now living in 
the Cape Colony, he subscribed liberally to both the Church 
and the Town funds. 

. 1:he first complaint as to infringement of the treaty arose 
withm a bare two months of its being entered into, in con­
nection with two European traders, Halstead and Sneider, who, 
whilst trading in Zululand, misconducted themselves, e.g. by 
persuading Zulus, particularly young women, to desert, which 
they did by concealing themselves in the waggons, thereafter 
being conveyed by stealth to Port Natal. Dingane naturally 
became highly incensed. He peremptorily ordered one of these 
men to leave the country; at the same time he prohibited all 
further trade with Natal, and directed that, with the exception 
of Gardiner and his interpreter, no white person was in future 
to cross the Thukela. 1 

\Vhen the offenders reported to Gardiner what had occurred, 
the latter felt it his duty personally to ascertain as soon as 
possible the position from Dingane himself. He therefore 
proceeded once more to Zululand, when Dingane declared that 
Snelder 2 had induced two young Zulus to accompany him to 
Natal; that Halstead had falsely informed the induna of the 
Zulu kraal at which he had been trading that his disposing of 
his cattle to him (the induna) was being done with the King's 
permission and that the traders generally were inducing his 
people to desert; indeed, he felt he could not depend on them, 
because they had so often deceived him. 

1Gardiner, Journey to the Zoolu Country , 192. 
'According to G. Cyrus, Gardiner's interpreter, David Stiller (Steller) 

was the man charged with this offence.-Editor. 
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Dingane then said he would from henceforth look on 
Gardiner as chief of the white people, and therefore personally 
responsible for the due observance of the treaty. Gardiner 
pointed out he had no power. " You must have power," said 
the King, " I give you all the country called Si6u6ulungu. 
You must be chief over all the people there. " Gardiner saw 
that, under the circumstances, nothing could be done without 
the active support of the Governor, to gain which it became 
necessary for him to visit the Colony. An officer, he felt, with 
adequate power and authority should be appointed on the spot 
to enforce the treaty and generally regulate and control the 
the affairs of the settlement. 

Though he reached Durban on the 17th July we find him 
on the 20th starting off on horseback on an overland journey 
to Cape Town some 800 miles away. And so the granting of an 
application to establish mission stations in Zululand was made 
by Dingane to depend on the not unreasonable condition that 
the British settlement at Natal be duly organized and efficiently 
controlled. That is, Dingane saw that the time had arrived for 
creating a British Colony in Natal and actually gave Gardiner 
authority to do so. 

The next stage, of course, was to induce the British Gov-
ernment to accept the responsibility and take steps accordingly, 
tasks which, curiously, Gardiner found it impossible to carry 
out, notwithstanding that both the United States and the 
Emigrant Boers of the Cape had already in view the possibility 
of converting these regions, the most favoured in South Africa, 
into a country of their own. 

Now, as we have seen, war had broken out between the 
Xhosas under Hintsa and the Cape Colony in December, 1834. 
These people and their allies occupied territory between the 
Fish River and the Bashee River. Peace was concluded with 
Hintsa's son and successor Krcli (Sarili) on the 19th May, but 
for several months after this parts of this extensive district 
remained so unsettled, notwithstanding the peace with the 
Xhosas, that small European parties travelling through the 
country were liable to be attacked and destroyed; indeed, 
more than one was destroyed. Such, briefly, was the state of 
affairs when Gardiner reached Buntingville, a Methodist mission 
station planted between the Umthatha and the Umzimvu6u 
(St. John's) Rivers. He made every effort to proceed, even 
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proposing to Faku that his army (which Gardiner was prepared 
to accompany) should make " a sudden and rapid march to 
the Kei, without turning to the right hand or to the left .... 
On reaching the English troops they would meet with the 
most fiiendly reception." 

As, however, Fa~~ had other ideas, · the ~uggestion fell 
th~ough. He then v~s1ted Ncaphayi, in the hope of procuring 
~ides to conduct him by an inland route. Ncaphayi is, it 
will be remembered, the chief who, early in 1830, succeeded 
in finally routing Nqetho and taking possession of his cattle. 
Here again, Gardiner met with disappointment. The chief 
declined to provide guides, "as should anything happen, the 
blame would probably be attributed to him." 

In these circumstances, all that remained was to return to 
~atal, and t~is Gardiner did, reaching there during September. 

On ~he arnval of my waggon" (on the 15th), he says, "pre­
para hons were commenced for a journey across the Khahlam ba 1 

mountains, it being now my intention to endeavour to reach 
the Colony by that route, every other being completely closed; 
a~d, after communicating with His Excellency, to proceed 
directly to England, in the hope of procuring missionaries to 
occupy the stations now formed."2 

He left the port on the 24th of the same month, with two 
~aggo~s, accompanied by Ogle, ·his interpreter George Cyrus, 
his dnver Dick King 3 and one other European Wyngart. He 
reached the Drakensberg by a route that passed near where the 
towns of Richmond and Bulwer were subsequently built, and 
on 10th October, being unable to discover a practicable pass 
for waggons through the mountains, moved downwards towards 
the mouth of the Umzimvu6u, only to make his way once 
more to Buntingville, the place he had left in August to get 
back to Natal. This time, however, he succeeded in getting 
through to Cape Town and, sailing from there in the Liverpool 
on 19th December, reached England in February, 1836. 
. But other people besides Gardiner were beginning to be 
mterested in sending forth missionaries to the Zulus. The 
attention of the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign 

1Drakensberg .- Editor . 
:Gardiner, J ourney to the Z oolu Conntry , 302. 
Who subsequently became famous because of his o-reat ride from Durban 

to Grahamstown.-Editor . " 
RI 
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Missions, for instance, had been drawn to the matter , probably 
by the Rev. Dr. Philip, superintendent of the London Society's 
Missions in South Africa, with the result that six men were 
sent out three to Zululand and Natal, and the rest t o Mzili­
kazi' s t : rritory. All reached Cape Town in F ebruary, 1835. 
Those destined for ·Natal , viz. Messrs. Alden Grout , George 
Champion and Dr. Newton Adams, M.D., were obliged to wait 
for some months in Cape Town and later at Algoa Bay, as the 
overland route via Grahamstown and Bunting could not be 
used on account of the Kaffir war. 

They eventually reached Natal in the Dove in December, 
1835. Arrangements were then made for visiting Dingane to 
obtain permission to settle and carry on mission work in the 
country. They reached Mgungundlovu on the 16th January, 
1836.1 As in the case of Gardiner, the application was referred 
by Dingane to his indunas. The latter " feared evils from the 
introduction of white men into their country, and wished 
the line of the whites to be beyond the Thukela." However, the 
end of the matter was that permission was granted; they were 
told they might begin in the Hlomendlini district (i.e. the area 
within which Gardiner 's Culula station had already been estab­
lished). This district took its name from two large military 
barracks of that name, built by Dingane within 15 miles of 
one another. One of these, the more important, was called 
White Hlomendlini (omhlophe) and the other Black Hlo­
mendlini (ommyama). The word itself means " arm oneself 

indoors.'' 
" And then," said the King, " if you succeed I will bring 

the school right into the heart of my dominions. I will learn 
myself, and set an example t o my people." 2 The station 
est ablished in the Hlomendlini district was called N ginani 
(I am with you). It was eight miles north of the Thukela River, 
about the same distance from the sea, and on a small river 
called Msunduze. Mr. Champion, who was first designated to 
this place, began work there on 26th September, 1836.

3 

In view of the fact that this was the first American mission 
station established in Zululand, the following account of its 
inception will be perused with more than ordinary interest. 

1Bird, Annals of Natal, I , 201. 
2Ibid., Annals of Natal , I, 207. 
3Ibid. , 209. 
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" When we arrived," says Champion, who was accompanied 
by his wife, "on 21st April, 1837, we immediately commenced 
some rude dwellings of stone and mud, the only materials 
easily obtained, meanwhile abiding in t ents. . . . Two or 
three months even elapsed before these were completed, so 
little assistance could we derive from the unskilled natives 
and so ~any were our other avocations, such as journeying~ 
to the Kmg, etc. And then our houses-with not a board or 
a straight piece of timber in them, 30 feet by t en , with earth 
floors, naked walls and grass roofs, and doors and windows of 
weeds and grass (resembling perhaps more a stable at home 
than a dwelling house)-would doubtless be object s of wonder 
to new-comers from civilized lands; but they were to us, 
compared with the dirty native huts around us, truly places 
of comfort. . . . Meanwhile a cattle fold and calf house must 
be constructed; a smith's shop was in progress, and various 
other things were done, necessary to our beginning to live 
among this people."1 
. Obviously it was Gardiner 's energetic and persistent pioneer­
mg work that had prepared the way for this remarkably fav­
ourable reception. 2 Without that assistance the Americans 
woul~ no d?ubt have met with a rebuff at the outset, just as 
Gardmer himself had done, whilst the thorny question of 
deser~ers from Zululand, unless tackled in the resolute way 
Ga~dmer ~ad ~one, ~ould have stood indefinitely in the way of 
their application bemg granted. It is easy to decry or belittle 
what Gardiner did, but it is equally easy to realise that but 
for him, the American Mission would not have been allow~d to 
start when it d~d; i~ a~lowed indeed, at that time, in the country 
at all. The poison mJ ected by Jacob into Dingane's mind had 
by no m~a~s wo~ked_itself out. It was because Dingane regarded 
those miss10nanes, m common with all other white people at 
Natal as under Gardiner, and amenable t o his control, that 
he was prepared to treat them in so liberal a spirit . What 
assurance, for instance, had he, apart from Gardiner's own 
promise, that a treat y of such vital importance to his position 
would be carried out? 

. 1Missionary H erald (American Board of Commissioners for Foreign 
M1ss10ns) for the year 1838, p . 31. 

. •rt was in consequence of the agreement between Captain Gard iner and 
Dmgane that they were permitted to enter.-Marsh, J. W., Memoir of AllenF. 
Gardiner, p. 98. 
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It is true that Gardiner went away just at this moment 
and for no less than 19 months, but Dingane was quite prepared 
to let matters remain in abeyance until his return, particularly, 
as will presently be seen, as the Governor of the Cape Colony 
informed Dingane he not only approved of the treaty but 
would send an officer to Durban as locum tenens, during Gar­
diner's absence. 

In a general letter by Champion, Grout and Adams, dated 
August, 1836, published in their mission periodical, the mission­
aries express themselves thus: " The Chief (i.e. Dingane) no 
doubt has erroneous ideas in regard to our work, but we believe 
him to be a reasonable man in many respects. We believe that 
if floitrishing schools were f ormed in this country, they would give 
us at once access to his confidence, and access to the whole country 
with the words of salvation. Without the approval of the King, 
nothing can be done; with his word, everything-according 
to Zulu notions. Thus you see that much, perhaps all, of our 
future success may depend upon a right beginning. The King 
is aware that ours is a work of time, but still he will be looking 
for immediate fruit. " 

The words we have italicised are, we venture t o think, of 
paramount importance when dealing with uncivilised people 
like the Zulus. It is the visible, homely or concrete, not the 
invisible, alien, or abstract that appeals at once to their intel­
lect and imagination. The fact that 99% of their everyday 
conversations, as also of their nursery tales, proverbs, meta­
phors, songs, oratory, eulogies, prayers to departed spirits and 
so forth are concrete in form and phraseology surely gives us 
the right clue for gaining access to their minds with ideas 
familiar enough to ourselves but utterly foreign to their nature; 
surely, then, the true st arting point in the work of converting 
the people must be with what appeals to the eye and the other 
senses rather than to other merely embryonic and undeveloped 
faculties or instincts that are or may be within them . Until, 
therefore, we become as little Zulu children themselves, we 
shall find it impossible to lead them into the Kingdom of 
Heaven. 

Bishop Gray, who visited Natal in 1850, and Bishop Colenso, 
who arrived a ~ w years later, realised the value of this mode 
of procedure, for, in F ebruary, 1856, we find that with the 
strong influence and assistance of Mr. Shepstone, Secretary of 
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Native_Aff~irs, " nineteen young Kaffir children were brought 
by the1r fnends to Ekukhanyeni, and delivered formally up 
in~o the hands of the Bishop (Colenso) for education, by the 
chiefs Ngoza and Zatshuke. By April, 1857, the number had 
grown to 33, all but two of whom were sons of chiefs or captains, 
the headmen of their tribes." 1 

It so happened that the other three American missionaries 
Messrs. D. Lindley, H. J . Venable and A. E. Wilson , wh~ 
proceeded to Mzilikazi's country from Cape Town were unable 
to establish themselves at Mzilikazi's kraal in l\fosiga valley 
on account of hostilities that had broken out between him and 
a division of the Emigrant Boers. The Boers, under Maritz 
a~~ Potgieter , attacked Mosiga on the 17th January, 1837, 
killing 400 of the Matabele, without loss to themselves besides 
recover~ng waggons _and about 6,000 cattle that had 'recently 
been seized from the1r murdered compatriots. The missionaries 
and their families then retired with the Boers, only, however , 
to make their way via Cape Town to join their comrades in 
Natal, reaching there at the end of July. 

In addition to the station Nginani in the Hlomendlini dis­
trict, permission was subsequently given for another some 
fi:7e or six miles from the military barracks Dlangez~a, on 
high gro~nd on the left-hand side and overlooking the Mhla­
thuze River. It was at this post, called Themba (trust), that 
Venable and vVilson then began t o be employed. 

An arn_iy comprising all the strength of the country was 
sent ?Y

2 

Dmgane m June, 1836, to attack Sobuza, King of the 
Swazis, whose country lay some 150 miles to the north-east 
of Mgungundlovu. It was in connection with this campaign 
that Gardiner afterwards (June, 1837) wrote thus: "the whole 
of the British inhabitants with three or four exceptions have 
voluntarily joined the Zulu army and by means of their fire­
arms killed and wounded numbers of his enemies, for which 
they have been handsomely rewarded with the cattle they 
have captured. " 3 

The following account is by William Wood, an eyewitness, 
so?n . to be heard of in another connection : " Dingane's 
prmcipal messenger acquainted us that it was the King's order 

1Grout, Zululand, 280- 1. 
"Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 210, 378. 
3Ibid., 320. 
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that the English at Natal should arm themselves and come to 
him at Mgungundlovu, as he wished to send them against an 
enemy who had robbed him, and who had placed himself in 
such a position that the King's troops were of no avail in 
capturing him, and firearms alone could be effectual. . . . 

When the residents at Port Natal were acquainted with 
Dingane's order they made preparations for fulfilling them; 
and when they had mustered as many as they could bring 
together, their strength consisted of about 30 English residents, 
amongst whom were John Cane (who commanded the party), 
Thomas Halstead, Richard Wood (my father) Richard King, 
Robert Russel, Thomas Carden, Richard Lovedale and William 
Kew; also about 40 Zulus, all of whom were armed with guns. 
Having arrived at a small hill which rises at the back of 
Dingane's kraal, they fired a salute, upon which the King was 
greatly alarmed, and sent a messenger to ask them what they 
meant by firing. They said it was customary for all kings and 
great men to receive such tokens of respect from those who 
carried arms. This answer dissipated the King's fears, and he 
sent them an invitation to come into his kraal and refresh 
themselves, which they did. Next day they started in search 
of the enemy, reinforced by a large body of Dingane's troops, 
commanded by Ndlela. Having travelled some days they 
.arrived in the vicinity of the Phongolo mountains, where a 
:party of Sobuza's people were posted, and, lest these should 
,discover that Ndlela had Europeans with him, they covered 
the English with their shields while ascending the mountain. 
Sobuza's people had taken up a very good position on the top 
of a hill, immediately over, and commanding the entrance to, 
a natural cavern in which they placed the cattle they had 
captured from Dingane. By rolling down large stones, they 
had for some days prevented the approach of a party of Din­
gane's troops who had before attempted to recapture the cattle. 

The nearest approach which could be made with safety 
was by ascending a small hill opposite. This the party did, 
and found themselves separated from Sobuza's people by a 
deep gulph (gulley ?) at the bottom of which ran the Phongolo 
River. As they were within speaking distance, John Cane, 
who commanded the Europeans, told them to deliver up the 
cattle which they had taken from the King, or he would fire 
upon them, adding that it was useless of them to resist, for as 
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Dingane himself had taken the trouble to come so far to get 
his cattle, he was determined to have them. 

On hearing this, Sobuza's people made no reply, but turned 
their backs on them in token of contempt. John Cane's party 
then fired a volley over their heads and he again begged them 
to agree to his demand, and told them that if they delivered up 
the cattle he would allow them and their wives and children, 
who were still with them, to depart unharmed. They still 
returned no answer, and he then fired at them and shot three or 
four. Cane repeated his demand, but they treated them in the 
same manner, upon which his party again fired and shot some 
more of them. A Zulu woman 1 was then seen to approach the 
brink of the precipice leading a boy of about 12 or 13 years of 
age by the hand, and having an infant fastened at her back. 
Looking towards the Europeans, she cried out: ' I will not be 
killed by thunder, but will kill myself,' saying which, she pushed 
the boy over the precipice and jumped in herself after him. 

The firing continued until the party cried out for mercy, 
and promised to give up the cattle, which John Cane sent a 
number of men round to receive. He then distributed a few 
head amongst them, and commenced his journey to Mgungu­
ndlovu."2 

As soon as Gardiner got to England he arranged for the 
publication of a highly interesting journal he had been in the 
habit of keeping whilst in South Africa. The work, entitled 
Narrative of a Journey to the Z oolu Country in South Africa, 
appeared in or about September, 1836. It was well received by 
the Press; the Christian Observer, however, took strong excep­
tion to the treaty, copy of which, as well as a detailed account 
of the surrender by Gardiner of the refugees, already referred 
to herein, having been inserted in the work. "A British 
Officer," said the Observer, " should not have acknowledged his 
(Dingane's) tyrannical right to prevent any of his subjects 
emigrating from his dominions, and still less have agreed to 
capture them, and send them back to torture and death. It 
is a picture so sickening and revolting that we lay the book 
down with pain and regret. . . . It is a treaty of blood, and 

1The writer probably means a Swazi woman, against whom the expedition 
had been sent, for Sobuza was King of Swaziland .-Editor. 
. 

2Wood, William, statements respecting Dingaan, J{ing of the Zulus, etc., 
m part reprinted in Bird's Annals of Natal, I , 376, 387. 
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blood has already cemented it. . . . Captain Gardiner, it is 
understood, intends on his return to uphold and enforce this 
abominable treaty- a treaty with a tiger! Why had he not 
rather said to Dingane: ' Cut off my head and attack, bum 
and destroy our settlement, if indeed you dare to do so in the 
face of British retributive justice, and what is more, of the 
anger of God, rather than I will be the individual to lead 
fugitive children and unoffending men and women . to _be 
slaughtered in your execrable den. The Lord of Hosts 1s with 
us; the God of Jacob is our refuge.' " 1 

Gardiner, of course, replied to this hysterical critic~sm 2 point­
ing out that "the whole gist of the argument hinges upon the 
gratuitous supposition that the Europeans at Port Natal were 
independent of the Zulu King at the period when the treaty in 
question was agreed upon. Far otherwise was the case. The 
simple circumstances were these: 30 European adventurers 
voluntarily locate themselves within the territory and juris­
diction of the Zoolu King. In the course of time many of his 
refractory subjects (from whatever cause it matters not) find 
their way to this settlement, and place themselves under the 
protection of the foreigners. Jealousy and dissatisfaction 
naturally spring up between the two parties-the Zoolu King 
soon becomes irritated, and his chiefs, clamorous for revenge, 
demands and threats alternate, till, foiled in the accomplish­
ment of their purpose, the insult can no longer be borne; 
retribution is demanded, and the summary extirpation of the 
whole native population, amounting to no less than 3,000, is 
determined. Such a crisis had occurred, and was actually 
impending, when the treaty in question was framed, and that 
with the sole object of averting the attack. ... Had we been 
independent of Dingane, had there been at that time any 
recognised authority at Port Natal, the case would have been 
wholly altered, and the condition of restoring deserters would 
never have been contemplated. Situated as we were, his 
demand was just and our compliance equally obligatory, unless 
we were willing either to join the rebels or to abandon the 
remaining 3,000 to their merciless, but no less rightful sover~ign, 
and his exterminating soldiers. . . . I have already received 

1south African Commercial A dvertiser, 22nd March, 1837. 
•His Jetter addressed to the Editor of The Record was dated, Hampstead, 

4th OctolJer, 1836.-Editor . 
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the thanks of many, both black and white, who, shielded by 
this much maligned treaty, have escaped the midnight flames 
and the Zoolu spear. ... " Among those knowing the state 
of affairs in Natal better than the Editor of the Christian Ob­
server, and approved the treaty, was no other than Sir Benjamin 
D'Urban, Governor of the Cape of Good Hope. In a communi­
cation His Excellency transmitted to Dingane in December, 
1835, he said: " I rejoice to hear of the good word which has 
passed between the Chief and Captain Gardiner and of the 
treaty concluded between them for the town and people of 
Port Natal." The Governor went on to intimate that a British 
Officer" would speedily be sent to Port Natal to be in authority 
there in the place of Captain Gardiner, until his return, and to 
communicate with the Chief, Dingane, upon all matters con­
cerning the people of Natal." 1 

Apart from soliciting the British Government to take 
possession of and annex Natal, Gardiner, when in England, 
got in touch with the Church Missionary Society with a view 
to their undertaking a mission to the Zulus. Now, before 
leaving England in 1834, he had already made known his 
object to the Committee of the Church Missionary Society, 
and expressed his desire that they should undertake a mission 
to the aborigines of South Africa. Though the Committee 
did not feel at liberty to hold out any prospect of their com­
plying with his wish, they expressed their readiness to receive 
any information he might be able to communicate to them. 2 

On getting back to England, then, he wrote to the Society on 
1st March, 1836. He says, inter alia: " It has pleased God to 
open a way whereby the Gospel of Christ may obtain an 
effectual entrance among the Zulus. . . . A whole province 
has at length been thrown open, and the instruction of children 
in every part of the district. Both in this province, called 
Hlomendlini, and at Port Natal, a missionary station has been 
formed, and buildings erected for the purpose; and from the 
impossibility of procuring a missionary, I have been engaged 
for some time in instructing the natives, who attend with great 
intelligence, and even send their children to the school without 
solicitation or prejudice. . . . Permission was first granted to 

1Gardiner, Journey to the Zoolu Country, 394. 
'Church Missionary Record for 1836, VII, 68. 
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teach in the Hlomendlini province on the 10th of May, 1835, 
and the mission was opened on the 24th ... To occupy 
the ground already open, not less than six missionaries are 
absolutely necessary, viz. one at Port Natal, three in the Zulu 
country, and two among the Inhlangwini (tribe) amounting 

altogether to about 8,000. 
Some progress has already been made in translating the 

New Testament into the Zulu tongue. Mr. Fynn, 
1 

the only 
competent person in South Africa, having kindly undertaken 
that work; and I trust there will soon be a considerable portion 

prepared for publication . ... 
The proposition which I would make to your committee 

is that you would accept the land and buildings at Berea and 
Culula as they now stand, and take the whole management of 
the missions into your own hands. Berea, consisting at present 
of a school-house, dwelling house, and four large huts, stands 
upon a plot of ground of at least two square miles in extent, 
fertile in every part, and guaranteed in perpetuity, as the 
exclusive property of the missionary establishment. 

At Culula, three huts only have as yet been erected; and 
the whole hill, with fine stream of water at its base, and as 
much more land as may be necessary for cultivation, has been 
given over to the station by Dingane himself." 

In consequence of these representations, the Church Mission­
ary Society designated the Rev. Francis Owen to Mgungu­
ndlovu, the instructions of the Committee being delivered to 
him on the 8th November, 1836. Shortly after this a second 
missionary was sent to Zululand, viz. the Rev. H. Hewetson. 
Owen, with Mrs. Owen and his sister, sailed for South Africa 
in the P almyra on 24th December, 1836. Gardiner accompanied 
the party, which reached Cape Town on 2nd March. Gardiner 
arrived in Natal on 24th May, whilst Owen, travelling over­
land by waggon from Algoa Bay, did not do so until the begin-

ning of August. 
During Gardiner 's protracted absence, apart from the advent 

of the American missionaries in December, 1835, and other 
matters already noticed, there had been various developments 
in Natal and Zululand. The state of affairs among the Euro­
pean settlers, through lack of effective control, was rapidly 

1This, of course, refe rs to the author of this Diary.-Editor. 
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becoming_ chaotic and even suicidal. Something of this is 
reflected 111 an outspoken denunciatory letter addressed by no 
fewer than 14 of them on 27th November, 1836, to the Grahams­
~?wn Journal, from which the following extracts are taken. 

On the return of the Commando which volunteered in con­
sequence of Dingan~ calling the whites to his assistance,1 Mr. 
Blanck~nbe_rg rema111ed at the King's palace on the pretext 
of hav111g important affairs with His Majesty. He shortly 
afterwards returned to Natal with 30 to 40 head of cattle 
when it transpired that the greater part of these were the 
produce of a sale effected by him to Dingane of a new elephant 
gun. In a few days after his arrival he forwarded to the King 
a sup~ly ,of po_wder and lead, with a boy to cast the balls at 
~he K111g s residence. The great price obtained for the gun 
111duce~ Messrs. Lake and Isaacs to follow his example. They 
hav~ s111ce sold to Dingane four elephant guns, with a pro­
portionate supply of ammunition. Mr. R. Biggar (clerk here 
fo~ ~essrs. Maynard and Norden), on a late journey to the 
K111g s also sold a double-barrelled percussion elephant gun 
for si~ elephants' teeth. Mr. P. Kew, who has been tailoring 
fo~ D111gane, has also, according to his own accounts, made 
D111gane a present of two guns. And there are reports of one 
or two Hottentots following his example, and of another Hotten­
tot, John Brouwer, being on the road to Natal to repair six 
guns _belonging to Dingane. Mr. C. Blanckenberg asserted he 
w~s, 111 a measu~e, compelled to let the King have his gun, but 
Dmgane c?mpla111s that the gun was in a way forced upon him. 
~r. R. Biggar states that the gun was not his own, but he 
rntroduced the gun to Dingane and explained its superiority 
over the ~ther guns. On Dingane asking the price, he replied it 
was not his but another man's, who wanted six elephants' t eeth 
fo: it. _This man was his younger brother. The gu~ remains 
with Drngane, and Mr. R. Biggar has received the elephants' 
teeth. 

Previous to late event s, confidence of security was increasing 
from the number of guns amongst us, say from 200 to 300 
stand of arms, but, at present, the minds of the natives are 
completely alienated, who observe that if the whites will supply 

1Referring no doubt to the expedition against Sobuza of Swaziland, 
about August-September, 1836.-Editor. 
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their inveterate enemy with guns, etc., for a few pounds of 
ivory, or a few head of cattle, how can they be assured that 
their lives may not as readily be bartered away. 

Dingane has recently taken by force from Mr. D. Steller 
and party six guns. On being applied to for their return, he 
complained that the party, in defiance of repeated or~ers, 
persisted in hunting on his reserve elephant grou~d, adding: 
' I have given the whites from the Imslatense 1 River to t~e 
Umzimvoobo to shoot in, which is surely large enough, but 1f 
they come and kill all my elephants, where shall I ~rocure 
ivory to purchase things of them ? ' He therefore detams the 
guns till the arrival of Captain Gardiner. 

Owing to the escape of some fugitives, a man and a woman, 
he has again interdicted trading and shooting, 3:nd has s~nt 
orders to the American missionaries, who are formmg a station 
on the other side of the Thukela River, 2 not on any account 
to harbour or shelter, on any pretext, the people of Natal. The 
man who escaped was apprehended by Mr. John Stubbs, but 
effected his escape from one of Mr. Cane's villages, so that, to 
exonerate themselves, there is little doubt of the messengers3 

endeavouring to impute it to the whites. . . . 
Dingane seems to place every hope on the arrival of Capta~n 

Gardiner. Should that gentleman be unfortunately delayed m 
England, which we begin to fear is the case, and this letter 
meet the eye of the Colonial Government, we do fervently 
hope that they will feel convinced of the imperious necessity 
of speedily sending some authority here, invested with power 
to preserve order and restore confidence till Captain Gardiner's 
arrival, and thereby avert that crisis which such conduct, if 
persisted in, (cannot, in our opinion, fail speedily to produce.'' 4 

Further light is thrown on the traffic in firearms by the 
following piece: " The traders trading with Dingane in guns 
and powder are becoming rich- but they have hit on a happy 
expedient of cheating the Chief, who has at last discovered 
the roguery. They sell him guns, but before delivering them 

1By this probably Mhlathuzc is meant.-Editor. 
"That is, Nginani.-Editor . . 
3That is, Dingane's- to whom the refugee had been handed over.-Editor. 
'The sio-natories hereto were: J ohn Cane, Henry Ogle, L. Carden , W. 

Bottomly, "Thomas Lidnell, Charles Adams, He_nry Batt, Richard Wood, 
J. D . Steller, G. White, Robert R ussel, C. J. Pickman, J oseph Brown, F. 
Halstead. -Editor. 
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they take either the mainspring out of the lock, or some 
screw, which renders the gun useless."1 

In the meantime Dingane continued to rule his own people 
with inveterate and despotic severity, resorting to the foulest 
forms of treachery as often as it appeared that other devices 
were unlikely to succeed. A remarkable illustration of his 
iniquitous practice is afforded by the case of Du6e, chief of 
the Qadi tribe, an account of which has never been pub­
lished, so far as we are aware. This case is not as well known 
by Europeans as it deserves to be, if only because it shows 
that the despot could behave as villainously towards his 
own people as he subsequently did to foreigners, viz. Piet 
Retief and his party. Indeed, in trying to appreciate the 
mysterious enormity of wrong done to Retief and his men, we 
cannot do better than study what was done to others on previous 
as well as subsequent occasions. For it is not isolated but 
habitual conduct that shows the man. 

In a district of Zululand, lying along the left bank of the 
Thukela and opposite to the well-known mountain Ntunja­
mbili (or .Kranskop), there lived a large tribe called Qadi, 
an offshoot of still older and more famous tribes called N yuswa 
and Ngco5o. The Qadi at the moment in question were living 
quietly under their chief Du6e, the son of Lilwane. For 
some reason or other Manqondo, an aristocrat of the Magwaza 
tribe, offshoot of Langeni-the one Shaka's mother belonged 
to, went, presumably with followers, to occupy ground between 
Du6e's area and the River Thukela, thereby making it im­
possible for Du6e or his people to reach the river, except by 
traversing Manqondo's holding. Now, it so happened that the 
Thukela was the boundary between Dingane's country and 
that of the white people-Natal. "Why," said Du6e, "does 
Manqondo go and live below me in this fashion ? Should any 
of my children at any time be said to .have befouled themselves, 
how may they manage t o escape? " As soon as Manqondo 
got to hear of this he went and told Dingane. " Is that what 
Du6e says," asked the King. " Father, that is indeed what he 
says. Whatever's to be done? " " Then," said Dingane, "as 
often as Du6e comes along here, he is on the alert, wondering 

'South African Comnwrcial Advertiser, 21st J anuary, 1837. 
The above statement is by a Natal trader called Lake.-Editor. 

s 
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where children that befoul themselves can find a convenient 
exit? Nay, befoul themselves they shall and this very day." 

The great indunas Ndlela and Dambuza, who were present, 
at once pointed out that the Qadis, being numerous, would 
certainly kill many of the King's men. " The best plan is not 
to attack them at all . Rather let the King issue an order for 
poles to be cut and brought here." The advice was acted on. 
Many of the Qadis accordingly carried poles to Mgungundlovu. 

o ! This won't do at all," they were told on arrival. " You 
are not all here. Go back and fetch the rest . E very soul must 
bring a pole, even old women who complain of bad knees." 
Again the poles were brought, this time so many carriers 
coming, men and women, as to include even the bad-kneed old 
women. As they walked one behind the other in the usual single 
file, they are said to have covered a distance of two or three 
miles. 

They all then entered the great cattle enclosure, and, pro­
ceeding slowly to the upper end, one by one, deposited their 
burdens. No sooner had all entered than Dingane directed that 
the warriors, till then concealed in the huts, were to come forth 
and block every exit. And no sooner was this done than the 
fatal word, "Sa.iambeni I " (lay hold of them) was uttered. 
The troops then poured into the enclosure itself and forthwith 
attacked every soul, battering them mercilessly to death with 
short stout cudgels, just as was done ten months lat er to Piet 
Retie£ and his followers. But, of the latter there were only 100 
all told, whereas of the Qadis massacred at Mgungundlovu 
alone there must have been three, four, and five times that 
number. 

A member of Du6e's tribe, who for some reason had not 
entered the kraal, happened to be spectator of the massacre. 
As soon as he realised what was t aking place he ran home as 
fast as he could and gave the alarm to his chief. By the time 
Du6e quitted his kraal, the force sent from headquarters had 
already invaded the district. He succeeded in entering Nongoxi 
forest near Middle Drift but, being seen, was followed up, 
surrounded and put to death. 

Large numbers of those who, for various reasons, had not 
gone to the capital were now ruthlessly and indiscriminately 
massacred, exactly as was done to the Boers at Doornkop, 
Blaauwkrantz, Moord Spruit and other places in Natal, the only 
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difference being that the Boer women and children were 
slaughtered 11 days after the catastrophe at Mgungundlovu, 
whereas the Qadi women and children were exterminated 
probably within 24 hours of the massacre of the unfortunate 
pole-carriers at Mgungundlovu, a place notorious for its 
" blood-covered sticks. " There was, however, yet another 
difference; of the Boers, including Hottentots and coloured 
servants, some 631 were slain, whereas of the Qadi there were 
at least half as many again. 

The survivors, including the child-heir to the chieftainship, 
Mqhawe, and afterwards father of Mandlakayise, the late chief 
of the tribe, immediately crossed over into Natal to seek the 
protection of the British at the port. They were located a 
few miles from the coast in the neihgbourhood of the Inanda 
and Mdlothi Rivers. 

Now the massacre occurred probably in the month of April, 
1837. Another exodus from Zululand, also on a large scale, 
seems to have occurred about the same time, namely of the 
Phisi tribe, the fugitives once more placing themselves 
under the British settlers. 

The sudden inrush of large numbers of men, women and 
children, all fugitives from Zululand, at once became in the eyes 
of the settlers a most formidable problem and one demanding 
immediate, resolute and united action . The treaty, of course, 
required that the whole of the deserters should be arrested and 
returned to Dingane, a duty that had to be carried out regard­
less of the means at the disposal of the settlers. On the other 
hand, to refrain from taking action was almost tantamount to 
a declaration of war against Dingane. 

The settlers, when face to face with the difficulty, did not 
hesitate a minute. " We all agreed to reject the treaty, " they 
said, " as most cruel and utterly impracticable, and to protect 
the people; and though we by no means wished to come into 
collision with Dingane, yet if he molested us, to offer resistance." 
Such a message was sent to Dingane ; and though, before that, 
he had stopped the trade and even taken guns from one of the 
hunters . .. " yet, we had no sooner assumed this firm attitude 
than he immediately declared the trade open, and expressed a 
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wish to be on closer terms of friendship and alliance with us, 
than ever." 1 

The situation now became so critical, particularly when 
rumours began to circulate that Dingane was about to attack 
the settlement, that the settlers took steps to defend themselves 
to the utmost of their strength and capacity. Alexander Biggar, 
father of R. and G. Biggar, was appointed Commandant for 
the time being. On a proclamation issued by him on the 4th 
of May he says: " Whereas in consequence of the recent 
distresses, the Qadi and Phisi tribes have fled for protection 
from the Zulus to Natal, serious apprehensions are entertained 
that it may afford a pret ext to the Zulu Chief, Dingane, to 
carry into execution his long and often threat ened intention of 
invading and attacking this Settlement-it became the duty 
of the white inhabitants to assemble and consult, as to what 
measures should be adopted on this alarming occasion; and 
whereas, an alarm-post, as a place of defence and assembly, 
has long been considered as absolutely necessary, in the event 
of any sudden attack, they, therefore, after attentively examin­
ing several places, have fixed upon Point St. Michael's as a 
proper place to erect a fortification for the protection of them­
selves and property. . . . " The proclamation, after deeming it 
proper that all this coloured population should be enrolled and 
embodied as a militia force and be officered by their British 
chiefs, ends by calling on all to yield a ready and cheerful 
obedience to any orders that may be issued. 

In general orders it was laid down that " beacons of alarm 
be prepared on the different commanding heights (as pointed 
out) to be fired when the enemy is perceived." Fortifications 
were erect ed at Point St. Michael's, six captains and t en lieu­
tenants were appointed, patrols were sent out and various other 
steps were taken for the proper organization of the men avail­
able. Dr. Adams, superi~1tendent of the mission station, having 
offered his services in a medical capacity, was appointed 
" Surgeon to the Forces " and requested also to act as " Chap­
lain to the Troops." 

1In lJ: letter to the Grahamstown J ournal, written subsequently to Gardiner's 
arrival (24th May) and most probably in July, 1837. The signatories were 
eight in number including R. Biggar and D . C. Toohey .-Editor. See a lso 
Bird's Annals of Natal, I, 322. 
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Dingane soon began to receive exaggerated reports of what 
was afoot at the port. He sent two messengers to ascertain the 
truth. These were well treated and sent back with assurances 
that the settlers' intentions were pacific and the measures they 
were taking of a purely defensive nature. On the 25th May 
a further message arrived from the King to say, on oath-he 
swore first by the God in Heaven, the white man's oath; then 
by the bones of his father, the most solemn oath of the Zulus­
that he never had the slightest intention of attacking or destroy­
ing the settlement, and that he would never kill a white man. 
He, moreover, desired all at the port to leave the bush, i.e. 
resume their ordinary avocations. 

It was just at this moment that Gardiner returned to Natal, 
after an absence of 19 months. In the meantime, as will have 
been inferred from what has gone before, the relations between 
Dingane and the settlers had considerably altered, whilst a 
spirit of independence was fast developing among the latter. 
Although King William IV disclaimed, in the most direct terms, 
all right of sovereignty in Natal and all intention of extending 
his dominions in that quarter, seemingly, and this on the 
grounds of expense, the Governor of the Cape was instructed to 
appoint Gardiner "Justice of the Peace" under the Act of 
Parliament of 5th and 6th William IV, chap. 57, which in 
truth, though it vested him with a legal right t o do certain acts 
of subordinate police, gave no power either in means or money, 
or any sort of machinery, to execute them. Gardiner saw at 
once that such office would be illusory. However, he said he 
was " willing to attempt, by a mere moral influence, for the 
credit of my countrymen and for the benefit of the missionaries 
about to be established . . . . to palliate what I am not 
permitted to remedy. " 1 H e accordingly appointed Charles 
Pickman as Clerk of the Peace, and two other persons as 
constables, but, not having been authorized to assign any 
pecuniary stipend to the posts, found himself obliged to re­
munerate them from his own private means or " leave the 
duties entrusted to me wholly unfulfilled."2 The next step was 
to explain his commission to the settlers. This was done at a 
public meeting held at Port Natal on 1st June. A few days 

'Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 317. 
'Ibid ., 318. 

s l 
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later seven of his principal settlers, including A. Biggar, Cane 
and Ogle, drew up and sent to him a protest against his being 
appointed to exercise jurisdiction over them. They claimed 
that Natal was not an acknowledged part of the British domin­
ions, but a free settlement; that it was granted by Shaka to 
the resident inhabitants, the grant being subsequently con­
firmed by Dingane; they complained that the power vested 
in Gardiner extended to British subjects only, not empowering 
him to punish acts of aggression by natives, or by Europeans 
on British residents of Natal; that he was not empowered to 
adjudicate in civil cases; that as criminal cases must be decided 
by the nearest magistrate in the Cape Colony, on depositions 
taken by Gardiner, hardship and oppression must result to 
offenders; that no redress was provided for in the event of 
Gardiner himself or his agent committing any act of oppression 
on the inhabitants; and that, before leaving for England, 
Gardiner had materially injured the inhabitants by advising 
the Zulu King to prohibit their trading with his people; in 
conclusion, they trusted that Her Majesty's Government would 
recognise Natal and appoint magistrates to afford them, sub­
stantial protection and encouragement. 

In forwarding this document by overland express, Gardiner 
pointed out that his office was virtually at an end as, though 
a Clerk of the Peace had been appointed, "not a single indi­
vidual is willing to perform the duties of constable, neither have 
any tenders been received for the erection of the Magistrate's 
office or the gaol." As to the grant made by Shaka, he observed 
that it had reference merely to the "right of hunting. " He 
denied that he had persuaded Dingane to stop the trade in toto; 
he had recommended him merely to prohibit such Europeans 
as had wantonly offended against the laws of his country, 
instead of sending an armed party to Natal to punish them. 

George Cyrus, Gardiner's interpreter, in a letter to the 
Commercial Advertiser, June, 1837, in reply to Gardiner being 
accused in the protest of stopping the trade, declared, on the 
strength of notes made at the time, that Gardiner " advised 
Dingane to appoint special messengers, and that if any white 
man wished to trade in the Zulu country, that person, on 
receiving permission, should be furnished with a messenger, 
whose business would be to see that the trader was not insulted 
and also that he did not secrete Dingane's subjects." Thus 
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Gardiner's defence was a good deal stronger than he himself 
had made it out to be. 

After this protest, Gardiner, finding himself unable to per­
form the duties of his commission, withdrew from the port to 
the mouth of the Thongathi River, to await further instructions. 
Here he erected another mission station, called Hambanathi 
(go with us), and for the time being devoted his energies to 
the education and improvement of the natives. 

"The rising ground on which the village stands wa~ about 
a mile from the sea and looked down on the river, winding 
among the hills and forest wood. Beautiful glens invited retire­
ment. Trees stood out in individual beauty, forming a great 
contrast to the ornamental woods beyond. The steep wooded 
banks of the Thongathi occasionally hid from view the course 
of the stream. Imagine all possible combinations of rich and 
varied scenery and tints of all colours; the brightest sunlight 
and the deepest shade; remember the unpretending house on 
the hill, with Indian corn waving in all directions, and an open 
sea view on the eastern side and you can form some idea of the 
beautiful Hambanathi. In a northerly direction a very steep 
hill arose immediately above the shore from which the whole 
line of coast was visible as far as Port Natal, the point of which 
appeared to be exactly opposite, stretching far out into the 
sea." 1 

In answer to the protest from the settlers, the Secretary of 
State pointed out, on 29th October, 1837, that they had not 
ceased to be subjects of the Queen, to be responsible to Her 
Majesty's courts and officers; " that the pretension which they 
make to constitute a free and independent state is so extrava­
gant" that it assuredly will not be admitted by Her Maj esty's 
Government nor by any other foreign civilised state, and that 
he " disclaimed any right or wish .. . to impose on Captain 
Gardiner the discharge of the duties in his commission should 
he find that no good practical result can follow from his con­
tinuing to hold it; or should he . . . desire to be divested of 
it." 2 

The missionary, the Rev. F. Owen, who had accompanied 
Gardiner from England arrived in Natal at the beginning of 
August. His first interview with Dingane took place at No6a-

'Marsh, J. W. , Memoir of Allen F. Gardiner, 110. 
2Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 327. 
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mba, some five miles from the capital Mgungundlovu, on 19th 
August. On the following day (Sunday) " I sent word to 
Dingane in the morning," says Owen, "to ask his permission, 
as it was Sunday to preach God's Word to his people in the 
cattle fold, a large open space in the centre of the town, or to 
t each in the isigodlo, as the King pleased. He sent word that 
I was to come directly to the isigodlo. Accordingly, accom­
panied by Captain Gardiner, I went. He was seated, as the 
day before, in a chair. His women came in and sat on the 
ground. When they were all assembled he told me to begin." 1 

A lengthy sermon (most probably the first ever preached 
before a Zulu King) now followed, in the course of which 
Dingane asked several questions. Hearing, for instance, that 
Hell was a place of everlasting fire, he interrupted the preacher 
by asking where Hell was. " I was proceeding to speak of it 
in Scripture language as a place, 'where the fire was not 
quenched,' when he again interrupted me, where Hell was ? I 
said the Word of God did not tell us where Hell was, but only 
that there was such a place. . . . He asked who were they 
that should rise up-whether we, pointing to his women, shall 
rise again-what bodies we shall come with-whether the same 
bodies that we have now- whether we should see one another 
and know one another again. Some of these questions he 
repeated; and I gave such answers as the Scriptures furnished 
me with. H e seemed to think it incredible that the dead should 
be raised again, not knowing the power of God. Finally he 
said, 'Why do not the dead get up now, that we may see 
them? ' To which I replied that God had appointed the 
day . . . The next day, Monday, he sent for us early and 
looked at my presents, with which he was much pleased, though 
he said little." 2 

Mr. Owen was then desired to address the people now 
assembled in the words he had used the previous day. The 
same atten\ ion, however, was not paid, but just as in England, 
a smart bonnet or a shabby coat sometimes attracts the atten­
tion which ought rathet t o be given to the prayers or the 
sermon, so in the Zulu country, a poor blind man who was 

1The first religious instruction to Dingane appears to have been given on 
22nd J anuary, 1836, at Mgungundlovu by the American missionaries 
Champion, Grout and Adams, apart from Gardiner's various conversations 
in 1835.-Editor. 

2Which included some fireworks.-Editor. 
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present excited the ridicule and occupied the attention of Mr. 
Owen's audience.1 

" He then gave me leave t o look out for a site for a mission 
station at Khangela. We left No6amba on Monday afternoon, 
and walked to Mgungundlovu. The King sent a man with us, 
to show us the hut he is building for me. It is not in the place 
Captain Gardiner had previously chosen. He has built the hut 
on the top of a high hill 2 where there is not a tree or a twig near, 
exposed to every blast of wind, in as wild and dreary a place 
as can well be conceived . . . " 

Adverting to the preaching of the American missionaries to 
Dingane, the following account taken from Bird's Annals of 
Natal is of interest: "A Testament, they say, was shown as a 
part of God's Word. Dingane wished to know how many leaves 
it contained, and was surprised to hear us t ell without counting 
them. He asked to hear some of it read. He then inquired 
about the creation. A short account of the Saviour was given. 
They all seemed interested. One asked if God was not dis­
pleased with the treatment of His Son, and what he did to 
the people. We were asked if men knew anything about God 
before Christ came. One query was, if God was so powerful 
why not pray to take away all disease and misery? .... In 
speaking of God to any of the people, they have usually stared 
about the heavens in wonder, or listened to our words as an 
unmeaning story, and perhaps have interrupted us by asking 
for something that caught their eye." 3 

Gardiner and Owen now returned to Hambanathi via 
Khangela. The latter thereupon prepared to take up his 
residence permanently at Mgungundlovu. This he did on 10th 
October, being accompanied by Mrs. and Miss Owen and a 
youth of about 16 called William Wood, a Zulu interpreter. 

The expedition to Sobuza, in June, 1836, soon completed 
what it had been sent to do . Dingane organised another in the 
following winter (June, 1837) to attack once more his old foe 
Mzilikazi. As has already been stated, the army that went to 
Sobuza was accompanied by a number of the settlers. None 
of these, however, took part in the later campaign, presumably 

'Marsh, J. W ., Memoir of Allen F. Gardiner, 100. 
'-Nearly two miles from the town, says Gardiner.-Marsh, J . vV., Memoir 

of Allen F. Gard·iner, IOI. 
3Bird, Annals of Natal, I, 207. 
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because Mzilikazi occupied high veld t erritory and therefore 
devoid of fastnesses inaccessible to Zulu warriors. 

And so the story of the Settlement at Port Natal is brought 
up to the end of 1837. In the following year the Voortrekkers, 
led by Piet Retie£, came down the passes of the Drakensberg 
from the Free State, and opened up communication with 
Dingane direct. 

The arrival of the Voortrekkers changed the character of 
Natal from that of a Port Settlement to a Colony, and increased 
its importance in the eyes of the British Government. What 
took place thereafter does not belong to this book, but the 
events which followed are recorded in other books to which the 
reader is referred. 
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ADDITIONAL NOTES 

ON HISTORY AND CUSTOMS 

ORIGIN AND LANGUAGE 

THE Zulus have no idea of creation, but each tribe imagines 
their forefathers were the original from whence the others 
sprung, the original stock being supposed to have sprung 

from Umhlanga Oml~hulu, or large reed, and are termed Imvela­
ngqangi, or first comers. Beyond this they have no ideas. The 
few traditionary accounts being of a late period, most likely any 
that might have existed worth notice, has been lost in conse­
quence of the continual series of wars which during the last 
century the whole race of Kaffirs have been continually in­
volved. So far as appearances have allowed me to observe in 
tracing the different tribes which occupied the country before 
the destructive overthrow was begun by Shaka I have been led 
to the following conclusion by tracing the definition of the 
dialects spoken by each tribe which my knowledge of the 
language enabled me correctly to observe. 

The various tribes inhabiting Kaffraria can only include 
those between the Colony and the environs of Delagoa Bay, 
extending -from the sea to the chain ridge of mountains called 
Ingale or " Snow " which extends through the country from 
the Colony as far as the country has been examined beyond 
Delagoa. As they are evidently one people using only one 
lan~uage, and although they are divided into many petty tribes, 
their manners and customs only differ in a provincial degree. 
and having originated from one cause the uninformed and un­
enlightened state of their minds, the result of ages of the 
grossest ignorance and feeling conscious of existing superior 
powers endeavour to supply that deficiency by invention from 
their own limited ideas. 

In the map of the country I have, in consequence of my 
c~nclusions, laid down the positions each tribe inhabited pre­
v10us to the disturbances which removed many t ribes to their 
present abode, and laid the country of the many slain in battle 
waste and depopulated as will be seen in the map. 

. _In the above space of country they afterwards became 
d1v1ded into three from whence the many tribes lately destroyed 
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and those still in existence became subdivided. The tribes 
eastward of the Thukela to Delagoa speak one language which 
is spoken smoothly, clearly and copiously and in a precisely 
grammatical manner, being much more soft and expressive 
than any of the other tribes. 

From a general opinion throughout Kaffraria of their being 
the only cunning people, and the evidence I have acquired of 
most of the tribes at present forming the frontier of the Colony 
having originally come from that direction, I conclude that 
the tribes east of the Thukela were the original tribe from 
whence the others descended, and removed westward in conse­
quence of the unsettled state that the country has been in. As 
far as memory can trace those tribes which inhabited the land 
between the Thukela and the Umzimkhulu doubtless originated 
from one speaking the same language, differing from the Zulus 
by various letters being omitted, and the others used in their 
place, and attended with an uncouth manner of delivery, 
apparently forcing their words suddenly and using many guttur­
als, dentals and clicks, which the Zulus have used only in a 
small degree. 

The time that many of these tribes came from the eastward 
of the Thukela is traced only to a late period during the dis­
turbances of that country, where it is more than likely they 
were induced to follow their relatives who had left long before 
them, and had become separate tribes. The language of the 
frontier tribes is neither so expressive nor clear or soft as that 
.spoken by the Zulus, containing more gutturals than that 
,country. It invariably happens that things are called after 
,different names which I account for from the following cause. 
Children when born are named by their parents as fancy guides 
them, frequently derived from public occurrences which have 
taken place previously or at the time of birth. The friends of 
chiefs so named consider it disrespectful to make such common 
use of the name, so the thing's name is then changed. So many 
similar occurrences appear to make almost an entire change in 
the language. Similar inst ances are in the life of Shaka. 

The ceremony of circumcision, a custom so common among 
the Kaffir tribes, the necessity for which they assert is made 
obligatory, because their forefathers did it before them, was 
always attended to among the tribes east of the Thukela till 
the reigns of the latter kings Dingiswayo and Shaka, so that 
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only the oldest men among the Zulus, of which there are but a 
few, remain circumcised. Dingiswayo had omitted or deferred 
the custom till he should have completed his wars, which day 
never arrived. Shaka from the same motives also omitted it. 
The ideas they conceive of circumcision when performed pro­
claiming them as having arrived at manhood, till which they are 
only considered as boys, have induced me to attribute the real 
cause of the omission to the wishes of Shaka to appear as. 
young as possible. He was always disgusted at old age, of which 
the reader may in some way judge from his anxiety to possess 
the Macassar oil to eradicate the few grey hairs which appeared 
on his chin. Futhermore, his massacre of old men shows the 
same trait. 

HOME UTENSILS 

All pottery is made by the women, consisting of large and 
small pots for various uses. Those for milk or beer are glazed 
previous to baking them by rubbing them with glossy stones. 
Those used for cooking are of various sizes. Several used by 
Shaka's mother for boiling beer would contain 60 gallons each. 

l\fats are made by the females of almost every family, but 
baskets are the work of the men, and are of neat workmanship. 

There are a few Zulus and Mthethwas who understand 
the carving of wood, which was introduced by Dingiswayo, 
and the use of them is only with the Zulu King. 

The only articles so manufactured are milk bowls, head­
rests, pillows which are carved from solid blocks, having 
ornaments projecting, being carved in lines or marks which 
are burned with red hot irons, which chars them, making them 
handsome and durable. 

Spoons and milk-pails are in common use. They are of 
neat workmanship, and not so difficult to make as the former. 
They use no other t ool than an axe which they reverse in the 
handle by which it becomes an adze and an assegai crake at 
its mouth. 

BEER 

They make beer from four sorts of grain , a small part 
of which is first malted. The remainder is ground with water 
between stones. It is then put in boilers, with a proportionate 
quantity of water and allowed to simmer, when it is put into 
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coolers, and when cold the malted corn is ground dry, and 
mixed with it. In eight hours it ferments. It is then sifted 
through a sieve, made from wild date leaf plaited like leghorn 
hats, after which it remains an hour, by which time it regains 
its fermentation. The grains used for the purpose are Indian 
corn, Guinea corn, millet, and luphoko. The two latter are the 
best , being a most pleasant and wholesome beverage. Neither 
is fit to drink after two days by a European, but the natives 
will use it as long as the name beer may be applied to it. 

BLACKSMITHS 

The occupation of blacksmith is so general in every tribe of 
this part of Africa that he is as necessary to the kraal as our 
European smiths are to a small village, and before the country 
was destroyed by Shaka there was generally one to every three 
or four kraals .. 

At the present they are scarce, and as poor as others who 
have no employment, but that of mere subsistence, whereas 
the former smiths were men of opulence. The unsettled state 
that the country has been in, during the whole of Shaka's reign 
and since, has made them careless as to what they earn, their 
profits from industry never being safe from superior force. 

The articles manufactured by them are but few, viz., hoes, 
assegais, choppers, razors and needles. The business of copper­
smith is combined with that of the blacksmith in making brass 
beads as large as plums and brass rings for the neck and arms. 
The iron, which is now seldom or ever worked from the ore, is 
brought to the smith by the person wanting work done. It has 
been taken from the enemy or picked up at the old habitations, 
and only the work is paid for at an average of a heifer for ten 
hoes, two strings of beads that will encompass the waist for an 
assegai, and a string as long as a man's arms for a needle or a 
razor, which is generally combined. 

The working of brass is at an average of 50 or 60 balls or 
beads for a cow, and four strings of beads for a brass collar for 
the neck. The brass, as well as the iron, has been for the most 
part taken at different ·times from the enemy, but immense 
quantities are brought from Delagoa Bay by the natives. They 
-purchase it from the Portuguese for ivory and slaves, but how 
the brass originally found its way among these tribes is not 
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known by the oldest men living. It may, however, be concluded 
that it was procured from a number of wrecks on the coast, 
as we find that at the wreck of the Grosvenor the blacksmith 
remained on the spot, working iron and copper for the natives. 
The forge whereon he worked is as he left it , formed of heavy 
iron ballast laid on the ground, consisting of 13 pigs. 

It would appear, by the superior quality of the brass found 
in use, that some more valuable metal than zinc was used as an 
alloy with the copper. The country being so much depopulated 
put it out of the power of an enquirer to find out. It has thrown 
so much iron and brass among the few remaining people that 
they are not necessitated either to work iron from the ore or, 
if t here was an alloy used with their copper, ever now to have 
occasion for its use. It would appear strange that men of 50 
or 60 years of age, of whom Shaka has left a few, can give no 
information with respect to the mixing of any metal with the 
copper as an alloy. We seldom find any inquisitive enough to 
care for knowledge which does not appear for their benefit , 
although to a European at first sight they appear anxious to be 
improved. 

On my first arrival in this country I was so much surprised 
at the superiority of some of their rings that I purchased some 
quantities under the idea of their being gold. Mr. Farewell, 
under the same opinion, had it tried and it proved to be brass. 
Yet it induced us to believe that it was of a superior kind. In 
crossing several of the rivers, small particles of metal were to 
be seen amongst the sand as also amongst the mountains, of 
both of which Mr. Farewell procured several samples which he 
took with him t o the Colony, the result of which is not publicly 
known. In one instance I purchased a milk pot of clay which 
had so much of this metal that it appeared more like a pot 
bronzed intentionally, than accidentally. 

In another instance I purchased from a man residing on the 
Umzimkhulu River, two arm bangles of solid silver, for the 
value of four pence in beads, one of which I still have by me 
and the other Mr. Farewell took with him to the Cape, both 
proving to be the best silver. My inquiries from whence they 
came met with no further result than that they had been taken 
from a nation whom they had defeated three years back, inland 
from the Bloody River. Shaka, seeing one of them in my pos­
session, took it from me and kept it for six weeks. With great 
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difficulty I recovered it and by him I was informed that it was 
procured from a glittering white clay called usebanga which 
they used to besmear their faces on great days of dancing. 
Neither from him nor any other source have I been able to 
find out more concerning this metal. 

But to return to the bl_acksmiths. It will only be necessary 
to explain how they made their tools and of what they consist, 
viz., for an anvil they use a stone and in cases of another 
smith not being near at hand from whence they can get a 
hammer so as to manufacture other tools they want, they 
proceed first to make a hammer weighing 2 lbs., using in its 
place a round stone. Instead of pincers the bark of a thorn 
tree, and instead of a punch the head of a chopper, being 
pointed, makes a hole for the hammer handle .. The forge is 
formed by digging a hole in the ground and as a protector to 
the mouths of the bellows they form a tender of tempered clay. 

The bellows is plainly two square bags made of old worn­
out karosses of bullock's hide. A hole at the extreme corner of 
each, wherein is fastened a bullock's horn, forms the mouth. 
The upper parts of the bag are left open, with a stick sewn on 
each side, between which the forefinger of each hand in the 
separate bellows is played. The thumb and middle finger with­
hold the bellows which is worked by opening the mouth of each 
as they are drawn upwards from the ground and shutting them 
as they are pressed alternately down. Being smartly used, 
this throws out a sufficiently strong force of wind for welding 
iron, which they do moderately well. They have no idea of 
hardening iron, although it is generally very good. Their pin­
cers are made after the same manner as our own only roughly, 
as also their cold chisels which are not steeled (used for jagger­
ing assegais and cutting iron). 

The process of smelting the ore is, that when a sufficient 
quantity is collected, a ditch is dug one foot wide and three 
long, wherein it is thrown with the charcoal. The charcoal is 
usually found by the owner of the iron. Two pairs of bellows 
are used, one pair at each end, several men taking their turns 
at the bellows. When the iron melts into cakes it is beaten out 
by means of large st ones into more convenient pieces, as the 
work it is intended for may require. In the working of bra~s. 
they use sandstone crucibles, which are easily worked and 
attain a strong heat to form the beads or balls. Cowdung is 
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placed in a circle on an aloe leaf, in the centre of which is placed 
a splinter of wood to form the hole by which the beads are 
threaded . The melted brass is then poured in, which leaves 
them in a very rough state, but they are afterwards beaten 
with a hammer and brought to form . 

The rings are formed also by casting narrow pigs into cow­
dung and the anvil stone being of a soft gritty nature, there 
are carved half-circles for the balls to be beaten into, and chan­
nels to the shape required for the neck rings when beaten out, 
and they are rubbed on the stones instead of being filed and 
are polished by the use of cowdung. But the balls are not 
smoothed or polished, the owners liking the marks of the 
hammer to appear on them, that everyone who takes notice of 
them may see they are newly made articles. Thirty of a large 
size will procure a cow. The neck rings are in no demand, being 
used only by the ladies of the seraglio or such chiefs as the King 
may give them to. The arm bangles in the like manner are only 
used by the old dowager queens or great ladies of appointment. 

On forming any new forge the gall of cattle is poured round 
it. Lacking the gall, the juice of the aloe leaf is used, under 
the superstitious idea that success would fail their endeavours 
if not thus sprinkled. In welding, iron roots are placed on the 
iron with clay made from ant heaps. Without this, they sup­
pose the iron could not possibly be welded. 

TANNING AND DRESSING HIDES 

The manufacturing of hides for the various purposes for 
which they are used is performed by the men. They are dressed 
in the following manner; two forked sticks are driven into 
the ground, three feet high, on which is placed a ridge pole 
whereon the hide is placed, and pinned down with pegs on 
each side. Water being thrown on it, the man proceeds with 
an axe taken from its handle and scrapes from the flesh side 
till it is sufficiently thin for use. The hair is tben shaved dry 
from the outward side. A quantity of sour butter milk is then 
laid on the hide, with which it is rolled up and remains till 
nearly dry, being then rubbed by the hands till soft. Leaves 
of the prickly aloe are then used like a curry comb on the 
inside which produces a shag-like felt. It is then greased and 
rubbed over with the ashes of burnt grass and cut into petti-

T 
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coats (those for full dress having a tail hanging from each side 
three feet long and one foot broad). These last one or two 
years and sometimes more. The grease and ashes are frequently 
renewed and although they are filthy to the touch, their appear­
ance is neat and handsome. Some are used by the men like 
cloaks, in which case the hair is not taken from the hide nor 
are they blackened as the petticoats. 

Another article of dress which is worn by the newly married 
woman, or in cases of pregnancy over the breasts, is the skin 
of the riet buck. It is differently dressed as the particles 
shaved off are from the hair side, leaving the hair three inches 
broad on the two sides. The two hind feet being used to tie it 
up behind the two fore feet hang down below the knees, orna­
mented, as also is the neck, with large brass balls. The frag­
ments of the petticoat are used for the umutsha, either of men 
or girls. 

The payment for dressing a hide is from eight to ten strings 
of beads of about a yard, but there is no regular price either 
on articles or work. The prices differ according to the circum­
stances. The tribes bordering on the frontiers of the Cape 
Colony always preserve the shavings from the hide which they 
beat on stones with water till it is of a consistency like paste, 
then forming articles according to fancy in the shape of bottles, 
elephants, hippopotami, etc. Forming these with soft clay, 
they lay the paste over them, when dry it rises, and the inside 
being taken out leaves the paste, which becomes a durable 
snuff box, for which purpose they are generally used. 

lZINYANGA ZOKUBULA (DIVINERS) 

In attempting to give an account of the inyangas or sooth­
sayers is even more than I could presume to accomplish, being 
in itself so mysterious a profession and therefore shall only 
attempt to state such facts as come within my knowledge. 
This species of witchcraft is professed by men and women 
which appears not to be a choice, nor could it be accomplished 
by choice, but as they state, commences with a fit of sickness 
in which case, as is general with all sick, they kill a cow, 
praying a recovery from the spirits of their forefathers. They 
are then attacked with a delirium during which they dream 
dreams and run wild in the river or woods during which time 
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the spirits appear to them with a song composed for. his or her 
use which is the one sung by them on all occasions when 
called on. 

He or she then plucks some plants from the riverside, part 
of which is eaten and the rest tied about the neck when he 
recovers from the trance which with the first sickness has been 
brought on him by the spirits of his forefathers with the inten­
tion that he should follow the profession of inyanga. (Perhaps 
the meaning of the word means a person qualified. It certainly 
means skill above the ordinary, so that there are men of skill 
or inyangas in every occupation. If a person is employed by 
reason of his skill he is called an inyanga.) 

His neighbours, having quietly observed the past, have, 
during his absence from the kraal, hidden something unknown 
to him. On his return he is addressed with the same respect 
as is given to a chief, being Letha Mngane (we want your 
information). Having previously prepared his dress for the 
event, he then puts it on, differing in persons as fancy may 
dictate. Some, the blown entrails of a bullock tied round the 
neck and breast, on others immense numbers of gall bladders 
blown. Others, pieces _of hides about their necks, in fact almost 
each have their various dresses, as also songs. Being dressed, he 
proceeds by telling them to Vuma (agree with him) ~nd 
continues in the following manner, a cow, bead or brass bemg 
first paid in proportion to the importance of the case: 

A song is sung in which the inyanga alone dances to the 
tune, the party sitting in a half circle singing with him such as: 

Maye ! 5ayathakatha 5ona 
Eayavungama, eshe 

Eshiya, eshe, eshe, eshe, eshiya. 
This is repeated often. The interpretation is: 

Oh ! they are evil doers, they 
They growl, saying 

Eshiya, eshe eshe eshe eshiya. 
the latter line only being composed as a finish to the music. 

The inyanga then proceeds in imitation of the following 
harangue, during which he puts himself into such a ridiculous 
attitude as to strike a stranger with astonishment, such as 
imitating death in its last gasps. 
Inyanga: You are come to know who is sick ? 
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Party: (Clapping their hands to all he says or beating with a 
stick on the ground, answers) Siyavuma. 

Inyanga: No, you have lost beads. 
Party: Agree. 
I nyanga: You've come to ask news ? 
Party: Agree. 
Inyanga: No, you are not come to ask news. 
Party: Agree. 
I nyanga: You are come to ask news ? 
Party: Agree. . . 
I nyanga: You are come to ask after someone missmg ? 
Party: Agree. 
Inyanga: No, you are not. 
Party: Agree. 
I nyanga: You are come to ask who uses poisonous roots ? 
Party : Agree. 
Jnyanga: No, you want to know who has stolen your cow? 
Party: Agree. 
Jnyanga: No, you want to know who has caused the sickness? 

Now on the person sick ? 
Party: Agree, agree. 
Jnyanga: The person you apply for is poisoned. No, he is 

sick? 
Party: Agree. . . . 
Jnyanga: There is a person who has put poison m his food, 

and it remains in his breast ? 
Party: Agree. 
Inyanga: No, the man's sickness is caused by_ his ~ore!athers 

who are angry with him for allowmg his sister to 
wed without sufficient cattle being paid for her, 
and requests you will kill (such a) cow out of 
your flock, having such marks as a white tail 
and a white spot on the back. 

The party then leaves to inform the sick person of the 
inyanga's decision. The cow is then brought before the house 
of the sick, and one of the oldest men in the kraal, or nearest 
relations (the kaross being worn always on this occasion) pro­
ceeds to pray to the spirits of the forefathers for the recovery 
of the 'patient, as example: "We salute you. Here is meat. 
You ask for food. We are not aware what should so cause your 
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anger as to bring such sickness upon us. Here is meat. Eat it 
and let your patient recover." 

The cow or ox is then stabbed which frequently causes a 
bellow, this being considered a good omen produces general 
applause from the bystanders. Immediately the beast h~s 
fallen, it is so placed that the head points to the house wherem 
the sick person lies, in which position it is slaughtered. Each 
piece being carried into the house is wrapped up in the hide 
and left till the following day when it is then boiled and when 
cooked everyone present partakes of it. The bones, being 
collected together, are burnt to a cinder and the fore part of 
the skull with horns is placed above the door of the sick 
patient. Such a proceeding I can affirm from experience to 
have cured persons when despaired of by their friends and 
without the least aid of medicine. A plan I have practised 
repeatedly myself on persons violently attacked with dysentery, 
which convinced me of the truth of the old adage, that " conceit 
can kill and conceit can cure." 

But to return to the inyangas. They are applied to on most 
occasions of doubt, the fee being always first paid and their 
decisions generally relied on, although out of four cases if 
properly examined one only would be satisfactory. And this 
they might either guess or deduce from information received 
as to the person suspected. In cases of trial the party con­
cerned puts so strong an emphasis on anything the inyanga 
says that to them appears alluding to the case on which he is 
being consulted, that he is able by repeating every general 
occurrence that he can collect from his brain, and by observing 
where the emphasis is laid, to arrive at a correct solution. 

But what still holds their credit good is that there is no 
appeal by a person accused of a criminal act by an inyanga, his 
decision being final. The person accused is killed immediately 
and leaves no doubt as to guilt, and from the number cured by 
killing of cattle, induces the superstitious rr.mltitude to put 
faith in their decisions; nevertheless they are not respected in 
the light they might be supposed to be from their power, profit 
being their only gain. In a political view they are of service 
as they would not presume to ·attack the strong side, and gen­
erally only such as in their opinion displease the chief, with 
whom they reside and by whom they are paid. 

T 1 
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IZINYANGA ZOKWELAPHA (MEDICAL DOCTORS) 

The doctors of medicine are generally accompanied by their 
students who are taught the art gratis, their services being 
thought equivalent to what they learn. The greatest annoyance 
occasioned with the doctors is that almost every kind of sick­
ness has its separate doctor which occasions ·great delay, it 
seldom happening even when applied properly, that they 
trouble themselves to move before it is quite convenient. The 
different forms they have of giving medicine is purging, vomit­
ing, clysters, cupping and smelling. Were the above all that 
was used, it would perhaps be better for the patient, but the 
ignorance of the doctors induces them to keep their art in the 
dark as much as possible, and in consequence they mix with 
their good medicines a number of unnecessary roots to cause 
mystery and which can never do the patient much good. The 
unnecessary addition of these roots, so frequently used and in 
such irregular manner , would at once convince the sick of the 
imposition were they to observe it. In consequence, the sick, 
who might recover with those medicines properly applied, are 
retarded by unnecessary additions. 

As I have before mentioned the izinyanga are applied to in 
all cases of doubt. It will be necessary to explain such circum­
stances, as, from the superstitions of the natives, they are led 
to put belief in. As a dream or parable requires an interpreta­
tion, so numerous are their superstitions that few of them are 
aware as to what they really are. The most serious crime that 
is committed, in their idea, is that of keeping a cat for the 
purpose of destroying or causing sickness among their neigh­
bours. This cat (which is the red wild cat of Africa, and is 
well known among the Dutch farmers) is supposed to be kept 
closely confined in secret by persons wilfully inclined. 

Merely by ordering it to cause sickness, to kill individuals 
or cattle, is sure to be effected by the cat being taken to the 
house. It will scratch the person it is sent to. In two or three 
instances I have seen a bald place on people's heads not larger 
than a sixpence, apparently shaved, which is said to be the 
cat's doings, taking away the hair to its proprietor who mixes 
it with roots, after which nothing, in their opinion, can save 
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the life of the scratched person. Leopards are also supposed to 
be kept in like manner and for the same purpose. 

During my residence in this country I have seen several of 
the cats and leopards caught, which by their account must be­
long to someone, as there are marks put on by their respective 
owners which appear plain enough, some having notches in 
the ears or tail. But the real fact, when argued with them by 
a European, has no effect, for they will not believe that such 
marks could be produced by fighting with others of their 
species. Owls in like manner, when found screeching on the 
fence of the kraal are considered as messengers sent by some 
malicious person for their destruction. Dogs will also sometimes 
climb on the top of their straw huts and although it may per­
haps belong to the owner of the hut still it must, in their opinion, 
have been induced to climb by malicious persons. Too numer­
ous are such occurrences to relate. They are attended with 
the consequences of a visit to the inyanga, who is sure to point 
out some object for death. And although the person pointed 
out may be under the jurisdiction of the chief or applicant, 
yet he is generally given up to prevent slander, which would 
be the case were he not given up. 

In case of sickness, application is always made to the 
inyanga, who has various ways of deciding, but it is very 
seldom that he tells the real truth by merely saying it is sick­
ness. Such an answer would make his abilities look too simple. 
He, therefore, to make himself more important, tells them to 
kill a cow as an offering to their forefathers, the gall of which 
is to be sprinkled over the patient 's body and the gall bladder 
being slit at the end, is drawn on the arm, lined inside with 
the caul of the bullock. Various good omens there are also 
which require the inyanga's interference, such as swarm of 
bees flying over the kraal; a long green snake remaining for 
several days on the kraal fence; dreams being decided good or 
bad omens, as the inyanga may think fit. 

A partridge rising. in front of the army is a good omen, and 
a comet appearing about the time of any intended attack on 
an enemy, decides their movements. Should the comet, on 
its disappearing, point from the enemy to the attacking party, 
they will not attempt to fight, but should the comet take a 
contrary course, their fate will be favourably decided. 

I 
I I 
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The son or daughter of an inyanga or soothsayer cannot 
follow the profession of its sire or mother, but the grandchild 
may and it is strange that this is not only observed by the 
Kaffirs, but I have seen it in general. The son of an inyanga has 
some deformity as squinting, shaking of the head, etc. In cases 
of sickness, when the application is made to the inyanga, he 
recommends them to the medical inyanga; every complaint 
being a separate profession. The applicant then proceeds with 
his string of beads or a small brass ring which he gives him 
only to call his attendance, in which they are very dilatory, 
For, although the case may require his immediate attendance, 
he will perhaps not stir till the next day, and never visits the 
patient for two or three hours after he is called, as he requires 
that time to collect his roots, which are picked fresh every 
visit . He then digs such roots as the nature of the case requires, 
and, accompanied by his student, he attends the patient. 

Worms, which are very common in the country, both with 
young and old, they have a most excellent medicine for, called 
inkomankoma, one dose of which will extirpate the tapeworm 
and a second dose entirely clear the stomach from any of their 
remains. Every European that has lived in Natal has been 
troubled with them and has experienced the good effects of 
inkomankoma. The worm called tenes or the long round worm, 
although not so common as the tapeworm, attacks the patient 
in such a violent manner as to cause a stoppage of speech for 
several hours and to cause an appearance almost of death. For 
such worms a different root is used with equally good effect. 

The form of an emetic is such that, to a European stomach, 
one could dispense with the emetic itself, since what is done 
at the end would be sufficient to produce the desired effect. The 
roots, being bruised on a stone, are boiled in two quarts of water 
and drunk lukewarm, the patient being directed to put his two 
fingers or a long feather as far down his throat as possible. I 
have seen Shaka, who had emetics almost as frequently as his 
meals, throw up as much slime, day after day, as would fill a 
quart pot, and immediately afterwards eat a good dinner of 
beef with as good an appetite as if he had taken no emetic. 

The quantity of slime has so surprised me, and happened 
so repeatedly, that I have thought it must have been the emetic 
itself passing through some change in the body. For to me it 
appeared impossible that such foul property could live in the 
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body of a man in perfect health. It was not taken from neces­
sity of sickness, but with the idea of throwing up any poisonous 
properties remaining in his breast, which from his situation, 
he was hourly impressed with the idea would be given to him. 

In fever or headache the patient is made to smell burnt 
roots while they are smoking, in some cases a powder is used 
like snuff which so sets the patient asneezing that an antidote 
is always at hand to stop it. Their plan of cupping is by means 
of a bullock horn tip, about four inches long, open at each end. 
The larger end is placed on the spot, which is lanced with one 
of their razors. The inyanga then draws with his mouth till 
he has taken. a sufficient quantity. Cupping is used in cases of 
rheumatism, swellings or local pains. From the state the 
country has been in for this last 12 years there are few either 
men or women who have not scars on their heads, some of a 
surprising size where the skull has been much fractured, leaving 
after its cure a cavity sufficient to hold a gill of water. It 
sometimes happens that such wounds occasion pain in the 
head years after the wound is healed, which in their opinion is 
from the remaining matter under the wound, in which case 
the wound is opened to the bone crossways with an assegai. 
In opening a vein the skin is cut across the vein, a hooked 
thorn is then used to hold up the vein which they cut with 
their razor, bleeding a swelling or local pain. 

Another case where I have known them to make a perfect 
cure is that of rupture in the testicles. They open them 
with the point of the assegai, the patient being seated in a 
running stream, the parts alternately pressed which draws out 
quantities of green foul matter. A plant whose properties are 
that of collecting foul matter into a moss, is then put into the 
incision and remains for two days, during which it is constantly 
running, and the former operation is repeated in the water, 
which takes the swelling down and I have known it produce 
a perfect cure. 

The most prevalent sickness in the country is the dysentery 
which comes on with the hot easterly winds in the months of 
August and September. Rheumatic pains are very common, 
occasioned by excessive exercise in dancing accompanied with 
singing. The least cold striking their persons during the per­
spiration, leaves them with rheumatic pains and sometimes 
causes fevers. The climate in itself is equal, if not superior to 
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that of any other part of this coast as far as Natal is concerned. 
Doctors to Kings are of two kinds, both different professions 

to those who attend on the community, the one professing to 
provide antidotes against all sickness or poisonous attempts 
on the person of His Majesty, while the other professes to 
prevent any enemy subduing him or his nation. The former 
attends the King every morning about ten or eleven o'clock, 
when he provides him with a solution or wash which by having a 
stick slit at the one end turned smartly by the hand produces 
a soap lather with which the King washes himself. 

The doctors also provide him with an antidote which the 
King places on his tongue before each meal and by the doctors' 
account prevents poison taking effect. The doctor professing 
to prevent any enemy subduing him or his nation attends on 
any intended attack and with many superstitious proceedings 
gives numerous roots. One in particular is chewed and, point­
ing with the finger, the remains are thrown out in the direction 
the enemy is. However these particulars being kept in secret, 
prevents my giving a fuller account of the proceedings. Only 
the party subdued allows the subduer to possess a doctor with 
better medicines than himself. 

It would appear that their doctors as well as the sooth­
sayers were men of wisdom in the opinion of the nation, yet 
they are not in any way more respected or thought of than 
the commoners. · 

There are other doctors who attend on the King for the 
purpose of dispelling thunder or causing rain, and the wonder­
ful tales they tell of torrential rain being produced by these 
·.inyangas are sufficient to make illiterat e persons believe it as 
:a fact, although, as I have said before, the people in general 
are more enlightened than formerly from experience (not from 
connections with Europeans, as they have seen but few) and 
do not put so much faith as formerly in the inyanga's fabri­
cations. 

lzINYANGA Z EMVULA (RAIN DOCTORS) 

Among the pretenders to superior skill and power are those 
t ermed izinyanga zemvula or Rain Doctors, who are employed 
only by Kings. They are supposed to possess the power of 
producing rain to any extent or preventing it and of controlling 
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thunder and lightning as it may please the King to command. 
This gift is hereditary, being communicated from father to son. 

During a dry season the King, anxious for rain, sends to 
the inyanga, who names the kind of animal necessary to be 
sacrificed on that occasion to the spirit, with prayer for what 
is desired. A cow with a black belly and white belly and a 
brown face, as their invention may dictate, being produced after 
a long search, is killed and eaten. Should this fail in producing 
rain, the spirit has appeared in the interval and demanded a 
sheep with a black face, and should this also fail, an animal of 
a different colour is required, or perhaps similar to the first, 
turning his head when killed to the gate of the kraal instead 
of the upper end, which possibly caused the failure. During 
the time consumed by the ceremonies it perhaps rains, which 
is ascribed to their powers. 

Dingane a short time back had ordered rain to be made, 
but in vain. After producing the various descriptions of cattle 
and animals required till his patience was exhausted, another 
application was made for an ox which he supplied, but on 
second thoughts retained, asking the chiefs if it would not be 
better that the inyangas should attend, and in consequence of 
the seriously dry season assist the offering by singing the war 
song by which the sacrifice would be of a more solemn kind. 
This agreed to, the inyangas came, to whom the ox was given. 
While in the act of offering, the King joined them in the 
soldierly singing of the war whoop, at the end of which he made 
the signal for their deaths, desiring them to go and ask the 
spirit why no attention was paid to his orders. Those present 
were all killed. 

Shaka placed little or no belief in them, but dreaded thun­
der, in which case he was surrounded and covered by his girls 
till the storm was over. 

THE MILITARY SYSTEM 

Villages or, as they are termed, kraals are of two kinds, 
those of the King being used as barracks for the several regi­
ments, at which the nation collects on requisite occasions. 

Each regiment is divided into battalions, each having two 
or three captains, over which there is a general who has the 
entire management. He is responsible for the cattle and the 
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conduct of the soldiers committed to his charge, receiving his 
orders from the King, who is despotic. Nevertheless the gen­
erals, on most important occasions are collected together to 
discuss the joint questions. Such meetings are merely nominal, 
as no chief would dare to propose anything in opposition to 
the King, as such conduct would be detrimental to his future 
safety. To each of these kraals are attached three or more 
matrons or dowager queens, who have equal power with the 
general in taking away the lives of those under them. The 
people under their immediate care are the females of the King's 
seraglio, they being formed into regiments in the same way as 
the men , only not for the same purpose. 

Each kraal is supported by the King's cattle, these being 
in the same manner formed into regiments, assorted to each 
regiment agreeing with the colour of the shields worn by them. 
When the cattle arrive from an enemy, they are assorted and 
sent to their respective regiments. At such a time each indi­
vidual drives away one or two, or as many as he can in the 
general scramble. This entitles him to their milk which is for 
his support while he remains with the regiment. Sometimes 
they are allowed to take these cattle to their private kraals . 
In such case they may be called together at a moment's notice 
to be given to individuals or to be slaughtered without the 
knowledge of the possessor, the milk being the only remuner­
ation for their services during their lives. The whole of the 
cattle taken in war are the sole property of the King, who 
gives away tens, fifties or hundreds to chiefs, favourites and 
private servants. The common soldiers have little or no 
expectations of such favours. 

Their war trappings are mostly provided by the King, each 
regiment being differently accoutred, the lightest coloured 
shields belonging to the men and the darkest to the young lads. 
The dress worn by the men is a turban of otter skin round the 
forehead, stuffed with bull-rush seed or dry cowdung. In front 
stands a feather nearly three feet in length, which is obtained 
from the gigantic Kaffir crane. From the turban, hanging 
down the cheeks, are two pieces of monkey skin, and in the 
upper parts, are bunches of feathers, having been stripped of 
the quills, which makes them light, neat and airy. Round the 
neck is hung a necklace of pieces of wood which are worn as 
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medals of bra very. One is added for every one they kill in 
battle till there is no room left . 

Round the arms and legs are ox and cow's tails; across the 
breast are two cords to which is suspended the skin of the 
genet and monkey cut into strips about six inches long and 
half an inch broad, which are so neatly twisted that a stranger 
without untwisting it would be assured that they were the 
tails as cut from the body, merely the bone having been taken 
out. The umcubulu or dress worn round the waist, is made in 
the same manner, only so long as to reach within an inch of 
the knee. They generally contain from 15 to 20 skins in a dress, 
sometimes 50 or 60, putting an astonishing value on them, 
which, if it is ever offered, will not induce one to part with it. 
The warlike a,ppearance of a man in his. full dress, certainly 
exceeds anything of the kind that any savage tribes wear in 
South Eastern Africa. On Shaka coming to the throne, he 
compelled the old superannuated chiefs to wear a petticoat 
similar in shape to those worn by women, only that they were 
made of monkey skins with the fur left on. The shields are 
cut nearly in an oval shape, strips of a contrary colour being 
laced up and down, which makes a finish to the shield. There 
are a handle and a vacancy for the shield stick, at the top of 
which is the tail of a genet neatly sewn round. One ox-hide 
only produces two shields, as they are supposed to reach from 
the feet to the chin in length and nearly twice the body's 
breadth. One of the regiments of boys wear hats which Shaka 
introduced from seeing me wear a Malay hat. Their shields 
are black, and round the waist is a band of hide behind, as Mr. 
Thompson says, the girdle of hunger, for the purpose of slack­
ening or tightening as hunger may require, to which is attached 
a piece of hide as ornament . Various are the dresses, some 
having their heads covered with feathers, others with pieces 
of ox-hide, all being inferior to the above full dress. 

Their manner of attack, in which they generally follow the 
track of the spies, is to take the enemy by surprise if possible. 
A regiment being, previous to leaving home, pointed out for 
attack volleys down, spear in hand, on the enemy, shielding off 
the showers of thrown assegais from the enemy as well as they 
can. Always they come to close quarters, which prevents the 
enemy from making use of their weapons, not being acquainted 
with any other method than that of throwing. From so repeat-
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edly conquering in their attacks, they have become daring, 
though not brave, as I firmly believe that one repulse would so 
completely throw them back as to dispossess them of their 
remaining courage. 

Private kraals belong to individuals who, having sufficient 
cattle, are sure of getting sufficient people to establish a kraal 
either from the regiment or stragglers in distress. Those 
belonging to regiments are obliged to attend, whenever called 
on, to their respective divisions. Every chief of a kraal possesses 
despotic power in his kraal, only that he must not presu~e to 
imitate the King in any plans he may adopt, under pam of 
death. In fact the people in his kraals are slaves at his command 
whom he can drive away or kill as his caprice may lead him. 
Although on important occasions the people are collected to 
give their voice, it is, as with the King and. chie~s, merely 
nominal, as their whole welfare depends on him with whom 
they reside. 

They are supported by the loan of his cattle to milk, only 
planting their own fields of com. The cattle are herded by one 
or more boys as the number may require, which they take to 
grass at daylight, bringing them home to milk about ten or 
eleven o'clock. When milked they return to grass and are 
brought home an hour before sunset'. vyhen they are again 
milked. The cattle altogether are qmet and tractable, more 
particularly so than those of the Cape Colony, and are never 
tied up to milk. In cases of their being wild, a hole is bored 
through the nose in which a cord is put through and fastened 
round the horns, and while being milked a stick is put in the 
cord which by twisting round holds the ~ow on the spot. 

The calves frequently die . They have a plan of skinning 
the dead calf, through which they place a three- or four-pronged 
stick, stuffing it up with straw, forming the most rude shape of 
a calf imaginable, but they succeed with it very well, as imme­
diately the cow sees the stuffed skin, which it will lick, it gives 
down its milk. The calves, till they leave their mothers, are 
kept in the house with the men. 

TABOOS R EGARDING MILK 

Various superstitions have arisen from time to time from 
the death of calves and in consequence laws have been estab-
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lished to save them but all without effect. Young married 
women are not allowed to pass either through the cattle or in 
the circumference where the cattle stand till they have, by 
public consent of the men, sprinkled certain ~oots over the 
cattle. Neither are they allowed to eat of the milk perhaps for 
six, nine, or 12 months after marriage. Females, young and 
old, during their monthly evacuations are not allowed to _eat 
milk for seven days. Young girls, after the first evacuat10n, 
not for three or four months. Women whose husbands or 
children have died are prohibited for 12 months. Instead of 
deriving pity for the loss of his offspring, a man ~as a slig~t 
stain on his character. In a quarrel he will be remmded of it, 
and were he to be known to have connection with a female 
during her evacuation it would cause a blast on his char~cter. 
Men who have killed the enemy in battle cannot eat of milk or 
any other food till first having eaten roots which they must 
obtain from the doctors at their own expense. Neither can a 
man be connected with his own wives after killing criminals or 
enemies till he has had connection with some strange female. 
otherwise his wives would take sick. 

Males having sweethearts are not allowed to eat milk in 
the kraal to which the female belongs, and a case is seldom 
ever known of those laws being broken. Sweet milk is never 
drunk by children. The milk being poured into calabashes is. 
left till the whey separates from the curds. The whey is given 
to young boys or girls and the curds mixed with crumbled 
bread is eat en by people grown up. They always prefer to go­
without several days rather than touch the milk before the 
whey is separated or the calabash is full. 

METHOD OF SLAUGHTERING CATTLE 

The manner of killing cattle is by sticking them in the left 
side with an assegai about three inches from the shoulder and 
four from the back. It is generally dexterously done and proves. 
instant death, but it sometimes happens that they require to be 
stabbed three or four times before the operation takes effect. 
The assegai must not be used in eating the beef as it will_ c~use 
pains in the stomach. The hide is then skinned off. The izinso­
nyama, as they call them, are the meat taken off the ribs from 
the loins to the shoulder, and from three inches of the brisket 
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to the backbone. Then the shoulders are taken off, the legs 
being taken off at the joint. The brisket with the belly is next 
carved, then the entrails are taken out and the blood collected 
in pots. The ribs are next ·chopped off, then the hip bones, 
and lastly the head and neck. The izinsonyama of the cow, if 
belonging to a commoner, are sent to the chief. In failure to do 
so he loses his whole drove and perhaps his life. He is liable too 
if it is smaller than it ought to be. If the cow belongs to a 
chief or anybody, after the izinsonyama are t aken away, the 
heart and lights are the perquisite of the herd. The head (if 
the cow is given to a stranger to kill or to a visitor) is the 
perquisite of the people of the kraal wherefrom the cow .is 
given. The backbone is the perquisite of the slaughterer. The 
gall blader is placed on the arm of the proprietor of the cow, 
whereon it remains till it is rotten. The small stomach is eaten 
raw by the women. The white entrails containing the chyle is 
a dainty which (without washing as that would spoil it) is 
generally eaten by the proprietor with any other part that may 
suit his palate. The remainder is generally boiled the following 
day and eaten by all present. The harder meat from the loins is 
,chopped up fine and boiled with a quantity of suet, which 
when done, the soup is taken from it and the blood is thrown 
in and boiled with the meat, which forms one of their most 
dainty dishes. The fundamental entrail is generally included 
in this mixture. After they have eaten, some having been 
given to the women, they stand up and return thanks to the 
chief, if the cow was killed by him, otherwise no thanks are 
returned. 

Their manner of cooking is stewing and roasting. The meat 
is stewed in clay pots, some will contain 15 gallons. Each pot 
is always covered with another. Very little water being used 
and a splash of cowdung is smeared round the pot to prevent 
the steam escaping. They sometimes roast their meat on sticks 
,over the fire, but most generally cut the meat into about yard 
lengths and an inch thick which they roast on the coals, using 
as a general dish a mat which is called isithefie, being used for 
meat only. There is a separate one used to receive the corn as 
it falls from the stone when ground. Pots as well as other 
house utensils are cleaned either by the dog's tongue or by 
·cockroaches. As to the latter, scullions may laugh if they will, 
but experience has shown me that no common cleansing would 
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be sufficient to clean such utensils. They are obliged to invent 
from necessity, as well as the cockroaches, which scour every 
particle of dirt remaining on them. In fact I have known 
cockroaches to be collected in a calabash and carried to kraals 
in want of them, as scullions. They are not above a fourth 
the size of the common cockroach. 

ORGANIZATION OF KRAALS 

Kraals contain from ten to 100 houses according to the 
quality of the proprietor. Some having from ten to 20 kraals 
to each, in which they appoint a captain, whq is responsible 
for seeing the order obeyed from the chief, whose work, such 
as building the kraal or house, is done by people. Once a year 
people are collected together for the purpose of digging a field 
of corn for the chief. The kraals are built circular, being formed 
by two fences, one circle within the other. The inner one is for 
the cattle and the outer one encloses the huts which surround 
the cattle kraal and defend the cattle from being plundered 
without the knowledge of their proprietors. In one case, how­
ever, it is attended with dangerous consequences, as it enables 
the party who may attack them to surround the kraal and 
prevent the inhabitants' escape, the gateways being also 
stopped up. Such cases frequently happen, not from enemies 
but parties sent from the King. 

A chief having erred, the whole kraal of men, women and 
children are put to death, but if ·t be an individual the chief is 
ordered by the King to put him to death . Whenever a chief 
is attacked it is generally at break of day, for which the attack­
ing party is always eagerly waiting, as the property plundered 
becomes theirs, excepting cattle. Sometimes they spare the 
young girls, but the principal wife is always looked after, she 
being supposed to be privy to all her husband's conduct and, 
with the people of the kraal, ought to have objected to his 
faults . But such an idea, if it is an idea, can never be attended 
with the required result, as informers obtain little or no en­
couragement. 

u 
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HUT BUILDING 

The kraals, as I have before described, are one circle within 
another, the inner one protecting the cattle; the outer one 
the huts. The common way of making their kraals is merely 
bushes piled up to form two circles, but there is another plan 
of a superior sort which forms a most excellent fence and lasts 
three or four years. 

The manner of building huts, which are circular and about 
12 or 18 feet in diameter, is as follows: They are formed of 
long thin stakes, pointed at one end, and fixed in the ground 
forming a circle, the other ends being bent over form an arch 
and are tied together with rushes. Cross poles are then tied 
together with rushes. Cross poles are then tied to the top 
inside; two pillars of wood then placed along the centre line 
of the hut, which by being put under the cross pieces, support 
the otherwise weak roof. The thatch is never more than two 
feet high above this, and over it is laid a thin coat of grass, 
gathered into a top knot at the centre, resembling that worn 
by the women. Small twigs of about a foot long, pointed at 
each end, are bowed into the thatch in regular circles about 
four inches apart; each circle is so formed as to appear like a 
twisted rope of twigs. 

Huts thus built are secure from the severest weather and 
have a remarkably neat appearance, resembling as much as 
possible the bee hives used in Europe, the door being in the 
same proportion. The principal people in the nation pride 
themselves in the closeness of the laying of the sticks, so that 
the handles of their spoons will not pass through them . When 
thus finished they form a most neat piece of basket work. 

The ground being levelled inside, the earth from ant heaps 
is collected and ground down with cowdung, which is damped 
and laid an inch thick on the levelled earth. The women, each 
with a mat (the same as they eat their meat on) in the one 
hand and a stone in the other, proceed to beat it down. About 
a foot from each pillar, the centre pointing exactly towards 
the door, is formed a fireplace, by raising the earth about four 
inches into an oval of three or four feet, which when beaten is 
as sound as a brick. 
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Such being the fireplace without a chimney, the smoke 
rises, leaving only a foot of clear air, in which its inhabitants 
lie down and breathe. Huts are better ventilated than one 
might imagine, air entering and passing out through the door 
and also quite easily through the thatch. 

The earthen floor, after becoming dry, is rubbed hard with 
'smooth stones, and frequently washed with cowdung and water, 
which keeps the house remarkably cool and far from being 
unpleasant in smell. Some huts, after washing with cowdung, 
are greased with suet, which, being rubbed in with a stone, 
polishes it like a looking glass, and causes the floor to be of a 
shiny black. 

The doors are made of wickerwork slats, which are slipped 
in between two small posts about two inches from the doorway 
and fastened above by a stick in the framework. On the right­
hand side, going into the hut, is tied up the firewood. A cala­
bash of water, several calabashes of milk, a milk pail, several 
milk pots, beer pots, spoons and baskets, mats to eat off, stones 
for grinding corn, stones for grinding snuff, with a few mats and 
pillows, are the whole furniture of a native hut. 

Milk pails are solid pieces of wood about 18 inches long and 
four inches in diameter, which is scooped out with no other 
tools than an axe and a crooked assegai. Although the entrance 
at the mouth is so small as not to admit a man's hand, by 
means of the crooked assegai they scoop it out clean to within 
three inches of the bottom, and it is finished off in a workman­
like form. 

When milking, a man sits on his hams, holding the pail 
between his knees, and when full , pours the milk into a cala­
bash. There are always separate small calabashes for the 
children. 

DRESS AND P E RSONAL HABITS 

There is perhaps, in the whole world, no people who are 
more capable by custom to bodily cleanliness than the Zulus. 
They have aversion to anything that will in any way harbour 
filth, which makes them avert also anything incumbersome [sic]. 
This may be easily imagined by their almost nudity of person. 
In stature they are of middle size, there being none over tall 
and none remarkably short . Their men are of a warlike kind, 
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perhaps owing to the peculiar fashion in which they ornament 
their heads, the hair of which is never allowed to grow above a 
quarter of an inch and seldom if ever half an inch, exclusive of 
the King's, which is allowed to grow to one inch, when a new 
head ring is always sewn on. No man throughout the Zulu 
nation is excluded from this national fashion of the head ring, 
the deficiency of which would be disgraceful to the person. 
It is generally oval or according to the shape of the head, 
originating from the front above the forehead to the crown, 
being about three inches long and four broad. 

The hair being only a quarter of an inch long, through 
which the ring is sewn by men who hold it as a profession and 
for which they receive a trifle in payment. 

It is performed by seven or eight long strips of the sennet 
leaf about an eighth of an inch broad, tied into a circle, the 
head being cleanly shaved, leaving the hair only on which the 
ring is to be sewn. A thread is then twisted of the sinews of 
an ox, with which the circle of sennet is bound round, drawing 
the threads close together. It is then placed on the head with 
an iron, horn or bone needle, which is threaded, taking every 
other thread which has encircled the sennet , and stitching it 
with the clove knot, drawing the flesh up in regular puckers, 
which a stranger would be induced to believe was occasioned 
from some strange fracture or deformity. It wears off in a day 
or so. Some beeswax or a similar production, formed by in­
sects, and which they obtain from a tree, is drawn out 
(having first been blackened with charcoal) and encompasses 
the ring, giving it a neat finish. On this last addition is a soft 
kind of wax. The sun has the effect of destroying it. Such 
being the composition of the ring, it only requires smoothing 
every day or two, the head being shaved every three or four. 

About this ring are worn feathers of birds taken from the 
quill and tied in neat bunches, having a very pretty effect. 
The hair is not only shaved from their heads, but it would 
appear that they have a particular aversion to it in any way, 
as from under the armpits and the lower part of the stomach 
they pick it out , as it appears, by the roots with their fingers. 
Till the hair on the head requires shaving (it being rarely that 
they do not wash in the river daily) they wash the head with 
clay, which when washed off leaves ridges, the clay having 
entangled the hair together, that being considered the height 

AD D IT I O N AL N OT E S O N H I ST O RY , ET C . 293 

of fashion . Generally before washing in the river, meat is 
pounded on a stone, or milk or bread or clay is first used to rub 
the clay off. 

A most remarkable feature of the Zulus is the ears, which 
are cut about the age of 10 or 13 to admit earrings of carved 
wood of an inch in diameter. In several instances, but one in 
particular, there was a man belonging to a nation westward 
of Natal, who always wore larger ones than those to the east­
ward, whose ears touched his shoulders. It would admit into 
tlie earhole a quart pot with the greatest of ease, from con­
stantly stretching with larger earrings. This man has not long 
since entered my service, and in consequence of being laughed 
at as the fashion is not so extended here, he has the greater 
p;rt cut away and the two remaining ends joined together. 

Round the neck they wear a few beads, and on days of 
dancing two large necklaces across the breast from the shoul­
ders to below the knee and a thick quantity round the waist. 
On thei r penis is worn a small cap which is made of prepared ox­
hide. They measure by the thickness of their thumb. To a 
waist belt is attached several strips of fur or prepared skins, 
which being brought up to the lower part of the stomach is 
attached to a cord, encompassing the waist, whereto is fastened 
P.ither furs or dressed parts. 

It frequently does not cover one part of the buttocks, but 
as long as anything in the name of urnutsha is worn on the 
buttocks and the cap remains in place they are in full dress. 
But should the latter be off it is considered as the extreme of 
indecency, and would be scouted as much by their countrymen 
as a woman in London without her shift. So much does custom 
determine matters that a man thus dressed, washed and slightly 
greased is in full dress. As to greasing, it is as necessary t o a 
naked person as washing is t o one that dresses. It keeps the 
skin pliant in opposition to a hot sun and sharp winds, and 
without it a Zulu looks as if he had been rolled in wood ashes. 
Dressed hides are sometimes worn by old men, but seldom or 
ever by the young and healthy, although they like European 
doth as blankets. 

· Women differ widely from the men in their headdress, by 
shaving all except a top knot of an oval shape on the crown of 
the head, about four inches long and three broad, the length of 
the oval crossing the head. This is greased and clotted with 

u l 
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red ochre clay, being trim and in the form of peppercorns. The 
ears of the women are cut the same as the men and beads 
worn in the same manner except that the women wear a few 
round the forehead, ankles and arms. Round from the hips 
they wear a petticoat, as before described, only reaching to 
the knees. They are equally particular with the men in washing 
and cleaning their heads with clay as also in shaving and 
plucking hair from all parts of the body where it appears, 
failure of such being disgusting to the husband. The only 
difference between grown-up people and young is that boy;; 
and girls only differ in their headdress, by not shaving, but 
merely greasing their heads and shaping the knots to pepper­
corns. They use scents of an agreeable smell, much like the 
Tonquin bean, to scatter on the top. The boys' dress is the 
same as the men. The girls wear a fringe round the middle, 
seldom deeper than three inches and frequently not so much. 
Custom t eaches them to be as modest as this trifling shelter 
will allow them, as an unobserved curiosity could seldom be 
satisfied. 

It is the custom of Zulus which originated from the Qwa6es 
to tattoo the body. The operation is performed by the use of 
a Kaffir needle, the point being covered for the purpose, by 
which the skin is held up while it is cut moderately deep with 
a razor, having been first marked with red clay, representing 
the figure as fancy dictates. The number of cuts is from 200 to 
300, which cause an effusion of blood, which they bear with a 
surprising degree of patience. On its healing, it is perceptible 
by its having risen above the other parts. 

To speak of the character of the females in general, I could 
not say they were immodest. Readers may say I either contra­
dict myself or do not know the meaning of the word, but, in 
their ideas of modesty the Zulus exceed all Europeans could 
imagine. It seldom or ever happens, I believe, that uncivilised 
nations will not prostitute themselves for gain, but here is 
seldom or ever such a thing known. Notwithstanding the 
great plurality of women which fall to the lot of man, his 
happiness is seldom or ever troubled by his mat being defiled. 
The crime of adultery is seldom heard of. This is no doubt 
occasioned from custom and from fear of death, as neither man 
nor woman would escape if found out. The probability is in 
favour of the husband. Even suspicion is sufficient to authorise 
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the husband to punish with death. J ealousy, therefore, never 
troubles their brain. 

. EXTERNAL INTERCOURSE (UKUHLOBONGA) 

Another species of connection which is known in this 
country, and I believe in no other, which goes by the name of 
ukuhlooonga, is very common. There being no house of ill fame 
throughout the nation, and no possibility of satis~yin? such 
claims, some course of satisfaction must follow which is that 
of ukuhlofionga. Unmarried girls are considered nearly in the 
same light with Europeans. If found pregnant before marriage 
th'ey are, in general, discarded by their parents. 

For the same reason the Zulu can no longer demand pay­
ment for his daughter which proves she is not virtuous. The 
custom, which can only account for strange things, is that a 
party of girls without distinction are always waiting for sweet­
hearts. They may come from all parts of the country, from 
different kraals, and wherever they arrive ask permission from 
the chief of the kraal to hlooonga, which is generally granted. 
The girls being informed of their arrival, collect together, a?d 
stand at the upper end of the kraal, planting a post opposite 
them. Then the men by turns dance singly towards the post, 
and if agreeable to any girl she dances out to meet him. Failure 
of a girl to dance out shows he is objected to, which produces 
laughter on the man. This plan is repeated as often as strangers 
make their appearance, so that one girl may have 100 sweet­
hearts as also a man the same. The man then gives a string of 
beads ' to his sweetheart, and courtship commences, but in a 
kind of understood browbeating from both parties with hot ' 
arguments; all however, properly understood. With night 
coming on the language is not so violent. According to custom 
only ukuhloEonga is allowed. It is merely satisfying the ideas 
by following the act of cohabitation on the outward parts of 
the girl between the limbs. Anything beyond is not only 
dangerous to the girl's reputation, but the man will consider 
her as a designing wench who wishes to credit him with some 
other man's child or, under the shadow of love, to marry him. 
Should, however, the man commit rape, the father may always 
demand a cow from such intercourse. 
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MARRIAGE CEREMONIES 

Marriages are frequently arranged. It sometimes happens 
otherwise by girls falling in love and running away from their 
parents, on which they follow and demand cattle. It sometimes 
happens that the match is made up by the intended husband 
and the father of the girl. In either case, the girl, accompanied 
by her female companions, proceeds to the kraal where they 
stand at the upper end, waiting the invitation of the intended 
husband's mother or principal wife. She gives beads to the 
bride, conducting her into the house, where a mat is placed for 
them to sit on, beads being again given a third time before 
they will eat. A day is then appointed for the wedding, until 
when the bride and her party remain under a bush at a distance 
from the kraal, to which she comes only to sleep. According to 
the situation of the husband, so are the neighbours invited by 
numbers. When the wedding day arrives, the friends invited 
arrive generally driving oxen before them as part of the cere­
mony. A half-circle is formed by the men, the women standing 
opposite. Dancing and singing commences of different kinds 
to the tune and meaning of the songs. So are the attitudes 
with feet and hands of the men, which they perform in a 
surprisingly able manner. The songs are of two kinds, the one 
being a dancing song. The girls merely follow the attitudes of 
the men, keeping the same time in music. The others are in two 
parts when the women only, clap their hands to the time sung 
by the men. When the women sing their parts the men pass 
through the attitudes in mime for each separate song, seldom 
exceeding one verse, sometimes two, always being sung on the 
principle of a coach wheel, which is by going round. One 
performer commences and at each repetition another joins in, 
till the singers are ten in number. 

During the singing, the bride and her attendants are trim­
ming themselves off to the best advantage. When ready to 
enter the kraal, the men and women make way for them and 

. they dance by themselves. The mother or principal wife of the 
intended husband, walking to the bride while singing, cautions 
her on her conduct, and telling her what immense work such 
as digging, etc., they shall now expect by this new addition in 
their fields. The bride, dancing in the middle of her companions, 
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takes very little notice of the advice, treating it as a mere 
matter of course. Now and then she dances out from the rest 
of the bridesmaids holding out beads for the relations of the 
intended husband whom she baulks repeatedly by turning back. 
At length, however, the bride dances towards the principal 
relation of the bridegroom to whom she throws down some 
beads, and then returns to fetch more from the bridesmaids 
which she gives the next nearest relation, and so on, including 
the wives of her intended husband, and even the servants, if 
the bride is to be the chief wife. At times they cry out and 
abuse the bridegroom with all the abusive language that the 
bride is capable of; but this is no more than custom, all being 
meant in good part. At other times again, the bridegroom's 
party addresses the bridesmaids who are requested to listen to 
the bride's cases of infidelity which generally satisfies the 
husband that if she does err it will not be for want of knowing 
better. During this part the men are gathered in clusters 
drinking beer and talking over the cattle or the nuptials. Then 
the cattle for slaughter are brought in, either one or two or 
more, according to the quality of the,husband (seldom, however, 
more than one} unless the man takes two wives in one day, 
which frequently happens. Immediat ely the cow or ox is fallen , 
the bridesmaids throw some beads on the wound where the 
animal was stabbed, which any man takes who gets them. 
The beast is then slaughtered by the friends of the girl who 
have accompanied her, and is disposed of by the bride's 
attendants, half being given to the kraal where the bride is 
to be married, the other half being given to her friends. The hide 
is generally preserved for a petticoat for the bride, the dress 
which she then wears having been given new from her parents, 
with a dress of beads. The girl is then taken to her husband's 
house, where she remains a week or a month as the husband 
thinks proper. Then she is put on the same footing as other 
wives and takes her turn with the next in his favours. The 
day after the ceremony the bride's relatives, with a small staff 
and assegais, come to the kraal, where they stand some time in 
silence and then demand cattle. One or two are given according 
to the ability of the husband. Should he be a man of property, 
an ox is sent to him from the girl's parents, in which case 
many cattle are expected in return. It is at the option of the 
husband to accept or return the ox, which he frequently returns. 
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For should he accept it there is no end to the demands. It is 
strange that although these marriages are nothing more than 
a barter in women for cattle no bargains were ever made 
before or after marriage as to the number of cattle to be paid. 
But an exact bargain is never known among them nor the 
consent to such if proposed. Formerly, before Shaka destroyed 
so many nations, marriages were the only traffic1 in cattle. 
This was well seen from there being such an abundance of 
cattle, the precious value they put on women. I cannot be 
sure, but conclude that the lowest rate that women were 
parted from their parents was five cows, and the average was 
15, but in many cases I have known 40 or SO to be paid for a 
woman and beyond that. For the daughter of a chief 100 
cattle would only be considered reasonable; but since the dis­
solution of so many nations the Zulus only pay a few head, 
15 being considered sufficient for a chief's daughter. 

The reader, from the above, may be induced to think it a 
species of slavery, and a man may make his offers as he would 
for a slave, but it is far from that nature, the whole being a 
custom which they would not break in any of its parts, and 
the idea of slavery is as disgusting to them as it is to an English­
man. 

Shaka has, in a great measure, prevented marriages under 
the idea of single men only being fit for warriors. To each 
regiment of warriors was attached a regiment of girls, who 
resided in the isigodlo of each barracks. An instance of com­
munication or young men entering the isigodlo, under any 
pretence, has, in several instances, been the cause of the 
destruction of such a regiment . 

The Zulu Kings had the practice of sending their sisters in 
marriage to chiefs whom they considered capable of paying a 
suitable price. They were accompanied by a large number of 
bridesmaids, and two o~en, as his mouth, to the chief. 

However displeasing such an arrival may be, he is neces­
sitated to appear pleased, and to acknowledge in the strongest 
t erms how much he feels the honour, and to express the fears 
he entertains of the whole of his cattie not being sufficient to 

'Should a girl die after marriage or on a visit t o her parents or by running 
from an enemy be killed, the cattle must be returned or her sister sent in her 
place and if no other girl can be provided, one at the breast is bespoken and 
delivr.re<i whPn of a proper age.-Editor. 
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satisfy his King. He proceeds to pay by SO's and lOO's, in 
some cases nearly impoverishing himself. 

The least insinuation of the bridegroom not being willing 
to accept such an honour would be punished with death. 

It was formerly the custom not to allow intermarriages in 
one kraal and to avoid, if possible, marriages in the neighbour­
hood, thus encouraging the intermarriage of foreign tribes. In 
the present intermixed state of the Zulus, owing to tribal 
upheavals, marriages in the same kraal are common, but if 
any relationship can be traced between the parties marriage 
is strictly forbidden . 

Two sisters may marry one man. A man may marry the 
wife of his elder brother, not the reverse. The mother of the 
married girl always hides her face from her daughter's husband. 
In like manner the girl must avoid as much as possible the 
company or conversation of her husband's relations ; not 
calling them by their names, but using the t erms father ancJ 
mother, and being generally modest. 

CONTEMPT FOR SLAVERY 

A Portuguese is, in consequence of their dealing in slaves 
at Delagoa Bay, treated by the Zulus with the most wilful 
contempt. A slave vessel, only in the month of October, 1829, 
was wrecked at Natal, and had it not been for my brother, 
Mr. W. Fynn, accompanying them through the Zulu country 
to the King's residence, it is doubtful whether they would have. 
got through. Many liberties were taken with them which 
would never have been inflicted upon an Englishman when 
travelling alone. The King treat ed them in the light of Dela­
gonians, asking them many questions as to their manners and 
concerning slaves in irons. Had it not been for my brother 
begging so hard, they would have been necessitated to travel 
to Delagoa without a guide. 

POLYGAMY 

Polygamy is universal among the Zulu, although Shaka and 
Dingane, the late and present King, have not taken wives. The 
number of concubines of Shaka was not less than 5,000, those 
of Dingane being about 500, by whom they are not supposed 
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to beget children, although one instance of such appears in 
Shaka's reign. During his reign the elder chiefs only were 
allowed to have wives, the young and vigorous being permitted 
to have concubines, any one of which producing a child would 
have caused the death of that chief, unless, as was sometimes 
the case, he had previously sent oxen requesting permission 
to marry them. This was sometimes granted. The soldiers 
were almost excluded from speaking with women, only those 
who had been married before Shaka's reign being permitted to 
retain their wives. This custom extended to every tributary 
tribe that joined the Zulus, from whence the single men of 
each were enlisted to join a Zulu regiment, so that a few of the 
former Zulus and those of the tributary tribes formed the 
whole of the married men in the country. Some of the married 
chiefs had as many as 50 wives and the men from one to 20. 

The first wife of a commoner is the principal one, but not 
so with kings and chiefs. They, after having taken many wives, 
choose the daughters of other kings or chiefs for their queens 
who will produce their heirs, although the former wives may 
have sons at that time grown up. The name of I nkosikazi, 
i.e. Queen, is the term by which all principal wives are known, 
even by the meanest subj ect. She has much respect paid to 
her by other wives and is called by them "mother," and to 
her is report ed all the domestic affairs which she regulates. 
In the absence of her husband, if a chief, she consults with the 
<:hie£ of the kraal even in public affairs. Their mutual consent 
empowers them to have any person killed in the kraal, messen­
gers being sent to report the death to the umnumzane, i.e. 
head. It is the duty of the wife to dig the ground, plant, 
stack and thresh the corn, make the floors of the houses and 
keep them clean, collect firewood and water and make clay 
pots for cooking and drinking vessels. Also collecting grass for 
thatching their huts, according to the numbers of his houses, 
or of chiefs, the numbers of kraals, each hut having from one 
to four in it. A man possessing only one wife and only one cow, 
the wife would rather he would part with it for another wife 
than live by herself, the husband being no company for the 
wife, seldom taking notice of her in public, and, although he 
may have come from war or a long journey, no compliment 
passes between them, the husband only asking for a pinch of 
snuff. 
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The wives of one house live generally on most affectionate 
terms, those of different huts or kraals endeavouring by their 
attention to monopolise as much as possible of the husband's 
favours. During his visit, the wife visited supplies him with 
food, a mat and a pillow and a box of snuff, but on no account 
will a woman allow her husband the use of the mat when he 
visits another wife. The I nkosikazi is bound to see the umlo­
fiokazi or young married woman has enough to eat, and leaves 
her house for a month during the honeymoon. This she is 
also necessitated to do when any of her husband's sweethearts. 
arrive, cleaning the house and laying the mat. 

There are many circumstances which prevent the husband 
from cohabitation; seven days abstention during menses. Any 
person in the kraal severely wounded by assegai, stick or bite 
of any animal or the death of a relation, each three days' 
abstention. A man having wounded or killed another in battle 
must first be connected with a woman of a strange kraal before 
he connects with his wife. After the birth of a child, the husband 
refrains from his wife till the child is weaned. 

PREGNANCY AND CHILDBIRTH 

During pregnancy the woman wears an isidinga over her­
breast, but in no form is she allowed to have any brass about 
her person. She is supplied with isihlambezo, a medicine which 
she puts into a calabash and carries always with her, of which 
she drinks as inclined, for the purpose of supporting the child 
in the womb until delivery, then it is given to the child until 
it has gained strength . Twins at birth are rare, but five children 
have been produced at birth. The women are laid on a bed of 
straw, not permitted to use a mat. On these occasions they are 
attended by the old women of the kraal and during delivery, 
if fearful, cords are passed round the ankles and passed through 
the sides of the hut and held outside. This seldom is necessary. 

The child produced, it is washed in cold water, the navel 
string is then cut with a split reed or stem of grass, the part 
left on the infant being two inches long. This is washed re­
peatedly with a mixture of juice of the small aloe leaf, milk from 
the mother's breast, and wood ashes, till it falls off. A fire of 
charcoal is made and mixed with roots, over the smoke of 
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which the child is frequently drawn. The custom of the tribe 
to which her husband belongs is then followed. 

In cases of five children or twins or where the mother is 
deficient in milk, the children are given to the grandmother or 
some old woman to suckle, whose breasts will in general produce 
milk sufficient after two days suckling. On a child being 
weaned, the breast is milked into the cavity of a hoe handle, 
cowdung being placed at the bottom to receive it, and when 
filled covered with the same, this is placed above the fireplace 
and allowed to remain till, by moving the kraal or by chance, 
it should be lost. An omission of any of these customs would 
be considered dangerous to the child's health throughout life. 

Till children are able to walk, they are carried on their 
mother's back, a soft calf or goat skin being used to tie them. 
Boys from infancy are brought up to herd cattle and from the 
highest to the lowest families it is considered a necessary 
-qualification to manhood. 

Girls are brought up to fetching water, firewood, carrying 
-com on their heads and digging in the fields. Queens and 
princesses labour with as much pains as the poorest women. 

PUBERTY RITES 

A girl on first having her menses reports it to her parents, 
who give her a cow to kill for the occasion. She is then placed 
be.hind a screen of mats where she remains for a month to six 
as the parents may think fit. On her going out of the hut on 
necessary occasions, she is covered with a kaross to hide her 
from the sight of men. During her confinement she is never 
left alone, and the girls in the neighbourhood collect every 
evening singing the most lewd songs imaginable, without the 
least shame, it being that at any other time an indelicate word 
is never known to escape their lips. Any stranger entering 
the hut is kept in till he forfeits beads. If obstinacy is shown, 
the girls make a large fire surrounding him, and singing their 
indelicate songs, cause the man so much surprise that he soon 
pays their demand. The beads so collected are divided between 
the girls at the end of the confinement. She at this time sends 
a few beads to her sweetheart, who sends others in return. 

There is a custom named eMhosheni when the girls of each 
tribe collect together, leaving their dresses at home. They dress 
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themselves with leaves and sing in different parts of the country, 
sleeping in the bushes for three nights, during which their 
food is left at a distance from the kraals. On their return 
home the oldest woman of the kraal has cooked victuals for 
them which she hands them from behind her. 

They will not converse with men, who, if they do, will 
attack and rob them of their beads. On the fourth day they 
go to the extreme end of the country, wash themselves in the 
river and from them the next tribe take it up, so passing it on. 
The custom originates from an idea of there having been a 
princess, half her body being of the common form and the other 
of grass. Her hinder parts were red, and as she used to leave 
the hut she desired the girls not to look at her hinder parts. 
The custom is kept up out of respect to the princess, who 
would afflict them with sickness if neglected. 

PLANTING, REAPING AND STORING 

It is the business of the men to cut such bushes or wood as 
obstruct the women in the fields. These they leave to the 
women, who merely scratch the grass up at the roots, having 
previously cast the seed. The roots are left on the fields till 
the corn is fit for hoeing, first to protect the young plant from 
the wind, and secondly to prevent the seed being picked out 
by the birds. When the corn is nearly ripe a man is placed 
there to protect it from the pigs, which are very destructive. 
They are frequently hunted during the winter months, the 
bushes being clear, at the time, to allow a passage through 
them. If they are found in the garden during the night, the 
party enter the fields rustling the corn, and at intervals stand­
ing motionless, making sounds in imitation of the pigs, which 
take them for a drove of their own species, by which means 
the party are able to come upon them by surprise. 

When the corn is ripe it is plucked and stacked into a reed 
basket work, some being six feet high and 15 feet in diameter, 
from whence it is threshed at the beginning of winter, some 
being put into baskets for immediate use. A few bunches of 
cobs are preserved for seeds. The remainder are put into 
cellars in the cattle kraals. These are dug into a conical shape, 
the entrance being only large enough to admit a young lad. 
Round the sides and bottom it is covered with wild plantain 
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leaves, the top being covered with stalks crossed, which is 
filled up with earth. It seldom remains long in the ground 
before the urine of the cattle, soaking through the dung, has 
filled the cellars, by which it has become to them a most 
delicate feast, particularly to women in pregnancy, whom I 
have known to go 50 miles for a treat of it. 

CROPS GROWN BY THE Z UL US 

As the manner of planting does not differ in any of their 
productions, I shall only mention the different kinds of grain. 
Millet, called by the natives imbela, is grown only in small 
quantities by the Zulus, but it is the principal food of the 
tributary tribes. It grows from six to 12 feet in height, pro­
ducing sometimes five to six heads to a stalk. They commence 
planting in June and it is ripe in the beginning of September. 
By September they have a second crop and in March they have 
a third, some years having green corn all the year through. 

The King is supplied with corn by every regiment and their 
families planting every year. So are the owners of kraals 
provided by the people of each, exclusive of what is planted 
by their own families, but the community are only dependent 
on the exertions of their wives. 

According t o the number a man has in each hut , they dig 
the fields of the mistress of that hut , but they are generally 
lat e before they commence planting in consequence of a law 
preventing their using the fruits of their labour till the King 
should first have eaten of the fruits of that year. The non­
observance of the custom never fails of being punished with 
death t o the whole kraal of people t o which the culprit belongs. 
Their cattle go to the King, who generally defers it till late in 
the season and the early crops are spoilt in the fields. Picking 
a fallen corn is as bad as eating it. When the King intends 
eating the first fruit s of t he season, all the people and families 
attached to the regimertts are called to his residence. The 
men appear in their war-dresses and a feast is given on the 
occasion and a national dance t akes place at that time and no 
other, when the names of their enemies are shouted as a 
degradation. Any chief' s tributary not appearing is considered 
as an enemy and killed in consequence. This annual meeting, 
by which they are enabled to count the years of any King's 
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reign, lasts three or four days and defines Kings from chiefs, 
who dare not presume to such a privilege. Dancing, singing 
and showing of oxen are the amusements. The King does not 
allow this opportunity to pass without killing many of them to 
convince them of his power and cause himself t o be feared. 
On the last grand day the King enters the circle of his soldiers, 
with his seraglio grandly decorated. His favourite concubines 
stoop while entering, and during the intervals of singing are 
surrounded by others who stand up, secreting them from the 
eyes of the soldiers as much as possible. The amusements of 
singing ended, a calabash is held by the King, surrounded by 
a number of young boys, when he runs about with it, pret end­
ing to throw it , but frequently baulks them and at length 
throws it , the boys scrambling after it. During the meeting the 
King informs them of his intention to attack some foreign 
power, which takes place early in the winter months, the 
rivers being only passable at that time. On their leaving, 
instructions are given them early as to the time and they 
proceed home to eat their corn and stack it, but from the 
unsettled state of the country they generally have but two 
crops. They use no artificial means to promot e the growth, 
only leaving it unsown for one year after five years' work. 

Ama5ele or Guinea corn is the principal crop of the Zulus 
and requires longer time in coming to maturity then the former, 
only one crop being produced during the season. 

Luphoko, a grain produced from a . . . . . . grows about 
one foot in length, is six months coming to perfection, is grown 
principally for making beer, which is a most pleasant beverage, 
and often intoxicates the drinker. 

Beans are of two kinds, the one, izindumba, is a running 
bean and is similar to the French bean. The other kind, 
izindlubu, is produced from underground, with one bean in each 
pod, leaves similar to trefoil attached to the stem without 
stalks. 

Amazambane grow underground, something of the flavour 
of a potato but a little bitter. The stem is 18 inches high, 
from which a leaf like sage arises parallel from t wo sides, the 
stem being square. 

Amadumbe is a plant , the leaf and growth being similar to 
the water lily but the flower different in shape and of a pinkish 
blue colour. The food is like the potato underground, and is 

V 
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something like that vegetable, but has a glutinous matter on 
it . These are as large as the largest size potato. 

Inqalothi is a grain, in length and appearance, in stem and 
seed similar to the bull-rush, and is very apt to be destroyed 
by birds. It is principally used for making beer which is stronger 
than the luphoko. It is frequently ground with water and 
eaten raw. A piece of this raw, the size of a penny roll, will 
prevent the pain of hunger for several days during a journey. 

There are four kinds of sugar cane, uM o5a. One is the 
West Indian kind and is planted in pieces underground in low 
damp soil and is very profilic. It is only used to eat. A winter 
stock is sometimes preserved by burying it underground. 

Pumpkins of a small and inferior kind were used but the 
amaselwa pumpkin, introduced on our arrival, is in more 
general use. 

Melons, similar to water melons in appearance, they use to 
make soup. Gourds are universally planted, and while young 
and tender form a principal part of their diet. When they 
become hard they are scooped out and used for beer, milk and 
water vesse~s. I have seen three which hold 18 gallons. When 
they become broken they are usually stitched with thread, 
being watertight. 

Tobacco is planted from the plants of fallen seeds, not 
having an idea it would rise from seeds sown. They only 
produce sufficient for their consumption in snuff, which they 
take in immense quantities, never being satisfied till, by a 
pressure with the thumb and finger, over the eyes, t ears are 
produced. It appears to give them much relief. The tears are 
traced by finger-nail each side of the nose and water is ejected 
from the mouth. It is pungent from the manner of making it, 
it being ground by a small round stone on a large flat one by 
the constant rolling it backwards and forwards. When nearly 
brought to a powder, it is mixed with an equal quantity of 
ash from dried aloe leaves, in want of which, wood ashes are 
used. Persons seldom meet without one asking the other for a 
pinch of snuff. It is never offered without being asked for, and 
then reluctantly given from a fear of their readiness to attri­
bute any sickness attacking the partaker of it to the giver who 
is suspected of having bewitched it. 
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MAKING OF FIRE 

The manner of producing fire is done with facility by means 
of two pieces of dry wood, eight or nine inches long, containing 
a pith on the one which is to lay on the ground. A notch is cut. 
The other is sharpened to an obtuse point which is put into the 
notch of the other, is turned swiftly between both hands which 
are shifted repeatedly, increasing the pressure as much as 
possible, the dust powdered having caught fire falls over the 
sides of the notch on to the dry grass. 

REMEDY FOR WEAK EYES 

Cuttle fish bone is used in powder for weak eyes with success. 
It is supposed to be the excrements of the moon which it 
passes in rising and floats to the shore. 

M EN'S AND WOMEN'S COMPLAINTS 

They assert, and it is generally believed among them, that 
a complaint exists of beetles being seated in the stomach and 
when driven from it by medicine it is necessary to kill them 
with sticks. Another complaint is supposed to be caused from 
detached particles of blood under the skin, which is extracted 
with a razor. A complaint called uM diyasi is very common. 
They believe it arises from the medicine drunk by the warriors 
after battle, being a decoction of roots in which an axe, red 
heated, is put and bears the name of izembe or axe. The person 
who receives the complaint from this decoction is not afflicted 
nor his wives, but whoever should connect with them after 
the husband's death is attacked, falling off to a skeleton, in 
which state he remains without any particular pain, lingering, 
as in a decline. The woman becomes pregnant and being 
delivered, he dies. I have had sufficient proofs that such a 
complaint exists and have no doubt of its being communicated 
by coition, the woman having no pain or appearance of disease, 
yet every man who cohabits with her falls off in a decline and 
dies, the woman remaining in apparent perfect health. This 
disease is well underst ood by the doctors, which they cure on 
payment of a cow. 
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Aphrodisiacs. Stimulants to submit to the wishes of the 
men were used in common among the natives, but now only 
partially so by the tributary tribes. Shaka had forbidden 
the use of any medicinal preparation more than necessary to 
cure sickness. 

Relief from barrenness is practised with success. 
An ingredient is sometimes used as a stimulant to cause the 

girls to love the giver, which is mixed and taken as snuff. 
Instances of insanity are few, but are in general relieved by 

the native doctors. 

THE GHOST OF MBIY A 

Mbiya was a Zulu chief of the tribe of Mthethwas, taken 
into favour by Shaka from the intimacy which had existed 
between them while Shaka was under the protection of Dingis­
wayo. He died in 1827, Shaka regretting much his loss. A 
few months after his decease, a report was current that the 
spirit of Mbiya had appeared at his own kraal, intending to 
visit Shaka, who, in consequence, sent chiefs repeatedly to see 
him, always taking with them oxen, which were stabbed in his 
kraal as offerings to him. The truth of his presence was con­
firmed by all who went to his place, with whom he entered 
into conversation on topics of a political nature, ever praising 
Shaka as a superior power, assuring them of Shaka's being 
much favoured by the spirits from whom he had been sent on 
the present mission. They did not omit asking for snuff, when 
he directed them to a spot where a box was placed. So satisfied 
were they of the spirit being there that they confirmed it to 
Shaka, who appointed a day for his appearance; in the mean­
time he had a handsome kaross in which he was to appear, sent 
to him on the day appointed. 

Shaka and his chiefs were ready to receive him when, to 
the astonishment of all, an old woman, pretending to be the 
spirit, commenced delivering her mission, which Shaka soon 
put a stop to, ordering her away as an impostor, giving his 
opinion that she had been ordered undoubtedly by Mbiya, 
who did not wish to appear. 
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CROCODILES 

Crocodiles abound in all the principal rivers east of Mkho­
mazi. Some have been seen in the rivers west, but seldom, and 
never west of the Mthamvuna. During the summer months 
they are to be seen in numbers, appearing like floating logs on 
the water, or basking in the sun on a sandy bank, where they 
lie like a log of dry timber till an animal may get within 30 
yards of them. Should anyone approach, it stretches itself from 
the coiled position in which it is apt to lie, and like a boat 
being launched appears to slide into the water. The direction 
of its course may be followed for a considerable time by small 
buboles following it. During the summer months they are 
much to be dreaded, when the rivers are risen from the heavy 
rains. Their manner of attack is, when they have got sufficiently 
close to their prey, to seize it by the parts under the water. 
At the same moment it throws itself over, dragging its prey to 
the deepest water, and when dead drags it to the reeds of the 
river side to devour it. The Mkhomazi, Mngeni, Mhlali and 
Thukela are the rivers where they are most ferocious, often 
attacking people and cattle. The latter, excepting calves ... . 
they are only able to bite. They are stabbed and killed by the 
natives, who assert that for the spear to have effect the blade 
must be held in a position that it may enter parallel with the 
animal, which plan alone will admit the spear on the sides and 
belly of the animal, into the apparently impenetrable shell. 
From the difference in their size and ferocious habits between 
those of the eastern and western, although it has to be proved, 
they would appear to be of two kinds. Their eggs are often to 
be found, but I have in two instances picked up young ones, 
when not a foot in length, and although I bestowed some care 
in keeping them alive, they died after a few days. The natives 
hold them much in dread. Those living on the banks of rivers 
are less fearful of them and pretend to have an antidote as a 
preventive to their being seized. This is no more than the hard 
scales of that animal, which in appearance resemble the bark 
of trees. Pieces of this are given to persons when crossing the 
river, who eat it, rubbing some of it over their body. In 
deficiency of that article, strong-smelling plants such as worm-

v l 
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wood are rubbed over the body, from an idea that such smell 
is disagreeable to them. 

During the winter months they are not destructive, which 
the natives believe to be occasioned by either of two causes. 
First that they lose their t eeth, secondly that they are pre­
vented from lack of water to be able to steal on their prey 
unperceived; but it is doubtless owing to the partially torpid 
state they are in. Natives in the crossing, seeing the crocodiles, 
sometimes throw a calabash in the water, which is generally 
pawed by the animals and from its lightness keeps turning over, 
they following it down, which keeps them at play till the persons 
have passed. 

SNAKES 

Boa constrictors, called by the Zulus umonya or izinhlwathi, 
are frequently to be found in the Natal country, but they are 
more numerous east of the Thukela, inland and along the coast 
west of the Mthamvuna where game of the antelope kind are 
plentiful. They prey on numerous animals, such as goats, 
antelope, dogs and even leopards, sometimes taking men and 
women. The manner of seizing their prey is raising their head 
two or three feet erect, sometimes being previously coiled round, 
they then entwine round the middle of their prey, placing the 
fork of its tongue in the nostrils of the prey, tightening them­
selves round till their prey is strangled. They then lick the 
body with a slimy substance and proceed t o suck the body in, 
commencing at the head. In performing this they are some­
times three or four days, the head being apparently swelled 
and the jaws extended to a surprising size. As their prey enters 
the stomach, it may be seen to rise gradually till swallowed, 
when it lies from that time in a torpid state and, although 
attacked, becomes helpless for 18 to 20 days. 

They frequently exceed 18 feet in length, spanning 2 feet 
6 inches round the belly. It is asserted by the natives as a 
fact that a man of the Mthwani tribe on the Mzimkhulu, in 
argument with others of the strength of the nhlwathi, declared 
he would overcome that animal. To effect his purpose, he went 
t o the hole in the absence of the serpent and lay down, appar­
ently dead, on his face, to prevent the snake stoppi{ig his 
nostrils extending his arms erect before his head. The serpent 
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attempted to enclose his arms and elbows, when the man by 
extending them kept freedom of movement for them and 
succeeded in overcoming it. 

Indlondlo is a serpent above 12 feet in length. It remains 
constantly in the woods, always near a river , to which it has 
always a road made by its repeated visits. From the crown of 
the head rises a crest much imitating a feather, about four 
inches in length. It makes a noise similar to a pheasant and 
attacks various birds near it , on which it preys. The bite of 
that serpent is of the most dangerous kind; persons living but 
a few hours should they not be able to obtain the valuable 
remedy isi5i5a. The bites of snakes are very expeditiously 
cured by a composition of the poison taken from every snake 
they can collect, which is dried up into a powder. An emetic 
is first given and then a small pinch of the powder. A little is 
then put into the place bitten, which is opened with an assegai 
to admit it. If application is made within four hours after the 
bite, there is no doubt of the cure, of which I have seen suffi­
cient proof. 

FORERUNNERS OF THE VoORTREKKERS 

Natal was a terra incognita to the Dutch inhabitants of the 
Cape until Messrs. Petersen and Hoffman, co-partners to 
Lieutenant Farewell, proceeded by sea to Port Natal. These 
gentlemen's knowledge of Natal on their return to the Cape 
was not circulated beyond Cape Town, hence had nothing to 
do with the movements of the Boers from the Cape frontier 
districts. 

On Doctor Smith's arrival at Natal he had in his service a 
Dutch Boer William Berg. His father was an Englishman, and 
had married a Boer woman. He had adopted all the domestic 
Boer habits in which his children were brought up. The doctor's 
trip along the coast, after passing through the country of 
Kaffirs as far as St. J ohn's River, brought him into the country 
which had been depopulated by Shaka. 

After their arrival in Natal, while the doctor was residing 
with me, William Berg on several occasions spoke in raptures 
of the rich country he had passed through, and how certain he 
felt that if the Boers in the Cape Colony knew that such a 
country was uninhabited they would rush to its occupation. 
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On William Berg's return to the Cape Colony with Doctor 
Smith it is most probable he communicated this knowledge to 
the Dutch in his vicinity. 

Piet Uys, an influential Dutch farmer in Uitenhage, would 
have heard of the advantages this country afforded him. I 
have therefore considered that William Berg was the first Boer 
who came to this country, and instigated the subsequent emi­
gration of the Boers to Natal. 

There came also about that time overland a Boer called 
Vanvega, who, after a few months' elephant shooting, returned 
to the Somerset district in the Cape Colony. From him the 
Dutch of that locality will have derived much information. It 
was not, however, till 1834, when the Emancipation of Slavery 
occurred which produced great discontent among the Boers of 
the Cape Colony, that they savoured the idea of emancipating 
themselves from the British Government by meeting beyond 
the boundary of the Cape Colony. Hans Lange was the first 
Boer who attempted to escape beyond the boundary with his 
slaves, and he located himself on the Swart Vlei River below 
the junction of the Kloof Plaats and Klaas. The Cape Govern­
ment on learning the locality he was occupying beyond the 
frontier border despatched Colonel A. B. Armstrong with a 
troop of the Cape Corps to proceed and demand from Lange 
the slaves he had taken with him. 

Colonel Armstrong's long experience and influence with the 
Dutch Boers at the Cape Frontier enabled him to perform that 
duty satisfactorily without using force. This duty was per­
formed in the latter end of December, 1834, Lange having 
crossed the boundary in October or November of that year. 
Therefore, unless we may suppose that the rumours of a Kaffir 
invasion existed in November, it could not have been the 
invasion of the 25th December, 1834, which led the Boers first 
to contemplate migrating from the Cape Colony, though there 
is no doubt that the invasion increased the desire and brought 
on the crisis. It would appear the communications that were 
made from one frontier district to another annoyed the leading 
Boers, for simultaneously we find Piet Uys, wealthy and gener­
ally respected, leading the migration from Uitenhage district; 
from the Somerset district we find Maritz leading; while from 
Grahamstown and Albany, Piet Retief, who had associated 
much with the English of that locality a leader of the Boers 
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from thence. From the commencement of this migration in 1834 
until 1848 I was on the Cape frontier and in a position to know 
the movements and the objects of the migrating Boers. 

Piet Retie£, aware of my knowledge, my influence and 
experience, urged me to leave the Government Service, and 
join them in their contemplated migration, tempting me with 
the offer of giving me one of the highest appointments and a 
handsome salary. I felt assured that no one was so competent 
as myself to save them from the dangers in which they were 
certain of being involved with the native tribes, especially the 
Zulu nation. My attachment to Natal and having no desire to 
live in any other country was a strong motive for m:y; accepting 
his proposals, though I felt assured that from whatever diffi­
culties I might save them in reference to the native tribes, my 
services would not be appreciated. Had I accepted Retief's 
proposals, I certainly should not have consented to his proceed­
ing to Dingane, as may be well imagined from my previous 
escapes from that chief. The non-appreciation of such services 
as I might have given had I joined Retie£ did not weigh with 
me in my determination. I should have been content with 
returning to Natal to occupy my farm on the Isipingo and 
having the protection of the Boers from any attack of the Zulu 
nation, my influence being sufficient to increase the native force 
of Natal and with the aid of the Boers to defy the Zulu nation. 
I believed then as I do now that the migrating Boers did not 
contemplate warring against the Cape Government and fighting 
with British troops. The acts of Sir Benjamin d'Urban, under. 
whom I had served with much pleasure, were disapproved of by 
the Colonial Minister, which made me little desirous of continu­
ing longer in the service. In this state of indecision I asked by 
letter the friendly advice of a military officer of rank with 
whom I had seen some service in the field, and who had encour­
aged me on all occasions to appeal to him for friendship and 
advice. To him I stated the matter fully and freely. His reply, 
with the advice of Sir Richard England, then commanding 
on the frontier, led me to decide on remaining in the service. 
The reply I received from my friend was as laconic as some of 
the Duke of Wellington's. 

My dear Fynn, 
You bed .... d. 

Yours truly 
G.H.S. 
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The leaders of the migrating Boers from the several frontier 
districts led their families, cattle, sheep and horses with a long 
train of bullock waggons across the boundary beyond the 
village of Colesberg. The three persons named were in the 
position of Field Commandants, forming separate encampments 
a few miles from each other. I believe their intent then was 
there to await other Boers who might be led to join them from 
the Cape Colony, and not at once to proceed to Natal. Retie£ 
had drawn out a set of rules to be observed by the emigrants 
for the future conduct which were signed by some of his follow­
ers. Uys, hearing of these rules, sent to the followers of Retie£ 
urging them not to sign any rules for their Government until 
the whole party of Boers should unite to elect the leader and 
establish rules for their Government. 

This appears to have irritated Retie£ and he may have 
been led to conceive the chieftainship to be his personal right. 
It is therefore likely that he thought the best way of attaining 
that position was by his proceeding to the Zulu chief Dingane 
and inducing him to cede the country of Natal to him and 
emigrant Boers, the result of which is so clearly described in 
the Honourable Cloete's lectures. 

Retie£ may have considered that in his dealings with the 
Zulu chief a plain, honest representation of his case would 
meet a corresponding honest dealing from Dingane. Little 
did he know the wily chief. He informed him that the Boers 
had left the Cape Colony a numerous body of men and were 
desirous of becoming his peaceful neighbours in brotherhood 
a nd aiding each other in difficulties, if Dingane would cede to 
bim the country of Natal for their occupation. Had Retie£ 
been acquainted with the history of the Zulu nation he would 
have known that one of the principal objects of Shaka, who 
had made the Zulus a great nation, was totally to depopulate 
the surrounding country as far as his soldiers could penetrate, 
that his followers over whom he held such despotic sway might 
have no asylum or refuge if they attempted to escape his 
murderous power. Few European diplomatists could have 
planned a more perfect mode of destroying an enemy than 
that conceived by Dingane . The very idea of so powerfully 
an armed force anticipating the occupation of so close a neigh­
bourhood at once alarmed him. He therefore assented to cede 
the country to the Boers on the condition that they would attack 
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and retake cattle which had been taken from his country by 
the roving chief Siqonyela. This service Retie£ accomplished 
and anticipated the reward of his service. Dingane had attached 
to Retief's force some of his own followers, and, knowing the 
Zulu chief as I do, I conclude his object was that his followers 
were sent to observe the Boers' mode of fighting and the result, 
in which it might be possible the Boers might be defeated, thus 
saving him the necessity of their destruction, or, on the other 
hand, enable him to judge how he might defeat them himself. 
It is, however, certain that he adopted the same mode of 
treachery as Retie£ had done when he enticed Siqonyela into Mr. 
Allison's garden and, making him a prisoner, put him in 
irons until he refunded the cattle. Dingane could, without the 
possibility of failure, have defeated the tribe under Siqonyela 
without the aid of the Boers. 

On Retief's arrival at Port Natal two of the earliest followers 
of Lieut. Farewell were at Natal, and from 15 to 20 who were 
with him in three previous years travelled overland from the 
Cape Colony. Retie£ and his party might have obtained much 
valuable information from these persons, but unfortunately 
the Boers had publicly expressed the old saw " Might is right. 
You few Englishmen here must submit to us the more powerful. " 
The local knowledge and experience of these English, few as 
they were, made them a valuable ally . Union with the Boers 
would have produced a very different result in the subsequent 
battle which took place in the Zulu country. These few English 
had suffered much by Dingane's hostility and oppression. 
They had sufficient to revenge and they took this opportunity 
of doing so. After the death of Retie£ and party and the attack 
on the Boers' encampments, the Boers proceeded in force and 
entered the Zulu country. J ohn Cane, the most experienced 
of the English, planned a party with some 800 natives and 
made an attack on one of Dingane's encamped regiments. The 
slaughter was great. The English fought as Englishmen some­
times do and not one of them that day disgraced his country. 
Much has been said by Natal colonists in admiration of the 
order in which the natives of Natal were kept by the Boers and 
the subjection they continued in until atal became a British 
Colony. From 1824, when the first natives were brought by 
myself and subsequently by others from hundreds of miles to 
occupy the country of Natal from which they had been driven, 
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up to the period when I left Natal, no people of any country 
could have been under more protection, could have been more 
honest and faithful than the natives who looked up to the 
several white men as their protectors and chiefs. In thus lauding 
their character it was not attributable to the wisdom or good 
judgment of the white inhabitants but to the circumstances in 
which the natives were placed. The power had been given us 
to protect; without that protection the natives of Natal knew 
that destruction was their lot. In the attack made by Cane 
and his party only two white men escaped. The natives on this 
occasion fought most desperately, fulfilling the assertion they 
frequently make use of " that they will die round the body of 
their chief." This was literally the case. Where a white man 
fell they rushed to cover his body, where they were killed in 
heaps. This has been related to me both by the natives of 
Natal and the Zulus themselves. That the natives of Natal 
since it became an English settlement can no longer be spoken 
of in such high terms is our misfortune and theirs. 

BURIAL OF KINGS 

Kings are interred after various ways. Some are interred 
standing, some sitting, others lying down, a hut built over them 
and people placed to live on the spot to take care of them and 
guard them. 

Those left in the care of Shaka having, after 12 months' 
confinement, consumed the cattle, grain, etc., given them for 
their subsistence and not having planted; relying on an addition­
al supply, were without provisions, and yet not daring to leave 
this sacred spot, stole several head of cattle from the neigh­
bouring kraals. Being detected, a detachment was sent for 
the purpose of destroying them all. The principal of them was 
a well-known warrior under Shaka, and in this instance again 
his bravery was rekindled and shone forth anew. He killed 
several on the spot, driving others into the burial ground, 
where they must have remained had it become known to the 
King. At length, finding himself closely pressed by the detach­
ment, who by this time had slain all his companions, he resorted 
to the only plan that could save his life. He sprang on the hut 
that had been newly erected over the grave of Shaka and sang 
the national war song. This was instantly attributed to the 
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interference of the spirit of Shaka on his behalf, and h.e was 
left without further molestation. He now flew to me for 
protection in Natal. Knowing the risk I should run by allowing 
him into my kraal, I sent people to conduct him to the elephant 
hunters, where he might have remained in safety till the King 
should decide his fate, but, suspicious that the people I had 
sent with him would kill him, he ran away and joined Mr. Collis, 
a trader, who was going to the Colony, and with whom he 
returned. On his return to the King, he was received at the 
gate of the King's residence by Dingane and two regiments, 
the King being painted from head to foot in compliment to 
him as a friend from the spirit of Shaka. 

OMENS 

The Omens which are considered to decide the fate of war 
are numerous: 

Elephants met by the army, a snake passing through their 
centre, eagles flying in a line, are auspicious omens. 

On Shaka's preparing to attack the Ndwandwes, a meteor 
appeared which detained him some time from proceeding till 
perceiving it throwing its meteoric sparks in that direction 
announced a favourable issue, it being a sign that the enemy 
would be entirely defeated, which was verified as before related. 

The birds known in the Colony as Haw-di-das rousing their 
voice on the approach of the army, a red buck called Umkhumbi 
passing through them, a dog watering on a shield, are omens 
of misfortune. 

Dogs or calves climbing to the tops of the houses, a cow 
lying down while milking or sucking one another, the stopper 
of a milk calabash flying out, denote someone guilty of witch­
craft in the kraal. 

A snake called iM amba is considered as the protector of 
the hut in which it is found, and although its bite is venomous 
it is allowed to remain unmolested and a cow killed as an 
offering to the spirit in consequence of its visit. 

A small snake the size of a lizard appearing in a kraal is 
a sign of its destruction and a cow is killed as an offering to 
the spirit for its removal. 

A ground toad hissing as any person is passing it informs 
that person of the death of a relation. 



318 THE DIARY OF HENRY FRANCIS FYNN 

A screech owl is considered as the harbinger of death 
occasioned by witchcraft of some evilly disposed person. 

A wild red cat called I mpaka and also leopards are supposed 
to be in possession of and under the control of evilly disposed 
persons who command them to inflict sickness on those they 
wish to destroy. On the appearance of either of these inauspi­
cious omens the inyangas are visited and someone falls a victim 
to their false denunciations. 

AMANGWANE 

The tribes of amaNgwane, under their chief Matiwane, 
being known by their irruption among the frontier tribes may 
render the following account of them necessary. 

They distinguished themselves in laying waste part of the 
now inhabited country situate above those destroyed by Shaka 
coastwise. The amaNgwane lived above the confluence of the 
Black and White Umfolozi Rivers, and was, during the chief­
tainship of Malusi, Matiwane's grandfather, the most consider­
able tribe of eastern Kaffirland. On his death a dispute arose 
between the two sons of Malusi, Mathumela and Masumpa, 
which divided the tribe. Mathumela proceeded inland, calling 
his tribe Phembeni. Masumpa remained and was the father 
of Matiwane. 

He was attacked by Dingiswayo, to whom he became 
tributary. On the death of that chief by Zwide, he offered to 
be tributary to him, sending his daughter, with oxen, to marry 
Zwide, but Zwide accused him of sending his daughter to be­
witch him, and attacked him, taking his cattle. H e in return 
took those of Mthimkhulu, son of Bungane, whom Dingiswayo 
had protected, but, from the fear of Shaka, det ermined to 
invade other tribes, following the system of Shaka. 

His first attempt having been so successful, and his fear of 
Shaka continuing, induced him to continue his exertions, 
remaining no longer in one place than to consume the corn of 
those he had destroyed. For the space of ten years he was 
roving about destroying all he could overtake and avoiding 
the attacks of Shaka and Zwide. In one instance, having left 
his cattle with the old men and women, he attacked Dinsela, 
a Bechuana tribe on the Khahlamba mountains, whom he 
succeeded in defeating, but during his absence Mzilikazi sue-
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ceeded in taking most of those he had left behind with many 
women. He lost no time in following them up, when an engage­
ment took place in which Matiwane's tribe fled. On their return, 
to their surprise, they found all they had left with these taken 
from Dinsela had in their absence been taken by the Zulus. 
Although thus stripped of all his cattle and many women, the 
loss was but little felt, as they had but to follow the same 
course as before, and to gain a new stock by fresh invasions. 
This they soon effected, and increased their stock much above 
the quantity lost. They now determined to leave the eastern 
countries where the Zulus were their masters and cross the 
Khahlamba mountains. During this long route Matiwane had 
destroyed 65 tribes of considerable magnitude, besides numerous 
small ones, whose names were not generally known. He never 
omitted, if the principal chiefs were taken, to drink of their 
gall by which he might gain a _superiority of power over his. 
future enemies. He had spared none but those who were 
willing to join him and by his liberal and fatherly conduct had 
increased his people to a considerable number. On his crossing 
the Khahlamba mountains, he sent . a part of his people to 
travel far into the country and ascertain what hopes there 
were of continuing their attacks, with orders to attack any 
they might meet with in order to form some idea of what sort 
of people they would in future have to contend with. 

This division were those who attacked Madikane when Mr. 
Thompson was there (Madikane was killed 20th December, 
1824), but their purpose was defeated, not capturing the cattle. 

During the absence of this division, Matiwane was attacked 
by a party of the Bastards who were beaten off. Shortly after 
this, four Europeans, or perhaps Bastards, on horseback 
entered his tribe. They were immediately killed and their 
horses, being considered a new species of cattle, were eaten. 

Owing to their failure with Madikane, they returned to the 
eastward and were joined by a tribe of Bechuanas, when they 
were again attacked by the Zulus, who t ook from them immense 
droves of cattle, which all died from the change of country. 

They then moved towards the frontier tribes, having been 
informed of their weakness and of the large droves of cattle 
they possessed and, for that purpose, proceeded to reside above 
the Mtata River, when they were attacked and defeated by 
the Colonists, as before related. Matiwane then, with many of 
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his tribe retraced his steps towards the Zulus, passing through 
the remains of a tribe under Mahlaphahlapha whose cattle 
Matiwane having formerly t aken, had become cannibals. They 
did not let this opportunity pass of cutting off numbers of 
his people to feast on, so that he arrived at the Zulus with 
only a small number compared with those with which he had 
escaped. He was received by Dingane with every mark of 
respect and kindness and was permitted t o proceed to his 
original country with his people, great numbers of whom, 
having travelled coastwise, there again joined him. Dingane's 
first present to him was 300 head of cattle, which was much 
increased by repeated gifts. By such kindness Matiwane had 
nothing to suspect, but on a visit to Dingane he had not been 
long seated before two regiments were collected for an attack 
on Sobuza, an enemy who was in the neighbourhood stealing 
cattle, which they were immediately to follow. Dingane asked 
Matiwane's opinion of the route they had better take. He 
agreed with Dingane that it would be better to pass through 
his kraals. They then departed, the commander receiving his 
private orders as usual, Matiwane little dreaming of his fate, 
they having been collect ed for no other purpose than the 
destruction of his own people. No sooner had they left than 
Dingane entered into pleasant conversation with him and on 
moving towards the seraglio gave him an ox for his consump­
tion, during the slaughter of which a party was sent who seized 
and killed him. 

Four other tribes under their separate chiefs, Madikane, 
Ndinga, Nxumalo, and Ngoza were driven by Matiwane and 
Shaka at various times, when they adopted the same mode of 
warfare as those chiefs pillaging the country, especially of those 
t ribes left by them. The quick movements they were obliged 
t o make to attack the other tribes and avoid their superior 
enemies, who were often in search of them, induced them to 
destroy their children when born, which procedure was generally 
adopted, except where the affections of the mother exceeded 
the fatigue of carrying them. It was by a combination of these 
chiefs who attacked several of the large tribes west of the 
Umzimkhulu, being more desirous for cattle than for the 
destruction of people, that so many of those tribes escaped who 
passed forward t o the frontiers and now form the principal 
part of those tribes by whom they are held in much subj ection 
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and are termed "Fingoes," a name of degradation. The chief 
of most of them, who are termed Xolos and who resided on the 
Umzimkhulu, was taken from a bush by a Zulu chief from whom 
I purchased his freedom. He, with a number of his people, 
have been with me about six years. They are generally an 
honest and industrious set of people. 

The country east of St. John's River being entirely depopu­
lated by various marauders, Ngoza attacked the amaMpondos, 
by whom he was killed. 

The other three by wars among themselves were much 
diminished. Madikane attacked the people of Wolf Kaross, by 
whom he was killed. Soinyanga, the next brother, succeeded 
him. 

When Mbazo proposed attacking him and induced three 
traders from the Colony, Kew and Conway and Malie, to assist 
him, they surrounded the kraal at break of day and burned 
Soinyanga in his hut, but the tribe, learning his fate, collected 
and attacked their enemy, who immediately retreated, leaving 
Peter Malie, of the traders, in their hands. He was killed. 

Ncaphayi, the next brother in succession, became chief till 
the son of Soinyanga should arrive at maturity. Tired of 
marauding, they have joined the amaMpondos, but both live 
in distrust of each other's intentions, and Ncaphayi in dread of 
the Zulus, who are likely to attack him to recover the cattle 
formerly taken from Nqetho. 

THE STORY OF ZIMUZIM U 

The native stories of old to those conversant with the 
manners and language of the people are very amusing, but to 
those ignorant of either, I am afraid, will appear very insipid. 
I shall, however, transcribe one, leaving it to your revisal and 
disposal. 

Zimuzimu was a noted canibal who used frequently to 
purchase from his neighbours straggling people whom he always 
devoured. In one of his predatory excursions he was eating 
some spinach near a kraal when he was seen by a woman far 
gone in pregnancy who longed for the spinach which he refused 
her till she promised if he would remain behind the kraal at 
night she would send one of two orphan boys which she had, 
to fetch firewood from the back of the house, whom he might 

w 
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seize. On this agreement he gave her the spinach and the 
woman, true to her word, sent the boy for wood, when his 
brother advised him to take a stone with him in case cannibals 
might be about. On taking hold of the wood the boy, seeing 
something near him, threw the stone which hitting Zimuzimu 
caused him to cry out and made the boy run back to the house. 

The next day Zimuzimu met the woman again who ex­
pressed her regret at his disappointment, but assured him to 
convince him of her sincerity she would send the lad at night 
to a neighbour for a pinch of snuff. The boy was accordingly 
sent , but seeing something that alarmed him threw a stone 
which again hit Zimuzimu, and made him again cry out and 
the boy escaped as before. 

The next day Zimuzimu and the woman met again when 
they agreed for the future to live as man and wife. The woman's 
husband cared little for her, but it was felt that the cannibal 
had better publicly pass off as her relation in which character he 
was introduced to the neighbours who did not know Zimuzimu 
personally. 

After a short residence he proposed that the elder boy should 
accompany him t o his friends at a distant tribe, which was 
agreed on. On the road Zimuzimu pointed to a hill which he 
called " Find Spears," when they found two . Coming to another 
he called it " Find Spoons," of which they also found two. 
The next hill he called " Throw Away Spears." On this they 
threw them away. The next hill was "Throw Away Spoons," 
which was also done. But Zimuzimu concealed his, letting 
only the boy really do what he pretended. At length they 
arrived at Zimuzimu's friends, who, not aware of his cannibal­
ism, gave him beef, milk and bread, when he desired the boy 
to produce his spear and spoon, to which he replied he had 
thrown them away as directed. Zimuzimu observed " From 
poverty I get rich, " and ate the food alone. At night when all 
slept, Zimuzimu got up, entered the cattle kraal and killed a 
cow, taking some of the blood and dung, with which he be­
smeared the boy's feet while he slept and then laid himself down. 
The people rising at daybreak and finding a cow killed and 
one entering the hut of Zimuzimu and seeing the boy besmeared 
with blood and dung killed him as the guilty person. Zimuzimu 
agreed that their suspicions were no doubt right as to the boy's 
guilt and proposed returning home directly. H owever after 
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leaving the kraal he remained in an adjacent bush till he had 
devoured the boy, when he returned to his house. 

The younger brother eagerly inquired for his elder, but 
Zimuzimu in answer told him that such large quantities of 
beer, beef and bread, milk and beans were given by his friends 
that he could not persuade the boy to return. The boy hearing 
this, begged he might be allowed to go with him the next 
journey, which took place in a few days. 

H e_ passed the same hills as on the previous journey, finding 
assega1s and spoons as before, but which this lad took the 
precaution to keep instead of throwing away as his brother had 
done. On arriving at his friends' house the same fare was set 
before them, and on Zimuzimu asking for the spear and spoon 
the lad, to Zimuzimu's surprise, produced his and heartily 
partook of the provisions. 

On nearing the kraal the boy had picked up a bone of his 
brother out of which, supposing it to belong to some animal, 
he had made a mouth organ. Zimuzimu, as before, when all 
'":ere sleeping, went to the kraal and killed a cow, but during 
his absence the bone call awoke the boy, crying out to him in 
his brother's voice: " Zimuzimu wants to smear you with the 
blood of a cow he has been killing, when you will be killed as 
I, your brother, was." Hearing this, the boy was determined not 
to sleep any more, and shortly after Zimuzimu entered the 
hut with the blood. The boy asked what he intended doing 
with th~t. He received no other answer but that he was going 
to the nver to wash. Instead he hid himself in a dunghill, from 
whence his hair only appeared. A girl, throwing out ashes, 
took hold of it , on which Zimuzimu cried out : " Don't hurt me, 
I am your relation." She, .alarmed, immediately called the 
people of the kraal, who told her to pull the hair again, when 
Zimuzimu again cried out, on which they dragged him out , and 
desired him to leave as they were now satisfied they had k illed 
the ~oy before who was innocent, but his being a relation by 
marriage they spared his life. Zimuzimu and the boy then 
left the kraal, when meeting on the road two cows they drove 
them into the bush, and killed them, each taking one for him­
self. When they were skinned Zimuzimu, seeing the boy's 
cow the fatter, sent him to collect firewood. In his absence he 
cut some of the fat off the lad's cow which the boy perceiving, 
took a stick, and beating a hollow tree cried out " It was not 
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me who stole the cattle, it was Zimuzimu, who is now eating 
it. " Zimuzimu, alarmed, made the best of his way home and 
the boy remained several days eating the beef by himself. 
When he returned home Zimuzimu, seeing him so fat, asked 
him how he got so very fat. The boy replied that he should not 
mock him after leaving him to be killed, and seeing his body 
now swelled as it was with the severe beating. When Zimuzimu 
asked him if beating would make him so fat the boy assured 
him it would be the case. H e then laid himself down for that 
purpose, on which the boy, striking him with a club on the 
head, killed him at once. 

When the woman asked him why he had killed him, he 
replied it was for having killed his elder brother. She in conse­
quence drove him away, and he was taken into the house of a 
neighbour, who sent him to wash some entrails in a spring. 
So soon had the lad imbibed the ideas of Zimuzimu, which 
t ells how much we should avoid wicked men, that he ate them, 
returning and saying that as he was washing them toads had 
snatched them out of his hands. But the man, knowing from 
his appearance it was false. had him immediately killed. 
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uMGUNCUNDIILOVU. 

DINGANE'S KRAAL 

P lan drawn by J a mes Stua rt 

UMGUNGUNDLOVU 
This diagram, taken from James Stuart's book uKulumetule, is circular 

for reasons of space, and in order to be more easily handled for details. The 
kraal was, in fact, elliptical in shape. 

A. 
B. 
C. 
D. 
E. 
F. 
G. 
H . 
J. 
K, L. 

M. 
N. 
0. 
P. 
Q. 
R. 
s. 
T. 
U . 
w. 
1 & 2. 
3 . 
4. 
5. 

Explanation 
uMvazana-the little outside left kraal. 
uBeje-the little outside centre kraal. 
KwaMbeceni- the little outside right kraal. 
Outer fence of the big Royal Kraal. 
Fence of the white seraglio. 
Fence of the black seraglio. 
Barracks of the guards of the seraglio. 
House of the King. 
House of Mpikase, mother of Dingane. 
Kraal in which the cattle for slaughter (the cattle for the mouth) 

were kept, and in which the King washed. 
Kraal for the cattle of the community. 
Regimental barracks. 
House of Commander-in-Chief, Ndlela. 
House of the Commander, Nzo6o. 
Abattoir enclosure. 
Milking enclosures. 
Enclosure in which soldiers danced at milking time. 
Gate posts. 
Central dividing gate post. 
Fences of soldiers' barracks. 
Where the pillows, i.e., headrests, are. 
All the space right down to the gate is the side of the kraal. 
Great cattle kraal. 
Large cattle kraal of the amaWombe regiment. 

There were many entrances on all sides, and many wind-screens in front 
of doors, and grain huts and storehouses for shields, but they are not shown 
on this paper for they are too small. . 

The soldiers at Mgungundlovu filled the whole place. At the headrest 
on the left side of the kraal there was the Nqo6olondo regiment ; then followed 
the Mankamane (imiKhulutshane) ; at the stomach of the kraal were the 
Zi6olela and Fasimba regiments ; and when you went towards the gate 
there was the Tshoyisa. Near the large cattle kraal on the right at the headrest 
(near seraglio) was the Zimpohlo ; then followed the Mankentshane (imi­
Khulutshane) and the Dukuza regiments ; then towards the gate was the 
large cattle kraal and amaWombe. 

In the white seraglio stay the 1,500 girls who have been sent as tribute 
to the King. The iNdlunkulu and iKhohlo and iNqadi of every kraal of impor­
tance in Zululand were required to present to the King at least one grown-up 
girl. This girl was sent to one or other of the King's numerous kraals, and 
lived there with the other girls in a similar position. She belonged to the King 
and he could either marry her himself or marry her to someone else, in which 
case he received the loBolo cattle for her. The matron who was in charge there 
was Bibi, daughter of Nko6e (or Sompisi), the sist er of Ndlela, the Commander­
in-Chief. 

In the black seraglio, where no one ent ers (only a boy servant who has 
not reached the age of puberty works), stay the King only with his concubines, 
together with the part of the seraglio responsible for his food . The matron in 
charge at first was Langazana, daughter of Gu6ashe. Then, when she was 
transferred to Khangela, the matron was Mjanisi, the wife of Lenzangakhova. 
The food and beer and calabashes were kept in the huts of the girls. They do 
not stay in the house of the matron. 

In the seraglios there were slave girls and widows who did the work of 
the place. 
Note-

James Stuart's information concerning Mgungundlovu, Dingane's E:raal , was taken from his Zulu 
book ttKulwnetule, as toJd by the Zulus, Tununu, son of Nonjiya of the QwaBe clan, Ngi<li (or Maga­
mbukazi), son of Mcikaziswa of the Langa clan, Lunguza, son of Mpukane of the Themhu clan, Sivivi, 
son of Maqungo, son of Malunga of the HluBi clan, during his investigations on Zulu History from 
1889 onwards. 
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